UNIVERZA V LJUBLJANI FAKULTETA ZA DRUŽBENE VEDE

Luka Zevnik

Mentor: izr. prof. dr. Peter Stanković Somentor: izr. prof. dr. Chris Barker

Proučevanje sreče: na križišču med kulturo in razmerji moči

Studying Happiness: on the Crossroads of Culture and Relations of Power

Doktorska disertacija

Za-hvala

Hvala Petru in Chrisu, ker sta bila še precej več kot odlična mentorja v akademskem smislu.

Hvala vsem kolegom, prijateljem za iskrive pogovore in inspiracije. Še posebej sem hvaležen Blažu za iskreno prijateljstvo ter najine dolge foucaultjevske debate, brez katerih se disertacija nikoli ne bi razgrnila tako, kot se je.

Hvala Leji, ker je bila z mano tudi takrat, ko sem bil zaradi pisanja (nekoliko) odsoten.

Hvala družini za dolgoletno podporo.

Acknowledgements

I thank Peter and Chris for being much more than just excellent academic supervisors.

I thank all of my colleagues and friends for debates and inspirations. I am especially grateful to Blaž for his sincere friendship and our extensive Foucauldian debates.

I thank Leja for being there for me even when I was (somewhat) absent due to excessive writing.

Last but not least I thank my family for their continuous support.

Proučevanje sreče: na križišču med kulturo in razmerji moči (povzetek)

Osrednji namen doktorske disertacije je kritično reflektirati koncept in izkušnjo sreče v zahodni kulturi ter proučiti kako je sreča povezana s kulturo in razmerji moči v družbi. Disertacija obsega tri glavne dele. Prvi del se osredotoča na pregled najpomembnejših obstoječih teorij in pristopov za proučevanje sreče. Znotraj tako razgrnjenega raziskovalnega in teoretskega polja, ki sega vse od filozofije in psihologije pa do ekonomije, avtor najprej umesti svoje raziskovalno izhodišče, ki srečo primarno pojmuje ne kot etični problem, temveč kot objekt raziskovanja.

Disertacija se nadaljuje s poglobljeno kritično refleksijo obstoječih teorij in pristopov, pri čemer je poudarek namenjen predvsem razmerju med srečo in kulturo. Z osvetljevanjem kavzalnih, metodoloških, epistemoloških in ontoloških vidikov tega razmerja torišče prvega dela disertacije skuša identificirati aspekte, v katerih bi bilo mogoče obstoječe teoretske okvire in pristope za proučevanje sreče v povezavi s kulturo nadgraditi ter dopolniti.

Ker kritična analiza razkriva precejšnje pomanjkljivosti in nekatere problematične momente obstoječih pristopov za proučevanje sreče, se drugi del disertacije osredotoča na artikulacijo novega pristopa, ki bi omogočal srečo v Z kulturi analizirati z vidika vseh aspektov, ki so se v teoretski razpravi v prvem delu izkazali kot bistveni za kritično razumevanje sreče. Pri tem črpa iz postmoderne antropologije, kulturnih študij, zlasti pa je navdahnjen s Foucaultjevsko nominalistično perspektivo, katera, čeprav igra pomembno vlogo tako v postmoderni antropologiji kot v kulturnih študijah, še ni bila sistematično uporabljena za kritično refleksijo sreče. Disertacija zagovarja radikalno branje teze o kulturni in historični specifičnosti/singularnosti sreče, po kateri ni dovolj zgolj trditi, da se sreča v posameznih kulturah izraža na različne kulturno specifične načine temveč, da je strogo gledano o sreči mogoče govoriti le kot o izkušnji značilni izključno za določeno obdobje v zahodni kulturi. Dizertacija opozarja tudi na pomembnost reflektiranja razmerij moči v družbi, ki jih ne glede na to, da so zaradi vpliva na konstitucijo dominantnega režima sreče v zahodni kulturi bistvena za kritično razumevanje te izkušnje, obstoječi pristopi v veliki večini ne obravnavajo.

Izhajajoč iz teze o kulturni in historični specifičnosti/singularnosti izkušnje sreče ter njene tesne povezave z razmerji moči v družbi se analiza osredotoča historične niene konstitucije. Disertacija procese foucaultjevskega genealoškega pristopa srečo zato analizira kot kulturno in historično singularno izkušnjo v zahodni kulturi, pri čemer pa je pomembno poudariti, da za razliko od obstoječih pristopov za proučevanje sreče, ki srečo vidijo predvsem kot interno subjektivno izkušnjo, foucaultievska perspektiva omogoča srečo analizirati v širšem smislu kot historični a priori možne izkušnje. Historični a priori možne izkušnje pomeni, da so naše individualne izkušnje sreče vedno določene s širšimi kulturnimi, družbenimi, političnimi in etičnimi strukturami, ki imajo svojo lastno zgodovino in ki določajo osnovne parametre znotraj katerih se v določeni dobi vzpostavljajo individualne vsakdanje izkušnje ljudi. Po Foucaultu se historični a priori izkušnje vzpostavlja vzdolž treh med seboj prepletenih osi: osi resnice, osi (razmerij) moči in osi odnosa do sebe. Posledično tretji del disertacije s pomočjo genealoške metode analizira vzpostavitev izkušnje sreče v zahodni kulturi na vseh treh omenjenih oseh izkušnje.

Glavna teza tretjega dela je, da se izkušnja sreče vzpostavi v 17. in 18. stoletju v zahodni kulturi ter, da je v tej obliki z določenimi transformacijami prisotna še danes. Ker je za boljše razumevanje tega, kar dizertacija imenuje tudi rojstvo sreče, potrebno razumeti tudi izkušnjo, ki je sreči predhodila, kronološki fokus obsega obdobje od 4. stoletja, ko se začne predhodna krščanska izkušnja, pa vse do 18. stol., ko se iz preloma z njo rodi izkušnja sreče.

Analiza predhodne krščanske izkušnje od 4. do 16. stol. pokaže, da krščanska problematizacija odrešenja, ki je usodno zaznamovana z izvirnim grehom, ne omogoča pozicionirati ideala človekove eksistence v tuzemsko življenje temveč zgolj v onostranstvo. Iz tega izhaja, da izkušnja greha, ki jo takšna problematizacija producira, ne more biti enostavno izenačena z izkušnjo sreče, ki se pojavi šele, ko ljudje ideal eksistence bolj intenzivno začnejo projicirati v tostranstvo. Povedano drugače, nemogoče je trditi, da se je rojstvo sreče zgodilo s spustom sreče iz nebes na zemljo, ker sreče tam gori dejansko nikoli ni bilo. Srednjeveški ideal človekove eksistence je bil namreč na vseh nivojih (vključno s semantičnim) povezan s konceptom odrešenja in blaženosti in nikoli s konceptom sreče. Sreča se je rodila na tem svetu in se primarno nanaša na ta svet.

Disertacija rojstvo sreče povezuje z intenzifikacijo dveh novih problematizacij: problematizacijo (pozitivnega) občutenja in afirmacijo vsakdanjega življenja, ki sta se v času od 14. do 16. artikulirali zlasti v kontekstu reformacije ter humanizma in renesanse. Ti dve novi problematizaciji najprej nekaj časa obstajata paralelno s še vedno dominantno problematizacijo odrešenja, potem pa jo proti koncu 16. in v 17. stoletju počasi in vztrajno začneta nadomeščati. Ključen moment za rojstvo izkušnje sreče je torej obdobje v katerem problematizacija pozitivnega občutenja na zemlji v povezavi z afirmacijo vsakdanjega življenja začne intenzivneje konstituirati primarni ideal človekove eksistence.

Glavni premik, ki je omogočil, da problematizacija pozitivnega občutenja v povezavi z afirmacijo vsakdanjega življenja postane dominantna, je bila zavrnitev izvirnega greha, ki dotlej predstavlja glavno zapreko za zasledovanje ideala človekove eksistence že na tem svetu. Za zavrnitev izvirnega greha na osi resnice sta najbolj zaslužni Deistična filozofija in naravna teologija, ki se pojavita v 16. stol. in ju je moč označiti kot obliko racionalnega krščanstva. Pri deističnih filozofih kot je John Locke se problematizacija pozitivnega občutenja izraža v povezovanju sreče s človekovo inherentno nagnjenostjo k maksimiranju užitka in izogibanju trpljenja, ki ni več obravnavana kot nekaj grešnega. Kot drugo plat nevtralizacije izvirnega greha pripadniki te miselne smeri promovirajo idejo o božanskem harmoničnem redu stvari, ki ga je Bog ustvaril za vzajemno srečo in dobrobit vseh njegovih prebivalcev tako na zemlji kot v nebesih. V kontekstu božjega reda stvari je najboljše tisto delovanje, ki sledi božjim zakonitostim in navodilom, saj to posamezniku prinaša največji užitek in srečo. Transpozicija univerzalne krščanske logike greha v idejo o univerzalni možnosti za doseganje sreče, ki je vsebovana v ideji božanskega harmoničnega reda stvari, prvič v zgodovini zahodne misli odpre polje za razumevanje ideala človekove eksistence tudi v kolektivnem smislu, ki kasneje kulminira v razsvetljenski ideji javne sreče. Omenjenim premikom na osi resnice so tesno sledile širše družbene spremembe, kar je povzročilo, da je splošni religiozni pogled vero in boga bolj kot v kategorijah odrešenja začel obravnavati kot temelj za srečo na zemlji. Dominantna izkušnja v 17. stol. se torej od predhodne izkušnje greha razlikuje v praktično vseh glavnih vidikih razen v tem, da na načelni ravni še vedno ostaja v polju (sicer dodobra transformiranega) krščanstva. Glede na dejstvo, da deloma še vedno ostaja v območju religije dizertacija prvo obliko sreče označuje kot religiozno izkušnjo sreče.

Manj kot stoletje kasneje se v procesu rojevanja sreče poleg religiozne izkušnje vzpostavi še druga glavna oblika sreče, ki jo disertacija imenuje sekularna izkušnja sreče. Ker je v kontekstu razsvetljenstva v veliki meri povezana s procesi sekularizacije predstavlja logično evolucijo prve, religiozne izkušnje sreče, pri čemer pa popolnoma izloči eksplicitne krščanske poudarke, ki v religiozni obliki predstavljajo temelje za doseganje sreče na zemlji.

Čeprav so transformacije na vseh treh oseh izkušnje v 17. in 18. stol., ki se nanašajo na proces rojstva sreče dovolj intenzivne, da moramo govoriti o fundamentalno novi izkušnji, pa dizertacija opozarja tudi na prisotnost določenih kontinuitet in implicitnih ostankov predhodne krščanske izkušnje. Najbolj eksplicitno kontinuiteto je mogoče zaslediti v razsvetljenski ideji neskončnega napredka (proti sreči), ki do določene mere spominja na krščansko logiko odložene gratifikacije v prihodnosti.

Bolj subtilni sedimenti krščanske izkušnje se kažejo v določenih ostankih t.i. krščanskega dešifriranja in hermenevtike sebstva. Če v predhodni krščanski izkušnji greha, v kateri se je subjekt moral stalno odpovedovati, prakse dešifriranja preko odnosa do sebe vzpostavijo subjekt, ki nikoli ni bil dovolj čist, podobno dešifriranje v izkušnji sreče vzpostavi subjekt, ki ni nikoli dovolj srečen. Določena kontinuiteta krščanskih elementov je prisotna tudi na ravni razmerij moči. Pastoralna oblika moči značilna za izkušnjo greha, ki se je izvajala preko individualizacije in totalizacije, se je z vzponom moderne države, ki na osi moči konstituira izkušnjo sreče, iz cerkvene institucije namreč razširila na celotno družbeno tkivo.

Poleg osvetlitve procesa rojstva sreče samega je doprinos genealoške analize izkušnje sreče v tem, da podkrepi teoretski argument iz prvega dela disertacije, ki govori o kulturni in zgodovinski specifičnosti/singularnosti izkušnje sreče ter o njenih povezavah z razmerji moči. Ker obe obliki izkušnje sreče, ki sta se pojavile v 17. in 18. stoletju vzpostavljata osnovno strukturo in parametre tudi za kasnejše izraze izkušnje sreče, analiza rojstva sreče predstavlja pomembno izhodišče za vse nadaljnje analize kulturnih manifestacij sreče v zahodni kulturi. Nenazadnje pa je kritična refleksija rojstva sreča pomembna tudi v širšem smislu, saj sreča zagotovo predstavlja eno od osrednjih tem, ki so vodile modernizacijske procese, ki v veliki meri določajo našo sodobno izkušnjo (sreče). V tem smislu je razumevanje izkušnje sreče relevantno tudi zato, ker predstavlja kontekst v katerem so v zahodni kulturi vzniknili pomembna področja individualnega in družbenega življenja kot so znanost in tehnologija, ekonomski sistem, potrošna kultura, moderna država itd. Z drugimi besedami razsvetljensko idejo napredka in modernizacijske procese povezane z njo lahko v osnovi vidimo kot del zgodbe (kolektivnega) iskanja sreče v zahodni kulturi.

Studying Happiness: on the Crossroads of Culture and Relations of Power (Abstract)

The principal aim of the dissertation is to critically analyze the concept and experience of happiness in the western culture and to examine how happiness is related to culture and relations of power in society. The dissertation is comprised of three main parts. The first part provides an overview of the existent theories and approaches for the research of happiness (in connection with culture) with the intention of complementing them. Due to the fact that several problematic issues and lacunae in the existent theories and approaches for the research of happiness are identified, the second part of the dissertation focuses on the development of a new methodological framework for the study of happiness, which is based on postmodern anthropology, cultural studies and especially Foucauldian theory. In line with the Foucauldian-inspired approach to the study of happiness that is developed in the second part of the dissertation, the genealogical analysis in the thisrd part is conducted along the three axes that, according to Foucault, constitute the historical a priori of experience in a particular area of human existence: the axis of truth, the axis of relationship to the self and the axis of power.

The dissertation first explores how Christianity established the truth about salvation as the cardinal ideal of human existence and why such an ideal wasn't achievable in the present life. The analysis of the christian problematization of salvation and the concomitant experience of sin is concluded by arguing that they cannot be simply equated with the (modern) problematization and experience of happiness, which only emerged in the 17th and 18th century, when the ideal of human existence increasingly started to be pursued in the present life.

The first steps towards the birth of happiness can be traced back to the Renaissance and the Reformation movement, which were still, however, mainly characterized by the problematization of salvation and the Christian experience of sin. In addition to the existent and still prevalent problematization of salvation, the Renaissance movement (starting in the 15th and 16th centuries) and the Reformation movement (starting in the 16th century) introduced what we have called the problematization of (good) feeling and the affirmation of everyday life, which later resulted in the problematization and experience of happiness. The problematization of (good) feeling on earth and the affirmation of everyday life for some time, therefore, coexisted with the preceding and still dominant problematization of salvation, until in the 17th century the former started to slowly but surely dominate the latter. We have argued that it was precisely this transformation (in which good feeling on earth in connection with the affirmation of everyday life started becoming the primary ideal of human existence) that represented the first major development, which marked the birth of the modern experience of happiness. The second such major development was that the ideal of human existence not only became possible already in this world, but also that it became perceived as entirely achievable with human efforts. It is crucial to note that these two major developments not only mark the birth of happiness, but also represent the two major characteristics or parameters of modern experience of happiness that at the same time also fundamentally distinguish it from the preceding experience of sin.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Introduction	11
2	The study and research of happiness and well-being	
	2.1 Happiness and philosophy	
	2.1.1 Art-of-living philosophy	
	2.1.2 The philosophy of the greatest happiness for the greatest number	
	2.2 The science of happiness	
	2.2.1 Positive Psychology	
	2.2.2 Empirical research and measurement of happiness/well-being	
	2.3 The Economy of Happiness	∠ /
3	The study of happiness in the context of culture	29
	3.1 Cross-national measurements of SWB and culture	29
	3.2 Cross-cultural happiness research and universal notions of well-be	_
	3.3 The cultural perspective in happiness studies	
	3.4 Ethnocentrism of universal notions of well-being and happiness	
	3.4.1 Anthropological critique of universal notions of well-being and	
	happiness	38
	3.5 Incompleteness of empirical (cross-cultural) survey happiness research	40
	3.6 Happiness and well-being as culturally and historically	40
	singular/specific notions and experience	43
1.	Problematic issues with the cultural perspective in happiness	
	udies and anthropology of well-being	45
31	4.1 Explicit or implicit residue of universal notions of well-being and the	
	incomplete understanding of the cultural construction thesis	
	4.2 Epistemological and ontological consequences of the cultural	Т Э
	construction (of happiness) thesis	48
	4.2.1 (Anthropological) critique of modern science and epistemology	
	4.2.2 "Back to happiness"	
	4.2.3 Studying happiness as happiness: happiness as a serious true fiction	
	4.3 Happiness, relations of power and cultural studies	
	4.4 Happiness and history	58
	4.4.1 History of ideas vs. history of thought	58
	4.4.2 The critique of the suprahistorical perspective of the traditional	
	historical approach	60
	4.5 Conclusion of part I: The problems and lacunae in the existent	
	approaches for the study of happiness in relation to culture, history an	
	relations of power	62
	Towards a new approach for the study of happiness: nominalism	
Cl	ulture, history and relations of power	
	5.1 The specifics of the Foucauldian approach	68
	5.1.1 The application of Foucauldian methodology to new fields of our historical experience	72
_	A Foucauldian approach based on a holistic reading of his oeuvre	
n	A FOUCAULGIAN ANNEOACH NASEG ON A NOUSTIC FEAGING OF HIS OFUVE	· /4L

6.1 The meta-philosophical point of departure of the Foucauldian	
approach: an ontology of the present	74
6.2 Subject and experience as the central focus of Foucault's work	
6.3 The relationship between subject and experience	78
7 The dynamic correlation between the three axes of experien	ice:
truth-power-relationship to the self	
7.1 Power (relations)	
7.2 Truth (and power)	
7.2.1 Passive subjects and states of domination	
7.2.2 Practices of Resistance	
7.3 Active subjects, freedom and relationship to the self	
7.3.1 The problems of freedom	
7.4 Conclusion: towards the analysis of happiness as experience i	
Foucauldian sense	
O Mathadalasiaal staleas	105
8 Methodological stakes	
8.1 Genealogical approach and archeological method	
8.2 The critique of the modern relationship to truth as the basis for	
genealogical approach	
8.2.2 The Cartesian moment	
8.3 The Foucauldian understanding of experience of happiness	
9 The christian problematization of salvation and the experie	
	122
9.1 The truth about salvation in Early and High Middle Ages (5th-	
centuries)	
9.1.1 (Original) sin and the immanence of suffering on earth	
9.1.2 The trend of gradual reinforcement of free will	
9.2 The developing Christian relationship to the self	
9.2.1 The earning of salvation	
9.2.2 Medieval Christian relationship to the self-constituting experie	
	_
9.2.3 Christian renouncement of the self, mortification and the glori	
suffering	
9.3 The axis of (pastoral) power and experience of sin	
9.3.1 Relations of power behind the defense of free will	
9.3.3 The government of man through the promise of salvation	
10 The beginnings of new problematizations within the exper	ience of
sin	
10.1 (The transformations of) truth about salvation in the late Mi	ddle Ages
10.1.1 Doctrinal diversity and the problematization of salvation on the	
reformation	
10.1.2 Humanism and Renaissance	
10.1.3 The Reformation movement	
10.2 The late medieval relationship to the self	
10.2.1 Attack on the privileged position of suffering in the Catholic t	
40.000	
10.2.2 Small but important leaps towards happiness	
10.3 The culmination of struggles around the pastoral power and	
reinforcement of the pastorate	190

10.4 The first steps towards the birth of happiness	192
11 The birth of happiness	195
11.1 The truth about happiness	195
11.1.2 Enlightenment and the birth of modern secular happiness	206
11.1.3 The (infinite) progress towards individual and public happiness.	217
11.2 The subject of happiness and the (early) modern relationship to	the
self	227
11.2.1 Pleasure and happiness as the modern telos	227
11.2.2 Nature as the sovereign master of pleasure and pain	229
11.2.3 The reign of the sensual	
11.2.4 Practices of pleasure and happiness	
11.3 The axis of power constituting the modern experience of happing	
11.3.1 Raison of the state and the birth of modern experience of happin	
11.3.2 Police and the happiness of the population	
11.3.3 The totalizing and individualizing power of the modern state in t	
name of happiness	
12 Conclusion	255
Bibliography	267
Index	283
Daljši povzetek v slovenskem jeziku	285

1 INTRODUCTION

The role of an intellectual is not to tell others what they have to do. /.../
The role of an intellectual is not to shape others' political will; it is,
through the analysis that he carries out in his own field, to question over
and over again what is postulated as self-evident, to disturb people's
mental habits, the way they do and think things, to dissipate what is
familiar and accepted ... (Foucault 1988, 265).

Ever since Socrates (in Plato's Republic 352a) put forth his famous question about 'how we ought to live our lives,' happiness has not only represented one of the cardinal themes in Western thought, but it has also been perceived as being 'central to the point of human experience' (Nettle 2008, ix).

While the intensity of interest in happiness in Western culture has varied across time, it is safe to argue that the second half of the 20th century and the beginning of the 21st are characterized by increased attention to this important but elusive theme. The list of self-help books offering various recipes for achieving happiness seems endless: *Happiness now!* (Holden 1999), *The Happiness Makeover: How to Teach Yourself to Be Happy and Enjoy Every Day* (Ryan 2005) and *Happy for no reason: 7 steps to being happy from the inside out* (Shimoff 2009), to name only a few.

The discourses about happiness have not only flooded the field of so-called pop-psychology, but also popular culture. Hollywood movies like the *Pursuit of Happiness* and *Eat Pray Love* testify that the cultural industries no longer sell only dreams, but also certain cultural representations of happiness. Journalists are also igniting the happiness bonfire: happiness and well-being have become common themes in both the electronic and more traditional print media like magazines and newspapers. The famous *Time* magazine, for example, dedicated a whole issue to happiness in 2005. Consumer culture is no exception, as we are increasingly sold not just products, but pure happiness. For example, Coca Cola's global campaign launched in 2009 was called *Open Happiness*, and the editorial in the IKEA 2010 catalog, entitled *Happiness*,

promises 'a happier life at home' (provided that it is furnished with IKEA's furniture, of course).

On the other hand, people who doubt that happiness is a thing that can simply be bought and consumed have started engaging in various spiritual and healing practices more or less connected to new religious groups and movements that are increasingly penetrating the dominant culture. One can also educate oneself at an increasing number of conferences and seminars about happiness. From there, it is only a small step to therapy and so-called positive psychology, which opposes the traditional psychological focus on negative and pathological mental states and instead emphasizes the cultivation of positive ones¹.

A strong interest in happiness is also present in other academic disciplines. It is possible to observe a revival of interest in the philosophical tradition of the 'art-of-living,' which aims to provide philosophical answers to the question of how to lead a good and happy life. Meanwhile, more and more economists are acknowledging that the development of countries should not only be based on economic indicators like GDP, but it should also include indicators that show the well-being and happiness of their citizens. Last but not least, in the last few decades, a specialized interdisciplinary field called Happiness Studies, dedicated exclusively to the study and empirical research of happiness, has gained a lot of ground in academia.

All these recent developments, which constitute what Ahmed (2007/2008) calls 'the happiness turn,' represent the first reason why happiness figures as a topic worthy of an in-depth study. The second major reason to embark on a study of happiness is that the existent critical approaches within the so-called critical tradition/theory mostly focus on themes that are widely regarded as inherently problematic such as the problem of material inequalities, exploitation, racism and violence. While these are certainly important areas of critical analysis, we believe that, in addition to them, certain themes that are widely accepted as positive – in our case happiness – can indeed be problematic and hence demand critical attention. In other words, even the themes (or one could even say

_

¹ In regard to positive psychology, we have to note, however, that even though it claims to be providing expert scientifically grounded recipes for achieving happiness, it is sometimes

precisely the themes) constituting our experience that are widely accepted as positive and unproblematic can (all the more easily) be connected to relations of power in society or better yet, can be employed in order to exercise certain forms of power.

The next logical step from questioning the widely assumed "intrinsically positive nature of happiness" in Western culture is to also question its universality. Is happiness universal to humanity regardless of culture, or is it historically and culturally specific/singular/constructed? The first part of the dissertation will tackle these issues mostly on the theoretical level. In this sense, it will provide an in-depth, critical review of the existent theories and research of happiness (in relation to culture). Particular emphasis will be given to the tradition of empirical happiness research, which approaches happiness not as an ethical theme like philosophy, but as an object of scientific research. The theoretical discussion will be guided by the following research thesis: The existent approaches within the empirical tradition of happiness research fail to provide adequate critical accounts of happiness in relation to culture and relations of power.

In the second part of the dissertation, we shall aim to develop our own approach for the study and research of (the experience of) happiness, which will be based on our criticism of the existent approaches and inspired by postmodern anthropology, cultural studies and most especially a Foucauldian perspective. We shall argue that such an interdisciplinary approach can significantly complement the existent approaches for the study of happiness in relation to culture and relations of power.

In the third part, we shall then use this approach to undertake a critical genealogical analysis of happiness in Western culture, which will be guided by the following research thesis: Happiness is a cultural and historically specific/singular experience tied to relations of power in society that emerged in Western culture in the 17th and 18th centuries.

PART I: CRITICAL
OVERVIEW OF THE
EXISTENT
APPROACHES FOR
THE STUDY AND
RESEARCH OF
HAPPINESS

2 THE STUDY AND RESEARCH OF HAPPINESS AND WELL-BEING

This chapter will provide a condensed overview of the major approaches for the study and research of happiness that have started multiplying especially after the 1970' and try to illuminate their main characteristics. Since the cardinal aim of this chapter is not to provide an inclusive intellectual history of the idea of happiness in the western culture, we shall not explore the works of specific authors in-depth. Rather, the aim is to map out a theoretical and research field within which it will be possible to situate all the major approaches for the study and research of happiness in the western culture. Within this field we are then going to position our own theoretical point of departure for the study of happiness that will be predominantly focused on the connection between culture and happiness.

2.1 Happiness and philosophy

The philosophical approach initiated by Socrates's question about how we ought to live our lives has had the longest and the richest tradition of studying happiness in the western culture out of which all other "non-philosophical" approaches have later evolved. Within the modern classification of philosophy happiness is positioned in the domain of moral philosophy. According to the editors of a recent philosophical reader on happiness, the theme of happiness actually represents 'a central topic of moral philosophy' (Cahn & Vitrano 2008, vii). In this sense, argue Cahn & Vitrano (2008, vii), the entire history of ethics could even 'be viewed as a set of variations on the theme of happiness'.

The philosophical approach to happiness deals with the nature, source and value of happiness and it includes questions like: What is happiness? What are its causes and conditions? How to determine the criteria for what counts as

causes, conditions and source of happiness? How to live a good and happy life? Is something like ultimate happiness even possible? Is happiness necessary for a worthwhile life? Is it sufficient? Does happiness depend on one's state of mind, one's consequences or both? Etc.

Ever since the Antiquity it is hard to find a single philosopher in the history of western thought who wouldn't tackle at least one of the above questions. While in more general discussions about happiness within (moral) philosophy all of these questions are usually closely connected, it is nevertheless possible to identify two specific sub-approaches that vary according to the emphasis given on particular lines of questioning. Insofar as the majority of explicit philosophical takes on happiness pertain to one of these sub-approaches they deserve a closer inspection.

2.1.1 Art-of-living philosophy

The oldest approach which elaborates on the Socrates' question how we ought to live our lives is usually referred to as the tradition of philosophy as a way of life. Due to its practical appeal it is often also called the tradition of art-of-living (Nehamas 1998, 2), which according to Dohmen (2003, 351) forms a part of the subfield of moral philosophy called normative ethics. Art of living 'is a form of self-direction with a view to the good life' (Dohmen 2003, 351) that stresses the connection between logos and bios, between theory and practice. Namely, argues Nehamas (1998, 2), within the philosophy of art-of-living 'what one believes and how one lives have a direct bearing on one another'. According to Nussbaum (1994), Hadot (1995) and Nehamas (1998) the art-of-living philosophy has predominated above all other forms of philosophy in the ancient Greek and Roman times. Antique philosophers like Socrates, Plato, Aristotle, Epicurus, Seneca etc. have all provided and pursued different visions on how to live a happy life.

With the rise of Christianity in the second half of the first millennia, art-of-living philosophy has mostly given way to Christian theology. In the contemplations of theologians like St. Augustine, John Cassian, Gregory of Nyssa and St. Aquinas the classical art-of-living (or the care of the self as Foucault (2000a, 288) calls it) has mostly been transformed and integrated into

Christian renouncement and deciphering of the (earthly) self. In this sense happiness as the ultimate ideal of human existence was replaced by the notion of bliss (beatitude) that belonged to the realm beyond this world.

Within modern philosophy the tradition art-of-living regained some of its original momentum in the works of philosophers like Michel de Montaigne, Blaise Pascal, Artur Schopenhauer, Søren Kierkegaard, Friederich Nietzsche, Pierre Hadot, Michele Foucault etc. We have to note, however, that according to several prominent modern philosophers such as Kant (in Nehamas 1998, xii), Nietzsche (1997) and Nehamas (1998), art-of-living tradition has never reacquired the predominant role it had occupied in Antiquity and represents only a marginal current in modern philosophy.

Already Kant (in Nehamas 1998, xii) in the The Philosophical Encyclopaedia was aware that modern philosophy seldom fails in following the art-of-living imperative for harmonizing theory and practice towards a good and happy life: 'When will you begin to live virtuously, Plato asked an old man who was telling him that he was attending a series of lectures on virtue. One must not just speculate forever; one must one day also think about actual practice. But today we think that those who live as they teach are dreamers'. Nietzsche (1997, 187) was even more harsh in his critique of the practical sterility of the modern institutionalized philosophy: 'The only critique of a philosophy that is possible and that proves something, namely trying to see whether one can live in accordance with it, has never been taught at universities: all that has ever been taught is a critique of words by means of other words'. Nehamas (1998) observes that the situation diagnosed by Kant, Nietzsche and later also Foucault (2005) persists in contemporary philosophy. Still, he argues, philosophy has only 'few practical implications for everyday life' (Nehamas 1998, 1). In order to at least partly re-activate the art-of-living tradition in contemporary philosophy Nehamas' (1998, 2) book 'aims at opening a space for a way of doing philosophy that constitutes an alternative, though not necessarily a competitor, to the manner in which philosophy is generally practiced in our time'. For Nehamas (1998, 2) this implies recognizing that a conception of philosophy as a way of life 'exists, study how it survives in some major modern philosophers, and see that it is what some of us are still doing today'. And

indeed according to several authors involved in the art-of-living themselves (see Cottingham, 1998; Dohmen, 2003, Kekes, 1995; 2002;), art-of-living is gradually gaining ground in contemporary moral philosophy. This "revival of art-of-living philosophy" is part of a larger trend of increased interest in the theme of happiness towards the end of the 20th and the beginning of the 21st century in the western societies, which Ahmed (2007/2008) calls 'the happiness turn'.

2.1.2 The philosophy of the greatest happiness for the greatest number

While the tradition of art-of-living is predominantly concerned with ways of achieving individual happiness, there is another notable sub-approach of philosophy of happiness that emerged much later than the art-of-living and that extended the philosophical discussion of the quest for happiness to the realm of the collective. In Antiquity it was held that happiness was only achievable by way of a prolonged and intensive cultivation of one's life that was reserved for the rarified ethical elite. Following from this, philosophy concerned with happiness was predominantly equated with art-of-living understood as an individual exercise aimed at achieving individual happiness in the present life. With the introduction of the notion of original sin Christianity universally refused the possibility of attaining the ideal of human existence on earth replacing the art-of-living philosophy with theology and Christian asceticism. The break with the centuries long tradition of sin and the decisive step towards the philosophy of collective happiness was only made in the 17th century by a rationalist current in the Christian tradition. The so-called Deism and natural theology transposed the universalizing message of Christianity from 'universal sinfulness' to the idea of a 'universal providential orde'r created by the merciful God for the mutual benefit and happiness of all of its inhabitants both in heaven and on earth. On such bases it was possible for the first time in the history of western culture to conceive of a philosophy of communal or public happiness most lucidly captured in the famous maxim 'the greatest happiness for the greatest number'. The philosophy of communal happiness culminated in

the enlightenment utilitarian philosophy, which directly connected happiness with the maximization of earthly sensual pleasure.

The main innovation of utilitarian philosophy for the study of communal happiness was the idea that 'if maximizing happiness is the point of individual lives, then the point of systems of government and economy should be to maximize collective or aggregate happiness' (Nettle 2008, ix). Dedicated to the enlightenment vision of human and social progress and their belief that human affairs can be examined with a set of objective numerical and mathematical gauges initially developed for the study of natural laws, utilitarian philosophers have formulated various algorithms to measure (the progress towards) individual and collective happiness. In spite of the fact that they lacked precise data for their algorithms, the philosophy of communal happiness laid the foundations for what has later become a science of happiness.

2.2 The science of happiness

For millennia, argues Ed Diener (2008, 245) the father of empirical happiness research, the study of happiness 'was the domain only of philosophers, religious scholars, and armchair thinkers'. On the crossroads of psychology and sociology a new approach to happiness has emerged in the western culture in the 1960', which claims that in comparison to the speculative nature of inquiry in philosophy, it can provide systematic, empirical and scientific accounts of happiness. At least indirectly marked by philosophical approach to happiness, similarly also the science of happiness has two main sub-approaches: one that mainly focuses on individual happiness and one that focuses on (measuring and providing) collective happiness.

2.2.1 Positive Psychology

Considering its main emphasis on individual happiness² the so-called positive psychology pioneered by psychologist Martin Selingman (2003) could be seen

-

² Even though positive psychology is undoubtedly also concerned with some aspects of communal happiness and emphasizes a good social context as one of important conditions for individual happiness, it is primarily concerned with individual happiness.

as a scientific version of art-of-living philosophy. Contrary to the approach of traditional psychology that is dedicated to the 'amelioration of psychopathology' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 142), positive psychology focuses on the scientific study of happiness, well-being and positive emotions. Positive psychologists clearly acknowledge that they 'have not invented the study of happiness, well-being, or strengths' (Positive Psychology Center, 2010). In their view the most important contribution of their approach to the study of happiness has rather been

to make the explicit argument that what makes life most worth living deserves its own empirically based field of study, to provide an umbrella term that brings together isolated lines of theory and research, to promote the cross-fertilization of ideas in related fields through conferences, summer institutes and research grants, to develop a comprehensive conceptual view of broad notions of happiness, to bring this field to the attention of various foundations and funding agencies, to help raise money for research, and to firmly ground assertions on the scientific method (Positive Psychology Center, 2010).

In this sense 'positive psychology is the scientific study of the strengths and virtues that enable individuals and communities to thrive' (Positive Psychology Center, 2010). According to the Positive Psychology Center (2010) such 'objective, empirical research' of happiness can 'help people make more informed choices' that are supposed to lead them to a happier life. Here we have to note, however, that it is sometimes extremely difficult to draw a clear line between positive and pop-psychology because in the last decade there has been a virtual explosion of self-help literature written by established positive psychology scholars claiming to be providing expert scientifically grounded recipes for achieving happiness: Martin E. P Seligman's (2003), Authentic Happiness: Using the New Positive Psychology to Realize Your Potential for Lasting Fulfillment, Richard Layard's (2006) Happiness: Lessons from a New Science, Daniel Nettle's (2006), Happiness: The Science Behind Your Smile, Haidt's (2006) The Happiness Hypothesis: Putting Ancient Wisdom and Philosophy to the Test of Modern Science to only name a few. Such books are not only problematic because they run the risk of oversimplifying scientific

insights but also because they are presenting the science of happiness as the ultimate and unquestionable foundation for achieving happiness (this argument will become clearer in the next chapter, which will illuminate certain problematic aspects of the scientific approach to happiness).

2.2.2 Empirical research and measurement of happiness/well-being

If positive psychology could be regarded as a scientific version of philosophy of art-of-living, empirical research of happiness could be perceived as the practical actualization of the utilitarian philosophers' dream to objectively measure (collective) happiness³. And indeed Veenhoven (1997), one of the pioneers of empirical happiness research does recognize the utilitarian legacy of empirical happiness research both in terms of its dedication to social progress towards the greatest happiness for the greatest number as well as in terms of the ideal of scientific objectivity in measuring it.

Empirical researchers of happiness emphasize that for as long as happiness has been 'a playground for philosophical speculation', the understanding of happiness has 'remained speculative and uncertain' (Veenhoven 1997, 1). In their view it was only the development of quantitative scientific methods such as survey-research that enabled happiness to be approached in objective scientific way. That, however, was only the condition for the rise of empirical happiness research. The most important reason for its rise was the increasing awareness emerging in the 1960' 'that, just as positive affect is not the opposite of negative affect well-being is not the absence of mental illness' (Cacioppo & Berntson 1999 in Ryan and Deci 2001, 142) that in the last decades resulted in a rapid and vast development of the interdisciplinary field now known as happiness studies⁴.

³ Although positive psychology is also grounded in the scientific research and measurement of happiness we have decided to treat the two approaches separately on account on different emphasis they put on individual and collective happiness.

⁴ Insofar as the positive psychology approach is grounded in empirical research and measurement of happiness the two approaches in many respects overlap. In this sense positive psychology can be also regarded as a part of happiness studies.

According to Ryan and Deci (2001, 146) empirical happiness research has derived from two different perspectives on happiness and well-being that 'have led to quite different types of inquiry concerning the causes, consequences, and dynamics of well-being': 'the hedonic approach, which focuses on happiness and defines well-being in terms of pleasure attainment and pain avoidance; and the eudaimonic approach, which focuses on meaning and self-realization and defines well-being in terms of the degree to which a person is fully functioning' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 141). While the debate between hedonic and eudaimonic theorists has been intensive ever since Antiquity and is far from coming to a final resolution, most of researchers working on the empirical field would agree that strictly speaking happiness is not a concept entirely appropriate for the scientific approach. Following from this happiness is usually either equated or replaced with the term well-being. Authors working from the hedonic perspective like Diener (2008, 692) see the scientific construct of well-being as a more technical term for happiness, which in their view 'allows for a certain degree of precision in measuring the fuzzier, folk concept of happiness'. While as a consequence they do not refuse the concept of happiness as such (after all they still speak of happiness studies), eudaimonic researchers on the other hand usually avoid the concept of happiness as being insufficient for capturing their (normative) vision of human well-being.

These differing understandings of happiness and well-being adopted by various empirical happiness researchers 'have led to quite different types of inquiry concerning the causes, consequences, and dynamics of well-being' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 146). Let us first look at the so-called hedonic perspective, on which the earliest and the most prevalent approach to empirical happiness research has been founded.

2.2.2.1 The hedonic approach to empirical happiness research

For researchers who work from the hedonic perspective happiness 'concerns the experience of pleasure versus displeasure broadly construed to include all judgments about the good/bad elements of life' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 144). In other words they are interested in 'what makes experiences and life pleasant and unpleasant' (Kahneman et al. 1999, ix). 'Although there are many ways to evaluate the pleasure/pain continuum in human experience', observe Ryan &

Deci (2001, 144), the predominant research method of the hedonic approach has been the assessment of the so-called subjective well-being or SWB. Subjective well-being 'consists of three components: life satisfaction, the presence of positive mood, and the absence of negative mood, together often summarized as happiness' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 144).

Within SWB research happiness is thus 'conceived as overall life-satisfaction and measured using self-reports' (Veenhoven 2006, 1). In his review articles Diener (1984, et al. 1997) identifies three cardinal characteristics in the study of SWB. The first is that 'the field covers the entire range of well-being from agony to ecstasy' (Diener et al 1997, 1). The second one is that 'SWB is defined in terms of the internal experience of the respondent' (Diener et al 1997, 1). SWB research therefore doesn't impose an 'external frame of reference' when assessing SWB but rather gives 'the ultimate authority' to the respondent (Diener et al. 1997, 1). In other words 'the assumption behind self-reports of SWB is that the respondent is in a privileged position to report his or her experience of well-being' (Diener et al. 1997, 2). And the third characteristic is that 'the field focuses on longer-term states, not just momentary moods'. That is, 'SWB research is interested in relatively enduring feelings of well-being, not just fleeting emotions' (Diener et al. 1997, 1).

The most common method for assessing SWB 'is through self-report surveys in which the respondent judges and reports his life satisfaction, the frequency of her pleasant affect, or the frequency of his unpleasant emotions' (Diener et al. 1997, 2). Below is an example one such questionnaire developed by Pavot and Diener (1993) called Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS):

Using the 1 - 7 scale below, indicate your agreement with each item
by placing the appropriate number on the line preceding that item. Please be open and
honest in your responding.
7 - Strongly agree
6 - Agree
5 - Slightly agree
4 - Neither agree nor disagree
3 - Slightly disagree
2 - Disagree
1 - Strongly disagree
_____ In most ways my life is close to my ideal.
_____ The conditions of my life are excellent.
____ I am satisfied with my life.
____ So far I have gotten the important things I want in life
____ If I could live my life over, I would change almost nothing.

Due to the potential shortcomings of self-report measures (like response biases, memory biases, and defensiveness), some researchers are trying to develop other ways of measuring SWB. According to Diener (1997, 3) alternative methods for measuring SWB include: the research of 'people's frequency of smiling, their ability to recall positive versus negative events from their lives, and reports from the target respondent's family and friends'. In addition to standard questionnaires, there are also 'alternative methods based on self-reports such as interviews and the experience sampling method (mood reports are collected at random moments over a period of weeks)' (Diener 1997, 3).

There are also attempts to measure happiness by cognitive science. Neuroscientists like Richard Davidson (Davidson et al. 2004) use brain imaging to observe the cerebral activity of happy people and try to identify brain areas associated with happiness. In addition, biological psychologist John Cacioppo (Cacioppo et al. 2008) uses electrodes to measure tiny movements in facial muscles associated with various emotions. He then shows pleasant, neutral and unpleasant pictures to his participants and observes the differences between the reactions of people reporting different levels of happiness. Yet

another biological method for assessing happiness is through measuring human biochemistry – hormones circulating in the blood and in the brain⁵.

In spite of all the new innovative attempts to research happiness, observes Diener (2008, 252), self-reports still remain 'the most frequent way we measure well-being'. In Diener's (2008, 252), view other methodologies of SWB research can only 'complement self-reports in their strengths' enabling what Eid & Larsen (2008, 5) call 'multimethod assessment' of SWB: 'Although each of the nonself-report methods has its own shortcomings, psychologists can gain an especially strong assessment of SWB by using several methods in tandem because in this way a number of response artifacts can be eliminated' (Diener et al. 1997, 3). However, even multimethod assessment of SWB, acknowledges Diener (2008, 253), can only provide 'a reasonably accurate measure of happiness' that is still far from being 'perfect'.

According to Veenhoven (1997) SWB research can and is used for several purposes. The first and the most elementary use of SWB research is 'to estimate apparent quality of life in a population' where a high level of happiness in a population 'suggests that the quality-of-life is good' (Veenhoven 1997, 2). This is typically done, further explains Veenhoven (1997, 2) 'to assess whether there is a social problem that requires policy intervention'. The next application of SWB research is 'monitoring social progress and decline over time' and 'to assess policy effects; in particular for evaluating attempts to improve quality-of-life' (Veenhoven 1997, 3). In this sense the effects of policy interventions 'can be measured by changes in happiness before and after, or by differences in happiness between beneficiaries and non-beneficiaries' (Veenhoven 1997, 3). And last but not least, argues Veenhoven (1997, 3), 'the most interesting use of empirical happiness research is the validation of ideas about conditions for the good life, and related ideas about the good society'.

-

⁵ With the rapid development of biochemistry and cognitive science measures there are already some ideas suggesting that eventually we will be able to measure happiness in the same way as we measure blood pressure or blood sugar. Even though cognitive science undoubtedly represents a field of research with great potential, such optimistic and objectivistic claims should be taken cum grano salis. The reasons for this skepticism will become clearer as we proceed towards a thorough examination of the connection between culture and happiness, that will be undertaken in the following chapters.

2.2.2.2 The eudaimonic approach to empirical happiness research

Contrary to the hedonic standpoint on happiness, a eudaimonic perspective 'refers to well-being as distinct from happiness per se' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 145). Based on Aristotelian philosophy, 'eudaimonic theories maintain that not all desires—not all outcomes that a person might value—would yield well-being when achieved. Even though they are pleasure producing, some outcomes are not good for people and would not promote wellness' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 146). For authors within the eudaimonic perspective subjective happiness cannot therefore simply be equated with well-being. Rather they understand human well-being in Aristotelian terms of human flourishing. Namely, either as 'the striving for perfection that represents the realization of one's true potential' (Ryff 1995, p. 100), as living in accordance with one's true authentic and expressive self (Waterman 1993), or as living 'with the requirements of human nature' (Fromm 1981, xxvi; 2007).

Based on their critique of hedonic visions of well-being, researchers working from the eudaimonic perspective challenge 'SWB models of well-being as being of limited scope where positive functioning is concerned, and specifically that SWB is often a fallible indicator of healthy living' (Ryan & Deci 2001, 146). Instead some of them have developed their own measures of well-being that are based on the eudaimonic perspective. Ryff & Keyes (1995) for example propose the measure of Personal Well-being (PWS), Waterman (1993) uses his measure of Personal Expressivness (PE) and Ryan & Deci (2000) support their Self-determination theory (SDT) research. Here we have to note that these methods certainly represent a more marginal current in empirical happiness (well-being) research dominated by hedonic approach and SWB meassurements. In addition they have been subjected to criticism from writers within the hedonistic perspective who argue that eudaimonic criteria allow the researchers to define well-being whereas SWB research allows people to tell researchers what makes their life good.

2.3 The Economy of Happiness

On the bases of certain insights of empirical happiness research some economists have opened a new field of research within economy called the economy of happiness or 'happiness economics' that 'is gaining increasing attention among economists, psychologists, sociologists and the public' (Bruni and Porta 2007, xvi). In particular economy of happiness was inspired by the so-called happiness paradox⁶ introduced by Esterlin (1974) who is consequently considered to be the father of economy of happiness. Esterlin (1974), used the data of extensive, quantitative, longitudinal, human happiness research to argue that when a particular individual or society reaches a certain level of economic wealth, any further increase in income does little or nothing to increase the level of happiness and well-being. The main focus of economics of happiness then is 'explaining the happiness paradoxes' that 'calls into question some of the basic tenets of contemporary economics' like considering well-being as a simple function of income or seeing the increase of GDP as the main vision for the development of societies (Bruni and Porta 2007, xvii). Based on their specific explanations of the happiness paradox economists working in the "happiness tradition" propose different new policies and encourage governments to govern and allocate resources in accordance with what they believe to be the reasons behind the paradox.

Above we have described the main approaches for the study of happiness that have evolved in the western culture. The dissertation will primarily focus on the tradition of empirical happiness research, which – as we have argued - approaches happiness not as an ethical theme like philosophy but sees happiness as an object of scientific research. Within this empirical tradition we will give special emphasis to the connection between happiness and culture. There are two major reasons for such a particular focus. The first is connected with the fact that the empirical approach hasn't yet been systematically critically reflected and the second is that treating happiness as the object of research provides a point of departure for questioning the widespread assumption of intrinsically unproblematic nature of happiness in the Western

_

⁶ After its author the happiness paradox is sometimes also called the Esterlins's paradox.

culture.

3 THE STUDY OF HAPPINESS IN THE CONTEXT OF CULTURE

The crux of this chapter will be to explore the relationship between happiness, well-being and culture. To that end, we shall examine the existent theories and empirical research about the connection between culture and happiness and try to identify the moments at which they could be criticized and complemented. Our central aim will be to question happiness and well-being as universal experiences and to suggest that they are culturally and historically specific/singular notions and experiences, the constitution of which is also closely connected to the workings of power. The aim of the analysis of the workings of power connected to happiness will not only be to show what the implications of power are for the existent ways of exploring happiness, but also to explore what the implications of power relations are in the constitution of experience of happiness in Western culture.

3.1 Cross-national measurements of SWB and culture

In spite of the fact that the complexity and magnitude of the empirical study of happiness has grown at a steady pace since the 1960s, it was only towards the end of the 20th century that the field of happiness studies became increasingly interested in the relation between culture and happiness. Initial reflections on happiness in the context of culture have been predominately catalyzed by the methodological issues in cross-national empirical research on subjective well-being. Comparisons of reported levels of SWB between various national states could undoubtedly be regarded as one of the central issues in empirical research on happiness from its beginning in the 1960s up until now (Veenhoven

1997). Cantril's cross-national study on 'Pattern of Human Concerns,' for example, already included happiness as a variable in 1965 (see Cantril 1965). Cantril's research, and the majority of the numerous other comparative research studies of SWB that followed, addressed various methodological issues related to comparing happiness across countries such as sampling and the problems of measurement. It was not until the beginning of the 1980s that the influence of culture came to be seen as one of the possible methodological issues. Namely, Ostroot et al. (1981) analyzed the quality-of-life perceptions held by the inhabitants of two culturally different cities: Springfield Illinois, USA and Aixen-Provence, France. The research of Ostroot et al. was certainly not the first to observe significant differences in levels of SWB across nations, but it was one of the first that clearly identified a methodological issue that later become designated as the 'cultural bias' (Veenhoven 1991). The cultural bias implies that the comparative differences in the appreciation of life do not necessarily pertain to the actual differences between levels of happiness, but are rather a result of cultural variations that influence peoples' perceptions of their wellbeing. Ostroot et al. (1981), and later Baumeister (1991), argued, for example, that a higher level of happiness reported by Americans could be connected to the fact that their culture places happiness much higher up on the list of values than the French. In other words, their cultural context encourages Americans to present themselves as happier than they actually are. Another methodological reservation posed by later research was that the survey-based measurement of happiness could be distorted in cultures that are less familiar with the concept or that have a significantly different concept of well-being (see Ouweneel and Veenhoven 1991, 2; Mathews and Izquierdo 2009: 8).

Growing discussions around the influence of culture on the measurement of SWB gradually turned cross-national comparisons of SWB into cross-cultural comparisons. A notable step in that direction has been the *Culture and Subjective Well-being* reader edited by Diener and Suh (2000). The main focus of the reader is the identification of differences in SWB between cultures/states. To that end, the authors examine cultural factors that influence SWB (e.g. Triandis 2000; Oishi 2000) and 'ask whether specific societal conditions generally lead to SWB in the nations of the world' (Diener and

Oishi 2000). The authors also place much emphasis on methodological issues regarding different modes of survey-based cross-cultural comparisons of happiness, which include 'the question of measurement,' 'issue of causality,' problems with 'defining and measuring the cultural and societal variables that predict well-being,' 'sampling,' etc. (Diener and Suh 2000: 5-8).

It is not unusual for researchers to employ different methods for the measurement of SWB across cultures⁷. What is of far greater importance for our discussion is that authors working in happiness studies differ significantly in their perception of the degree of influence of culture on happiness. While in general (especially after the publication of *Culture and Subjective Well-being* reader) most of the authors in happiness studies acknowledge a certain connection between culture and happiness, they are certainly not univocal in their understanding about the nature and the extent of that relation (Diener 2007, 693-695). Or, as Ryan and Deci (2001, 161) have put it: 'researchers within the field of well-being are grappling with an issue that cross-cuts all social sciences, namely that concerning cultural relativism versus universals in human nature'.

3.2 Cross-cultural happiness research and universal notions of well-being

While there are two extreme positions on the connection between culture and happiness (one that sees happiness and well-being as universal – independent from culture – and the other that sees happiness as entirely culturally specific), the majority of empirical researchers opt for the middle path, maintaining that some components of well-being are universal and the others, culturally specific (Diener 2007, 693-695). In this sense, most of them would agree with Diener and Suh's (2000, 4) editorial in *Culture and Subjective Well-being*, which only perceives culture as one of the factors influencing SWB: 'SWB reflects to some degree how much people are living in accord with evolutionary imperatives and

_

⁷ For more on different methods of measuring SWB across cultures, see Diener and Suh (2000, 5-8) and Diener (2007)

human needs, but also represents judgments based on the particular norms and values of each culture'.

We agree with Tiberius (2004), who argues that regardless of how they perceive the relation between culture and happiness, those researchers who are relying on survey-based cross-cultural comparisons of (subjective) well-being are assuming a universal notion of well-being on which they can ground their research. While Tiberius (2004: 293) and, according to her, 'most philosophers,' working in the area of well-being actually try to articulate and support such universal notions of well-being, we, on the other hand, will suggest that the ambition of philosophers and other theoreticians and researchers of well-being to 'clear the ground for a universal notion of well-being' (Tiberius 2004: 293) should not be accepted without scrutiny.

According to Tiberius (2004, 293), a formal philosophical project in the area of well-being that aims to formulate universal notions of well-being is not 'undermined by the kinds of cultural differences that have been discovered and that, therefore, there might be a universal notion of well-being'. Tiberius (2004) builds her principal argument solely on the basis of empirical crosscultural SWB comparisons, which only 'discover differences in the causes, source, or perhaps even the components of well-being' (Tiberius 2004: 295). She argues that in order for such comparisons 'to proclaim that these are differences about well-being, they must presuppose an account of the nature of well-being that is the referent of a concept we share with other cultures' (Tiberius 2004: 295). As a consequence, Tiberius believes (2004: 295), cultural differences in the sources or causes of well-being do not undercut universal notions of well-being that are 'attempting to provide the criterion for what counts as a source or cause'. On the contrary, according to Tiberius (2004), SWB researchers need to assume such a universal notion and, consequently, 'defending such an account is one of the main projects of philosophers' working on the formal analysis of well-being.

We certainly agree with Tiberius that empirical survey-based cross-cultural comparisons of SWB do need to presuppose a universal notion of well-being. Moreover, we believe that Tiberius's argument is even more far-reaching, proving that actually any attempt to compare happiness or well-being across

different cultures means that the researcher is knowingly or unknowingly assuming a universal notion of well-being. Without such an assumption, Tiberius rightly argues (2004: 295), 'Differences between goods pursued by various cultures could not be reported as differences that have to do with well-being'.

Yet, in our view, this is not enough to ultimately maintain a universal notion of well-being nor of happiness, with which well-being is usually equated within empirical happiness research. Namely, we shall argue that Tiberius's defense of universal notions of well-being is plausible only for as long as culture is perceived solely as influencing the causes and source of well-being. To that end, let us first take a closer look at the most recent insight into the connection between culture and well-being from the so-called cultural perspective in happiness studies, on the basis of which we are going to build our argument on.

3.3 The cultural perspective in

happiness studies

Authors with a background in cultural psychology that constitutes the so-called cultural perspective in happiness studies (like Kitayama and Markus 2000; Lu and Gilmour 2004; Uchida et. al. 2004 and Pflug 2008) argue that the influence of culture reaches beyond the sources or causes of well-being. Rather, they comprehend culture in the broadest sense as 'a particular way of life' (Williams 1983: 90) and, consequently, do not only consider culture as one of the factors in the understanding of well-being and happiness, but rather as the cardinal factor: 'culture can be a major force constructing the conception of happiness and consequently shaping its subjective experiences. In particular, members of different cultures may hold diverse views of happiness, covering definitions, nature, meaning and ways to strive for SWB' (Lu and Gilmour 2004, 271). Of course, this does not mean ignoring factors like 'evolutionary imperatives and human needs' and 'human nature' (Diener and Suh 2000: 4, 5). Instead, even factors like evolutionary imperatives, human needs and human nature that

might seem "natural" and "universal" are manifested in culturally specific ways:

Just as people cannot live in a general way and must of necessity live in some set of culture-specific ways, a person cannot just be well in a general way. The very nature of what it means to be well or to experience well-being takes culture-specific forms. What it means to feel good or to live a good life requires being able to realize culturally mandated ways of being (Kitayama and Markus 2000: 114, 115).

According to Kitayama and Markus (2000), and later also Lu and Gilmour (2004), the two compounds of SWB – "the subject/self" and "well-being" – that constitute any experience of happiness are not general, universal or ahistorical phenomena and experiences, but rather historically and culturally specific social constructions that are established through 'cultural practices and meanings' (Kitayama and Markus 2000): 'The cultural perspective assumes that psychological processes – in this case, the nature and experiences of SWB - are thoroughly culturally constituted. Thus, culture and SWB are most productively analyzed together as a dynamic of mutual constitution' (Lu and Gilmour 2004: 271). What, therefore, counts as well-being 'depends on how the concepts of "well" and "being" are defined and practiced' in a particular culture or a society (Kitayama and Markus 2000: 115). This means that 'members of different cultures may hold diverse views of well-being, covering definitions, nature, meaning and ways to strive for SWB' (Lu and Gilmour 2004: 271), where specific conceptions of happiness form specific experiences of happiness. Moreover, 'culture also influences SWB in the way it gives shape and form to the self' (Lu and Gilmour 2004: 272). Here, we have to note that the cultural construction of the self 'is socially mediated, meaning that it occurs in conjunction with the construction of social relationships' (Kitayama and Markus 2000: 114).

Besides the influence of culture on both the subject/self and the conceptions of happiness, there is also a mutual connection between the self/subject and SWB, meaning that 'the self stands at the junction of subjective well-being and culture. Culture provides 'form and shape to the self' and specific definitions of both 'well and being,' which in mutual influences produce how individuals feel

and think about various aspects of their lives – the central research issue of SWB' (Suh 2000: 63). 'To the extent that the relevant social world is arranged and practiced differently, incorporating different cultural models of what is good, what is moral, or what is self,' Kitayama and Markus conclude (2001), 'well-being may assume forms other than those currently described and documented in the psychological literature'.

Claiming that well-being and happiness are culturally and historically specific phenomena does not imply that cultures are closed self-sufficient units independent from each other. On the contrary, cultures that directly or indirectly interact with each other always influence each other. The idea of so-called inter-cultural diffusion also holds in the case of happiness and well-being. Lu and Gilmour's (2004: 272) qualitative comparative research in Euro-American and Asian culture, for example, has clearly identified 'cultural fusion' in the field of well-being:

In a time of cultural fusion, people living in the collectivist East are learning to adopt cultural values, self-views, beliefs, attitudes and behaviors from the West. Consequently, they may now subscribe to both individual and socially oriented conceptions of SWB, and have access to both Eastern and Western repertoires of striving for SWB. A parallel trend in the individualist West in the opposite direction may be less salient due to a certain asymmetry in cross-cultural impact, not least because the very nature of core values at issue inclines Westerners to impact more aggressively on their environment, including other cultures.

Here, it is important to add that according to the cultural perspective, the cultural construction of happiness is not only culturally specific, but also historically specific, for both the self/subject and cultural conceptions of happiness are 'grounded in historically nurtured ideologies and religious ideas' (Uchida et al. 2004: 227). As a consequence, an analysis of the cultural constitution of experience of happiness has to also include 'the history of the culture' (Kitayama and Markus 2000: 114) in which it is grounded. Such a historical analysis was demonstrated by Lu and Gilmour (2004), who argued that Asian conceptions of SWB are largely marked by 'Confucian, Taoist, and

Buddhist' historical influences, whereas the Euro-American conceptions are marked by their Christian legacy.

3.4 Ethnocentrism of universal notions of well-being and happiness

Taking the cultural perspective into account, it is possible to claim that Tiberius's arguments for a universal notion of well-being are plausible for only as long as the analysis of the relation between culture and well-being remains limited to empirical survey-based cross-cultural comparisons that indeed are only capable of discovering cultural differences in causes and sources of wellbeing. Insofar as empirical cross-cultural research on well-being fails to identify and explain the nature of well-being, Tiberius believes that it has to be established by philosophers who formulate it as a universal notion of wellbeing. However, Tiberius (2004, 301) also rightly acknowledged that 'more dramatic differences' identified by cross-cultural research in well-being 'would be evidence that the two words we thought referred to the same concept (of well-being L.Z.), in fact refer to two different things'. As we have seen above, a cultural perspective that combines qualitative empirical evidence with theoretical analysis has revealed that the differences between cultures indeed are 'more dramatic' than discovered by quantitative SWB research and acknowledged by Tiberius (2004): 'It is not that different things make people happy in different cultural contexts - that is obviously the case. More significantly, it is the ways of "being well" and the experience of well-being that are different' (Kitayama and Markus 2000: 115). That is, 'the very nature of what it means to be well or to experience well-being takes culture-specific forms' (Kitayama and Markus 2000: 114). Insofar as there are not only the causes and sources of well-being that differ across cultures but also its nature⁸,

_

⁸ Empirical evidence for this argument can be found both in the work done within the cultural perspective in happiness studies (see Kitayama and Markus 2000; Lu and Gilmour 2004; Uchida et. al. 2004 and Pflug 2008) and in the research of anthropology of well-being (see Mathews & Izquierdo 2009).

by articulating universal formal notions of well-being, philosophers, researchers or theoreticians of happiness are in fact superimposing their own particular conception of nature of well-being based on meanings and practices of their cultural background on other cultures. In other words, by advocating or trying to articulate universal notions of well-being, they are inescapably caught in a form ethnocentrism, which corresponds to a 'process by which values and ways of seeing the world that are founded in one culture are used to comprehend and judge another' (Barker 2004, 63).

Since quantitative survey measurements and comparisons of well-being need to presuppose such universal concepts of happiness, they are also susceptible to the charge of ethnocentrism. By placing 'contemporary understandings of psychological and subjective well-being' in a 'cultural and historical context,' Christopher (1999: 141) has put forward several convincing arguments to support 'the hypothesis that, despite intentions to be value-neutral, subjective well-being is actually normative; its very design presupposes values and assumptions that are central to Western culture' (Christopher 1999: 146). Even though Christopher mostly refers to the psychological SWB research, which was prevalent at the time of the writing of his article, we believe that his arguments are equally valid for all perspectives in empirical happiness research that advocate or assume universal notions of well-being9. According to Christopher (1999: 141), empirical survey happiness research (and, in our view, other theoretical and research perspectives in happiness studies also) problematically presupposes 'ontological and liberal individualism as notions of the self and as normative prescriptions for the good or ideal person'. Ahmed (2007/2008, 10) is close to Christopher's position, arguing that 'the science of happiness relies on a *very* specific model of subjectivity, where one knows how one feels, and where the distinction between good and bad feeling is secure, forming the basis of subjective as well as social well-being'. And so are Kitayama and Markus (2000, 153): 'often as innocuous and well-intended as they are, various attempts to apply theories of happiness that are implicitly

.

⁹ This includes the eudemonic approach to empirical happiness research that examines well-being based on the "universalized" Aristotelian vision of well-being, which is clearly tied to the Western cultural context.

grounded in Western ideas of progress, liberalism, egalitarianism, and freedom to other cultural contexts may not reveal, but distort, lived experiences of the people in those cultures'.

Rather than uncritically relying on biased universal notions of well-being, Christopher argues (1999: 149), therapists, theoreticians and researchers of happiness ought to be conscious of the fact that 'understandings of psychological well-being necessarily rely upon moral visions that are culturally embedded and frequently culture-specific'. As a consequence, 'the idea of developing entirely culture-free measures, theories or interventions is seriously misguided' (Christopher 1999: 149). If we (as researchers and theoreticians of happiness and well-being) 'believe that we are discovering universal and ahistorical psychological truths rather than reinterpreting and extending our society's or community's moral visions,' Christopher further warns (1999: 149), 'then we run the risk of casting non-Western people, ethnic minorities, and women as inherently less psychologically healthy'.

3.4.1 Anthropological critique of universal notions of wellbeing and happiness

The 'anthropology of well-being,' conceived with the publication of the first anthropological reader on happiness, and edited by Mathews and Izquierdo (2009: 8), is also 'highly skeptical' towards quantitative survey-based research of happiness, 'seeing them as inevitably ethnocentric in their use of Western-derived survey instruments to compare a range of societies across the world'. In spite of the fact that these survey-based studies are becoming more sophisticated, anthropologists insist that universal notions and scales used by quantitative researchers 'privilege some cultural conceptions over others' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009, 8). As a consequence, they believe that 'American or Western conceptions of well-being are insufficient to understand well-being in a range of societies across the globe, and are thus insufficient as a basis for the cross-cultural comparison of well-being' (Mathews and Izquieredo: 2009: 9). Similar to the cultural perspective in happiness studies,

anthropology adopts a cultural constructionist approach¹⁰: 'happiness, as we have argued, is subjective and culture-bound, and cannot easily be ascertained by any universal measures. Different societies may adhere to different culturally and linguistically constructed concepts of happiness, making cross-societal comparison more or less problematic' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009: 5).

Anthropologists of well-being see the answer to the problem of ethnocentrism inherent in philosophical universal notions of well-being and empirical survey research in cultural relativism that has been one of the most important tenets of their discipline since the start of the 20th century. Before we can explore what cultural relativism brings to the research of happiness, we first have to clarify the 'problem with an unswerving cultural relativism' in relation to well-being as raised by Diener and Suh (2000: 5). While 'respecting many differences between countries,' Diener and Suh (2000: 5) and Diener (2007) are reluctant about what they call an 'all-out cultural relativism' because according to them, it is 'too accepting of terrible people and sick societies'. With the help of anthropology, we have to observe that Diener and Suh (2000) have apparently based their position on cultural relativism on an erroneous understanding of the concept. Claiming that the problem with cultural relativism is 'that every outcome is as good as every other; a Hitler is judged to be as good as Francis of Assisi' (Diener and Suh 2000: 5) points to an obvious confusion between the concepts of cultural relativism and moral relativism. According to Marcus and Fisher (1986: 32), such misuses of the concept emerge from the fact that cultural relativism 'has all too often been portrayed as a doctrine rather than as a method and reflection on the process of interpretation itself'. While an extreme position of moral relativism, conceived as rejecting universal moral truths, could indeed lead to Diener and Suh's radical claim on cultural relativism, for anthropologists the concept instead corresponds to a methodology that follows the guidelines that there is

'no one best or most rational way to organize society; that different cultures had evolved different constellations of values and social

_

¹⁰ This similarity is quite obvious considering the fact that cultural psychology was actually born out of a strand of 20th-century anthropology (see LeVine 2007).

mechanisms; that it is often more realistic to try to learn alternative ways of organizing societies by observing other cultures than by ivory-tower speculation about reforming society; that cultural values cannot be ethically judged in abstract philosophical terms, but must be evaluated in terms of their actual effects on social life (Marcus and Fischer 1986: 170).

Anthropologists, hence, persistently defend against 'critics who charge that relativism asserts the equal validity of all value systems, thus making moral judgments impossible, and that in its insistence on fundamental respect for cultural differences among human societies, it has paralyzed all schemes of generalization, by which the progress of any science must proceed' (Marcus and Fischer 1986: 32).

3.5 Incompleteness of empirical (cross-cultural) survey happiness research

According to the anthropologists of well-being, the cross-cultural comparison of survey data is not only ethnocentric, but also 'leaves out too much to be fully credible' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009: 6) because 'surveys do not ask respondents to talk about their senses of well-being in their own words. Rather, they ask for informants' closed-ended answers to fixed questions, as translated into different languages. This not only ignores how individuals express their own senses of their lives, but also ignores how different languages and cultures conceive of well-being in different ways'. In other words, surveys 'reify what can be measured and ignore what cannot be measured' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009, 8). According to anthropologists of well-being, the only way to adhere to the methodological premises of cultural relativism and to avoid the inherent incompleteness of survey research is to conduct ethnographic research in the cultures of interest, 'which can provide the social and cultural context without

which well-being in a given society cannot be fully understood' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009: 250):

Anthropologists specialize in understanding, through extended fieldwork, the complex cultural meanings that exist within a given society. They may be especially well situated to understand a given society's particular language formulations of well-being and to reveal, through close ethnographic description, how these play out in people's daily lives, words, and worlds (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009: 9).

Following from this, Mathews and Izquierdo warn (2009, 6), we have to be extremely careful when comparing different cultures in terms of well-being: 'it is indeed possible to make a comparison of different societies as to well-being, as long as this is done in a careful, culturally sensitive way. This can be done through what we in this book term soft comparison, comparison based not on – or at least not solely on – bald statistics placed side by side, but rather on all the nuances of sociocultural context ethnographically portrayed' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009: 6). In this sense, anthropologists of well-being consider their approach as an 'empirical antidote to the straitjackets of comparison adhered to by some other disciplines, such as economics and psychology, which more or less insist on a common standard of measurement for all societies' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009: 248).

Even though the cultural perspective in happiness studies does not proclaim to be following cultural relativism, ¹¹ nor does it explicitly criticize survey methods on account of their ethnocentrism, it could be argued that it adheres to all the major methodological tenets of cultural relativism as understood by anthropologists of well-being:

A cultural psychological approach does not automatically assume that all behavior can be explained by the same set of constructs and measures, and enquires first whether a given construct is meaningful and how it is used in a given cultural context. In other words, a Western conception of

_

¹¹ Perhaps the reason behind this is connected with the fact that they are trying to avoid the charge of moral relativism that could be based on the misunderstanding of their position on cultural relativism.

SWB should not be superimposed on other cultures; instead, indigenous conceptions of SWB bred in particular cultural contexts should be unraveled and systematically mapped out (Lu and Gilmour 2004, 271).

The cultural perspective also agrees with the anthropology of well-being that 'statistical measures of well-being are not inherently flawed, but they are inherently incomplete' (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009, 250):

The literature on well-being has so far been based on large surveys. Although useful in revealing general descriptions, this methodology has inherent limitations. The cultural perspective presented here suggests that cultural meanings are often tacit – they are not recognized by the person who engages in them, and they therefore are unlikely to be revealed in any survey data. A variety of reasons underlie this problem of survey methodology. The most important is that cultural meanings are embodied in patterns of cultural practices and conventions. Such practices and conventions are often tacit, normative, carrying little, if any, subjective significance. Yet, they are a significant contributor to subjective wellbeing. They provide the framework within which individuals, singly or collectively, seek to achieve cultural adaptation in order to attain a state of well-being. Research can benefit from dense descriptions of the lived world of the peoples under study, and then by bringing this cultural knowledge to bear on the theories and methods developed to test those theories (Kitayama and Markus 2000, 153).

While the anthropology of well-being is almost exclusively in favor of the ethnographic method, a cultural perspective is open to a variety of both quantitative as well as qualitative methods. To support their thesis and compare different cultural constructions of well-being, researchers from the cultural perspective use different quantitative (e.g. Kitayama and Markus 2001; Uchida et al. 2004) and qualitative research methods (e.g. Lu and Gilmour 2004; Pflug 2008). The latest research, however, seems to lean more towards the qualitative side, as it is more suitable for exploration of cultural meanings and practices that enter in the cultural construction of happiness. Lu and Gilmour (2004) and Pflug (2008), for example, have asked their research group to write essays on

the theme 'What is happiness?' and, thus, tried to extrapolate the meanings respondents with a different cultural background attributed to happiness.

3.6 Happiness and well-being as culturally and historically singular/specific notions and experience

Above, we have discussed whether happiness and well-being can be considered as universal phenomena and experiences or if they are culturally specific. As shown, within the traditional empirical happiness research, the connection between culture and happiness has initially been explored as a purely methodological issue within cross-national comparative happiness measurements. Gradually, culture has become a relevant factor to be considered in order to explain and measure the differences in levels of happiness between nations and cultures. However, amongst happiness researchers and theoreticians, there are still notable differences in understanding the relationship between culture and happiness. Tiberius (2004) has showed that regardless of how they perceive the relation between culture and happiness, all researchers who are relying on survey-based cross-cultural comparisons of SWB are assuming a universal notion of well-being on which they can ground their research. While Tiberius (2004) and, according to her, most philosophers and researchers working in the area of well-being, try to support or assume universal notions of well-being, we, on the other hand, have questioned them. Namely, we have argued that Tiberius's defense of universal notions of wellbeing is only valid for as long as differences between cultures are perceived solely in terms of causes and sources of well-being. Since the cultural perspective in happiness studies and anthropology of well-being have discovered more fundamental differences between cultures, we have questioned universal notions of well-being and instead considered happiness and wellbeing as culturally and historically specific social constructions established through cultural meanings and practices. We have stressed that by articulating or assuming universal formal notions of well-being, philosophers, researchers or theoreticians of happiness are in fact superimposing their own culture-bound criteria for what counts as well-being onto other cultures. While on account of this, survey-based cross-cultural comparisons of (subjective) well-being are charged with Western ethnocentrism, especially by the anthropologists, both anthropology and the cultural perspective in happiness studies agree that statistical measures of well-being are inherently incomplete, leaving out too much to be fully credible. As a consequence, they both (explicitly or implicitly) try to follow the cultural constructionist thesis and methodological tenets of cultural relativism that imply that societies should be explored and evaluated on their own unique terms. Following from this, they are both more in favor of qualitative methods such as ethnography and unstructured interviews that, in their view, can provide a more accurate and verifiable scientific picture of happiness and well-being than the quantitative survey research.

While we mostly approve of the theoretical insights and the methods for the research and study of happiness and well-being introduced by the anthropology of well-being and cultural perspective and, as a consequence, believe that they have made important contributions to the discussion about the connection between culture and happiness, we think that their approaches also have certain theoretical weaknesses and lacunae, which have to be addressed.

4 PROBLEMATIC ISSUES
WITH THE CULTURAL
PERSPECTIVE IN HAPPINESS
STUDIES AND
ANTHROPOLOGY OF WELLBEING

4.1 Explicit or implicit residue of universal notions of well-being and the incomplete understanding of the cultural construction thesis

Providing valuable ethnographic analysis about well-being in different cultures, the anthropology of well-being is undoubtedly more "culturally sensitive" than the survey methods of cross-cultural happiness measurement, which it so vigorously criticizes on account of their ethnocentricity. Yet, in our view, and insofar as anthropologists of well-being also adhere to a universal notion of well-being, they are also susceptible to a subtle form of ethnocentrism. Namely, the anthropology of well-being articulates a universal notion of well-being in the form of a 'broad definition' of well-being (Mathews and Izquierdo 2009, 5):

Well-being is an optimal state for an individual, community, society, and the world as a whole. It is conceived of, expressed, and experienced in different ways by different individuals and within the cultural contexts of different societies: different societies may have distinctly different culturally shaped visions of well-being. Nonetheless, well-being bears a degree of commonality due to our common humanity and interrelatedness over space and time. Well-being is experienced by individuals — its essential locus lies within individual subjectivity — but it may be considered and compared interpersonally and interculturally, since all individuals live within particular worlds of others, and all societies live in a common world at large.

Even though anthropologists of well-being try to formulate their definition on the basis of cultural relativism, they are still imposing certain universal criteria for what counts as well-being. Namely, associating a universal definition of well-being with the word 'optimal,' which derives from the Latin *optimus*, meaning best, can be ethnocentric, considering that research from the cultural perspective in happiness studies has indicated that 'the notion that it is good to increase the good and to decrease the bad may be cultural' and that 'it is rooted in the European-American ideology of linear progress' (Kitayama and Markus' 2001, 153).

With the help of insights from the cultural perspective, we have also argued in a similar way above that universal notions of well-being that formulate the criteria of what counts as a source or a cause of well-being articulated by philosophy (and assumed by survey research on well-being) are problematic on account of their ethnocentrism. However, even though the cultural perspective does not explicitly articulate universal notions or criteria of well-being, a thorough reflection reveals that insofar as it claims to be discovering and explaining differences in cultural constructions of happiness and (subjective) well-being, it too might be somewhat problematic. That is, in order to be able to discover differences in cultural constructions of happiness, a cultural perspective has to implicitly articulate a broader, universal notion of well-being that formulates criteria for what counts as a cultural construction of well-being on the ground of which it can claim to be observing the cultural

construction of the same phenomena in different cultures. In other words, just as survey research needs to assume universal criteria for what counts as causes of well-being in order to discover differences in the causes and sources of well-being across cultures, a cultural perspective needs to articulate certain universal criteria for what counts as the cultural construction of well-being in order to be able to discover differences in the cultural construction of well-being across cultures.

In our view, universal notions of well-being implicitly or explicitly assumed by the cultural perspective and anthropology of well-being are more of a theoretical issue and far less problematic than the ethnocentrism and incompleteness of quantitative survey-based cross-cultural measurements of happiness. Nevertheless, this does not mean that it should not be addressed. We believe that universal notions in a cultural perspective in happiness studies and that the anthropology of well-being in fact persist as part of a larger issue, which is that both approaches fail to acknowledge all the consequences of the cultural construction thesis and apply them also to the(ir own) research on happiness and well-being. In addition, there are some other aspects of the study and research of happiness and well-being that are either problematic or not (adequately) covered by the cultural perspective and anthropology of wellbeing, which include issues like relations of power related to the cultural construction of happiness and the need for a more thorough historical analysis. While in our view these issues and lacunae do not undermine the bulk of their analytical and methodological contributions to the study and research of happiness, we believe that their approaches could nevertheless be significantly improved and complemented.

To that end, we shall draw from the so-called postmodern or interpretative anthropology to argue that the consequences of the cultural construction thesis (in happiness studies) are not only methodological, but also epistemological and ontological, and try to examine what this brings to the study and research of happiness and well-being. With the help of cultural studies, we shall then argue that the cultural construction of happiness is also connected to the relations of power in society, which hasn't yet been recognized by the existent approaches of empirical happiness research. Last but not least, we will

emphasize the importance of historical analysis in the understanding of the construction of happiness and note that the mode in which it has been undertaken so far has ignored certain important aspects of the historical constitution of experience of happiness in Western culture.

4.2 Epistemological and ontological consequences of the cultural construction (of happiness) thesis

Insofar as the cultural perspective and anthropology of well-being perceive the cultural construction thesis mostly on the methodological level, they are essentially implying that by explaining and understanding the process of the cultural construction of happiness and well-being that they are providing a more verifiable scientific picture of happiness and well-being than the quantitative survey research. Some anthropologists 'have doubted the possibility of ever achieving the rigor of a hard scientist, partly because they could not experiment with human beings,' and 'partly because of the immense complexity of human interaction'; nevertheless, a scientifically accurate description indeed 'was an ideal to which they usually aspired' (Barrett 1996: 150). While the anthropology of well-being and the cultural perspective in happiness studies as the (grand)daughter of anthropology still mostly seem to follow this ideal, the postmodern anthropology, on the other hand, has very much questioned the strict scientific foundations of anthropology and its ability to provide accurate descriptions of the world and of (other) cultures. For postmodern anthropologists like Clifford (1986), Marcus and Fischer (1986) and Tyler (1986), 'it was no longer the case of science being unobtainable due to technical obstacles' (Barrett 1996: 150). Rather, their position against the ideal of a science of culture was more theoretically profound as they challenged it on ontological, epistemological and ethical grounds.

4.2.1 (Anthropological) critique of modern science and epistemology

Providing a theoretical framework for postmodern anthropology, Rabinow (1986) draws mostly from Rorty¹² (1979), who works his case against modern epistemology, portraying it as 'an accidental, but eventually sterile turning in Western culture' (Rabinow 1986: 234). Rorty (1979: 315) understands epistemology as a study of mental representations that is not universal, but rather a historically singular event in European philosophy after the 17th century, driven by a desire to find firm foundations of knowledge: 'the desire for a theory of knowledge is a desire for constraint - a desire to find "foundations" to which one might cling, frameworks beyond which one must not stray, objects which impose themselves, representations which cannot be gainsaid'. The modern notion of epistemology on which modern science is founded, thus, focuses on the problem of the relation between external reality and internal representations. According to Rorty (1979), Rabinow explains (1986, 235), such a relationship towards truth was established by Descartes whose 'conception of knowing rests on having correct representations in an internal space, the mind'. In this sense:

to know is to represent accurately what is outside the mind; so to understand the possibility and nature of knowledge is to understand the way in which the mind is able to construct such representations. Philosophy's eternal concern is to be a general theory of representations, a theory which will divide culture up into the areas which represent reality well, those which represent it less well, and those which do not represent it at all (despite their pretense of doing so) (Rorty 1979: 3).

However, Rabinow explains (1986, 235), it was only by Kant, who 'established as a priori the Cartesian claim that we have certainty only about ideas,' that

¹² Rorty (1979) is certainly not the only representative of what is often called the postmodernist critique of modern science. In the following chapter, we shall also examine Foucault's original criticism of modern science. Insofar as we will be dealing with the critique of modern science mostly in the context of anthropology and Foucauldian theory, we shall not focus on other notable examples of this approach such as Lyotard's (1984) famous critique of grand/meta narrative of modern science.

'the eventual demarcation of philosophy from science was made possible by the notion that philosophy's core was a "theory of knowledge," a theory distinct from the sciences because it was their foundation' (Rorty 1979,132).

While epistemology primarily remains the foundation of modern science, there is an alternative tradition in modern thought that does not seek 'to improve epistemology but to play a different game' (Rabinow 1986: 236). Namely, Rorty (1979) follows authors like 'Wittgenstein, Heidegger and Dewey' who 'are in agreement that the notion of knowledge as an accurate representation, made possible by special mental processes, and intelligible through a general theory of representation, needs to be abandoned' (Rorty 1979, 6). In this sense, Rorty replaces epistemology and the quest for improving it for an approach based on the notions of anti-representationalism and anti-foundationalism:

Anti-representationalism is understood to mean that the relationship between language and the rest of the material universe is one of causality, not of adequacy, of representation or of expression. That is, we can usefully try to explain how human organisms come to act or speak in particular ways, but we cannot beneficially see language as representing the world in ways, which more or less correspond to the material world. There are no chunks of language that line up with or correspond to chunks of reality. Above all, there is no Archimedean vantage-point from which one could verify the universal 'truth' of any correspondence between the world and language. The anti-foundationalism that follows from this argument suggests that we cannot ground or justify our actions and beliefs by means of any universal truths. We can describe this or that discourse, chunk of language, as being more or less useful and as having more or less desirable consequences. However, we cannot claim it to be true in the sense of correspondence to an independent object world. We can examine the way that the word 'truth' is used, what makes a particular truth claim acceptable to us and our routine deployment of 'mundane realism'. However, we cannot give an epistemological account of truth and must steer clear of philosophical claims about transcendental and metaphysical truth (Barker 2002, 10).

Yet, as Rabinow rightly observes (1986, 240), in his theory of antirepresentationalism and anti-foundationalism, Rorty ignores the category of power, which determines which knowledge is - in spite of the fact that it ultimately lacks foundation in the objective reality – established as truth by a 'wide range of disparate, but interrelated, social and political practices that constitute the modern world'. In this sense, we agree with Rabinow (1986, 241) who – as a consequence – sees Foucault¹³ as an important upgrade of Rorty's refusal of epistemology: 'many new possibilities for thought and action are opened up if we follow Rorty and abandon epistemology (or at least see it for what it has been: an important cultural movement in Western society) and follow Foucault in seeing power as productive and permeative of social relations and the production of truth in our current regime of power'. Antirepresentationalism and anti-foundationalism, combined with the understanding of the relations of power connected to the production of knowledge, thus, imply skepticism towards any universal and objective knowledge about the world including the knowledge of modern science. Instead, we must accept the notion of positionality (or, in Nietzsche's words, perspectivism), which is used to indicate

that knowledge and 'voice' are always located within the vectors of time, space and social power. Thus, the notion of positionality expresses epistemological concerns regarding the who, where, when and why of speaking, judgment and comprehension. That is, specific acculturated persons make truth-claims at an exact and distinct time and place with particular reasons in mind. Consequently, knowledge is not to be understood as a neutral or objective phenomenon, but as a social and cultural production since the 'position' from which knowledge is enunciated will shape the very character of that knowledge. /.../ It follows from this argument that we cannot ground or justify our actions and beliefs by means of any universal truths. We can describe this or that discourse as being more or less useful and as having more or less desirable consequences. However, we cannot claim it to be true in the

¹³ In the following, we shall also examine Foucault's own original refusal of modern epistemology that is not covered by Rabinow (1986).

sense of correspondence with an independent object world (Barker 2004, 154).

The research strategy following from the notions of anti-representationalism, anti-foundationalism and positionality, Rabinow argues (1986, 241), is that 'we need to anthropologize the West; show how exotic its constitution of reality has been; emphasize those domains most taken for granted as universal (this includes epistemology and economics (and also happiness studies; LZ)); make them seem as historically peculiar as possible; show how their claims to truth are linked to social practices and have, hence, become effective forces in the social world'.

4.2.2 "Back to happiness"

Applying this research strategy to the research of happiness and well-being means to question happiness and well-being as universal notions and phenomena in an even more radical sense than done by anthropology of wellbeing and the cultural perspective in happiness studies. It includes absolutely refusing all universal notions of well-being, even the ones that constitute the ground to discover differences in cultural constructions of happiness and wellbeing assumed by anthropology and the cultural perspective in happiness studies. Strictly speaking, this means that insofar as well-being and happiness are notions and experiences specific to Western culture (both in terms of everyday conceptions as well as in terms of conceptions articulated by researchers and theoreticians), we must analyze them precisely as that: singular cultural phenomena that emerged only within Western culture. In other words, when speaking of happiness and well-being either in terms of research or everyday experience, we have to acknowledge that we are speaking of particular concepts and experience that have only emerged in Western culture and that are specific only to Western culture. Literally, this is a call to "return to happiness" with which we want to imply reaffirming happiness as the primary and the most relevant focus of study and research. In this sense, various "scientific" constructs of (subjective) well-being should be stripped of their scientific myth about representing (more) objective or scientific models of happiness and must rather be seen as specific cultural constructions that have

emerged as part of the current historical experience of happiness in Western culture.

Completely refusing universal notions of well-being, we also cannot research happiness and well-being in other cultures, as this would inescapably imply superimposing our own culture-bound criteria for what either counts as causes or sources of well-being or for what counts as a cultural construction of wellbeing onto other cultures. This does not suggest that we cannot conduct research in other cultures. What it does suggest, however, is that without assuming a universal notion of well-being, we can only carefully and sensitively research certain cultural constructions in other cultures for which we can conditionally claim that they constitute a similar thing to happiness and well-being, but certainly not the same thing¹⁴. What has to be assumed in this case, then, is not an a priori universal notion of well-being that articulates criteria for what counts as well-being, but an ontological position of cultural and social construction of reality. That is, to account for the differences across cultures in this sense, we do not need an analytical basis on which differences regarding a preconceived universal phenomenon (like well-being) can be discovered, but an analytical foundation that can explain how being is culturally and historically constituted as different kinds of experience.

Since there is 'no Archimedean vantage-point from which one could verify the universal "truth" of any correspondence between the world and language' (Barker 2002, 10), there is no such thing as objective knowledge about happiness and well-being even within Western culture. That is, we can only talk of happiness in terms of specific notions and experience socially constructed through meanings and practices in Western culture.

4.2.3 Studying happiness as happiness: happiness as a serious true fiction

The foundations for such a methodological approach in anthropology were laid by Geertz (1973), the forefather of postmodern anthropology, who proposed the switch in the anthropological analysis from structure and causality to meaning

-

¹⁴ For pragmatic purposes, the word could be translated, provided of course that this is done with the reflection of the position from which this translation is taken.

and interpretation. In this sense, culture corresponds to a system of signs and symbols or 'an assembly of texts' (Geertz 1973: 448). While the cultural perspective and anthropology of well-being also focus on cultural meanings and practices, they – as we have argued above – failed to acknowledge all the consequences of the interpretative approach and, thus, remain within the epistemological framework of modern science. Following from this, the cultural perspective and the anthropology of well-being see their methods as producing more accurate in-depth descriptions of well-being and happiness across cultures. In contrast, for an interpretative anthropology that is attuned to the notion of positionalism analysis is not an objective scientific description but an well informed interpretation. As such it is closer to a literary method of interpreting texts than an objective scientific method: 'anthropological writings are themselves interpretations, and second and third ones to boot. (By definition, only a "native" makes first-order ones: it's his culture.) They are, thus, fictions; fictions in the sense that they are "something made," "something fashioned" ... not that they are false' (Geertz 1973: 15). Perceiving ethnographies as fictions, Clifford explains (1986: 6), does not mean that they are 'something merely opposed to truth,' but rather 'suggests the partiality of cultural and historical truths, the ways they are systematic and exclusive'. 'If "culture" is not an object to be described, nor is it a unified corpus of symbols and meanings that can be definitively interpreted' (Clifford 1986: 19), it follows that ethnographic truths trying to interpret other cultures as well as our own are 'constructed,' 'inherently partial - committed and incomplete' (Clifford 1986: 6). That is, 'even the best ethnographic texts - serious, true fictions - are systems, or economies, of truth, (Clifford 1986: 7).

Taking the notion of positionality into account, anthropology, thus, 'no longer speaks with automatic authority for others defined as unable to speak for themselves' and has to acknowledge that 'ethnographic work has indeed been

¹⁵ Text here is perceived in the broadest sense as anything that conveys meaning and requires interpretation.

¹⁶ As we shall see, this conception of truth is very close to the Nietzschean and Foucauldian conceptions of truth.

enmeshed in a world of enduring and changing power inequalities, and it continues to be implicated' (Clifford 1986: 9).

The ideal of cultural relativism that claims to be evaluating cultures in their own unique terms is, thus, ultimately unattainable. When researching cultures, postmodern anthropologists argue, we can then only try to critically reflect on the position from which the research is conveyed: 'now ethnography encounters others in relation to itself, while seeing itself as other' (Clifford 1986: 23). Following from this, 'we do not need a theory of indigenous epistemologies or a new epistemology of the other. We should be attentive to our historical practice of projecting our cultural practices onto the other' (Rabinow 1986: 241). In this sense, Marcus and Fischer argue (1986: 32), 'interpretative anthropology might best be understood as the reinvigorated and sophisticated heir of (cultural; LZ) relativism'.

4.3 Happiness, relations of power and cultural studies

While postmodern anthropology reflects on the relations of power primarily in terms of the researcher's relationship towards the other peoples and cultures he or she is analyzing and interpreting, there is another field of research that prominently supplements the discussion about culture, happiness and power: cultural studies. Namely, while also reflecting on power in terms of the relationship between the researcher and his object of analysis (culture), the interdisciplinary field of cultural studies (see Barker 2002) predominately focuses on analyzing the workings of power within the object of analysis (culture) itself¹⁷. Insofar as they all share a similar conception of culture (see Hall 1999; Barker 2000; 2002), cultural studies is consonant with cultural psychology and the anthropology of well-being on the theory of cultural construction of happiness. Drawing from similar philosophical sources as

also be interested in happiness in terms of their political project.

¹⁷ Regarding itself as a political project, cultural studies is also interested in changing and transforming those relations of power. As we shall argue, cultural studies should, therefore,

postmodern anthropology, cultural studies does not share their problems with a thorough understanding of all the consequences of the cultural construction argument. More specifically, cultural studies is interested in examining the role and the consequences of power in relation to the social and the cultural construction of reality. In this sense, the cultural studies approach not only reflects 'on how happiness is represented within culture, but also on how happiness generates effects, bringing a certain world into existence' (Ahmed 2007/2008, 11).

According to cultural studies, cultural meanings and practices are never independent from the workings of power. Of course, the same holds for meanings and practices that enter in the cultural constitution of the experience of happiness and well-being, which includes two of their main components: the subject(s) of happiness/well-being and the conception(s)/notion(s) of happiness/well-being. The cultural construction of happiness is, thus, always closely connected with the relations of power in society. In other words, from the perspective of cultural studies, happiness is not only a result of a cultural constitution, but also a result of socially mediated relations of power linked to such a constitution: 'Cultural Studies might, in its very worldly orientation, offer a rigorous analysis of happiness and power: ideas of happiness support concepts of the good life that take the shape of some lives and not others' (Ahmed 2007/2008, 11). This means that what in a certain society and in a certain culture for most people counts as happiness always corresponds to a product of a particular historical constellation of relations between culture and power, through which a certain experience of happiness is constituted and established as dominant. For Ahmed (2007/2008, 11), critically reading happiness is, thus, 'a matter of reading how happiness and unhappiness are distributed and located within certain bodies and groups'.

Considering the workings of power in relation to happiness, we, therefore, cannot simply conceive of happiness and well-being as inherently positive and unproblematic cultural phenomena. Or, as stated by Ahmed (2007/2008, 7): 'Cultural studies can make an important contribution to debates about happiness precisely given its willingness to refuse to consent to its truth. We might even suspend belief that happiness is what we want, or that happiness is

what is good'. In a critical mode, happiness has already been approached by Bruckner (2001), Binkley (2007), Ahmed et al. (2007/2008), Zevnik (2009) and Ahmed (2010), whose work we shall attempt to supplement in the following chapters.

Being critical towards happiness and not simply accepting it as an a priori positive notion and experience does not mean, however, that one has to take an a priori negative position towards happiness and well-being. Instead, it implies that we should reflect on the concepts and cultural workings of happiness and well-being as potentially problematic and dangerous. In this sense, we believe that the critical approach to happiness ought to follow Foucault (2000a, 256), who exclaimed, 'My point is not that everything is bad, but that everything is dangerous, which is not exactly the same as bad. If everything is dangerous, then we always have something to do. I think that the ethico-political choice we have to make every day is to determine which is the main danger'.

Following from this, we believe that besides (or better complementary with) a more negative/critical approach aiming to reflect on the possible dangerous aspects of the experience of happiness, the study of happiness (within cultural studies) should also involve a more positive approach to happiness understood in terms of a certain form of a general culture of the self. The first step in this direction has already been made by Barker (2002). Namely, arguing that the problems we face in the post-scarcity cultures 'are increasingly psychological, rather than material,' he proposed a new perspective/strategy in cultural studies concerned with emotions, spirituality, happiness and contentment. This dissertation, however, will predominantly focus on the critical approach (for more on the positive approach to happiness in the context of cultural studies, see Barker 2000 and Zevnik 2010).

In addition to the problematic (subtle) remains of ethnocentricity and the incomplete understanding of the cultural construction thesis inherent in anthropology of well-being and the cultural perspective, it could also be argued that the existent approaches in empirical happiness research are not conclusive enough in their historical analyses.

4.4 Happiness and history

The authors from within the cultural perspective rightly argue that the 'the history of the culture' is very important to the understanding of the contemporary experience of happiness (in Western culture) (Kitayama and Markus 2000; Lu and Gilmour 2004). At the same time, we have to note that attempts at historical analysis undertaken by the authors from the cultural perspective (see for e.g. Lu and Gilmour 2004) are still far from conveying comprehensive historical insights into the historical background of the Western experience of happiness and that anthropology of well-being and survey-based happiness research almost completely lack historical analysis.

There are at least two more detailed historical analyses of happiness available. As a philosopher, White (2006, viii) has written a *Brief History of Happiness* 'as it appears in Western philosophy,' in which he provides a historical overview of 'important philosophical problems in which the idea figures'. While White's history of happiness is limited to the realm of philosophy, McMahon (2006, xiv) has conceptualized his book as a broader 'intellectual history' of happiness: 'I do believe that a history of happiness, at least initially, should be an intellectual history, a history of conceptions of this perennial human end and the strategies devised to attain it, as these have evolved in different ethical, philosophical, religious, and, I would add, political contexts'.

4.4.1 History of ideas vs. history of thought

While the intellectual history of happiness certainly forms an important part of any historical approach (to happiness), the work of the French historian and philosopher Michel Foucault (2001) has shown that a thorough in-depth historical analysis cannot be limited solely to the historical analysis of happiness 'as an idea' (McMahon 2006, xiv). In order to support his argument, Foucault (2001, 74) distinguishes between the 'history of ideas and the history of thought':

Most of the time a historian of ideas tries to determine when a specific concept appears, and this moment is often identified by the appearance of a new word. But what I am attempting to do as a historian of thought is

something different. I am trying to analyze the way institutions, practices, habits, and behavior become a problem for people who behave in specific sorts of ways, who have certain types of habits, who engage in certain kinds of practices, and who put to work specific kinds of institutions. The history of ideas involves the analysis of a notion from its birth, through its development, and in the setting of other ideas, which constitute its context. The history of thought is the analysis of the way an unproblematic field of experience, or a set of practices which were accepted without question, which were familiar and out of discussion, becomes a problem, raises discussion and debate, incites new reactions, and induces a crisis in the previously silent behavior, habits, practices, and institutions. The history of thought, understood in this way, is the history of the way people begin to take care of something, of the way they became anxious about this or that, for example, about madness, about crime, about sex, about themselves, or about truth.

The aim of history of thought, Foucault explains (2001, 171), is neither to analyze 'past people's behavior' nor 'ideas in their representative values,' but to analyze 'the process of "problematization"- which means: how and why certain things (behavior, phenomena, processes) became a problem'. More specifically: it is 'a matter of analyzing, not behaviors and ideas, nor societies and their "ideologies," but the problematizations through which being offers itself to be, necessarily, thought – and the practices on the basis of which these problematizations are formed' (Foucault 1990, 11). According to Foucault (1988, 257):

Problematization doesn't mean representation of a preexisting object, nor the creation by discourse of an object that doesn't exist. It is the totality of discursive or non-discursive practices that introduces something into the play of true and false and constitutes it as an object for thought (whether in the form of moral reflection, scientific knowledge, political analysis, etc.) (Foucault 1988, 257).

In the case of happiness, this suggests an analysis of the problematization of happiness, which includes examining 'how and why were very different things in the world gathered together, characterized, analyzed, and treated' as happiness and 'what are the elements which are relevant' for the problematization of happiness (Foucault 2001, 171).

4.4.2 The critique of the suprahistorical perspective of the traditional historical approach

In addition to Foucault's critique of the traditional historical approach based on the difference between the history of ideas and the history of thought, he – inspired by Nietzsche – criticizes traditional history also on account of what he calls its 'suprahistorical perspective' (Foucault 2000b, 379). Namely, according to Foucault (2000b, 379), history in the traditional sense

'reintroduces (and always assumes) a suprahistorical perspective: a history whose function is to compose the finally reduced diversity of time into a totality fully closed upon itself; a history that always encourages subjective recognitions and attributes a form of reconciliation to all the displacements of the past; a history whose perspective on all that precedes it implies the end of time, a completed development. The historian's history finds its support outside of time and claims to base its judgments on an apocalyptic objectivity' (Foucault 2000b, 379).

To claim such an 'apocalyptic objectivity,' Foucault explains (2000b, 379), a historical perspective has to maintain 'its belief in eternal truth, the immortality of the soul, and the nature of consciousness as always identical to itself'. When the historical sense is mastered by such a suprahistorical perspective, 'metaphysics can align it to the demands of objective science' (Foucault 2000b, 379).

The effect of such an objectifying suprahistorical perspective in traditional historical accounts of happiness such as White's and McMahon's is that by analyzing the "history of happiness" from antiquity to modern times, they essentially retrospectively project the idea and experience of happiness to periods in the history of Western culture when in fact those ideas didn't yet exist¹⁸ or, better yet, when they were not yet problematized. In more concrete words, traditional historians of happiness assume that the ancient Greek

¹⁸ We shall support this argument by an extensive analysis in the third part of the dissertation.

Eudemonia, Roman Felicity or the medieval Christian idea of heaven are just variations of a universal and suprahistorical idea of happiness that, in essence, corresponds to basically the same thing. Or, as Bruckner (2010, 3) puts it, 'We are constantly projecting onto earlier periods or other cultures a conception and obsession that belongs solely to our own'.

Foucault (2000b, 379), on the other hand, argues that, even though we are inclined to 'believe that feelings are immutable,' in fact, 'every sentiment, particularly the noblest and most disinterested, has a history'. It, therefore, follows that we must record the historical 'singularity of events outside of any monotonous finality; it must seek them in the most unpromising places, in what we tend to feel is without history – in sentiments, love, conscience, instincts' (Foucault 2000b, 369); and, of course, in happiness.

In the Foucauldian perspective, the fact that happiness has a history, therefore, does not simply imply analysis of the historical evolution of happiness across various periods in the history of thought (i.e. in a suprahistorical sense) like that undertaken by White or McMahon. Rather, it implies that besides its cultural singularity, we also recognize its historical singularity. That is, strictly speaking, happiness is not only a characteristic solely of Western culture (as we have argued above), but it is also characteristic exclusive to a certain period in the history of Western culture (from the 17th century onwards to the present time, as our analysis in the following chapters will show). Of course, this doesn't mean that people in the past didn't have an ideal of existence, but rather that their experience connected to this ideal was so much different from our own modern experience of happiness that it is impossible to claim that we are dealing with the same thing. Furthermore, this also doesn't mean that the experiences from previous periods are not – at least to a certain extent – connected to each other. As we shall see, besides important discontinuities in the history of thought, there are often also certain continuities¹⁹.

¹⁹ While the Foucauldian approach is often perceived as primarily focusing on discontinuities in the history of thought, that is not really the case. Foucault (1983) himself emphasized that the history of thought 'has nothing to do with continuity or discontinuity' because in history one 'can find either continuity or discontinuity'.

4.5 Conclusion of part I: The problems and lacunae in the existent approaches for the study of happiness in relation to culture, history and relations of power

Our critical discussion above has indicated that the existent approaches within the field of empirical happiness research mostly fail in providing adequate critical accounts of happiness in relation to culture. The philosophy of well-being and quantitative survey-based cross-cultural happiness/well-being research articulate or assume universal notions of well-being that are problematic on account of their ethnocentrism. In addition, the quantitative cross-cultural well-being research has proven to be limited and incomplete.

The recent approaches in empirical happiness research from the cultural perspective and anthropology of well-being in many respects productively criticize and complement the survey-based approaches, arguing that happiness and well-being are not universal, but rather culturally and historically specific social constructions. In addition, they have introduced an array of new (mostly qualitative) research methods, which are more inclusive in mapping out the cultural contours of happiness. However, we have also pointed out some problematic - mostly theoretical - issues and lacunae with the cultural perspective and anthropology of well-being approaches that were illuminated with the help of postmodern anthropology and cultural studies. Namely, in order for these approaches to be able to discover differences in cultural construction of well-being across cultures, they also have to implicitly or explicitly articulate certain universal criteria for what counts as a cultural construction of well-being, which, strictly speaking, can also be ethnocentric. We have noted that these problems persist as part of a larger issue, which is that they both fail to acknowledge all the consequences of the cultural construction thesis and apply them to the research on happiness and well-being. In order to tackle this issue, we have drawn from postmodern anthropology and cultural studies that understand the cultural construction thesis not only on the methodological level (as do anthropology of well-being and cultural perspective in happiness studies), but also on the levels of epistemology, ontology, ethics and relations of power.

We are on the same page as postmodern anthropology, which, with the help of philosophers like Rorty and Foucault, contravenes modern epistemology and the scientific method that is based on it. This implies refusing the possibility of any universal and objective knowledge and notions about the world and instead adopting anti-representationalism, anti-foundationalism and positionalism. Applying these notions to the research and study of happiness and well-being means refusing all universal notions of well-being and happiness, even the ones that constitute the ground, in order to discover differences in cultural constructions of happiness and well-being assumed by anthropology and the cultural perspective in empirical happiness research. Insofar as well-being and happiness are notions and experiences specific to Western culture, we therefore have to analyze them precisely as that: as singular cultural phenomena that have only emerged within Western culture in a particular time period. This "return to happiness" – as we have called it – implies that we have to analyze happiness as a culturally and historically singular experience in Western culture that is constituted by specific cultural meanings and practices. Taking the notion of positionality into account, we also have to acknowledge that we cannot produce knowledge that would objectively represent happiness and well-being in Western culture. Instead, we can only produce what Clifford (1986) and Foucault (2002) call a serious, true fiction about the meanings and practices constituting the experience of happiness in Western culture.

With the help of postmodern anthropology and especially cultural studies, we have also pointed out that the existent approaches of empirical happiness research ignore the workings of power in relation to the cultural construction of happiness. In this sense, the perspectives of cultural studies and postmodern anthropology encourage us to also examine the cultural processes, which caused a particular conception and experience of happiness to become

dominant, the relations of power involved in that process and the effects of that conception and experience for individuals and society. Such a critical analysis of the experience of happiness in Western culture also has to include a critical reflection of "scientific" research on happiness and well-being, which – as we shall argue – also plays an important role in the cultural constitution of a dominant regime of happiness. In this sense, we certainly agree with Foucault (1988, 106), who maintained that science is a way of exercising power: 'the fact that societies can become the object of scientific observation, that human behavior became, from a certain point on, a problem to be analyzed and resolved, all that is bound up, I believe with the mechanism of power – which, in a given moment, indeed analyzed that object (society, man, etc.) and presented it as a problem to be resolved' (Foucault 1988, 106). As a consequence, we believe that well-being research and philosophy of well-being focusing either on Western culture or other cultures also have to be put in the cultural and historical context of the Western experience of happiness and critically dissected. Researching and studying happiness and well-being, then, should not only aim to explain the construction of happiness and well-being in everyday life, but also to (self)-critically examine how research, measurement, scientific and philosophical notions of well-being and happiness have become constituted and how they are connected to the dominant mode of experience of happiness in Western culture. This must include critically examining what is their historical substratum; how and why the problem of measuring and researching happiness has emerged in the history of Western culture; what are its aims, strategies and mechanisms; what is their role in the interplay of power relations and what are its effects.

Last but not least, we have argued that the existent historical analysis of happiness, which is vital to a thorough understanding of its specifics, has so far been inadequate, mostly focusing only on the intellectual history and ignoring what Foucault calls the history of thought. In addition, they also employ a problematic suprahistorical perspective.

PART II: A CRITICAL
FOUCAULDIAN
APPROACH FOR tHE
STUDY OF HAPPINESS
IN WESTERN
CULTURE

5 TOWARDS A NEW APPROACH FOR THE STUDY OF HAPPINESS:

NOMINALISM, CULTURE, HISTORY AND RELATIONS OF POWER

We have argued in our discussion above that besides having certain ethnocentric and theoretical issues, the existent approaches in the empirical happiness and well-being research do not provide a sufficient theoretical and methodological framework to address all the aspects that we had identified as important for a critical understanding of the cultural and historical constitution of happiness in Western culture. As a consequence, we shall attempt to develop our own approach for the critical analysis of happiness in Western culture, which will be based on postmodern anthropology and cultural studies. More specifically, we shall mostly draw from the approach developed by Michel Foucault, which, although occupying an important position in both (postmodern) anthropology and cultural studies, hasn't yet been used to formulate a holistic critical perspective on happiness. In our view, the choice of the Foucauldian nominalist approach is relevant because it enables us to examine happiness as an experience in all the aspects our analysis above has shown to be vital for the critical understanding of this phenomenon in Western culture. Namely, the Foucauldian approach firstly implies

'a systematic skepticism toward all anthropological universals – which does not mean rejecting them all from the start, outright and once and for all, but that nothing of that order must be accepted that is not strictly

indispensable. In regard to human nature or the categories that may be applied to the subject, everything in our knowledge which is suggested to us as being universally valid must be tested and analyzed' (Foucault 2000b, 461).

This enables us to articulate a methodological framework that does not assume any a priori universal notions of happiness and well-being. Foucault (2002, 226) also calls the procedure of analysis that circumvents the anthropological universals "eventualization," which 'means making visible a singularity at places where there is a temptation to invoke a historical constant, an immediate anthropological trait, or an obviousness that imposes itself uniformly on all. To show that things "weren't as necessary as all that,". Foucault explains eventualization with the help of examples from his research: 'It wasn't as a matter of course that mad people came to be regarded as mentally ill; it wasn't self-evident that the only thing to be done with a criminal was to lock him up'. With the help of Ahmed (2007/2008, 9), we can add that it certainly also wasn't self-evident 'that there is something called happiness; that happiness is good; and that happiness can be known and measured' (Ahmed 2007/2008, 9). The next step of eventualization enables us to rediscover 'the connections, encounters, supports, blockages, plays of forces, strategies, and so on, that at a given moment establish what subsequently counts as being self-evident, universal, and necessary' (Foucault 2000b, 227). In our case, how has happiness become something so self-evident, universal and central in Western culture?

In addition, the Foucauldian approach refuses modern epistemology and thoroughly adopts the positions of anti-representationalism, antifoundationalism and positionality, which are not adopted only when analyzing the present, but also to the realm of historical analysis. In this sense, it not only enables us to critically examine notions and experiences of happiness and wellbeing as cultural constructs, but also 'as historical constructs' (Foucault 2000b, 462). We have already seen above that a Foucauldian history of thought aimed at analyzing 'historicity of forms of experience' (Foucault 2000a, 200) provides the tools for a more thorough historical analysis of the experience of happiness in Western culture than the history of ideas. In this sense, it enables us to examine the cultural and historical constitution of both major components of the experience of happiness: the notions of happiness and the subject of happiness. More specifically, it enables us to examine the process by which notions of happiness and well-being have become constituted in Western culture and the process by which the subject of happiness has become constituted in Western culture. Moreover, it can also explain more thoroughly the relationship between the concepts of the subject/self of happiness and the experience of happiness that hasn't yet been explored by the existent approaches in happiness studies. And last but not least, considering that Foucault has put forward one of the most innovative and complex analyses of power, his method enables us to critically reflect on all the aspects of happiness mentioned above in terms of their connectedness with the relations of power.

Before we can apply the Foucauldian perspective to the study of happiness, we must first look more closely at its main theoretical and methodological stakes.

5.1 The specifics of the Foucauldian approach

When speaking of philosopher Michel Foucault, who once said, 'Do not ask me who I am and do not ask me to remain the same' (2004, 19), we should always remember that we are actually speaking about multiple Foucaults. Furthermore, insofar as Foucault's life was strongly influenced by his philosophical work – and vice versa – there are not only multiple Foucaults, but also multiple stages of Foucault's work, each having its own particular methodology, categorical apparatus and philosophical insights. All this is related to the fact that Foucault never intended to formulate a general and unified philosophical system, but rather explored particular transformations of specific problems within his subjective historical experience: 'I am an experimenter and not a theorist. I call a theorist someone who constructs a general system, either deductive or analytical, and applies it to different fields in a uniform way. That isn't my case. I'm an experimenter in the sense that I write in order to change myself and in order not to think the same thing as before' (Foucault 2002: 240).

Foucault hoped to achieve these transformations with the help of critical reflections upon problems within his/our historical experience. In this sense, his philosophy was – even when providing broader philosophical insights – always grounded in the analysis of concrete fields of experience. In his words, the main imperative of his work was to 'never lose sight of the reference of a concrete example that may serve as a ground for the analysis' (Foucault 2000a: 7). As a consequence, Foucault's methodology was in constant development, enabling him to explore the specifics of every particular problem he had been analyzing. As such, every instance of "Foucault's" methodological grip was just as much a tool for a particular analysis as it had also been its end result: 'When I begin a book, not only do I not know what I'll be thinking at the end, but it's not very clear to me what method I will employ. Each of my books is a way of carving out an object and of fabricating a method of analysis' (Foucault 2000b: 240).

Foucault's philosophical insights and reflections as well as his methodological approach were, hence, never final or closed. Rather, they were characterized by a constant experimental openness, maintaining a reflective horizon always open for possible methodological and analytical reevaluation and development:

I wouldn't want what I may have said or written to be seen as laying any claims to totality. I don't try to universalize what I say; conversely, what I don't say isn't meant to be thereby disqualified as being of no importance. My work takes place between unfinished abutments and anticipatory strings of dots. I like to open up a space of research, try it out, and then if it doesn't work, try again somewhere else. On many points – I am thinking especially of the relations between dialectics, genealogy, and strategy – I am still working and don't yet know whether I am going to get anywhere. What I say ought to be taken as "propositions," "game openings" where those who may be interested are invited to join in – they are not meant as dogmatic assertions that have to be taken or left en bloc. My books aren't treatises in philosophy or studies of history: at most, they are philosophical fragments put to work in a historical field of problems (Foucault 2002, 223).

A similar openness also marks Foucault's relation to transformative practice (of writing books): 'it would probably not be worth the trouble of making books if they failed to teach the author something he had not known before, if they did not lead to unforeseen places, and if they did not disperse one toward a strange and new relation with himself. The pain and pleasure of the book is to be an experience' (Foucault 2000a, 205).

Foucault's specific philosophical approach does not mean that he left the plethora of his singular accounts and problematizations completely methodologically disconnected, and the broader philosophical conclusions that could be drawn out of them, unarticulated. Even though his ideas and methodology evolved and transformed considerably along his philosophical trajectory, often producing radical theoretical breaks, he refused to completely discard his previous methodology and philosophical insights. Rather, he tried to remold and reposition them so that they would serve his current research and fit into his latest line of work. As a consequence, in many of his interviews and shorter texts he reflected back on his previous research and insights in order to reassess, reorganize and synthesize them, thus connecting them with his current and future line of thought: 'They are (the shorter texts L.Z.) something like a scaffolding that serves as a link between a work that is coming to an end and another one that's about to begin' and, as such, help 'to define another possible project' (Foucault 2002, 240). In shorter texts and interviews, Foucault also illuminates and reflects on the contours of the vibrant shifts in his thought²¹ and constantly provides meta re-readings and clarifications of his previous works that enabled him to draw broader philosophical insights. Following from this, the complexity and inclusiveness of Foucault's methodology and theoretical apparatus increased with the number and the nature of the problems he had queried. Foucault's deeper and more profound analysis of any field of

-

²⁰ In this sense, Foucault was writing what he called experience books (fr. *livre experience*). In order to understand what he meant exactly by experience books, we have to consider that the French word experience not only refers to experience, but also to the word experiment. An experience book for Foucault is, thus, meant to produce an experience that is at the same time an experiment undertaken by the author himself (and to which his readers are also invited).

²¹ In the following, we shall see that there are roughly four major theoretical shifts in Foucault's work.

experience published in his books, hence, always strived to produce the critical reflection of that particular problem, the methodological tools and categorical apparatus developed to provide that reflection and the transformations of his own thought and potentially also the thought of his readers related to that problem (2002, 239-297).

When speaking of Michel Foucault, it is not only the multiple stages of his work that one has to consider, but also multiple layers of his philosophical project, which are all closely interconnected. First, Foucault is a certain mode of critical philosophical attitude/reflection; second, Foucault is an open/fluid categorical apparatus and methodology; and, third, Foucault also provides philosophical insights into the problems he had analyzed. This means that in order to better understand Foucault's specific philosophical project, one has to always try to read and analyze it as a whole; that is, to approach any segment of his work in the context of his entire oeuvre and at the same time also consider his philosophical attitude and the characteristic aims of his philosophical project.

In this sense, Foucault's late(-er) texts especially are extremely important, as they are obviously the most complex and inclusive, both in terms of methodology as well as in terms of philosophical apparatus and insights. Moreover, in them, Foucault also provides clear signals on how to reinterpret and use his entire opus. Agreeing with Davidson (1986: 221) that 'Foucault is usually his own best interpreter,' we, thus, believe that one can benefit greatly from approaching Foucault's philosophy and methodology not only in a linear fashion from his early to his late work, but also in retrograde: dynamically reassessing every segment of his oeuvre in a way Foucault re-interpreted it in his later texts.

With such a holistic view on Foucault, we are not implying, however, that we have to look for the "real" or "ultimate" Foucault. In claiming that Foucault is his own best interpreter, we are also not implying that we should blindly follow his thought and refuse to depart from what he says. Rather, we wish to stress that by failing to see the specifics of Foucault's unconventional approach to philosophy in a broader sense, we are running the risk of losing the complexity and subtle nuances of his insights.

5.1.1 The application of Foucauldian methodology to new fields of our historical experience

Taking the specifics of Foucault's philosophical project into account, it is, thus, problematic to consider Foucault's work solely as an object of theoretical analysis and, hence, focus predominantly on his categorical apparatus and philosophical insights. It is also not entirely appropriate to approach him as an (philosophical) author in a conventional sense. As a matter of fact, with his problematization of the concept, Foucault (2000b, 205-223) himself implicitly alluded that his work should be approached somewhat differently. That is, insofar as Foucault never wanted to be a philosopher in a conventional modern sense of the word, nor did he intend to articulate a philosophical system, it is not very fitting to solely evaluate him in such terms. This would inevitably mean superimposing certain standards upon a thinker who tried to work in a completely different framework with completely different aims.

Even though a strictly philosophical approach to Foucault's work is relevant to some extent, it also runs the risk of losing the main trajectory of Foucault's project, which was to reflect on mundane fields of human life in order to induce certain transformations of experience. Insofar as Foucault's insights were always founded on concrete analyses of certain problems within our historical experience that aimed to induce certain concrete effects for our experience, I believe that taking a Foucauldian position is first and foremost about taking a certain critical attitude towards our present experience and towards ourselves. This means trying to apply Foucauldian methodology to new problems within our historical experience rather than only accepting his philosophical insights or engaging in philosophical discussions regarding his work. Insofar as Foucault himself developed his philosophical insights with the help of 'concrete examples that may serve as a ground for the analysis' (Foucault 2000a, 7), new applications of Foucauldian methodology can, thus, also play an important part in the further development of Foucauldian theory itself. The field of the so-called Governmentality Studies (see Burchell et al., 1991) is a very good example of how Foucauldian theory is much more vibrant if it is also developed by critically applying it to new fields of experience rather than only relying on abstract philosophical readings and comparative analysis.

If one aims at applying Foucauldian methodology to a particular phenomena/problem/field of research, which of the multiple segments of Foucault's work is one to use then? The most common strategy would be to select the methodology and philosophical apparatus developed by Foucault when analyzing a problem similar to one's own field of interest. Another even simpler one would be to arbitrarily use any particular segment of Foucault's thought, which appears most suitable. In our view, however, one should be extremely careful with such simple strategies because – as we have argued above – the complexity and inclusiveness of Foucault's methodology and theoretical apparatus increased with the number and the nature of the problems he had queried.

Following from this, we shall first try to approach the main aspects of Foucault's work with which we will attempt to formulate a methodology that could be used for analysis of phenomena within our historical experience. Here, we have to note that by this we do not intend to build something like a closed system of Foucault's philosophy, as this would obviously run contrary to the essential spirit of Foucault's philosophical approach. Rather, our primary aim is to encompass the broadest explanatory and transformational potential of Foucault's work taken as a whole. Of course, this also does not mean uncritically adopting Foucault's methodology and philosophical insights, for this would be against the critical attitude we are trying to pursue. The aim of this second part is to articulate a Foucauldian-inspired methodological point of departure that will then be further developed and critically revised by applying it to a new field of research – happiness in Western culture.

In the spirit of the Foucauldian approach, we will attempt to approach the analysis of happiness as an experience 'that one comes out transformed' (Foucault 2002, 239), which hopefully will also 'have a certain value for others, so that the experience is available for others to have' (Foucault 2002, 244). To that end, I will first examine the broadest philosophical foundations of Foucault's approach.

6 A FOUCAULDIAN APPROACH BASED ON A HOLISTIC READING OF HIS OEUVRE

6.1 The meta-philosophical point of departure of the Foucauldian approach: an ontology of the present

Foucault did the bulk of his "meta-theoretical" work towards the end of his life. Reflecting on Kant's philosophical project and especially on his answer to the question What is enlightenment? (Kant, 2009), Foucault outlined the broadest philosophical foundations of his work. Kant's quite obscure text on the enlightenment published in Berlinische Monatshrift in 1784 seems important to Foucault (1988, 86), especially because it 'introduces a new type of question into the field of philosophical reflection': 'What is our present? What is the present field of possible experiences' (Foucault 1988, 95)? 'What is our actuality? What are we as part of this actuality' (Foucault 1983)? Foucault (1988, 95) believes that the introduction of such philosophical reflection means that Kant has 'founded the two great critical traditions between which modern philosophy is divided'. The first is the 'tradition of philosophy that poses the question of the conditions in which true knowledge is possible' (Foucault 1988, 95). Foucault (1988, 95) further explains that 'on that basis, it may be said that a whole stretch of modern philosophy from the nineteenth century has been presented, developed as the analytics of truth'. There is, however, another method of critical interrogation in modern philosophy. Foucault (1988, 95) sees it emerging precisely in Kant's texts on the Enlightenment: 'one may opt for a critical philosophy of truth in general, or one may opt for a critical thought that will take the form of an ontology of ourselves, an ontology of the present; it is this form of philosophy that, from Hegel, through Nietzsche and Max Weber, to the Frankfurt school has founded a form of reflection in which I have tried to work'. Following this critical tradition, Foucault concludes (2002, 336), implies that 'maybe the most certain of all philosophical problems is the problem of the present time, and of what we are, in this very moment'. This statement by Foucault already alludes to the field of our actuality that in Foucault's view requires the most of our critical attention: the subject.

Such a critical philosophical approach is relevant to the critical analysis of happiness because happiness represents an important part of our present field of experiences/actuality and, thus, must be critically examined. This implies conducting a critical ontology of happiness in Western culture, which has to include critical ontologies of the experience of happiness and the subject of happiness (which are – as we shall see – closely connected). As we shall argue towards the end of this second part of the dissertation, a critical ontology can be conducted through the genealogical approach and archeological method.

6.2 Subject and experience as the central focus of Foucault's work

Reading only Foucault's major books, one could conclude that while the earlier Foucault completely refused the concept of the subject, the later Foucault suddenly reanimated and rehabilitated the subject. However, in one of his last interviews reflecting back on his entire philosophical opus, Foucault clearly stated that from the beginning the main objective of his work was actually to 'create a history of the different modes by which, in our culture, human beings are made subjects' (Foucault 2002: 326). By closely examining Foucault's approach, we can see that what he indeed refused throughout his work (and after all what he actually meant by talking about the death of man) was not the notion of the subject as such, but a priori theories of the subject that perceive the subject as a substance. According to Foucault, refusing the subject actually

means 'that there is no sovereign, founding subject, a universal form of subject to be found everywhere' (Foucault 1988, 50). In this sense, subject is not a substance, but 'it is a form' (Foucault 2000a, 290):

and this form is not primarily or always identical to itself. You do not have the same type of relationship to yourself when you constitute yourself as a political subject who goes to vote or speaks at a meeting and when you are seeking to fulfill your desires in a sexual relationship. Undoubtedly there are relationships and interferences between these different forms of the subject; but we are not dealing with the same type of subject. In each case, one plays, one establishes a different type of relationship to oneself.

In his understanding of the subject, Foucault was following Nietzsche who argued against the Western metaphysics that, according to him, maintained a notion of an ahistorical and universal subject as the foundation of all knowledge and experience of man and the world. For Nietzsche (1968, num. 485), "the subject" is the fiction that many similar states in us are the effect of one substratum":

A quantum of force is equivalent to a quantum of drive, will, effect – more, it is nothing other than this very driving, willing, effecting and only owing to the seduction of language (and the fundamental errors of reason which are petrified in it) that conceives and misconceives all effects as conditioned by something that causes, by a "subject," can it appear otherwise. For just as the popular mind separates the lightning from its flash and takes the latter for an action, for the operation of a subject called lightning, so popular morality also separates strength from expressions of strength, as if there were a neutral substratum behind the strong man, which was free to express strength or not to do so. But there is no such substratum; there is no 'being' behind doing, effecting, becoming; the "doer" is merely a fiction added to the deed – the deed is everything (Nietzsche 1989, num. 13).

Inspired by Nietzsche, Foucault attempted to provide an alternative to a modern philosophical tradition from Descartes and Kant to Husserl and Sartre²², which he called 'the philosophy of the subject' (Foucault 1999, 159). For Foucault (2000a, 290), the philosophy of the subject started 'out with the theory of the subject,' and based on this theory asked 'how a given form of knowledge was possible'. As a consequence, this kind of philosophy sees 'the foundation of all knowledge and the principle of all signification as steaming from the meaningful subject' (Foucault 1999, 159). The fact that from the beginning Foucault was rejecting a conception of the subject as an unchangeable and fixed foundation does not mean that he was not interested in it. On the contrary, this was exactly why he tried 'to show how the subject constituted itself, in one specific form or another /.../ through certain practices that were also games of truth, practices of power, and so on' (Foucault 2000a, 290). The fact that Foucault refused a priori theories of the subject was precisely the reason why he was interested in it in terms of illuminating its constant dynamic historical constitution: 'one has to dispense with the constituent subject, to get rid of the subject itself, that's to say to arrive at an analysis that can account for the constitution of the subject within a historical framework' (Foucault 2002, 118). Foucault (1999, 160), thus, 'tried to get out from the philosophy of the subject through a genealogy of this subject, by studying the constitution of the subject across history which has led us up to the modern concept of the self'.

Foucault is interested in a historical analysis of the constitution of the subject because he maintains – again following Nietzsche – that the subject is not only singular, but also radically historical:

Currently when one does history – the history of ideas, of knowledge, or simply history – one sticks to this subject of knowledge, to this subject of representation as the point of origin from which knowledge is possible and truth appears. It would be interesting to try to see how a subject came to be constituted that is not definitely given, that is not the thing on the

²² In one of his interviews, Foucault (2000b: 433-459) explained that in this sense he was a part of a new philosophical current in France in the 1960s and 1970s, which stressed providing an alternative to the prevalent phenomenological approach and its theories of the subject that were common in France at the time.

bases of which truth happens to history – rather, a subject that constitutes itself within history and is constantly established and re-established by history. It is toward that radical critique of the human subject by history that we should direct our efforts (Foucault 2002, 3).

Insofar as 'the self is nothing than the correlate of technology built into our history' (Foucault 1999, 181), the task then 'is to expose a body totally imprinted by history,' which 'inscribes itself in the nervous system, in temperament, in the digestive apparatus; it appears in faulty respiration, in improper diets, in the debilitated and prostrate bodies of those whose antecessors committed errors' (Foucault 2000b, 375). The subject indeed is form rather than substance (Foucault 2000a, 290) and, as such, a result of the intersection of 'fluid, historically constituted and constantly transformed relations to the self' (Gros 2005, 526) and various techniques of domination. Gros (2005, 526) further clarifies Foucault's notion of a historical subject, which is inevitably tied to the effects of power: 'the individual subject only ever emerges at the intersection of a technique of domination and techniques of the self. It is the fold of processes of subjectivation over procedures of subjection, according to more or less overlapping linings subject to history'.

Such understanding of the subject implies and enables an examination of different modes by which, in the history of Western culture, human beings have been constituted as subjects of happiness. However, in order to comprehend how, according to Foucault, individuals are historically constituted as subjects (of happiness), we first have to explore how he understands the relationship between the subject and experience.

6.3 The relationship between subject and experience

According to Foucault (1988, 253), the subject is not the condition of possibility of experience. On the contrary, 'It is experience which is the rationalization of a process, itself provisional, which results in a subject, or

rather in subjects²³. I will call subjectivation the procedure by which one obtains the constitution of a subject or, more precisely, of subjectivity, which is, of course, only one of the given possibilities of organization of a self-consciousness' (Foucault 1988, 253).

Taking the historical constitution of subjects into account, Foucault's aim was, therefore, to 'consider the very historicity of forms of experience' (Foucault 2000a, 200), where 'the formation, development, and transformation of forms of experience' can be situated in the domain of 'a history of thought'²⁴ (Foucault 2000a, 200). According to Foucault (2002: 403), the aim of the history of thought was 'the historical analysis of the relationships between our thought and our practices':

"Thought," understood in this way, then, is not to be sought only in theoretical formulations such as those of philosophy and science; it can and must be analyzed in every manner of speaking, doing, or behaving in which the individual appears and acts as a knowing subject, as an ethical or juridical subject, as a subject conscious of himself and others. In this sense, thought is understood as the very form of action — as action insofar as it implies the play of true and false, the acceptance or refusal of rules, the relation to oneself and others. The study of forms of experience can, thus, proceed from an analysis of "practices" — discursive or not — as long as one qualifies that word to mean the different systems of action insofar as they are inhabited by thought as I have characterized it here.

Even though the notion of experience plays an important role²⁵ in Foucault's philosophical opus, he never provided an explicit definition. According to O'Leary (2008), following Foucault's somewhat scattered uses of the term in different contexts along the arch of his theoretical development, it is nevertheless possible to map out the evolution and the scope of Foucault's

²³ Following from this, Foucault (1990, 6) also described his philosophical project as 'an analysis of the "games of truth," the games of truth and error through which being is historically constituted as experience'.

²⁴ Foucault held a chair with the same title at the famous College de France.

²⁵ O'Leary (2010, 181) even thinks that 'Foucault's work, almost in its entirety, can be read as a contribution to a fully historicized philosophy of experience'.

concept of experience, which is central to the understanding of the historical constitution of subjects.

In *History of Madness* (2006), first published in 1964, Foucault described experience as 'everything that could be felt and formulated about madness at the beginning of the Renaissance'. In the same book, Foucault further argues that the practice of internment at least partly illuminates 'the mode in which madness was perceived, and lived, by the classical age'. Following from this is that the 'the first aspect of any experience, then, will be the forms of perception or sensibility which it makes possible – or even necessary. A given structure of experience makes possible and gives rise to certain ways of sensing, seeing, feeling an object' (O'Leary, 2008: 9). In other words, experience for Foucault 'involves the way in which a given object is seen and conceptualized in a given culture' (O'Leary 2008, 9) during a certain time.

However, as O'Leary further explains (2008: 9), for Foucault 'these forms of experience are not the only components of a structure of experience'. Namely, in *History of Madness*, Foucault (2006) also argues that besides being a form of sensibility, the experience of madness also 'comprises both the institutional practices of internment and the forms of knowledge which develop within and bolster those institutions' (O'Leary 2008: 9). This opens up the domain, which Foucault (2000a) would later call the power/knowledge (truth) axis of any form of experience. Foucault used the second aspect of experience also in the *Order of things* (1994), where he explained that his aim was to illuminate the 'experience of order' between the 16th and 19th centuries. More specifically, how was 'the experience of language' — a 'global and cultural experience' of the late Renaissance transformed into a new form of experience in classical age? The second aspect of experience of any kind of phenomena would then include the forms of consciousness, sensibility, practical engagement and (scientific) knowledge, which take those particular phenomena as their object.

While in his earlier writing (early 1960s) Foucault used the concept of experience quite often, O'Leary observes 'that after the late 1960s, and up until the late 1970s, he was less and less willing to characterize his work in terms of investigation of experience' (O'Leary 2008, 10). O'Leary (2008, 10) believes that 'this was a result of his increasing dissatisfaction with the fluidity of the

concept, but also of the fact that the concept, with its connotations of individual psychology, clashed with his new focus on bodies, resistance and power'. In that period, Foucault was also most explicit in his critique of the general, universal subject (mentioned above), which culminated in *Archeology of Knowledge* (2004). As a consequence, in *Archeology* he was somewhat skeptical about the way in which he used the notion of experience in the History of Madness because he believed that it carried the danger of reintroducing 'an anonymous and general subject of history' (Foucault 2004).

However, with Foucault's third and last major theoretical turn in the late 1970s, the notion of experience had returned. In the preface to History of Sexuality, vol. 2, for example, Foucault (1990, 199) explained that his 'object was to analyze sexuality as a historically singular form of experience'. Inspired by his research in sexuality and the modes of subjectivities in antiquity, Foucault found a way to re-conceptualize the notion of experience without the danger of re-introducing a general and universal subject. The notion of experience is now used by Foucault 'to indicate the general forms of thought, perception, and practice that characterize a particular area of human life during a particular historical period' (O'Leary 2010, 165). The mode of the constitution of the subject of any object (e.g. the subject of madness) would now include three closely connected domains/axes of experience, each representing a particular stage of his work. In the extended version of the preface to HS2, Foucault describes his three theoretical shifts, which reveal the main stages of his work.

A theoretical shift had seemed necessary in order to analyze what was often designated as the advancement of learning; it led me to examine the forms of discursive practices that articulated the human sciences. A theoretical shift had also been required in order to analyze what is often described as the manifestations of "power"; it led me to examine, rather, the manifold relations, the open strategies, and the rational techniques that articulate the exercise of powers. It appeared that I now had to undertake a third shift, in order to analyze what is termed "the subject." It seemed appropriate to look for the forms and modalities of the relation to self by which the individual constitutes and recognizes himself qua subject (Foucault 1990, 6).

Using a broader conception of experience, Foucault (2000a, 202-205) joined all four stages of his work, which earlier may have seemed like a series of disconnected modes of inquiry, into a more coherent, holistic and inclusive methodological framework:

I tried to locate three major types of problems: the problem of truth, the problem of power, and the problem of individual conduct. These three domains of experience can only be understood in relation to each other, not independently. What bothered me about the previous books is that I considered the first two experiences without taking the third one into account. By bringing to light this third experience, it seemed to provide a kind of guiding thread which, in order to justify itself, did not need to resort to somewhat rhetorical methods of avoiding one of the three fundamental domains of experience (Foucault 1988, 243).

A critical reflection of any object (like madness, sexuality or, in our case, happiness), therefore, needs to address the axis of truth around it (roughly corresponding to his work in the 1960s like *Archeology of Knowledge and The Order of Things*; the relations of power connected to it by which certain individuals or groups of individuals try to control the conduct of others (roughly corresponding to his work in the 1970s like Discipline and Punish); and last but not least the relationship individuals establish with themselves while relating to that object –rapport a soi/ethics (this domain was elucidated by Foucault especially in the last two volumes of History of Sexuality).

All three domains/axes of experience have the following characteristics: they have a history (Foucault 2000a); they are tightly interweaved and 'these three domains of experience can only be understood one in relation to the others and cannot be understood one without the others' (Foucault: 1988, 243); they have 'no chronological hierarchy' (O'Leary 2008, 11) and 'the relative importance of these three axes is not always the same for all forms of experience' (Foucault 2000, 202). In the case of Foucault's notion of experience, we can again observe the same specific pattern of his philosophical development, which we had already noted above, in the introduction to this part. That is, the evolution of Foucault's notion of experience can hardly be understood as a simple cumulative process, but rather as a complex synergic process: 'Indeed,'

O'Leary explains (2008, 11), if the second phase does not so much add power to knowledge as introduce a new concept – power-knowledge – we could say that the final phase introduces another new concept – power-knowledge-to the self²⁶.

Insofar as the concept of experience enables the late Foucault to effectively conjoin virtually all the major lines of enquiry undertaken throughout his entire oeuvre hence producing a strong analytical tool for the reflection of our actuality, we agree with O'Leary (2010), who argues that Foucault can be very productively read as a philosopher of experience. In the following, we shall use Foucault's understanding of experience as a methodological framework for the analysis of happiness in Western culture.

-

²⁶ Taking the openness of the Foucauldian approach into account, we have to add that the three axes identified by Foucault should not be taken as the final domains of possible experience. With further analysis, perhaps a new axis of experience could be discovered.

7 THE DYNAMIC CORRELATION BETWEEN THE THREE AXES OF EXPERIENCE: TRUTHPOWER-RELATIONSHIP TO THE SELF

Before we look more closely at each of the domains of experience, we have to note that Foucault's main concepts of truth, power and relation to the self changed and developed considerably during the course of his philosophical development. As a consequence, it is difficult to talk about any of them in a unified sense. Since we are not conducting a purely theoretical analysis, we will not engage in a very detailed historical overview of the respective concepts in Foucault's thought. Instead, we will focus primarily on Foucault's most recent conception of each of the axes (which includes insights from his earlier conceptions anyway) and place more emphasis on their potential to be applied to concrete areas of research. We have argued that the three domains/axes of experience are always closely correlated. For the sake of clarity, we will begin by describing the axis of power and then explore how it connects to the axis of truth and the axis of relationship to the self. Finally, we will explore two main modes in which all three axes of experience connect to each other, transforming individuals into a particular type of subject.

In the following chapters, we shall then use the three-axis in order to analyze how the subject and the experience of happiness are constituted in Western culture.

7.1 Power (relations)

Foucault aimed to provide an alternative to juridical theories of power based on legal models and sovereignty common to both liberalism and Marxism: 'What we need, however, is a political philosophy that isn't erected around the problem of sovereignty or, therefore, around the problems of law and prohibition. We need to cut off the King's head: in political theory that has still to be done' (Foucault 2002, 122). In Foucault's (2002, 327) view, it was 'necessary to expand the dimensions of a definition of power if one wanted to use this definition in studying the objectivizing of the subject'. Rejecting juridical conceptions of power, Foucault (1978: 92) 'conceives power neither in terms of 'a group of institutions and mechanisms that ensure the subservience of the citizens of a given state' nor in terms of 'a mode of subjugation which, in contrast to violence, has the form of the rule'. Namely, according to Foucault (2002, 342), an attempt to analyze 'power relations as one finds them in certain closed institutions' presents the following problems:

the fact that an important part of the mechanisms put into operation by an institution are designed to ensure its own preservation brings with it the risk of deciphering functions that are essentially reproductive, especially in power relations within institutions

in analyzing power relations from the standpoint of institutions, one lays oneself open to seeking the explanation and the origin of the former in the latter, that is to say in sum, to explain power by power

insofar as institutions act essentially by bringing into play two elements, explicit or tacit regulations and an apparatus, one risks giving to one or the other an exaggerated privilege in the relations of power and, hence, seeing in the latter only modulations of law and coercion

This, however, Foucault warns (2002, 343), 'is not to deny the importance of institutions in the establishment of power relations, but rather to suggest that one must analyze institutions from the standpoint of power relations rather than vice versa, and that the fundamental point of anchorage of the relationships, even if they are embodied and crystallized in an institution, is to be found

outside the institution'. Moreover, power is also not 'a general system of domination exerted by one group over another (Foucault 1978, 92). That is, contrary to common understandings, for Foucault (2000a, 291) power cannot be conceived simply as 'a political structure, a government, a dominant social class, the master and the slave, and so on'. Instead, Foucault argues (1980, 198), 'power (in the substantive sense), l'pouvoir, doesn't exist,' which means that 'power is not a substance. Neither is it a mysterious property whose origin must be delved into. Power is only a certain type of relation between individuals' (Foucault 2002, 324). As a consequence, power cannot be 'located at – or emanating from – a given point':

Power's condition of possibility, or in any case the viewpoint which permits one to understand its exercise, even in its more "peripheral" effects, and which also makes it possible to use its mechanisms as a grid of intelligibility of the social order, must not be sought in the primary existence of a central point, in a unique source of sovereignty from which secondary and descendent forms would emanate; it is the moving substrate of force relations which, by virtue of their inequality, constantly engender states of power, but the latter are always local and unstable (Foucault 1978, 93).

That is, power cannot be in the possession of anybody, be it a dominant class, sovereign, state or a subject. Instead, Foucault argues (1978, 94), 'power is exercised from innumerable points, in the interplay of nonegalitarian and mobile relations'.

Power relations are both intentional and nonsubjective. If in fact they are intelligible, this is not because they are the effect of another instance that "explains" them, but rather because they are imbued, through and through, with calculation: there is no power that is exercised without a series of aims and objectives. But this does not mean that it results from the choice or decision of an individual subject; let us not look for the headquarters that presides over it rationally; neither the caste which governs, nor the groups which control the state apparatus, nor those who make the most important economic decisions direct to the entire network of power that functions in a society (and makes it function); the rationality

of power is characterized by tactics that are often quite explicit at the restricted level where they are inscribed (the local cynicism of power), tactics which, becoming connected to one another, attracting and propagating one another, but finding their base of support and their condition elsewhere, end by forming comprehensive systems: the logic is perfectly clear, the aims decipherable, and yet it is often the case that no one is there to have invented them, and few who can be said to have formulated them: an implicit characteristic of the great anonymous, almost unspoken strategies which coordinate the loquacious tactics whose "inventors" or decision-makers are often without hypocrisy (Foucault 1978, 94-95).

Foucault is drawing from Nietzsche (2002) to conceive of power as a purely relational thing. Power in this sense is not a matter of particular agents, but that which is in-between: 'it is a way in which some act on others' (Foucault 2002: 340), which constitutes 'a network of relations' (Foucault 1979, 27). As a consequence, one should not ask what power is and where it comes from, but how power operates, 'how is it exercised' (Foucault 1988, 102): 'to approach the theme of power by an analysis of "how" is, therefore, to introduce several critical shifts in relation to the supposition of a fundamental power. It is to give oneself as the object of analysis power relations and not power itself' (Foucault 1979, 28). The exercise of power can be defined 'as a way in which certain actions may structure the field of other possible actions' (Foucault 2002, 343). Insofar as 'power exists only in action' (Foucault 1980, 89), 'it is not the 'privilege,' acquired or preserved, of the dominant class, but the overall effect of its strategic positions' (Foucault 1979, 27). More specifically: 'one has to be nominalistic, no doubt: power is not an institution, and not a structure, neither is it a certain strength we are endowed with; it is the name one attributes to a complex strategic situation in a particular society' (Foucault 1978, 93). Following from this, Foucault explains (2000a, 291), is that when he speaks about power he in fact always means the 'relations of power' that 'go right down into the depths of society'. In this sense, 'power comes from below' (Foucault 1978, 94):

that is, there is no binary and all-encompassing opposition between rulers and ruled at the root of power relation, and serving as a general matrix — no such duality extending from the top down and reacting on more and more limited groups to the very depths of the social body. One must suppose, rather, that the manifold relationships of force that take shape and come into play in the machinery of production, in families, limited groups and institutions, are the basis for wide-ranging effects of cleavage that run through the social body as a whole (Foucault 1978, 94).

Hence, the analysis of power cannot 'assume that the sovereignty of the state, the form of the law, or the overall unity of a domination are given at the outset; rather, these are only the terminal forms power takes' (Foucault 1978, 92). Foucault, thus, radically overturns the prevailing top-down, centralistic, substantial concepts of power to introduce an un-substantial, relational bottom-up understanding of power, which he also calls the 'micro-physics of power' or the 'capillary functioning of power' (Foucault 1979). By taking all the above insights into account, according to Foucault (1978, 92), power must be understood:

as the multiplicity of force relations immanent in the sphere in which they operate and which constitute their own organization; as the process which, through ceaseless struggles and confrontations, transforms, strengthens, or reverses them; as the support which these force relations find in one another, thus forming a chain or a system, or on the contrary, the disjunctions and contradictions which isolate them form one another, and lastly, as the strategies in which they take effect, whose general design or institutional crystallization is embodied in the state apparatus, in the formulation of the law, in the various social hegemonies.

Another important characteristic of Foucault's understanding of power is that he refuses the prevailing negative hypothesis of power, which conceives it only in negative terms as exclusion, prohibition or repression possibly coming from some 'superstructural positions' (Foucault 1978: 94; 2002: 120). Here, again, Foucault owes a great deal to Nietzsche (1989) in the Genealogy of Morals where he reversed and overturned the priority of the subject over power common to the tradition of Western metaphysics. Namely, Nietzsche and

Foucault consider relations of power not as the repressive effect of the human subject, but on the contrary as having a 'directly productive role, wherever they come into play' (Foucault 1978, 94):

If power were never anything but repressive, if it never did anything but to say no, do you really think one would be brought to obey it? What makes power hold good, what makes it accepted, is simply the fact that it doesn't only weigh on us as a force that says no; it also traverses and produces things, it induces pleasure, forms knowledge, produces discourse. It needs to be considered as a productive network that runs through the whole social body, much more than as a negative instance whose function is repression (Foucault 2002, 120).

While the micro-physics of power "runs through the whole social body," its ultimate productive grip is the individual human body: 'power relations have an immediate hold upon it; they invest it, mark it, train it, torture it, force it to carry out tasks' (Foucault 1979, 28). In this sense, 'body is the surface of the inscription of events' (Foucault 2002, 375). Insofar as the effects of power are thusly directly inscribed into human subjects, they are 'manifested and sometimes extended by the position of those who are dominated' (Foucault 1979, 28). It follows from this, Foucault explains (2000a, 291), that when he speaks about power he means the 'relations of power' that 'go right down into the depths of society' (Foucault 1979, 28): 'to approach the theme of power by an analysis of "how" is, therefore, to introduce several critical shifts in relation to the supposition of a fundamental power. It is to make oneself the object of analysis of power relations and not power itself'.

The productive and microphysical nature of power led Foucault (2000a, 291) to the conclusion that relations of power are present in all types of human relationships: 'The omnipresence of power: not because it has the privilege of consolidating everything under its invincible unity, but because it is produced from one moment to the next, at every point, or rather in every relation from one point to another. Power is everywhere; not because it embraces everything, but because it comes from everywhere' (Foucault 1978, 93). Hence, he does not think that 'a society can exist without power relations' (Foucault: 2000a, 298). However, for Foucault (2000a, 298), the fact that power relations cannot

be abolished from human societies is not a reason for pessimism and apathy since, according to him, 'power relations are not something that is bad in itself, that we have to break free of':

Power is not evil. Power is games of strategy. We all know that power is not evil! For example let us take sexual or amorous relationships: to wield power over the other in a sort of open-ended strategic game where the situation may be reversed is not evil; it's a part of love, of passion and sexual pleasure. And let us take for example, something that has often been rightly criticized – the pedagogical institution. I see nothing wrong in the practice of a person, who knowing more than others in a specific game of truth, tells those others what to do, teaches them, and transmits knowledge and techniques to them. The problem in such practices where power – which is not in itself a bad thing – must inevitably come into play is knowing how to avoid the kind of domination effects where a kid is subjected to the arbitrary and unnecessary authority of a teacher, or a student put under a thumb of a professor who abuses his authority.

Foucault, thus, overturns the common formula that power is inherently bad and, hence, has to be abolished by resistance that would finally lead us to freedom. Namely, according to Foucault (2002, 342), 'there is not a face-to-face confrontation of power and freedom as mutually exclusive facts (freedom disappearing everywhere power is exercised), but a much more complicated interplay'. That is, Foucault does not perceive resistance and freedom simply as antipodes of relations of power, but rather coexistent with the relations of power.

In order for power relations to come into play, there must be at least a certain degree of freedom on both sides. /.../ This means that there is necessary the possibility of resistance because if there were no possibility of resistance (of violent resistance, flight, deception, strategies capable of reversing the situation), there would be no power relations at all. This being the general form, I refuse to reply to the question I am sometimes asked: "But if power is everywhere, there is no freedom." I answer that if there are relations of power in every social field, this is because there is freedom everywhere (Foucault 2000a, 292).

Alternatively, as Foucault (2002, 324) argues elsewhere, 'there is no power without potential refusal or revolt'. This implies that, to be able to speak of relations of power, we have to acknowledge that 'power relations are possible only insofar as the subjects are free' (Foucault 2000a, 292). By free subjects, Foucault (2002, 342) means 'individual or collective subjects who are faced with a field of possibilities in which several kinds of conduct, several ways of reacting and modes of behavior are available'. If the field of strategic possibilities is closed and there is no possible points of freedom, we can no longer speak of relations of power: 'Where the determining factors are exhaustive, there is no relationship of power: slavery is not a power relationship when a man is in chains, only when he has some possible mobility, even a chance of escape (in this case, it is a question of a physical relationship of constraint)' (Foucault 2002, 342).

Resistance and freedom are – similar to power – without substance, which means that they too are purely relational. More precisely, they are directly related to power: where there are power relations, there are also resistance and freedom, and yet, or rather consequently, resistance and freedom are never in a position of exteriority in relation to power (Foucault 1978; 2000a). In other words, insofar as relations of power are everywhere in society, resistance and freedom are everywhere too.

This coexistence of power and freedom only holds on one level of Foucault's analysis of the relation between power, freedom and resistance. Namely, Foucault conducts his analysis of the relation between power, freedom and resistance on two levels. On the first more general level, Foucault (1978, 2000a) perceives freedom and resistance as ontological conditions of relations of power in the sense of constituting a field of strategic possibilities. On the other hand, the second level corresponds to a concrete actualisation of these strategic possibilities in the form of 'a way of behaving within a more or less open field of possibilities' (Foucault 2002, 341). While the first level is about 'a field of possibilities in which several kinds of conduct, several ways of reacting and modes of behavior are available' (Foucault 2002, 342), the second level tells us about what kind of conduct, what behavior is actually exercised. That is, on the second level of analysis, Foucault understands power, freedom

and resistance as concrete practices, technologies, mechanisms and strategies that are in continuous struggle. In this case, power corresponds to concrete relationships in which an individual or a group of individuals 'try to control the conduct of the other' (Foucault 2000a, 292), and resistance corresponds to practices of resistance/liberation, through which people 'try to avoid their conduct to be controlled' (Foucault 2000a, 299). In other words, if 'power is games of strategy' (Foucault 2000a, 298), then the first level corresponds to the rules of the game and the dispositions of the players that constitute the field of possible action (which is determined by the outcomes of the previous strategic games), and the second level, to the mode in which the game is actually played. Outcomes of the game, then, again represent a new field of strategic possibilities, new rules and dispositions of the game and so on. In an actual situation, the two levels are closely and dynamically interconnected: a field of strategic possibilities indeed structures the field of possible action; however, it is through actual behavior that the field of strategic possibilities is either maintained or transformed. Therefore, Foucault explains (2002, 341), the exercise of power is always both 'a "conduct of conducts" (corresponding to the 2nd level, L.Z.) and a management of possibilities' (corresponding to the 1st level, L.Z.).

Before we move to the connection between power and truth, we have to add that when analyzing relations of power, Foucault (2002, 337) insists that it is necessary to distinguish them from 'relationships of communication that transmit information by means of a language, a system of signs, or any other symbolic medium'. He argues that 'no doubt, communicating is always a certain way of acting upon another person or persons; however, in spite of the fact that 'the production and circulation of elements of meaning can have as their objective or as their consequence certain results in the realm of power, the latter are not simply an aspect of the former' (Foucault 2002, 337). That is, Foucault (2002, 337) is convinced that 'whether or not they pass through systems of communication, power relations have a specific nature'. In this sense, Foucault argues (2000a, 277), it is also 'not enough to say that the

.

²⁷ Foucault uses the word conduire, which, convenient for his argument in French, means both to 'lead' others [la conduire] and to behave or conduct oneself [se conduire].

subject is constituted in a symbolic system. It is not just in the play of symbols that the subject is constituted. It is constituted in real practices – historically analyzable practices. There is a technology of the constitution of the self that cuts across symbolic systems while using them'. As a consequence, Foucault (2002: 116) refuses the 'analysis couched in terms of the symbolic field or the domain of signifying structures,' and instead proposes 'a recourse to analysis in terms of the genealogy of relations of force, strategic developments, and tactics': 'Here I believe one's point of reference should not be to the great model of language (*langue*) and signs, but, rather, to that of war and battle. The history that bears and determines us has the form of war rather than that of a language – relations of power, not relations of meaning' (Foucault 2002, 116).

7.2 Truth (and power)

According to Foucault (2002: 132), "truth" is to be understood as a system of ordered procedures for the production, regulation, distribution, circulation, and operation of statements' and discourses²⁸. A game of truth, then, corresponds to 'a set of rules by which truth is produced' (Foucault 2000a, 297). More specifically, 'it is a set of procedures that lead to a certain result, which, on the basis of its principles and rules of procedure, may be considered valid or invalid, winning or losing' (Foucault 2000a, 297). In order to grasp the workings of these 'principles and rules of procedure,' and to therefore understand 'how truth games are set up and how are they related to power relations,' Foucault (2000a, 296) posed 'the problem of knowledge and power' (2000a, 290). He explains, however, that the problem of knowledge and power was not the fundamental problem for him, but 'an instrument that makes it

.

²⁸ Insofar as Foucault understands statements as basic units of discourse, truth also corresponds to a system of ordered procedures for the production, regulation, distribution, circulation, and operation of discourses (for more on Foucault's understanding of statements and discourse, see Archeology of Knowledge). In this sense, the concepts of discourse (defined by Foucault (1978: 100) as a locus where 'power and knowledge are joined together') and knowledge are subsumed by the later Foucault under the broader concept of truth understood as one of the three axes of experience.

possible to analyse the problem of the relationship between subject and truth' in what seemed to him 'the most precise way' (Foucault 2000a, 290).

Truth according to Foucault does not have an objective or metaphysical value and does not correspond to an objective reality. Rather, truth is an effect of power (relations). Here, Foucault is also drawing from Nietzsche (1968, num. 481), who argued,

Against positivism, which halts at phenomena -"There are only facts"- I would say: No, facts is precisely what there is not, only interpretations. We cannot establish any fact "in itself": perhaps it is folly to want to do such a thing. "Everything is subjective," you say; but even this is interpretation. The "subject" is not something given, it is something added and invented and projected behind what there is. Finally, is it necessary to posit an interpreter behind the interpretation? Even this is invention, hypothesis. Insofar as the word "knowledge" has any meaning, the world is knowable; but it is interpretable otherwise, it has no meaning behind it, but countless meanings.-"Perspectivism." It is our needs that interpret the world; our drives and their For and Against. Every drive is a kind of lust to rule; each one has its perspective that it would like to compel all the other drives to accept as a norm.

What in a certain historical moment in a certain society counts as truth always corresponds to a product of a certain cultural and historical constellation of power-knowledge relations, through which certain individuals or groups of individuals succeed in establishing their own particular interpretation of the world as objective truth: 'Truth isn't outside power or lacking in power: contrary to a myth whose history and functions would repay further study, truth isn't the reward of free spirits, the child of protracted solitude, nor the privilege of those who have succeeded in liberating themselves. Truth is a thing of this world: it is produced only by virtue of multiple forms of constraint' (Foucault 2002, 131). Following from this, Foucault argues (1988, 107), 'instead of trying to find out what truth, as opposed to error, is, it might be more interesting to take up the problem posed by Nietzsche'. That is, 'how is it that, in our societies, "the truth" has been given this value, thus placing us absolutely under its thrall'?

Each society or a group of people in a specific time period has its own 'regime of truth' that articulates and determines 'the types of discourse it accepts and makes function as true' and 'the mechanisms and instances that enable one to distinguish true and false statements; the means by which each is sanctioned; the techniques and procedures accorded value in the acquisition of truth; the status of those who are charged with saying what counts as true' (Foucault 2002, 131). Moreover, truth is not only 'linked in a circular relation with systems of power that produce and sustain it' (Foucault 2002, 132), but – what is of even greater significance – also 'induces regular effects of power' (Foucault 2002, 131). In this sense, 'truth is no doubt a form of power' (Foucault 1988, 107).

In general, there are two main modes in which power and truth connect to individuals, thusly interweaving all three of the axes of experience together to 'transform human beings into subjects' (Foucault 2002, 326).

7.2.1 Passive subjects and states of domination

Truth and power can connect to the individual through 'the technologies of government' (Foucault 2000a, 299), where 'to govern, in this sense, is to structure the possible field of action of others' (Foucault 2002, 341). The technologies of government range from 'the way institutions are governed' right down to 'the way one governs one's wife and children' (Foucault 2000a, 299) and include systems and practices of control, coercion, incarceration and other mechanisms, techniques and practices of control that operate in conjunction with a certain regime or game of truth. Through the multiplication and intensification of such mechanisms and techniques, a more 'docile body' (Foucault 1979) or a more 'passive subject' is produced (Foucault 2000a, 291). According to Foucault, the subject is passive when it is caught in an extremely immobile network of power relations that significantly limits the field of possible action.

If the relations of power become fixed in such a way that they 'allow an extremely limited margin of freedom,' Foucault argues (2000a, 292), we cannot talk about the relations of power anymore, but we need to introduce a new concept – domination: 'When an individual or social group succeeds in

blocking a field of power relations, immobilizing them and preventing any reversibility of movement by economic, political, or military means, one is faced with what may be called a state of domination' (Foucault 2000a, 283). States of domination 'are often established and maintained' through the technologies of government through which – as we have seen above – at the same time passive subjects are produced. Technologies or techniques of government, therefore, correspond to a level of power 'between the games (and relations, LZ) of power and states of domination' and are used to block the field of power relations. Foucault (2000a, 299) further explains that, consequently, what 'people ordinarily call power' in his theory of power actually corresponds to domination. Here, we have to note, however, that even though he distinguishes between relations of power and (states of) domination, the latter does not constitute a separate domain for domination is nothing but a fixation, an immobilization of otherwise more fluid relations of power.

The more power relations 'remain blocked, frozen' (Foucault 2000a, 283; 292) in a certain field of strategic possibilities, the less room there is for the possible exercise of freedom and resistance and the more dangerous they can become. In other words, power relations become particularly dangerous when games of strategy are played in a way that leads to a sudden or gradual immobilization of the relations of power resulting in the field of strategic possibilities becoming too asymmetrical. For Foucault, the power relationships as such are not dangerous in themselves. What indeed is dangerous is the immobilization of power relationships that results in closing the field of strategic possibilities. Metaphorically speaking, domination occurs when the rules of the game and the dispositions of the players are set up in a way that does not allow some of the players to play the game without considerable limitations or sometimes even completely preventing them to play the game: 'I can well imagine societies,' Foucault explains (2000a, 300), 'in which the control of the conduct of others is so well regulated in advance that, in a sense, the game is already over'. In the case of incarceration, for example (which is quite an intensive state of domination), prisoners are only left with limited points of resistance such as mutiny, escape or hunger strike. A state of total domination would then be a situation in which an individual has absolutely no possibilities for freedom

or resistance. An example of total domination is a straitjacket, which prevents the individual even from performing the ultimate act of resistance: voluntarily taking his own life. For Foucault, putting someone into a straitjacket is, thus, not a power relation, but a physical relation of constraint.

Cases of such extreme domination, however, are quite rare in human relationships. It is much more common that even in the case of domination, the field of strategic possibilities permits at least certain points for possible resistance, which implies 'that we always have possibilities, there are always possibilities of changing the situation. We cannot jump outside the situation, and there is no point where you are free from all power relations. But you can always change it. So what I've said does not mean that we are always trapped, but that we are always free – well, anyway, that there is always the possibility of changing' (Foucault 2000a, 167). In this sense, power relations are always 'mobile, reversible and unstable'..., 'they can be modified, they are not fixed once and for all' (Foucault 2000a, 292).

7.2.2 Practices of Resistance

The relations of power that are concentrated in a more or less intense state of domination can be modified through practices of resistance or 'practices of liberation' (Foucault 2000a, 282). Insofar as every strategic situation is specific, it also demands 'specific answers that take account of the kind and precise form of domination in question' (Foucault 2000a, 293). Foucault (1978, 96) explains his conception of resistance in this long, dense and often-cited quote:

there is a plurality of resistances, each of them a special case: resistances that are possible, necessary, improbable; others that are spontaneous, savage, solitary, concerted, rampant, or violent; still others that are quick to compromise, interested, or sacrificial; by definition, they can only exist in the strategic field of power relations. But this does not mean that they are only a reaction or rebound, forming with respect to the basic domination an underside that is in the end always passive, doomed to perpetual defeat. Resistances do not derive from a few heterogeneous principles; but neither are they a lure or a promise that is of necessity

betrayed. They are the odd term in relations of power; they are inscribed in the latter as an irreducible opposite. Hence, they too are distributed in irregular fashion: the points, knots, or focuses of resistance are spread over time and space at varying densities, at times mobilizing groups or individuals in a definitive way, inflaming certain points of the body, certain moments in life, certain types of behavior. Are there no great radical ruptures, massive binary divisions, then? Occasionally, yes. But more often one is dealing with mobile and transitory points of resistance, producing cleavages in a society that shift about, fracturing unities and effecting regroupings, furrowing across individuals themselves, cutting them up and remolding them, marking off irreducible regions in them, in their bodies and minds. Just as the network of power relations ends by forming a dense web that passes through apparatuses and institutions, without being exactly localized in them, so too the swarm of points of resistance traverses social stratifications and individual unities. And it is doubtless the strategic codification of these points of resistance that makes a revolution possible, somewhat similar to the way in which the state relies on the institutional integration of power relationships.

Insofar as power has no substance/source/centre and, therefore, cannot be in the possession of anybody, and insofar as points of resistance are, thus, 'present everywhere in the power network,' there is also 'no single locus of great Refusal, no soul of revolt, source of all rebellions, or pure law of the revolutionary' (Foucault 1978, 95-96). According to Foucault (1979, 28), the overthrow of these 'micro-powers' does not, then, obey the law of all or nothing; it is not acquired once and for all by a new control of the apparatuses, nor by a new functioning or a destruction of the institutions'. Instead, practices of resistance and liberation are in a continuous dynamic 'struggle' (Foucault 2000a, 167) with technologies/techniques of government and control. The momentary outcomes of these strategic games keep determining and redefining the field of strategic possibilities and vice versa: it is the current field of strategic possibilities that determines the possible field of action. If technologies/techniques of government are more pronounced, then they maintain the current field of strategic possibilities or may even further

immobilize it. On the other hand, when practices of resistance and liberation are actualized, they can start opening up and "defrosting" the field of strategic possibilities to enable more points of freedom in its network. The more points of freedom there are in the field of strategic possibilities, the less domination there is. In this sense, resistance and liberation do not correspond to the abolition of power, but to the opening up of the field of strategic possibilities. In other words, insofar as according to the Foucauldian perspective resistance and relations of power are coexistent with each other, practices of resistance and liberation can only result in the abolition of domination (which corresponds to an immobilisation of power relations) and not in the abolition of relations of power as such.

7.3 Active subjects, freedom and relationship to the self

Above, we have seen that in the case of a more or less intense state of domination, it is first necessary to engage in practices of resistance and liberation that can open up the asymmetrical field of strategic possibilities (see Foucault 2000a, 168; 282). Only when the field of strategic possibilities becomes more symmetrical can we talk about 'power relations understood as strategic games between liberties – in which some try to control the conduct of others, who in turn try to avoid allowing their conduct to be controlled or try to control the conduct of the others' (Foucault 2000a, 299). In such a situation, truth and power connect more intensively to the individual through the 'mode of relation between the individual and himself' (Foucault 2000, 200), and they cause the subject 'to constitute itself in an active fashion' (Foucault 2000a, 291). The connection of truth and power to the subject in this case can be twofold and correspond to Foucault's distinction between the acts and the moral code where 'the acts (conduites) are the real behavior of people in relation to the moral code imposed on them' (Foucault 2000a, 263). That is, truth and power can establish and define a particular moral code or, more generally, particular guidelines for behavior. The moral code, however, is not

crucial for Foucault. Namely, his historical analysis has revealed to him that in spite of the fact that 'the codes in themselves didn't change a great deal' throughout the history of Western culture, there were notably different subjectivities produced (Foucault 2000a, 266). As a consequence, Foucault argues (2000a, 263), 'there is another side to the moral prescriptions, which most of the time is not isolated as such but is very important: the kind of relationship you ought to have with yourself, *rapport a soi*'. Foucault (2000a, 263) calls this side of moral prescriptions ethics, which according to him 'determines how the individual is supposed to constitute himself as a moral subject of his own actions'.

According to Foucault (2000, 262-265), the relationship to oneself (ethics) has four aspects. The first aspect, called the ethical substance, answers the question, 'Which is the aspect or part of myself or my behavior that is concerned with moral conduct?' The second aspect, called the mode of subjectivation, is the way in which people are invited or incited to recognize their moral obligations. The third aspect of the relationship to oneself is the telos, which tells us to which kind of being we aspire to be when we behave in a moral way. The means by which we can change ourselves in order to become ethical subjects is what Foucault calls the self-forming activities or technologies (practices) of the self, which constitute the fourth aspect of the relationship to oneself.

According to Foucault (2000a, 87), self-forming activities are the most important part of the relationship to oneself and can be defined as 'the procedures, which no doubt exist in every civilization, offered or prescribed to individuals in order to determine their identity, maintain it, or transform it in terms of a certain number of ends, through relations of self-mastery or self-knowledge'. More specifically, Foucault (1999, 162) believes that in all societies, whatever they are, it is possible to find

Techniques which permit individuals to effect, by their own means, a certain number of operations on their own bodies, on their own souls, on their own thoughts, on their own conduct, and this is a manner so as to transform themselves, modify themselves, and to attain a certain state of

perfection, of happiness, of purity, of supernatural power, and so on. Let's call this kind of technique a technique or technology of the self.

He further explains that there can both be relationships between these four aspects and also 'a certain kind of independence' (Foucault 2000a, 265). For example, he describes that 'there is no complete and identical relation between the techniques and the telos. You can find the same techniques in different telos, but there are privileged relations, some privileged techniques related to each telos' (Foucault 2000a, 268). As a consequence, an analysis of any mode of relation to the self has to identify the specific connections/independence of its respective aspects. All four aspects of ethics are closely interconnected to the power-truth because the aspects of relation to the self 'are not something invented by the individual himself: they are models that he finds in his culture and are proposed, suggested, imposed upon him by his culture, his society, and his social group' (Foucault 2000, 291). Moreover, 'they are frequently linked to the techniques for the direction of others' (Foucault 2000a, 277) and can be 'taken over to a certain extent by religious, pedagogical, medical, or psychiatric institutions' (Foucault 2000, 282).

7.3.1 The problems of freedom

Above, we have seen that while for Foucault power relations are not something inherently bad, they certainly can be dangerous if they become fixed and immobilized in a state of domination. Based on his critical analysis of the relationship to the self and practices of the self, Foucault also refuses to understand freedom as something inherently good in itself. While for Foucault an open and fluid network of power relations, which enables numerous strategic games between liberties, is undoubtedly much less dangerous than a state of domination, that does not mean that it cannot be problematic. Insofar as Foucault does not simply perceive freedom as something good and unproblematic in itself, he has 'always been somewhat suspicious of the notion of liberation, because if it is not treated with precautions and within certain limits, one runs the risk of falling back on the idea that there exists a human nature or base that, as a consequence of certain historical, economic and social processes, has been concealed, alienated, or imprisoned in and by a mechanism

of repression' (Foucault 2000a, 282). Foucault (2000a, 282) strongly doubts such "transcendental" notions of inherent freedom of the human essence and programs of liberation according to which all that is required is to break 'the repressive deadlocks and man will be reconciled with himself, rediscover his nature or regain contact with his origin, and reestablish a full and positive relationship with himself'. Foucault (2000a, 282) illustrates his argument with the example of struggles against colonization:

When colonized people attempt to liberate themselves from their colonizers, this is indeed a practice of liberation in the strict sense. But we know very well, and moreover in this specific case, that this practice of liberation is not in itself sufficient to define the practices of freedom that will still be needed if this people, this society, and these individuals are to be able to define admissible and acceptable forms of existence or political society.

So, why is liberation, understood as opening up the field of strategic possibilities, not sufficient? Why can an open network of power relations that has multiple points of freedom and that enables the subject 'to constitute itself in an active fashion' still be dangerous?

In order to explain this, we have to return to the dual-level analysis of the relation between power, freedom and resistance. Namely, we have argued that while the first level is about the field of possibilities in which several kinds of conduct are available, the second level tells us about what kind of conduct and what behavior is actually exercised. Insofar as domination limits the kinds of conduct available, it is dangerous on both levels. Freedom, on the other hand, can be dangerous on the second level. That is, even when the field of strategic possibilities (i.e. the first level) is considerably open, potentially allowing various kinds of conduct (like in contemporary Western societies), it can still be dangerous because 'in a society like our own, games can be very numerous, and the desire to control the other is all the greater — as we see in family relationships, for example, or emotional or sexual relationships' (Foucault 2000a, 300). Metaphorically speaking, while domination is dangerous because the rules of the game and the dispositions of the players are set up in a way that does not allow some of the players to play the game without considerable

limitations, freedom can be dangerous on the level where the game is actually played: 'the freer people are with respect to each other, the more they want to control each other's conduct. The more open the game, the more appealing and fascinating it becomes²⁹' (Foucault 2000a: 300).

This means that liberation understood as the multiplication of points of freedom in the strategic field of power relations 'is not in itself sufficient to define the practices of freedom that will still be needed' if individuals 'are to be able to define admissible and acceptable forms of existence' (Foucault 2000a, 282). What is needed are practices of freedom that correspond to concrete behavior (i.e. the second level). This is the reason why Foucault (2000a, 283) emphasizes 'practices of freedom over practices of liberation; again the latter indeed have their place, but they do not seem to me to be capable by themselves of defining all the practical forms of freedom'. As a consequence, Foucault concludes (2000a, 283), 'liberation paves the way for new power relationships, which must be controlled by practices of freedom'.

Here, we must note that the two modes described above (active and passive constitution of the subject) should not be taken as ultimately separate, but rather as representing the two opposite ends of a dynamic continuum on which the degree of fluidity/mobility of power relations determines whether subjects are constituted in either a more passive or active way. And on this continuum, Foucault explains (2002, 331), there are three types of struggles: 'against forms of domination (ethnic, social, and religious); against forms of exploitation that

_

In order to critically reflect on how the relations of power intersect with the relationship individual has with oneself Foucault (2000a, 225) introduces the concept of governmentality, which corresponds to an 'encounter between the technologies of domination of others and those of the self'. According to Foucault (2000a, 300) the concept of governmentality 'makes it possible to bring out the freedom of the subject and its relationship to others – which constitutes the very stuff [matiere]of ethics': 'I am saying that "governmentality" implies the relationship of the self to itself, and I intend this concept of governmentality to cover the whole range of practices that constitute, define, organize, and instrumentalize the strategies that individuals in their freedom can use in dealing with each other. Those who try to control, determine and limit the freedom of others are themselves free individuals who have at their disposal certain instruments they can use to govern others. Thus, the bases of all this is freedom, the relationship of the self to itself and the relationship to the other'.

separate individuals from what they produce; or against that which ties the individual to himself and submits him to others in this way (struggles against subjection [assujettissement], against forms of subjectivity and submission)'.

7.4 Conclusion: towards the analysis of happiness as experience in the Foucauldian sense

In sum, a key part of Foucault's notion of experience is the idea that our experience – in the everyday sense of the term – is determined by forms of truth, power and relation to the self that are historically singular. The experience is, therefore, 'not a simple confrontation between a perceiving subject and a world of objects' (O'Leary 2010, 180). Rather, O'Leary explains (2010, 180), 'the forms of the subjective experience are to a large degree made possible by elements in the surrounding culture and society'. Following from this is 'that there is not even any subject existing independently of these elements and preceding the experience itself' (O'Leary 2010, 180). The subject is, hence, 'not the ground of possibility of the experience; rather, the form of subjectivity emerges in response to the occurrence of a whole range of experiences³⁰. And these experiences, with their concomitant forms of subjectivity, have their own historicity' (O'Leary 2010, 180).

In our view, the experience of happiness represents an important part of the range of experiences that were and still are connected to the constitution of the subjectivities in Western culture. As a consequence the third part of the dissertation shall attempt an analysis of the experience of happiness in Western culture, which can be conducted using genealogical and archeological tools.

concrete past experiences of different kinds.

³⁰ From an individual viewpoint, this range of experience corresponds both to a kind of synchronic range of various kinds of experiences understood in the broader sense as an a priori experience that an individual can potentially experience (such as the experience of happiness, madness, sexuality etc.) and also to a kind of a diachronic range of aggregated individual's

8 METHODOLOGICAL STAKES

8.1 Genealogical approach and archeological method

The archeological method was extensively developed by Foucault in Archeology of Knowledge (2004) and was his most preferred tool, especially in the 1960s. In the 1970s, due to his interest in Nietzsche and a shift of focus to the workings of power, Foucault started developing a new genealogical approach. Even though the relationship between archeology and genealogy was somewhat vague in Foucault's work in the 1970s, he always perceived genealogy as a broader concept. Eventually, it became quite clear that for Foucault, the genealogical approach subsumed archeology in the sense that it represents its methodological framework.

As we have seen above, the general theme of Foucault's research was the history of thought. According to Foucault (1983), there is no other way we can have access to thought, 'either to our own present thought, or our contemporaries' thought, or of course thought of people of previous periods, but through discourses'. In this sense, Foucault (1983) uses archeology as a method to research a 'set of discourses, which has to be analyzed as an event or as a set of events'. Genealogy, on the other hand, Foucault explains (1983), 'is both the reason and the target of the analysis of discourses as events, and what I try to show is how those discursive events have determined in a certain way what constitutes our present and what constitutes ourselves: our knowledge, our practices, our type of rationality, our relationship to ourselves and to the others (Foucault 1983). As a consequence, Foucault concludes (1983), 'Genealogy is the aim of the analysis and the archaeology is the material and methodological framework'.

In order to better understand the specifics of Foucault's genealogical approach, we have to explore how he adopted and developed Nietzsche's understanding of genealogy. According to Foucault, Nietzsche's genealogical approach challenges the pursuit of the origin [*Ursprung*] and its metaphysics common to the historical approach in the traditional sense that we have described above. Nietzsche and Foucault (2000b, 371) are against the 'search for origins' because

'it is an attempt to capture the exact essence of things, their purest possibilities, and their carefully protected identities; because this search assumes the existence of immobile forms that precede the external world of accident and succession. This search is directed to "that which is already there," the "very same" of an image of a primordial truth fully adequate to its nature, and it necessitates the removal of every mask to ultimately disclose an original identity (Foucault 200b, 371).

Genealogy that refuses to extend such 'faith in metaphysics,' on the other hand, discovers that there is no 'timeless and essential secret' behind things, but 'the secret that they have no essence, or that their essence was fabricated in a piecemeal fashion from alien forms' (Foucault 2000b, 371). Foucault and Nietzsche, therefore, propose an approach that could be seen as a kind of antiessentialist or anti-positivist history. 'Genealogies,' Foucault argues (1980, 83), are 'not positivistic returns to a more careful or exact form of science. They are precisely anti-sciences'.

In this sense, genealogy also refuses another 'postulate of the origin' - that of 'the site of truth':

The very question of truth, the right it appropriates to refute error and oppose itself to appearance, the manner in which it was initially made available to the wise, then was withdrawn by man of piety to an unattainable world where it was given the double role of consolation and imperative, finally rejected as a useless notion, superfluous and contradicted on all sides – does this not form a history, the history of an error we call truth? (Foucault 2000b, 372)

Rather than origin [*Ursprung*], Foucault argues (2000b, 373), descent [*Herkunft*] and emergence -- the moment of arising [*Entstehung*] -- are 'more exact' in 'recording the true object of genealogy'. According to Foucault (2000b, 374), 'the analysis of descent permits the dissociation of the Me, its recognition and displacement as an empty synthesis': 'where the soul pretends unification or the Me fabricates a coherent identity, the genealogist sets out to study the beginning – numberless beginnings, whose faint traces and hints of color are readily seen by a historical eye'. In this sense, Foucault explains (2000b, 374),

Genealogy does not pretend to go back in time to restore an unbroken continuity that operates beyond dispersion of oblivion; its task is not to demonstrate that the past actively exists in the present, that it continues to secretly animate the present, having imposed a predetermined form on all its vicissitudes. Genealogy does not resemble the evolution of a species and does not map the destiny of a people. On the contrary, to follow the complex course of descent is to maintain passing events in their proper dispersion; it is to identify the accidents, the minute deviations — or conversely, the complete reversals — the errors, the false appraisals, and the faulty calculations that give birth to those things which continue to exist and have value for us.

As for emergence, Foucault continues (2000b, 376), we have to acknowledge that it 'is always produced in a particular state of forces'. While 'in placing present needs at the origin, the metaphysician would convince us of an obscure purpose that seeks its realization at the moment it arises,' genealogy, on the other hand, Foucault argues (2000b, 376), 'seeks to reestablish the various systems of subjection: not the anticipatory power of meaning, but the hazardous play of dominations'.

Contrary to the metaphysics of the traditional historical approach, Foucault (2000b, 379) adopts a historical sense, which 'evades metaphysics' and 'refuses the certainty of absolutes' that can produce what Nietzsche calls wirkliche Historie – "effective history". Given this, the genealogical sense of history 'corresponds to the acuity of a glance that distinguishes, separates, and disperses; that is, capable of liberating divergence and marginal elements – the

kind of dissociating view that is capable of decomposing itself, capable of shattering the unity of man's being through which it was thought that he could extend his sovereignty to the events of his past' (Foucault 2000b, 379).

As such, the genealogical approach enables us to analyze history without assuming a priori foundations, essences, historical origins or absolute historical truths. In this sense, Foucault is close to Rorty's (1979) position of antifoundationalism, but he also extends it to the historical perspective. Insofar as the Foucauldian genealogical approach (in a way similar to the postmodern anthropology) refuses the modern epistemology and the scientific approach, it doesn't claim to be producing objective knowledge about the world and history, but serious true fictions about history: 'Of course, there is no question of it being anything else but fiction,' Foucault (2002, 242) once commented on his work.

There are, however, some notable differences between the Foucauldian and anthropological fictions. The first is that while the "other" in anthropological fictions primarily corresponds to "other cultures," in Foucauldian fictions the "other" usually corresponds to our own (Western) culture in other (past) times. What is even more important is the difference in the purposes of fictions. While anthropological fictions are primarily of explanatory nature, Foucauldian fictions are explicitly conveyed to enable what Foucault calls a 'limit-experience,' which has the potential to transform the experience of its author and his readers.

'The distinctive feature of Foucault's histories, the feature which gives them their transformative power,' O'Leary explains (2008, 14), 'is the fact that they are not only descriptions of the past, but attempts to modify the present through a transformation, or a fictioning, of experience'. In this sense, Foucault explains (1990, 9), his 'studies in "history," are 'not the work of a historian,' but a critical 'philosophical exercise': 'The object was to learn to what extent the effort to think one's own history can free thought from what it silently thinks, and so enable it to think differently' (Foucault 1990, 9).

In order to better explain the Foucauldian genealogical approach and its fictions (in the spirit of which we are going to conduct our historical analysis of happiness in Western culture), we have to understand Foucault's specific relationship towards truth, which is based on his original critique of the modern relationship towards truth. While Foucault, in a similar way to Rorty (1979), considers Descartes's philosophy as an important turning point in the history of Western thought that enabled the institutionalization of modern science and epistemology, he takes his critical reflection another step further.

8.2 The critique of the modern relationship to truth as the basis for the genealogical approach

In the course of his late theoretical development, Foucault's interest in antiquity shifted from the genealogical analysis of sexuality as a 'historically singular form of experience' (Foucault, 1990) to a broader analysis of the historically different forms of experience of the relationship between the subject and truth (Foucault, 2005). In order to reflect on modes of subjectivity and modes of relationship to the truth in Western culture, in his Hermeneutics of the Subject course at College de France, Foucault conducted a genealogy of the Western forms of experience of the relationship between the subject and truth. His critical undertaking can help us understand the historical currents that have determined the scientific relationship to the truth, which, according to Foucault (2000, 279), made 'possible the institutionalization of modern science' and at the same time lost the potential to 'save the subject' (Foucault 2005, 19). As a consequence, Foucault articulated an alternative critical mode of relationship towards truth, which is essential for the understanding of his genealogical approach and his historical fictions that are produced by it.

Before we can describe Foucault's relationship with truth, we first have to understand Foucault's analysis of the philosophical principles of care for the self [epimeleisthai heautou] and know yourself [gnothi seauton].

8.2.1 Care of the self vs. know yourself

Foucault (2000a; 2005) notes that, in antiquity, modes of subjectivity were mostly not rooted in any firm formal external religious, ethical or legal rules; instead, the individual's behavior was regulated by an internal ethical relationship with oneself. Ethical reflection starts in antiquity exactly at the point where the rules, regulations and formal restrictions end. The relation with the self ('rapport a soi') was a matter of personal 'aesthetic' and/or 'political choice' (Foucault 2000a, 266). If one wanted to occupy an important position in society, to rule others or to live a good and happy life and leave an exalted reputation behind him, one first had to fashion oneself to give one's subjectivity a particular form. This was done through what the Greeks called 'epimeleia heautou' (care of the self).

Foucault (200a, 256) did not uncritically consider antiquity a lost paradise and, hence, did not see it as an alternative because, according to him, 'you can't find the solution of a problem in the solution of another problem raised at another moment by another people'. Nevertheless, he was convinced that we could draw some useful inspirations and insights from it to solve our current problems.

Since we are analyzing happiness, it is especially the historical period of the first and second centuries A.D., which Foucault (2005) referred to as 'a golden age in the history of care of the self,' that is particularly interesting for our discussion. First, because in this period (like during most of antiquity) people were, as we are today, concerned with how to articulate the relation with themselves and others without founding it on a static religious or legal system and, second, because the care of the self at that time was 'a notion, practice and institution' whose objective was 'to arrive at happiness' (Foucault, 2005: 88). For people in this period, happiness and well-being were not matters of external factors (like the passive consumption of wealth, for example), but more a matter of actively cultivating 'a certain kind of constant relationship to the self, whether a relationship of mastery and sovereignty (being master of the self), or a relationship of sensations (having pleasure in oneself, experiencing delight in oneself, being content with oneself, etc ...)' (Foucault, 2005: 86). As an outcome, care of the self 'involved arriving at the formation of a full, perfect,

complete, and self-sufficient relationship with oneself, capable of producing the self-transfiguration that is the happiness one takes in oneself' (Foucault, 2005: 320).

Foucault explains that this care of the self 'does not mean simply being interested in oneself, nor does it mean having a certain tendency to selfattachment or self-fascination. The care of the self is a very powerful word, which means working on, or being concerned with something' (Foucault 2000, 269). The etymology of the expression epimeleisthai heautou (to take care of oneself, to be concerned with oneself, to care of the self) 'refers to a series of words like meletan, melete, meletai,' which mean 'to practice and train' (Foucault, 2005: 84). Specifically, 'epimeleisthai refers to a form of vigilant, continuous, applied, regular, et cetera, activity much more than to a mental attitude' (Foucault 2005, 84). This is because 'no personal skill can be acquired without exercise; neither can one learn the art of living, the tekhne tou biou, without an askesis that must be taken as training of oneself by oneself' (Foucault, 2000a, 273). Moreover, if one wanted to be content with one's life, such activity of training should be practiced 'for the whole of one's life' (Foucault, 2005, 87) starting early when still young and not finishing until one breathes his last gasp. To justify his argument, Foucault (2005, 87) cites Epicures: 'Who says that it is not yet time or that there is no longer time to practice philosophy, is like someone who says that it is not yet time or that there is no longer time for happiness'.

For Foucault (2005), the mode of the relationship between the principle of *epimeleia heautou* and the principle of *gnothi seaton* in different time periods is crucial for a genealogical illumination of our present relationship with the truth on which modern science is founded. Discovering the importance of *epimelea heautou* in antiquity, Foucault refutes the dominant readings of the history of philosophy, which hold that the Delphic prescription 'of gnothi seauton (know yourself) is undoubtedly the founding question of the relations between the subject and truth' in the history of Western thought (Foucault 2005, 3). Foucault (2005, 462) argues that, within the antique relationship with truth, gnothi seaton was subordinated to epimelea heautou, which in fact was 'the real support of the imperative know yourself,' because knowing yourself alone was

not enough to access the truth: 'care of the self, precisely, is not just a knowledge (connaissance)' (Foucault 2005, 461). In order to be able to access the truth, a higher price had to be paid: 'for the subject to have right of access to the truth, he must be changed, transformed, shifted, and become, to some extent and up to a certain point, other than himself. The truth is only given to the subject at a price that brings the subject's being into play' (Foucault, 2005: 15). An evident conclusion of this type of analysis for Foucault (2005, 15) was the need to distinguish between philosophy and spirituality, which, in Western culture up to the 16th century, was 'always more or less obscurely linked' (Foucault 2000a, 279):

We will call, if you like, "philosophy" the form of thought that asks, not of course what is true and what is false, but what determines that there is and can be truth and falsehood and whether or not we can separate the true and the false. We will call philosophy the form of thought that asks what it is that enables the subject to have access to the truth and which attempts to determine the conditions and limits of the subject's access to the truth. If we call this philosophy, than I think we could call "spirituality" the search, practice, and experience through which the subject carries out the necessary transformations on himself in order to have access to the truth. We will call spirituality, then, the set of these researches, practices, and experiences, which may be purifications, ascetic exercises, renunciations, conversions of looking, modifications of existence, etc., which are, not for knowledge, but for the subject, for the subject's very being, the price to be paid for access to the truth (Foucault 2005, 15).

8.2.2 The Cartesian moment

For Foucault (2005), the transformative potential of truth for the subject in Western culture was lost when the centrality of care of the self was discredited and overshadowed by the principle of knowing yourself. He calls this event in thought the 'Cartesian moment' (Foucault 2005, 14), which 'disqualifies the care of the self and requalifies the gnothi seauton, dissociating a philosophy of knowledge from a spirituality of the transformation of the subject's very being

by his work on himself' (Davidson 2005, xxiv). According to Foucault (2000, 279), by saying 'to accede to truth, it suffices that I be any subject that can see what is evident,' Descartes succeeds 'in substituting a subject as founder of practices of knowledge for a subject constituted through practices of the self'. Evidence is substituted for ascesis at the point where the relationship to the self intersects the relationship to others and the world'. Foucault (2005, 17) explains further,

... we can say that we enter the modern age (I mean, the history of truth enters its modern period) when it is assumed that what gives access to the truth, the condition for the subjects' access to the truth, is knowledge (connaissance) and knowledge alone ... I think the modern age of the history of truth begins when knowledge itself and knowledge alone gives access to the truth. That is to say, it is when the philosopher (or the scientist, or simply someone who seeks the truth) can recognize the truth and have access to it in himself and solely through his activity of knowing, without anything else being demanded of him and without him having to change or alter his being as subject.

According to Foucault (2005, 17), this does not mean 'that the truth is obtained without conditions.' Rather than 'spiritual exercises,' the modern science enabled by the Cartesian moment now requires two new orders of conditions defined only 'within knowledge' and 'neither of which fall under the conditions of spirituality' (Foucault 2005, 17-18). They 'are either intrinsic to knowledge' (like formal conditions, objective conditions and formal rules of method) or 'extrinsic to the act of knowledge' (like the need to operate within a certain scientific consensus), but 'they do not concern the subject in his being; they only concern the individual in his concrete existence, and not the structure of the subject as such' (Foucault, 2005: 18). Foucault believes that since the 17th century, philosophy has been developing 'a figure of the subject who is intrinsically capable of truth' (Gros 2005, 522) and, thus, 'superimposes the functions of spirituality upon the ideal of a grounding for scientificy' (Foucault 2000, 294). It is no wonder, then, that more than a century before Foucault Nietzsche (as Foucault's "educator") (1873, sec. 8) wrote in his essay "Schopenhauer" as Educator this: 'The only method of criticizing a philosophy

that is possible and proves anything at all—namely to see whether one can live by it—has never been taught at the universities; only the criticism of words, and again words, is taught there'.

A consequence of this transformed relationship to the truth on whose legacy modern science operates is 'that access to truth, whose sole condition is henceforth knowledge, will find reward and fulfillment in nothing else but the indefinite development of knowledge' (Foucault 2005, 18). Such a 'Cartesian type of knowledge' can hardly be 'defined as access to the truth, but is knowledge (connaissance) of a domain of objects (Foucault 2005, 191), which, according to Foucault (2005, 19), cannot 'save the subject':

Knowledge will simply open out into the indefinite dimension of progress, the end of which is unknown and the advantage of which will only ever be realized in the course of history by the institutional accumulation of bodies of knowledge, or the psychological or social benefits to be had from having discovered the truth after having taken such pains to do so. As such, henceforth, the truth cannot save the subject. If we define spirituality as being the form of practices which postulate that, such as he is, the subject is not capable of the truth, but that, such as it is, the truth can transfigure and save the subject, then we can say that the modern age of the relations between the subject and truth begin when it is postulated that, such as he is, the subject is capable of truth, but that, such as it is, the truth cannot save the subject.

For as long as modern science remains limited to intellectual clarifications and knowledge production within such a modern relationship to the truth, it will fail to make proper transformations of the subject. Namely, Gros (2005, 523) explains, 'according to the modern mode of subjectivation, the constitution of the self as subject depends on an indefinite endeavor of self-knowledge, which strives only to reduce the gap between what I am truly and what I think my self to be'. In this sense 'what I do, the actions I perform, only have value insofar as they help me to know myself better' (Gros 2005, 523).

As opposed to the modern understanding, the use and science in antiquity was (in line with their mode of relationship to the truth) fundamentally different.

Theoretical and scientific understanding was secondary to and guided by ethical and aesthetic concerns: 'The one who cared for himself had to choose among all the things that you can know through scientific knowledge only those kinds of things which were relative to him and important to life' (Foucault 2000a, 269-270). Scientific knowledge was, unlike in modern science, a matter of building indefinitely an objective system of knowledge, but was valuable to them only as far as it enabled them to integrate and use it to change their individual experience: 'the logos must actualize the soundness of action rather than the perfection of knowledge' (Davidson 2005, 528). Inspired by the Greek relation to the truth, Foucault was convinced that we have to try to refuse our contemporary relation towards truth marked by the Cartesian turn and adopt an alternative one that will enable us 'to put the subject back into the historical domain of practices and processes in which he has been constantly transformed' (Foucault in Gros 2005, 525):

I think there is here the possibility of writing a history of what we have done, which can be at the same time an analysis of what we are; a theoretical analysis that has a political meaning – I mean an analysis that has meaning for what we want to accept, refuse and change of ourselves, in our actuality. In short, it is a matter of starting out in search of a different critical philosophy that does not determine the conditions and limits of a knowledge of the object, but the conditions and undefined possibilities of the subject's transformation.

It is precisely within such a relationship towards truth that the Foucauldian genealogical approach and its fictions are situated: 'Foucault clearly does not conceive of the writing of history as the faithful recording of the past; for him, the past is not so much another country as another tool – a tool with which to intervene in the present for the sake of a future' (O'Leary 2002, 96). If we put this in Foucault's (1980, 83) own words, he is aiming to 'make use' of knowledge about our history 'tactically today'. The genealogical approach, therefore, implies that when looking to the past, Foucault (1988, 262) is not interested in the problems of the past as historians in the traditional sense, but in the problems of the present: 'I set out from a problem expressed in the terms

current today and I try to work out its genealogy. Genealogy means that I begin my analysis from the question posed in the present'.

Following Nietzsche (1968), who holds that the development of humanity is a series of interpretations, for Foucault 'the legitimate task of the genealogist is not only to record this history, but to offer a new interpretation, which will disassociate and dissolve the coagulated truths of the past' (O'Leary 2002, 100). This possibility, then, can simultaneously open up a potentiality for the transformation of the present and the future.

In this sense, Foucault explains (2002, 242), 'My problem is not to satisfy professional historians; my problem is to construct myself, and to invite others to share an experience of what we are, not only our past, but also our present, an experience of our modernity in such a way that we might come out of it transformed'. As a consequence, Foucauldian genealogies aim to produce fictions in the form of 'experience books' (Foucault 2002, 246). An experience book is

'a book that functions as an experience, for its writer and reader alike, much more than as an establishment of a historical truth'. For one to be able to have that experience through the book, what it says does need to be true in terms of academic, historically verifiable truth. It can't exactly be a novel. Yet, the essential thing is not in the series of those true or historically verifiable findings, but, rather, in the experience that the book makes possible (Foucault 2002, 243).

For Foucault (2002, 243), 'this experience is neither true nor false. An experience is always a fiction: it's something that one fabricates oneself, that doesn't exist before and will exist afterward'. Fiction, therefore, is not 'defined in opposition to truth' because 'it is possible for fiction to induce effects of truth, just as it is possible for a discourse of truth to fabricate, or to fiction something' (O'Leary 2008, 18). In this sense, O'Leary further explains (2008, 18), we must think of fiction 'in the same way we think of *poesis*; that is, as a fundamentally productive engagement in the world. To fiction is to fabricate, to produce, to bring into existence'. In his books, Foucault (2002, 244), thus, plays a 'game of truth and fiction,' in which 'the experience that the book

makes possible is founded on the truth of its findings, but the experience itself is a new creation which may even, up to a certain point, destroy the truth on which it is based' (O'Leary 2008, 19).

According to Foucault (2002, 244), operating within a different relationship towards truth that favors concrete transformative effects for the subject over the quest for objective truth brings the following specifics to his approach: 'the first is that I don't depend on a continuous and systematic body of background data,' and the second 'is that I haven't written a single book that was not inspired, at least in part, by a direct personal experience'. However, Foucault continues (2002, 244), this 'is not at all a matter of transporting personal experiences into knowledge. In the book, the relationship with the experience should make possible a transformation, a metamorphosis, that is not just mine but can have certain value, a certain accessibility for others, so that the experience is available for others to have'. And last but not least: 'this experience must be capable of being linked in some measure to a collective practice, to a way of thinking' (Foucault 2002, 244). Following from this, the Foucauldian historical approach 'must be judged not only in terms of historiographical accuracy, but also in terms of the contribution it makes to the re-interpretation and re-constitution of ethical subjectivities today' (O'Leary 2002, 100).

8.3 The Foucauldian understanding of experience of happiness

Inspired by Foucauldian theory, in this (second) part of the dissertation, we have articulated our own critical genealogical approach for the study of happiness that can significantly complement the existent approaches to the study of happiness in relation to culture, history and relations of power. In the following third part of the dissertation, we shall make use of this approach to analyze the experience of happiness in Western culture.

If happiness is not a universal but culturally and historically specific experience, which is closely tied to the relations of power in society, then it

follows that in order to understand happiness, one has to illuminate the historical process of its constitution/construction. Based on the Foucauldian understanding of experience and using his genealogical approach, we shall consequently analyze happiness as a culturally and historically specific mode of experience in Western culture. Here, it is crucial to emphasize that in contrast to the existent approaches to the study of happiness that perceive happiness only in terms of private internal experience (see, for example, Diener et al. 1997), the Foucauldian perspective enables us to examine happiness as an experience in a much broader sense. As O'Leary (2010, 163) explains, 'Foucault wishes to acknowledge and investigate the ways in which our experience exceeds our own private interactions with the world'. That is, the Foucauldian approach is not only interested in our private internal experience, but also in the shared 'historical a priori³¹ of a possible experience for a period of time, an area and for given individuals³²' (Foucault 2000b, 460).

The notion of a shared a priori of experience enables us to understand that our internal private experience is always 'made possible by larger social, political, and ethical (and, of course, cultural L.Z.) structures, which have their own historicity'. In other words, 'Foucault wants to bring together particular, everyday lived experiences with the larger epistemic, political, and ethical structures that make them possible' (O'Leary 2010, 173). In this sense, the Foucauldian understanding of experience points 'to the general background forms and structures that, in a general sense, determine, or at least set, the parameters for the everyday experience of people who live in a given period. So, it includes both these forms themselves and the range of actual experiences that individuals may have' (O'Leary 2010, 165). We shall, therefore, analyze

.

³¹ Here, we have to note that Foucault is not seeking the Kantian a priori, but the historical a priori and not all possible experience, but historically singular experience.

³² Above we have seen that in addition to the wider understanding of experience as a shared a priori, the Foucauldian approach also implies the understanding of experience in terms of 'the ability to both account for and facilitate the transformation of experience through deliberate intervention' (O'Leary 2010, 164). With our analysis we therefore also hope to produce what Foucault calls an experience book. A book, that could result in a certain transformation of our experience of happiness and perhaps also in the transformation of experience of happiness of our readers.

the experience of happiness in wider terms as a general background and structures, i.e. a shared a priori of experience that sets the basic parameters for the everyday experience of happiness in Western culture.

Since we agree with Foucault (2005, 9) that 'the challenge for any history of thought is precisely that of grasping when a cultural phenomenon of a determinate scale actually constitutes within the history of thought a decisive moment that is still significant for our modern mode of being subjects,' our genealogical analysis shall primarily focus on the historical processes that resulted in the birth of happiness in the 17th and 18th centuries, which in our view represents such a decisive moment. Namely, it was with the birth of happiness in the 17th and 18th centuries that after hundreds of years of Christian emphasis on the afterlife, our culture again started to envision the ideal of human existence predominantly in the earthly realm, which decisively directed and fueled the modernization processes that determine what we experience today. Since this birth of happiness also constitutes a basic structure for all the later forms of experience of happiness in Western culture, we believe that such an undertaking is relevant not only because it can support the argument of the historical and cultural construction/singularity of happiness, but also because it will represent a valuable point of departure for any further inquiries into manifestations of happiness in our culture. In order to better understand the process of the birth of happiness and its result, the early modern experience of happiness, we will first examine the experience that preceded it. The main reason for such a wide chronological focus is that the experience of happiness in Western culture was, to a large extent, constituted in relation to the antecedent Christian experience. As a consequence, our analysis will chronologically span from roughly around the 4th century to the end of the 18th century, and it will include all three axes of experience described above.

Before we proceed to the actual analysis, we have to note that unlike Foucault who had the conditions and capacities to perform his genealogies mainly by analysing vast amounts of primary historical sources, our reach in this regard is somewhat limited. As a consequence, our genealogy of happiness will also make use of a fair amount of secondary historical sources. While on account of this our analysis will certainly not be as original and profound as Foucault's

own work, secondary historical sources -- which are now significantly richer and more inclusive than in Foucault's times -- will enable us to examine a much broader time span.

In the first chapter of the third part of this paper, we will examine what we shall call the Christian problematization of salvation and the experience of sin, which -- as we shall argue -- cannot be simply equated with the experience of happiness that only emerged in the 17th and 18th centuries. The second chapter of our analysis in the third part will focus on a transitional period in the context of which certain new problematizations emerged that will eventually start constituting the experience of happiness. Finally, in the last chapter, we shall illuminate the (birth) of experience of happiness itself. Following the Foucauldian methodological framework developed in the second part of the dissertation, analysis will be conducted in every chapter in the third part along the three interconnected axes that, according to Foucault, constitute the experience of any object: the axis of truth, the axis of relationship to the self and the axis of power. Accordingly, every chapter in the third part will be composed of three subchapters, each corresponding to one respective axis of experience.

PART III: A GENEALOGY OF HAPPINESS IN THE WESTERN CULTURE

9 THE CHRISTIAN PROBLEMATIZATION OF SALVATION AND THE EXPERIENCE OF SIN

9.1 The truth about salvation in Early and High Middle Ages (5th-14th centuries)

The apostle Matthew writes in his gospel,

Blessed [makarios] are the poor in spirit, for theirs is the kingdom of heaven.

Blessed are those who mourn, for they will be comforted.

Blessed are the meek, for they will inherit the earth.

Blessed are those who hunger and thirst for righteousness, for they will be filled.

Blessed are the merciful, for they will receive mercy.

Blessed are the pure in heart, for they will see God.

Blessed are the peacemakers, for they will be called children of God.

Blessed are those who are persecuted for righteousness's sake, for theirs is the kingdom of heaven (Matthew 5:3-11).

Similar beatitudes can also be found in Luke (6:20-23):

Blessed are you who are poor, for yours is the kingdom of God.

Blessed are you who are hungry now, for you will be filled.

Blessed are you who weep now, for you will laugh.

Blessed are you when people hate you, and when they exclude you, revile you, and defame you on account of the Son of Man.

Rejoice in that day and leap for joy, for surely your reward is great in heaven

These exalted biblical words summarize the dominant mode in which Western culture has perceived the vision for a better life before the advent of modern (earthly) happiness. Namely – as we shall argue - in the history of Western thought, the experience of happiness has only been born from the womb of enlightenment in the 17th and 18th centuries. We agree with Foucault (2002, 299) that 'even if the Enlightenment has been a very important phase in our history,' we 'have to refer to much more remote processes if we want to understand how we have been trapped in our own history'. Following from this, we believe that in order to examine the birth of modern experience of happiness, we first have to understand the dominant problematization and experience that preceded it. According to the cardinal theme that marked the Christian vision of a better life, we shall call it the 'Christian problematization of salvation and the experience of sin'.

Virtually all Christians agree(d) that while suffering is inherent in earthly existence, the true ideal of existence can be found in the afterlife, where the chosen ones experience salvation and, with it, eternal and unsurpassed heavenly bliss. The emphasis in the Christian problematization of salvation is on the promise of future reward. Those who endure and embrace pain and suffering on earth will be granted beatitude in a time to come: 'Now is your time of grief,' Christ preaches to his followers in the Gospel of John (16:22), 'but I will see you again and you will rejoice, and no one will take away your joy'. In the Christ's crucifixion, Christians, hence, saw a 'promise of redemption through suffering – and through suffering the passage to an eternal felicity different from anything ever known' (McMahon 2006, 77).

Earthly suffering, then, has a purpose insofar as it represents a means through which in this life one can gain ultimate salvation in the next. It, hence, becomes perfectly clear why the apostle Paul and numerous early Christian martyrs³³ were so eager to embrace earthly suffering: 'I want to know Christ and the power of his resurrection and the sharing of his sufferings by becoming like him in his death' (Philippians 3:10). With his passion, Christ, thus, introduced a vision of an ideal of the human existence that lies in a realm beyond this world. And for the Christian subject of sin, particularly after Augustine of Hippo and the council³⁴ of Carthage in 418, which officially established Augustine's tragic understanding of original sin as the essential truth about human nature, a passage to heaven³⁵ indeed was the only way to achieve true bliss.

The cardinal aim of this chapter is to argue that within the dominant medieval Christian experience ranging from the 4th to the 16th centuries in the strict sense, we cannot speak of happiness. To that end, we shall analyze how Christianity established the truth about the ideal human existence that was marked by the problematization of salvation and why, within the concomitant Christian experience of sin, this ideal wasn't achievable in the present life. More specifically, we shall look more closely at the tightly connected issues of original sin and free will, with the help of which it will be possible to identify the main inhibitions precluding the ideal of human existence in the Middle Ages to be envisioned in this world.

But why are this period and its experience of sin even important for the analysis of happiness if our main argument will be that happiness in this period did not yet exist? Our somewhat paradoxical answer to this question would be

-

³³ Before the edict of Milan (313), which institutionalized the Christian religion as the official religion of the Roman Empire, Christians had been prosecuted and often executed if they refused to give up their beliefs.

The official Christian doctrine/truth endorsed by church councils, the pope and other ecclesial authorities is a typical example of the workings of truth and power in the sense of representing 'a set of procedures that lead to a certain result, which, on the basis of its principles and rules of procedure, may be considered valid or invalid, winning or losing' (Foucault 2000a, 297). In the game of truth and power, which took place within the Christian church councils, one or several contesting notions were established as truth while others were condemned as being false.

³⁵ For more on the (history of) Christian conception of heaven, see, for example, Walls (2002) and McGrath (2003).

that it is relevant precisely because of that. Namely, if we can show that the experience of happiness in fact did not exist until the 17th century, this firstly supports our thesis of happiness being a culturally and historically specific/singular experience, and, secondly, it also represents the first important step towards the illumination of the decisive break in the history of Western thought connected to the birth of happiness.

9.1.1 (Original) sin and the immanence of suffering on earth

9.1.1.1 The Pelagian defense of free will and Christian perfection on Earth

The late Roman world of Augustine of Hippo 'was a place in which ideas and creeds competed openly for takers like shouted wares in a marketplace bazaar' (McMahon 2006, 97). And the issue of original sin surely was no exception. The main reason behind the polemic was a larger issue of the nature of Christian perfection, which became problematized in the late 4th century. About a century after the Edict of Milan (313), which institutionalized Christianity as the official religion of the Roman Empire 'to be a Christian was no longer a heroic act of social defiance, but in many cases a consequence of conformity or desire for advancement' (Mourant and Collinge 1992, 5). As a consequence, ardent Christians of the time were appalled 'by the political and moral corruption of the state, the scandalous behavior of Christian clergy, and the half-Christian, half-pagan practices of many ordinary Christians' (Mourant and Collinge 1992, 5). Trying to restore the earlier ideal of "heroic spirituality" from the earlier days of Christianity, in such a climate many Christians (monks and laymen alike; both inside and outside the monasteries) undertook ascetic practices aimed towards moral perfection. In this context, a discussion has arisen about the consequences of original sin and what they meant for the pursuit of Christian perfection.

While 'virtually all early Christians agreed that something fatal had happened in the Garden of Eden, and that was through our parents' fault that imperfection has entered the world,' McMahon notes (2006, 103), 'they disagreed extensively over the ultimate consequences of this transgression and regarding its final effect on the human race'. According to one influential doctrine,

advocated by Pelagius and his disciple Caelestius, it is not possible 'to hold someone guilty of a sin that is not his own action. Instead, the damage done by Adam's sin was that it established a model for human disobedience to God, so that subsequent sin is in imitation of Adam' (Mourant and Collinge 1992, 8). In this sense, 'Adam's sin injured only himself, so that there is no such thing as original sin' (Schaff 1899, 346). For Pelagius, Mourant and Collinge explain (1992, 8), 'the dignity of humans resides in our freedom'. Even though this power of free choice is ours by nature, the fact that God created us with this capacity means that the creator set us 'apart from the necessity, which governs the rest of created nature' (Mourant and Collinge 1992, 8). Through our reason, we are able to understand the law of nature within, which, Pelagius argues (in Mourant and Collinge 1992, 8), 'directs man reliably to action in conformity to his own nature, which, in turn, is action in conformity to the will of God'. Given our capacity for the power of free choice, we are able to choose to either obey or disobey this law. As a consequence, according to Pelagius (in Mourant and Collinge 1992, 8), we humans, therefore, have the 'possibility of not sinning'. And insofar as this unique condition is not our own doing but inscribed into our nature by God, it should be seen as 'grace'. Following from this, Pelagianism advocated the following set of ideas:

(1) Adam's sin was purely personal and had no consequences for anyone else (for instance, death is natural, not a consequence of Adam's sin); (2) all human beings are born quite sinless, which implies that all infants go to heaven if they die, so that infant baptism is useless; (3) the human will is not inclined to evil as a result of Adam's sin, but is equally inclined to good and evil; (4) we need no special help or grace to choose what is good, but Christ has given us a good example and his grace makes it easier for us to do what is, without it, perfectly possible; (5) God makes no choice of persons prior to the decisions which human beings make (Cowburn 2008, 88).

(Original) sin for Pelagius, therefore, was not inherent in human nature, and men, he believed, could 'live without committing any sin at all' (Schaff 1899, 346). According to Pelagius, it would be unjust of God to create and bring us into this world without the capacities to obey his law and commandments. This

would be to say, Jacobs explains (2008, 139), 'that God is in effect the author of evil'. Pelagius's main aim was, therefore, to defend the idea that Christian perfection is possible. In fact, it was precisely for this reason that human nature was created; if only adequate efforts were made.

On the other hand, Augustine of Hippo, later to become one of the most important Christian authorities, was very much against the doctrine of Pelagianism, which endorsed the possibility of earthly perfection and, thus, also -- indirectly at least -- flirted with the idea of earthly salvation. Under his charge, the early Christian leaders had officially condemned and forbade the doctrine of Pelagianism. At one of the sessions of the Council of Carthage, which took place in 418, Pelagianism had been branded as heresy and its proponents condemned on the pain of excommunication. In 418, Cowburn describes (2008, 88) 'Pope Zosimus excommunicated Pelagius, who was expelled from Palestine and disappeared. The pope also sent around a letter against Pelagianism, which all bishops had to sign; those who refused to sign were deposed, excommunicated and banished'. Instead, the Christian Church leaders officially adopted Augustine's views that 'original sin was no minor transgression, but a totally transformative act' (McMahon 2006, 103).

9.1.1.2 The tragic consequences of original sin

In Augustine's view, Adam and Eve's violation of God's will and the consequent banishment from the Garden of Eden stained the whole of humanity with the original sin that will not allow anybody in the human race to be either perfect or blessed in this world: 'The effect of that sin was to subject human nature to all the process of decay which we see and feel, and consequently to death also. And man was distracted and tossed about by violent and conflicting emotions, a very different being from what he was in paradise before his sin' (Augustine 2009, book 14, ch. 23). God, in Augustine's view, McMahon explains (2006, 104), had 'condemned humanity, to suffer the same punishment as our ancestors who had turned against him'. After the Fall, sin is immanent in the human condition and true bliss in this world is far removed from the human grasp. In his letter to the Romans (5:12), Paul, for example, asserts, 'Therefore, just as sin came into the world through one man, and death through sin, and so death spread to all men because all sinned'.

Contrary to Pelagius, who argued that God's grace has implanted into human nature the possibility of free will, Augustine insisted that because of Adam's original sin all humanity has forever lost this capacity. For Augustine, in the *City of God* (2009), Foucault explains (2000a, 181), with the Fall Adam

rose up against God with the first sin; he tried to escape God's will and to acquire a will of his own, ignoring the fact that the existence of his own will depended entirely on the will of God. As a punishment for this revolt and as a consequence of this will to will independently from God, Adam lost control of himself. He wanted to acquire an autonomous will and lost the ontological support for that will. That then became mixed in an indissociable way with involuntary movements, and this weakening of Adam's will had a disastrous effect. His body, and parts of the body, stopped obeying his commands, revolted against him, and the sexual parts of his body were the first to rise up in this disobedience.

Not being in control of themselves because of Adam's original sin, humans are irresistibly possessed and paralyzed by the worldly temptations, which are driving them to breach God's commandments. In other words, humans cannot seek bliss in this world because their imperfect nature inevitably leads to sin: 'Human flesh seems incapable of forgetting whatever had moved Adam to choose as he did; the apostles themselves, Augustine says, were dogged by concupiscence to the end of their days' (Wetzel 2006, 55). This 'nagging desire to seek fulfillment apart from spirit' that not even the saints are immune to is what Augustine calls concupiscence (*concupiscentia*) (Wetzel 2006, 55).

Augustine (in Foucault 2000a, 181) describes what in his view is the most intensive worldly temptation, which, precisely because of such a view, also represents the perfect image of man revolting to God: 'sexual act takes such a complete and passionate possession of the whole man, both physically and emotionally, that what results is the keenest of all pleasures on the level of sensations, and at the crisis of excitement it practically paralyzes all power of deliberate thought'.

It is revealing that Augustine does not directly condemn the sexual act itself. On the contrary, he was actually one of the first Christian Fathers to recognize that sex could have taken place in Paradise before the Fall. However, in paradise, a sexual act could not have had such a spasmodic form. According to Augustine, Foucault explains (2000a, 181), before the Fall, 'Adam's body, every part of it, was perfectly obedient to the soul and the will ... like fingers which one can control in all their gestures'. As a consequence, he would not have been 'involuntarily excited' (Foucault 2000a, 181). In this sense, Augustine sees the famous gesture of Adam covering his genitals with a fig leaf not 'due to the simple fact that Adam was ashamed of their presence, but to the fact that his sexual organs were moving by themselves without his consent' (Foucault 2000a, 181). Given such inhibitions, humans in their earthly existence are, thus, condemned to breaking God's commandments and, in turn, also incapable of achieving true bliss on earth. Moreover, since humans have lost complete control of their bodies, according to Augustine, the human body is also not an appropriate instrument for attaining true bliss in this world.

This means that for the Christian subject, it is not the earthly realm itself that does not allow experiencing true bliss, but the consequences of original sin. After all, the Garden of Eden was not located up in the sky (like heaven), but on Earth³⁶. What indeed stands in the way of human beatitude on earth is human mortality and the imperfect human nature stained by the original sin that does not allow humans to control their will, desires and their bodies, ultimately causing this world to arouse concupiscence, suffering and the perpetual violation of God's commandments.

9.1.1.3 Reasons for Augustine's radical refusal of free will

From his *Confession(s)* (2006), it is quite obvious that Augustine's theological position on salvation and Christian perfection has been significantly inspired by his personal experience. Augustine reports that 'he had experienced the force of sexual desire and found it to be, in his case, irresistible. After his intellectual conversion, he had found that, while he knew what he ought to do, he was

³⁶ The Bible describes the location of the garden of Eden in the following way: 'Now a river flowed out of Eden to water the garden; and from there it divided and became four rivers. The name of the first is Pishon; it flows around the whole land of Havilah, where there is gold.[...] The name of the second river is Gihon; it flows around the whole land of Cush. The name of the third river is Tigris; it flows east of Assyria. And the fourth river is the Euphrates.

unable to will to do it' (Cowburn 2008, 90). Moreover, he also admits that 'he has had a great deal of trouble with sexual desire, but his trouble has come not from sex per se, but from the odd way in which satisfying his mundane desires, the sexual ones especially, has left him feeling empty rather than fulfilled' (Wetzel 2006, 57). The resolution for Augustine 'torn between spirit and flesh wanting to lead a life of service to God, but still strangely bound to a discredited carnality,' came 'in a moment of illumination, when he takes up a book of scripture, reads where his eyes first land, and responds to this command: "clothe yourself in the Lord Jesus Christ and make no provision for the flesh in carnal desires" (concupiscentiis), (Wetzel 2006, 57). While for Pelagius such a personal crisis could have been overcome by the sheer power of individual will (which, according to him, is itself the grace of God), Augustine (who was strongly convinced in the imperfection of human nature), on the other hand, 'believed that his eventual reform was a sheer gift of God' (Cowburn 2008, 91). In his theology of grace, he then 'extended this to everyone and said that, as a result of original sin and personal sins, we are compulsive sinners unless and until God rescues us' (Cowburn 2008, 91).

In order to better understand Augustine's position on human agency in the process of salvation and the notion of predestination, which derived from it, we have to return to his views on Adam('s Fall). For Augustine, 'Adam had a certain amount of grace, but it was not enough to carry him through his most desperate choice' (Wetzel 2006, 55). Following from this, Wetzel explains (2006, 55),

Adam is in us in some mysterious and mythic way, but he is not, for Augustine, the paradigm of what it means to be human. The most important difference between Adam and the rest of us is that we no longer have — if we ever did — his original choice. He could either serve the desires of his flesh or not. We can either serve dispirited flesh, having no other motive to guide us, or be led inexorably by the spirit to lose all motive for serving the flesh. There is no middle way. If, as a son or daughter of Adam, you feel yourself torn between spirit and flesh, and your struggle is genuine (not a trick of the flesh), you are already graced in a way unknown to Adam. He was free to part from God and die; you

are bound to die, but are not free to part from God. In your struggle against the flesh, you are already claimed by spirit – predestined, that is, to incarnate incorruptible flesh, that of the resurrected body.

While for Pelagius, God's grace is that he bestowed free will upon humans on the basis of which they can work towards their salvation with their own efforts, Augustine, on the other hand, understands grace directly in relation to salvation. In his view, 'were God committed to judging brute performance, as Pelagians teach, we would surely all be doomed' (Kent 2006, 229). Due to imperfect human nature, it is only God's grace that can ultimately lead humans to salvation. In this sense, salvation was 'the gift of God, to be imparted only at death and only to the chosen few' (Mcmahon s 105). Two developments in Augustine's 'thought' have thusly intervened. On the one hand, he 'has come to think that no one has a desire for God – not a scintilla of it – who has not been predestined by God to have it' (Wetzel 2006: 54). On the contrary, the 'desire that originates with human beings is always the dark, ungodly desire of ungraced freedom' (Wetzel 2006: 54). And it is precisely this latter kind of desire, which -- due to its human origins -- ultimately damns humanity. To be born human is to be already born judged. Those few predestined to be saved are shown incomprehensible mercy.

Apart from his overwhelming personal experience with sex, there are several other reasons for Augustine's rejection of free will and human agency in the process of salvation. Pelagians criticized Augustine's position on original sin as being influenced by Manicheanism, from which he converted. Namely, at the time, Manicheanism was a widespread religion maintaining (in a similar way as the Augustine version of Christianity) that while the spirit is created by God, flesh was evil and corrupt because it is not created directly by God.

In addition, Cowburn argues (2008), Augustine's 'relentlessly God-driven account of human redemption' (Wetzel 2006, 47) also 'wanted to exalt or glorify God'. He 'felt that to do this he had to deny that human beings are to any extent independent of God; he also felt that to praise or give credit to human beings for anything they have done is to give something to creatures which should be given to God alone' (Cowburn 2008, 91). Third, Cowburn argues (2008, 91), 'it seems that after Augustine became a bishop, his

experience with people gave him a low opinion of their ability to exercise responsibility'. While Pelagius was mostly dealing with educated 'lay men and women of aristocratic lineage' (Wetzel 2006, 51) and 'told people to think of themselves as adults, Augustine kept telling people that they were babies' (Cowburn 2008, 91). It is revealing that in his paternalistic position, Augustine 'favored what were regarded even then as coercive measures to bring people into the true Church' (Cowburn 2008, 91). And fourth, as an African bishop, Augustine 'was active from around 411 to 418 in the campaign against Pelagius and Coelestinus, and in the opinion of virtually all commentators he went too far in the opposite direction, as people involved in such campaigns often do' (Cowburn 2008, 91).

Based on his notion of predestination and the imperfection of human nature, Augustine saw most of the Greek and Roman philosophers -- whose legacies were still lively circulating in his times -- as deluded in their pursuit of happiness in this world by way of personal skills and wisdom. In De dono perseverantiae, Wetzel explains (2006, 52) Augustine argues that 'to think that God redeems according to some scale of human merit' is to succumb to one of the grave errors of Pelagianism. As a consequence, he was particularly critical of what he called the 'effrontery of the Stoics,' which held that suffering can be overcome without the transcendental voyage to the heavenly realm after death. For Augustine, it was outrageous and arrogant of the Stoics to assume that even a person 'enfeebled by a limb and tormented in pain' could lead a happy life on earth. While he was somewhat less critical towards (the heirs) of Aristotle and Epicures, who in his view at least acknowledged suffering for what it really was, he openly condemned their efforts to escape it. For Augustine, it was therefore seriously misguided that all these philosophers have wished to achieve bliss in this world by their own efforts (McMahon 2006, 104).

Out of all the Greek philosophical schools, the Platonists were the only ones close to Augustine, as in his view they alone had understood that 'the transcendent God was the author of the universe, the source of the light of truth, and the bestower of happiness' (Mcmahon 2006, 104). So much was Augustine convinced of the resemblance between (neo)-Platonism and Christianity that he 'was willing to speculate that Plato himself might have

received knowledge of the Old Testament while on a purported trip to Egypt' (McMahon 2006, 104). While there is no clear proof of that, it is certainly clear that Augustine found the (neo)-Platonic concept of the 'journey of the soul as a return to God – a journey back to the One from which we are separated at birth' - as 'a complying model to describe his own struggle to regain a vanished wholeness' lost due to the original sin (McMahon 2006, 105). However, even Platonism that according to Augustine 'had begun to chart the course toward that "spring which offers the drink of felicity,," fell short of the mark of true bliss. Namely, in a similar way to all the antique schools of philosophy, Platonists – to a certain degree at least – maintained that humans have free will and can achieve happiness in this world by their own efforts. Due to his deep conviction in the tragic consequences of the original sin, Augustine could not accept any form of true bliss in this world or that true bliss could be achieved by human efforts. Only God, through his grace, can ultimately bestow salvation upon the chosen ones. For Augustine, beatitude 'consists in the enjoyment of God, a reward granted in the afterlife for virtue in this life. Virtue itself is a gift of God, and founded on love, not on the wisdom prized by philosophers' (Kent 2006, 205).

9.1.1.4 Significance of Augustine for the truth about salvation

As Stump and Kretzman (2006) note, 'It is hard to overestimate the importance of Augustine's work and influence, both in his own period and in the history of Western philosophy after it. Patristic philosophy and theology, and every area of philosophy and theology in the later medieval period, manifest the mark of his thought'. The influence of Augustine's thought has not been any less important for the constitution of what we have termed the Christian subject of sin.

While it is true that 'despite his attacks on philosophers' pretensions that genuine happiness can be attained here and now, Augustine never explicitly reduces the present life to some miserable way station on the train route to heaven' (Kent 2006, 211). Since Augustine, it has become widely accepted that because of the tragic consequences of original sin (which caused imperfection of human nature and mortality), humans cannot experience ultimate bliss/beatitude on earth. In this sense, the human body is seen as an instrument

unfit for attaining true bliss in this world and human desire for the flesh (concupiscence) as something that ultimately damns humanity.

9.1.1.5 Spiritual practitioners/mystics and the issue of free will

Although Augustine was undoubtedly regarded as the central theological authority, not all the aspects of his vision of salvation have simply been accepted in the Christian realm. In particular, Augustine's notion of predestination and his rejection of human agency in the process of salvation have represented the catalyst of many Christian controversies both in his time and after.

Already in his time -- late in his career as a bishop of Hippo -- Augustine 'was discovering that his uncompromising stance on predestination and his insistence on God's preemption of all human initiative for self-betterment were not playing too well in ascetic communities' (Wetzel 2006, 51). While these ascetic communities (mostly located in North Africa and Southern Gaul) were also against Pelagian doctrine, they were not willing to accept Augustine's extreme rejection of human agency in the process of salvation and his notion of predestination, which maintained that only the elected few could be saved.

The most important figure in this movement was John Cassian, a Christian spiritual leader who 'wrote a series of essays which, collected, became the first comprehensive book of asceticism or spirituality, as distinct from theology, in the West' (Cowburn 2008, 93). Having spent many years in the East, where 'Greek Christian writers emphasized free will' and being guided primarily with ascetic and spiritual concerns, Cassian argues that 'God must will all people to be saved, and that whether we are saved or not must depend on choices which we make' (Cowburn 2008, 93). Cassian agreed with Augustine 'that without grace a human being is incapable of leading a good and meritorious life (in this he was anti-Pelagian), but has also acknowledged that 'a human being can make a little motion in that direction (this motion was called the initium fidei); if he makes it, God gives him the grace which is necessary for a full Christian life and he can live such a life and be saved, whereas if of his own free will he does not make it, God does not give him the grace, he leads a bad life and is damned' (Cowburn 2008, 93).

Cowburn (2008) explains that the position on the role of free will and human agency in the process of salvation in the works of Christian writers has often depended on the perspective from which the issue of salvation has been approached. He distinguishes between theologians 'who seek to understand the truths which have been revealed to us' and the practitioners who are 'involved in what is called spirituality, which is about how a Christian should live' (Cowburn 2008, 96). Since 'theologians tended to work out grand speculative visions of God, human beings and the universe,' they

sometimes felt that to see reality truly one should see that there is God and almost nothing else; they were inclined to see us, when included in the same vision as God, as wispy mites, tenuously existing and powerless; they felt that we could not possibly be determining the course of the history of God's creation and that God cannot be waiting to see what we decide to do; and so they affirmed that God is in total control of all that happens (Cowburn 2008, 96).

As a consequence, Cowburn further explains (2008, 96), theologians tended to downplay free will and 'to reduce human responsibility'. Spiritual practitioners, on the other hand, 'generally had and have the person with his or her free will in the centre of their field of vision, and they emphasize him or her' (Cowburn 2008, 96). Moreover, being engaged in a spiritual quest, in addition to the idea that it is possible to improve one's condition by one's own efforts, has to be maintained. It is revealing that Pelagius, Coelestinus and Cassian, who have emphasized the importance of free will, were all spiritual leaders and practitioners, whereas their opponents were mostly theologians.

When Cassian's and similar ideas (sometimes also regarded as semi-Pelagian) reached Augustine, he was already in his 70s. Augustine tried to support and endorse his notion of predestination (which was becoming more radical towards the end of his life) by writing *De Praedestinatione Sanctorum* and *De Dono Perseverantiae* (both 428 AD). Christians like Cassian and his followers were not convinced, and the discussion about this matter, Cowburn writes (2008, 94), 'seems to have gone on intermittently for a century until, in 523, Caesarius of Arles called the second Council of Orange,' which officially 'condemned Cassian's theory'.

Yet, in spite of this formal closure and in spite of the general influence of his writings, the polemic about Augustine's refusal of free will was far from over. Even after the Council of Orange, many Christians found his balancing act between 'free will and grace, human agency and the dynamic power of God ... dangerously close to a tragic fatalism with respect to our position in the world' (McMahon 2006, 110). While after Augustine it was indisputable that human salvation and perfection were not achievable by human efforts alone (as argued by ancient philosophers and Pelagians), many people in the Christian realm were also not willing to completely give up the idea that humans can – to a certain extent at least – contribute to their salvation with their own efforts.

Before we continue, we wish to emphasize that our focus on the tension between the tragic consequences of original sin and the human capacity of free will is relevant for our discussion because it enables us to explain why the ideal of the Christian existence is not achievable already in this life and why it isn't (entirely) achievable with human efforts. As a consequence, this theme will eventually also help us to reveal the main aspect that later had to be refused if the ideal of human existence was to be positioned in the present life. In the following, we shall also pursue the tension between original sin and free will because it has directly or indirectly fueled the majority of central theological polemics in the Christian realm culminating in the Reformation movement. Last but not least, the topic is important because the trend of gradual reinforcement of free will, which shall be the topic of the next section, will --as we shall see -- represents one of the currents in the history of Western thought that ultimately contributes to the birth of happiness.

9.1.2 The trend of gradual reinforcement of free will

9.1.2.1 The return of free will in the 9th century

The polemic around the issue of free will in the process of salvation intensified in the 9th century when a monk by the name of Gottschalk of Orbais undertook a further radicalization of Augustine's notion of predestination, producing the doctrine of double predestination³⁷ [*Praedestinatio gemina*]. According to this

_

³⁷ Whether already Augustine himself articulated the doctrine of double predestination or it was only attributed to him later remains a contested question.

doctrine, God has predestined both the chosen for eternal bliss in heaven and the damned to eternal burning in hell. In Gottschalk's view, not everybody can be saved because Christ 'died only for those who have been predestined to heaven' (Gottschalk in Cowburn 2008, 95). Such extreme appropriation of the late Augustine was disputed in multiple domains in the Christian realm, many of them directly or indirectly associated with the court of Charles the Bald, grandson of Charlemagne and king of the newly consolidated empire of the West Franks. Continuing the progressive stance towards knowledge and arts initiated by his father and grandfather, Charles the Bold 'converted his court into an asylum for scholars, which emerged in the ninth century as the seat of the revival of letters, the seat of what is now called the Carolingian Renaissance' (McMahon 2006, 108).

In regard to Gottschalk's doctrine of double predestination, a letter was sent to Hincmar, the archbishop of Reims and a leading figure at Charles's court, reporting that 'new superstitions and a damaging doctrine on predestination' had emerged. Referring to the authority of Augustine, certain theologians, the letter claimed, argued that 'God's predestination applies both to good and bad' (Eriugena in McMahon 2006, 111). In order to counter the doctrine of double predestination, Charles the Bald had engaged a well-learned monk named Eriugena (also known as John the Scot). Eriugena had come to France from Ireland, where scriptures and knowledge destroyed in mainland Europe by the invading Vandals, Huns, Saxons and Goths were largely left intact. Eriugena was warmly welcomed in Charles's court because of his profound knowledge (he even spoke Greek, which was quite rare at the time). In 850 or 851 he has produced a text with a revealing title On Predestination (De praedestinatione) that was a forceful defense of free will and human agency in the process of salvation. The cardinal aim of this text was 'to deny that the authority of Augustine could be used in defense of the doctrine of double predestination' (McMahon 2006, 111). 'And so with all the orthodox faiths, Eriugena exclaims (in Mcmahon 111), 'I anathematize those who say that there are two predestinations or a twin predestination or one divided into two parts or a double'. According to Eriugena, just as God had 'predestined no one to evil,

since it is good, so has it predestined no one to death, since it is life' (Eriugena in Mcmahon 111).

In his vigorous charge on double predestination significantly inspired by Pseudo-Dionysius the Areopagite, the 6th-century mystic, Eriugena dangerously approached the Pelagian heresy of the old. In spite of the fact that on account of his flirting with Pelagianism a number of his 'other writings were later condemned,' McMahon explains (2006, 112), Eriugena's general momentum was nevertheless 'consistent with the broader thrust of Catholic doctrine and practice as it was developing in the ninth century, and as it would continue to evolve for the next several hundred years'. Indeed, Gottschalk, unsuccessful in defending his doctrine,, was eventually excommunicated and several church councils (also with the help of Eriugena's writings) had officially condemned his teachings. The Council of Quiercy-sur-Oise (853 AD) concluded that 'God wills all without exception to be saved' and that 'while God predestines those who are saved, he does not predestine others to damnation' (Cowburn 2008, 95). In addition, the Council of Valence held in 855 AD 'denied that any people are predestined to evil' (Cowburn 2008, 95). Ever since than, the Church firmly endorsed the belief that in spite of the original sin humans indeed posses a certain possibility of free will. When in 1053 for example Pope Leo IX wrote a creed he included this statement: 'I believe and profess that God's grace anticipates and follows man, but in professing this I do not deny that rational creatures have free will' (in Cowburn 2008, 95).

9.1.2.2 Aquinas and further reinforcement of human agency in the process of salvation

A further reinforcement of the arguments in favor of human agency and free will in the process of salvation on the axis of truth can be observed in the 12th and 13th centuries with 'a second wave of translations' (Lohr 2008, 82) of Aristotle, which resulted in the major introduction of this ancient philosopher to European Christian thought. While Aristotle was certainly not unknown to medieval theologians, the bulk of his major works was beginning to flow back to Europe from the empires of Byzantium and Islam only in the 12th and 13th centuries. The increasing interest in Aristotle was closely connected with a new method of learning called scholasticism, which was no longer confined to

remote monasteries, but was carried out in rapidly developing medieval towns. The new mode of learning was associated with another type of teacher who – although often still belonging to the clerical class -- now resided and worked at growing medieval universities: 'Like the man of trade who established themselves in the towns, like the carpenters and masons who organized themselves in guilds, this new master had the consciousness of belonging to a profession. His trade was learning and teaching, personal reflection and its diffusion in the classroom' (Lohr 2008, 82).

Encountering a coherent philosophical system that did not include the notion of God as conceived by Christian theology undoubtedly posed a great challenge to this new breed of thinkers. Within the repressive regime of truth dominated by the Catholic Church, there were only two options: 'Aristotle must either be converted or disapproved' (McMahon 2006, 126). The central figure in this important transformation on the axis of truth was Thomas Aquinas, who, like many theologians at that time, was prepared to assume the risk 'of converting Aristotle to Christ' (McMahon 2006, 126). While Aquinas certainly was not the first theologian interested in Aristotle's philosophy, Wieland argues (2008, 678), he was the one to complete 'the reception and adaptation' of Aristotle into the Christian theological universe.

9.1.2.3 Aquinas's adaptation of Aristotle

In Aristotle's philosophy, McMahon explains (2006, 129), 'all things have a purpose – a final end or telos that they are intended to fulfill in accordance with their natures'. And 'it is the virtue of each – the unique form of excellence distinct to every aspect of creation – to reach its highest stage of development, and perfectly to realize itself' (McMahon 2006, 129). According to Aristotle, the main virtue for humans is to perfect and realize themselves in what sets them apart from everything else: the ability to reason (*Nous*). The telos for which humans are intended, then, 'is to cultivate reason to its ultimate perfection, a process that will culminate in the final end – the end without end – happiness' [eudemonia] (McMahon 2006, 129).

According to Wieland (2008, 674), medieval thinkers like Aquinas 'had no difficulty in accepting the Aristotelian analysis of human action and its results'. Inspired by Aristotle, Aquinas similarly 'thinks of people as creatures with

intellect and will, who are drawn to goals which attract them' (Davies 1992, 227). 'Because in all things whatsoever, there is an appetite for completion,' Aquinas argues (2006, 1a2ae. 1. 5.); 'the final end to which each moves marks its own perfect and fulfilling good.' Furthermore, medieval thinkers like Aquinas also had 'no difficulty' in assuming Aristotle's notion 'that the ultimate goal of action is happiness' (Wieland 2008, 674), provided of course that happiness (or beatitude/felicity as they called it at the time) would be associated with the Christian God. The main problem with Aristotle was, however, 'whether human action suffices to attain this ultimate goal; whether the highest human perfection is to be understood as a gift of God or as an achievement of man' (Wieland 2008, 674).

Given that this problem was extremely close to the Pelagian heresy, Aquinas 'does not simply reproduce the Aristotelian concept; he is a theologian, guided by theological interests, and he fully accepts the Christian tradition' (Wieland 2008, 678). That is, up to the 13th century, the medieval theology of salvation was still largely dominated by the works of Augustine (apart from his extreme refusal of free will) and Boethius, who both regarded 'the perfecting of man in this life as impossible' (Wieland 2008, 673). According to Wieland (2008, 673), 'the medieval discussion of happiness³⁸' was hence governed by two basic thoughts: that 'there is no happiness in this world because all men, so long as they are mortal, are also necessarily wretched', and that 'true happiness is to be found only in the enjoyment of the contemplation of God (*frui Deo*) in the world to come'.

Aquinas, hence, fully accepts the canonical (Augustinian) notion that true beatitude is not achievable by human efforts and unattainable in this life. 'Since happiness means the complete satisfaction of human aspirations, and since human aspiration is infinite because of human spirituality, Aquinas believes, 'only an infinite object, namely God, can perfectly satisfy man' (Wieland 2008, 678): 'The object of the will, that is the human appetite, is the Good without reserve, just as the object of the mind is the True without reserve. Clearly, then,

_

³⁸ Wieland (1982) uses the term happiness even though at that time the word hadn't yet materialized in the history of European thought.

nothing can satisfy our will except such goodness, which is found, not in anything created, but in God alone' (Aquinas 2006, 1a2ae. 2. 8.).

So what, then, according to Aquinas, is the precise activity in which perfect beatitude consists? In regard to this question, Wieland argues (2008, 678), Aquinas's 'answer goes against the tradition'. Let us recall Augustine according whom ultimate bliss is 'founded on love, not on the wisdom prized by philosophers' (Kent 2006, 205). On the contrary, for Aquinas, ultimate beatitude 'can consist only in cognitive mental activity' (Wieland 2008, 678). In Aquinas's (2006, 1a. 12. 1.) words: 'The ultimate happiness of people lies in their highest activity, which is the exercise of their minds. If, therefore, the created mind were never able to see the essence of God, it would either never attain happiness or its happiness would consist in something other than God'. In this sense, Wieland further explains (2008, 678), 'It is knowledge which constitutes happiness and the possession of God, knowledge accompanied in the will by the pleasure which arises from this possession'. Here, it is important to emphasize that for Aquinas,

'The cognitive activity which constitutes happiness is not an exercise of practical reason concerned with human emotions and actions; this would be the case only if man were his own ultimate goal. Since the ultimate goal of infinite human aspiration is God, happiness must consist in an activity of theoretical reason' (Wieland 2008, 678).

Up to this point, Aquinas quite closely follows Aristotle, except that he connects the concept of happiness with the Christian God (absent in Aristotle) and, thus, maintains the strict concept of perfection familiar from theology. 'Final and perfect happiness,' Aquinas argues (2006, 1a2ae. 3. 3.), 'can consist in nothing else than the vision of the divine essence'. That is, Wieland explains (2008, 679), 'An activity of theoretical reason – without interruption, without end, and unaccompanied by other activities. In other words, perfect human happiness is a single, continuous, eternal activity'. Obviously, such an activity is – as the title of one of the chapters in Summa contra Gentiles suggests – not possible 'in this life':

It is impossible that any created mind should see the essence of God by its own natural powers . . . Only to the divine intellect is it connatural to know subsistent existence itself. This is beyond the scope of any created understanding, for no creature is its existence, it has a share in existence. Hence no created mind can see the essence of God unless he by grace joins himself to that mind as something intelligible to it (Aquinas 2006, 1a. 12. 5.).

9.1.2.4 Double Beatitude

Given such a strict vision of true beatitude that is not achievable by human efforts and unattainable in this life, Aquinas was faced with a dilemma as to how to look on the present life: one could either regard earthly life as a condition more prone to misery and suffering far from true bliss (like in Augustine's theology of sin), or one could 'emphasize those elements of the present life which bear a certain relationship to perfect happiness' (Wieland 2008, 679). Being inspired by Aristotle's philosophy of virtue, Aquinas, of course, opted for the second alternative. He had to be extremely careful, though, as this would still bring him extremely close to the Pelagian heresy.

By first successfully adopting Aristotle's philosophy to support the established tradition that ultimate bliss corresponds to the union with God only achievable in the afterlife, Aquinas was able to perform a brilliant theological twist with which he could avoid the charge of Pelagianism. Namely, Aquinas suggests that 'Aristotle was not wrong to consider reflection the highest form of earthly happiness. His understanding was simply incomplete, for he had not yet been exposed to divine revelation' (McMahon 2006, 130). After the coming of Christ, Aquinas argued, humanity now has the possibility of double felicity [duplex felicitas]:

The ultimate perfection of rational or intellectual beings is twofold. In the first place, the perfection they can reach through natural capacities, for this can be called bliss (beatitudo) or happiness (felicitas) in a sense: thus Aristotle identified our ultimate joy with his highest contemplative activity, that is to say with such knowledge as is possible to the human mind, in this life . . . But beyond this happiness there is yet another, to

which we look forward in the future, the joy of seeing God "as he is" (Aquinas 2006, 1a. 62. 1.).

In other words, according to Aquinas, beatitude is achievable in this world by human effort, but only to a certain extent, only as imperfect beatitude. In order to employ Aristotle's philosophy of virtuous life without going directly against the established tradition, Aquinas, thus, had to introduce a notion of double beatitude (not found in Aristotle).

9.1.2.5 Influence of Aquinas's theology on the experience of sin

As we have seen above, for Augustine earthly life permeated with suffering stands in quite a clear opposite binary relation with the perfect bliss in heaven: we either can serve the flesh, or be led by the spirit to overcome our carnal desires. There is no middle way. With his notion of double beatitude,³⁹ Aquinas, on the other hand, introduces a more progressive vision of salvation. As far as human (imperfect) natural capacities allow, Christians can strive for a certain level of beatitude in this world. Though not perfect, attempts towards worldly beatitude can also bring humans closer to perfect beatitude in heaven.

In relation to such a gradualist perspective on salvation, the metaphor of a ladder had started being employed in the Christian imaginary of the 13th century. Although a revered symbol already in pagan and Jewish thought, the ladder in the 13th century, McMahon observes (2006, 124), was 'being used in new ways and with considerably greater frequency'. The ladder in paintings or in written works of the time commonly represented 'an inspiration and a tool for those who would raise themselves' to heaven (McMahon 2006, 124); that is, in 'a steady process of ascent in which we raise ourselves ever closer to God' (McMahon 2006, 131).

By arguing that humans pose certain 'natural capacities' that enable them to improve their earthly existence, Aquinas has further mitigated the tragic effects of the Fall already eroded in the time of the Carolingian Renaissance. Thus, Aquinas not only took the possibility of human agency in the process of

imperfect happiness'.

_

³⁹ As Wieland (1983, 679) explains, 'the theological distinction between perfect and imperfect happiness goes back to William of Auxerre, but it was Thomas who was the first to make it fruitful by treating the concept of happiness in the Nicomachean Ethics as a paradigm of

salvation another step further, but also reaffirmed the value of the present human life. However, this does not mean that, according to Aquinas, imperfect beatitude on earth means an affirmation of the earthly realm and its sensual temptations. Rather, imperfect beatitude corresponds to the possibility of achieving a certain level of heavenly purity and virtue already in earthly life, which can gradually bring us closer to heaven. Aquinas's vision of imperfect happiness, thus, indeed 'had the effect of narrowing the conceptual distance between man and God', but only in the sense of 'rendering human life potentially more heavenly' (McMahon 2006, 132). The present human life and the earthly realm were still far from gaining independent value.

There were some progressive thinkers who tried to go further down the Aristotelian path even in Aquinas's time. The historical a priori, however, was not yet ready for a vision of improvement of the human state in the present life as radical as that. The thirteenth-century 'fashion for Aristotelian philosophy,' McMahon explains (2006, 132), 'spread with such intensity in certain quarters that the church grew alarmed, fearing (and not without reason) a revival of the Pelagian heresy of old'. Indeed, in 1277, Stephen Tempier, the bishop of Paris, condemned 219 thesis proposed by the most enthusiastic Aristotelians, of with including some them explicitly concerned happiness (beatitude/felicity). For example, the list included propositions like 'God cannot infuse happiness directly' and 'happiness is to be had in this life and not in another' (Wieland 2008, 663).

Even though Aquinas's adaptation of Aristotle supplemented with the notion of double felicity was less radical than Pelagianism, he nevertheless came extremely close to it. In addition, we should remember that Augustine -- at the time undisputedly the main Christian authority -- had vigorously criticized Aristotle precisely on account of his notion of the possibility of (earthly) wellbeing achievable by human efforts.

With his Aristotelian-inspired theology, Aquinas was, therefore, walking on the thin ice of heresy and indeed came very close to anathema. According to Davies (1993, vii), 'A commission of Masters of Theology, with only two exceptions, agreed to condemn a series of propositions derived from his writings. The scene was set for a formal censure, though none, in fact,

occurred'. However, things eventually turned out well for Aquinas. While he could have shared the destiny of many other theologians who had undertaken a similar task and been censured and condemned, he was more fortunate. As it turned out, in 1323, less than half a century after his death, he was canonized and 'subsequently came to be ranked among the greatest of Christian writers. His influence on Christian thinking is second only to writers like St. Paul and St. Augustine' (Davies 1993, vii). As a consequence, his influence on the gradual transformation of the axis of truth, on which the experience of sin was constituted, was also considerable: 'In more than just abstract ways, then, Aquinas, and the wider current of which he formed a part, served to rehabilitate the standing of life in this world, as well as to consolidate, on firm theological ground, the role of human effort in contributing to our accent up the ladder of being' (McMahon 2006, 132).

Next, we shall turn to the examination of the Christian experience of sin as constituted on the axis of the relationship to the self.

9.2 The developing Christian relationship to the self

9.2.1 The earning of salvation

We have seen that the Augustinian rejection of human agency in the process of salvation was never completely accepted in the Christian realm and that even before the official affirmation of free will in the 9th century, dedicated spiritual practitioners (like Cassian and his followers) had never given up the idea that one can -- to a certain extent at least -- actively work towards one's salvation. In addition, there has always been a need among the ordinary folk to feel reassured that they (or at least somebody in their stead) can do something to improve their condition both here and in the afterlife. After all, the promise of salvation

was a powerful force, giving men and women the strength to carry on. At the same time, it armed them with an explanation for their pain. In the medieval Christian conception, unhappiness was not an aberration, an individual failing or fault, but the natural condition of every human being since the Fall. Continually renewed in Sunday sermons and the extraordinary number of holidays that ordered Christian time – from the joyous celebrations of Christ's birth and resurrection (merry Christmas and happy Easter) to the countless festivities in honor of the saints – the happiness of hope provided men and woman with the means to endure (McMahon 2006, 138).

Needing to have a more instrumental stance towards life 'as they sought to cope with the difficulties⁴⁰ of life' (Greyertz 2008, 30), ordinary folk also perceived spiritual matters in a more instrumental way. As a consequence, there was a common belief among ordinary Christians 'that heaven can be earned by the performance of good works,' (Marshall 2009, 43) and that people 'who led decent, honest lives could count on being saved' (Thomas 2009, 233). It is revealing that such 'vulgar religion or country divinity' eventually started to be called 'Rustic Pelagianism' (Thomas 2009, 233). It is also worth noting that because of a more instrumentalist attitude towards religious and spiritual matters, many ordinary people wanting to influence their destiny frequently also resorted to various magical practices with elements of paganism and witchcraft (see Greyertz 2008)⁴¹.

As it moved away from Augustine's refusal of free will, the polemic about human agency in the process of salvation eventually resulted in the widely accepted medieval belief in the infinite treasury of merits, which was dogmatically set forth in the bull "Unigenitus", published by Clement VI, 27 Jan., 1343, and later inserted into the "Corpus Juris" (Kent, 1910). The infinite treasury of merits corresponds to

⁴⁰ Indeed, these difficulties of life were plentiful in the Middle Ages. Due to diseases, famine and wars, the general quality of life was extremely low and the mortality rates very high.

⁴¹ While the so-called rustic Pelagianism and the use of magical practices among ordinary folk was quite common from the beginnings of Christianity, it became particularly evident during the Reformation, which returned to Augustine and strictly denied Pelagianism and the efficacy of good works. One can clearly observe this in sermons and the works of Protestant preachers in which they frequently criticized inherent Pelagianism in the common understanding of salvation in their flock (see, for example, William Perkins in Thomas 2009, 233).

the idea that the Cross of Christ had generated an infinite amount of merit, of which only a little was needed to atone for people's original sin. An infinity of merit still remained, to which was added the great merits of the Blessed Virgin Mary and the other saints. The contents of this store of grace could be dispensed to the faithful, though only for good cause, through the pope's power of the keys (Matthew 16:19), which was delegated to individual priests (Bagchi 2000, 104).

Insofar as 'at baptism the merits of the Cross dealt with original sin and with any actual sins committed up to the time of baptism,' Bagchi explains (2000, 104), 'post-baptismal sins had to be dealt with primarily by one's own acts of penance'. Such vision of salvation was even further reinforced by the Thomist perspective in which God's grace was perceived 'as a sort of highly rarefied substance which could be stored away in the treasury of merits, added to or subtracted from, applied to people or withheld from them' (Bagchi 2000, 105). The most important consequence of such understanding of grace was that God could not give it freely. More specifically, 'although the entire system of divine grace and human cooperation was itself the result of God's gratuitous love, within that system no grace could be dispensed from the treasury without some good cause, some earnest (however small and inadequate) of our intentions in the form of an act of love on our part' (Bagchi 2000, 105).

It is crucial to note that the dispensation of grace was usually tightly connected with the mediation of the clergy, that is 'through the pope's power of the keys (Matthew 16:19), which was delegated to individual priests' (Bagchi 2000, 104). In turn, this implied a hierarchy of the sacred, where some people or groups of people (the clergy) were considered more sacred than others (or higher up on the ladder of being), which enabled them to perform such mediation.

In the section analyzing the axis of power of the Christian experience of sin, we shall see how the hierarchy of the sacred, the idea of earning of merit and the partial affirmation of free will are connected to relations of power and used for social control and disciplining of Christian subjects. However, let us now first look at the axis of ethics and examine the Christian relationship to the self.

9.2.2 Medieval Christian relationship to the selfconstituting experience of sin

So far, our analysis of experience of sin has focused on the axis of truth and the workings of power connected with it. That is, we have examined how, through the workings of power, certain knowledge about salvation became established as the official Christian doctrine; i.e. the truth about sin and salvation. However, in order to understand more thoroughly what the "earning of salvation" through individual acts of penance meant for the experience of sin, let us now turn to the axis of ethics and examine the Christian relationship to the self and the relations of power connected with it. More specifically, in the following section, we shall first analyze how the theological doctrines connect to everyday practices and the relationship individuals established with themselves, and then in the next chapter we will examine how both were connected to the relations of power manifested as disciplinary practices and mechanisms of individual and social control (of behavior).

According to Foucault (2000), the first aspect of ethics -- the *telos* -- tells us to which kind of being we aspire when we behave in a moral way. While Augustine's views on human agency in the process of salvation were never completely accepted, medieval theology didn't have much difficulty in accepting his idea that concupiscence [*concupiscentia*] (desire to seek fulfillment apart from spirit) is something that damns humanity. In *Beata Vita*, Augustine (2007, 54) explains that true happiness does not lie in the quest for material possessions, which are transitory, but in the possession of God that is eternal. According to Augustine (2007, 54), he who possesses God is only 'whoever has a spirit free from uncleanness' and 'he who lives an upright life'. For the medieval Christian subject of sin, *telos* was, therefore, aimed at achieving purity of desire and of thought, which would lead individuals to salvation and celestial bliss in heaven.

The mode of subjectivation that represents the way in which people are invited or incited to recognize their moral obligations is 'the divine law, that has been revealed in the text' – the Holy Bible (Foucault 2000a, 264). Or, as Augustine (2007, 54) put it: he who possesses God is 'he who does what God wills to be

done'. In this sense, the rules of behavior that lead to salvation are 'justified through religion' and insofar as the church acted as a mediator between God in heaven and the people on Earth, these rules were de facto imposed by 'religious institutions' (Foucault 2000a, 266).

The ethical substance, which corresponds to the part of individuals' behavior that is concerned with moral conduct, is desire and concupiscence for the pleasures of the flesh (i.e. bodily pleasures). To be blessed, Augustine argues (2007, 59),

means nothing else than not to be in want, that is to be wise. If now you ask what wisdom is — our reason has also explained and developed this as far as was at present possible — the answer is that wisdom is nothing but the measure of the soul, that is, that through which the soul keeps its equilibrium so that it neither runs over into too much nor remains short of its fullness. It runs over into luxuries, despotism, pride, and other things of this kind, through which the souls of immoderate and miserable men believe they get joy and might. But it is narrowed down by meanness, fear, grief, passion, and many other things through which miserable men make acknowledgement of their misery.

The 'Christian "formula,," then, 'puts an accent on desire and tries to eradicate it,' and insofar as it refuses the possibility of true bliss and salvation on earth, experience and acts 'have to become something neutral' or even painful (Foucault 2000a, 269). In this sense, Foucault explains (2000a, 269), 'pleasure is both practically and theoretically excluded' and desire is practically excluded – you have to eradicate your desire -- but theoretically very important'. Doctrinally based on the ideas of original sin and the seven deadly sins, 'Christians were thought from the pulpit and through omnipresent images of the *danse macabre*⁴² and the *memento mori*⁴³ that this life was a vale of tears, in which there was much to be endured and little to be enjoyed. Mortification of the flesh was thus in order' (Porter 1996, 2). Only by renouncement of the self and the body through the anathematization of the sensual pleasures could the

⁴² Latin for the dance of death, a medieval depiction of the universality of death and suffering regardless of sex, age or social station.

⁴³ Latin for 'remember your mortality'.

spirit be released. This does not mean, however, that the medieval period was entirely permeated with suffering. In spite of the harsh material conditions, there were occasional individual or collective transgressions and releases of pleasure.

9.2.2.1 The early Christian practices of the self

The Christian practices of the self were aimed (*telos*) at attaining purity for which it was believed that it would bring salvation in the afterlife. In this sense, Foucault argues (2000a, 242), 'Christianity belongs to salvation religions. It is one of those religions which is supposed to lead the individual from one reality to another, from death to life, from time to eternity'. The main consequence of the Christian problematization of salvation is that the ideal of human existence (eternal heavenly bliss) is only achievable in the afterlife. This does not mean, of course, that death is a one-way ticket to salvation. A price had to be paid to pass through the door of heaven. To that end, Christianity 'imposed a set of conditions and rules of behavior for a certain transformation of the self' (Foucault 2000a, 242).

Christianity, however, is not only a salvation religion, but also a 'confessional religion,' meaning that 'it imposes very strict obligations of truth, dogma, and canon' (Foucault 2000a, 242). The duty of every Christian is to accept a set of commandments and obligations and to accept certain scriptures and books as dogma (universal and permanent truth). Every Christian not only has to believe in these things, but also unquestionably accept institutional church authority. Furthermore, Foucault emphasizes (2000a, 242), 'Christianity requires another form of obligation different from faith,' which is that

Each person has the duty to know who he is, that is, to try to know what is happening inside him, to acknowledge faults, to recognize temptations, to locate desires; and everyone is obliged to disclose these things either to God or to others in the community and, hence, to bear public or private witness against oneself. The truth obligations of faith and the self are linked together. This link permits a purification of the soul impossible without self-knowledge (Foucault 2000a, 242).

The Christian self that was infected with (the original) sin, therefore, 'had to be constantly examined because in this self were lodged concupiscence and desire of the flesh' (Foucault 2000a, 274). The early Christians invented two main approaches used for discovering and deciphering truth about themselves: penitential rites and confessions in monastic institutions, which represented basic models for all other forms of penance that have evolved later.

9.2.2.2 Penance: The publication of one's sins

Penance as described by the early Christian religious authorities like Jerome, Tertullian and Cyprian, Foucault notes (1999, 171), was 'not an act corresponding to a sin; it is a status, a general status in the existence'. Its main function was to 'avoid the definitive expulsion from the church of a Christian who has committed one or several serious sins' (Foucault 1999, 171), which would ultimately diminish his possibilities for salvation in heaven. The status of a penitent, which often lasted for a few years, affected most aspects of an individual's life from eating, fasting to clothing and rules about sexual relations. Even though, as penitent, the individual was 'excluded from many of the ceremonies and collective rites,' he 'does not cease to be a Christian, and by means of this status he was given the possibility to "obtain his reintegration," (Foucault 1999, 171). Among the characteristics of this status, Foucault explains (1999, 171), 'the obligation to manifest the truth is fundamental'. In order to designate the truth obligations inherent to penitents, the Greek Christian fathers used the word exomologesis, which was later many times without translation -- often also adopted by the Latin writers. While in a general sense the word 'refers to the recognition of an act,' in the context of the penitential rite it corresponded to an episode that accompanied the event of the reintegration of the sinner to the flock, which usually included wretched clothing and acts like prostrations and kissing of the feet of priests while being led into the church.

Relating to the penitential practices, *exomologesis* was also used in a broader sense to designate all the experiences of the penitential status in the sense of 'the aggregate of manifested penitential behavior, of self-punishment as well as of self-revelation,' (Foucault 2000a, 244). Here, it is important to note that the acts by which a penitent punishes himself 'are indistinguishable from the acts

by which he reveals himself: self-punishment and the voluntary expression of oneself are bound together'. Moreover, such disclosing of oneself 'must be visibly represented and accompanied by others who recognize the ritual' (Foucault 2000a, 244). In this sense, penance is 'not nominal but theatrical,' and it 'is a way of life acted out at all times out of an obligation to show oneself' (Foucault 2000a, 244).

The Christian disclosing of oneself becomes even clearer when we consider Tertullian's translation of the word *exomologesis*. He used the Latin expression publicatio sui: the Christian had to publish himself. According to Foucault (1999, 173), publishing himself demands that one has to 'show oneself as a sinner; that means, as somebody who, choosing the path of sin, preferred filthiness to purity, earth and dust to heaven, spiritual poverty to the treasures of faith'. In short, the sinner had to reveal himself as somebody who favored spiritual death to earthen life, as this was the first step back to the right path of salvation. Insofar as due to the original sin salvation was not possible in this world, the next step of the sinner in the process of exomologesis was 'to express his will to get free from this world, to get rid of his own body, to destroy his own flesh and get access to a new spiritual life' (Foucault 1999, 173). Exomologesis can, therefore, be seen as a theatrical manifestation of the renunciation of oneself. The sinner showed that he was willing his own death as a sinner. The functions of such Christian publication of the self were twofold. On the one hand, this publication was 'a way to rub out sin and to restore the purity acquired by baptism' and, on the other, it was to 'show a sinner as he is' (Foucault 2000a, 244). According to Foucault (2000a, 244), this is the paradox at the heart of exomologesis: 'it rubs out the sin and yet it reveals the sinner. The greater part of the act of penitence was not in telling the truth of sin, but in showing the true sinful being of the sinner: it was not a way for the sinner to explain his sins, but a way to present himself as a sinner'.

Insofar as the main feature of penitential practices was to prove and display suffering and shame, the most important model used by the Christian fathers to explain *exomologesis* was the model of martyrdom. As the bishop of Hippo, Augustine (1994, 81) did not hesitate to remind his flock of the importance of martyrdom and suffering as the surest path to heaven:

Today we are celebrating the feast of two holy martyrs, who were not only outstanding for their surpassing courage when they suffered, but who also, in return for such great labor of piety, signified by their own names the reward awaiting them and the rest of their companions. Perpetua, of course, and Felicity are the names of two of them, but the reward of them all. The only reason, I mean, why all the martyrs toiled bravely for a time by suffering and confessing the faith in the struggle, was in order to enjoy perpetual felicity.

During the times when Christianity was still being persecuted by the Roman Empire, Perpetua and Felicity, like so many other early Christians, followed Christ's passion and preferred to die rather than to compromise or abandon their faith. 'Since the death of Jesus in approximately 30 CE,' McMahon observes (2006, 75), 'the extraordinary rise of the new faith bearing his name had drawn suspicion throughout the empire, precipitating a number of persecutory campaigns' that swept from Lyon, Rome, Asia Minor and North Africa and culminated in the Great Persecution of the emperor Diocletian in 303. After the edict of Milan that institutionalized Christianity as the official religion of the Empire, the model of martyrdom eventually transformed from a tragic reality into a ritual that became a part of penitential practice. Insofar as the sinner -- contrary to a martyr -- abandons his faith in order to keep and enjoy the life here below, 'he will be reinstated only if, in his turn, he exposes himself voluntarily to a sort of martyrdom to which all will be witness, and which is a penance, or penance as exomologesis' (Foucault 1999, 173). In this sense, Foucault explains (1999, 173), 'Such a demonstration does not, therefore, have as its function the establishment of the personal identity. Rather, such a demonstration serves to mark this dramatic demonstration of what one is: the refusal of the self, the breaking off from one's self'.

9.2.2.3 (Monastic) confessional practices

The second major kind of practices used by the early Christians for discovering and deciphering truth about themselves were confessional practices first developed in monastic institutions, which were 'under the influence of two fundamental elements of Christian spirituality: the principle of obedience and the principle of contemplation' (Foucault 1999, 174). Obedience in monastic

institutions was a permanent relationship that concerned all the aspects of life from food to clothing. The principle of obedience, Foucault explains (1999, 174), is best summarized in the famous adage -- quite common in the monastic literature – here: "everything that one does not do on order of one's director, or everything that one does without his permission, constitutes a theft'.

The monks were -- even more so than the ordinary people -- concerned with achieving purity that comes from contemplation of God. As a consequence, the 'obligation of the monk is continuously to turn his thoughts to that single point which is God. And his obligation is also to make sure that his heart, his soul and the eye of his soul is pure enough to see God and to receive light from him' (Foucault 1999, 175). The monastic confessional practices were, therefore, an amalgam of monastic obedience and the objective of the contemplation of God.

The main characteristic of confessional practices was that they were more concerned with thoughts than with actions. Insofar as the monk had to continuously turn his thoughts to God, he didn't have to be careful so much about the course of his actions as to the course of his thoughts. He had 'to examine a material which the Greek fathers called (almost always pejoratively) the logismoi (in Latin, cogitations), the nearly imperceptible movements of thoughts, the permanent mobility of soul' (Foucault 1999, 175). Thoughts had to be constantly controlled and examined to see if they were pure, 'whether something dangerous was not hiding in or behind them, if they were not conveying something other than what primarily appeared, if they were not a form of illusion or seduction' (Foucault 2000a, 183). For example, a monk got the idea that fasting is a good thing. The idea certainly was considered as true and the act of fasting itself was not questioned, but what if this idea has been suggested not by God, but by Satan in order to put the monk in competition with other monks? That is, when examining oneself, a monk was not concerned 'with the relation between the idea and the reality'; he was not concerned 'with this truth relation, which makes an idea wrong or true'; nor he was 'interested in the relationship between his mind and the external world'. What he was primarily concerned with, Foucault explains (1999, 175), was 'the nature, the quality, the substance of his thoughts':

For Christians, the possibility that Satan can get inside your soul and give you thoughts you cannot recognize as satanic, but might interpret as coming from God, leads to uncertainty about what is going on inside your soul. You are unable to know what the real root of desire is, at least without hermeneutic work (Foucault 2000a, 270).

So how did the monks perform this hermeneutic work, this continuous self-examination of one's thoughts? We can find the answer to that question in John Cassian's Institutiones and Collationes, in which he gives a first-hand systematic description of self-examination and confession as they were practiced by early Christian Palestinian and Egyptian monks. According to Cassian, one can decipher one's thoughts by telling them to the master or to the spiritual father, who, 'thanks to his greater experience, to his greater wisdom can better understand what is happening' in one's soul and can therefore 'give better advice' (Foucault 1999, 177; 2000a, 248). However, 'even if the master, in his role as a discriminating power, does not say anything, the fact that the thought has been expressed will have an effect of discrimination' (Foucault 2000a, 248).

In order to illustrate this, Cassian gave an example of a young monk named Serapion who, incapable of enduring the obligatory fast, every day stole a loaf of bread. One day, his spiritual director, who was suspicious of the monk's transgression, gave a public sermon about the necessity of being truthful. Influenced by this sermon, the young monk reveals the bread he had kept under his robe. Then, Foucault explains (1999, 178), 'he prostrates himself and confesses the secret of his daily meal, and then, not at the moment when he showed the bread he has stolen, but at the very moment he confesses, verbally confesses the secret of his daily meal. At this very moment of confession, a light seems to tear itself away from his body and cross the room, in spreading a disgusting smell of sulphur'.

So it is not the teacher's realization of the truth of his pupil's sin, nor the act of revealing the stolen bread by the young monk that is crucial. What is crucial is the act of verbal confession, which represents the proof, the manifestation of truth. Yet, the practice of permanent verbal deciphering understood as the price that had to be paid in order to access the truth is only an ideal that is never

completely possible because there is always the danger of the devil lurking deeper in one's soul. As a consequence, 'The price of the permanent verbal was to make everything that could not be expressed into a sin' (Foucault 2000a, 248). This permanent examination of oneself with respect to the relation between the hidden thought and an inner impurity that involved the deciphering of inner thoughts and sacrificial verbalization was designated by the Greek fathers as *exagoreusis*.

Hence, in the Christian practice of *exagoreusis* 'the problem is to discover what is hidden inside the self; the self is like a text or like a book that we have to decipher' (Foucault 1999, 168). Within such 'hermeneutics of the self' the 'revelation of the truth about oneselves cannot be dissociated from the obligation to renounce oneselves' (Foucault 1999, 179).

9.2.2.4 The development of penitential practices

With the practices of *exomologesis* and *exagoreusis*, Christianity has introduced two important technologies/practices of the self into the history of the subject in the West. On the one hand, we have the 'truth-technology of the self-orientated towards the manifestation of the sinner, the manifestation of the being' -- what Foucault (1999, 180) also calls 'the ontological temptation of Christianity' (*exomologesis*). On the other, we have a truth-technology 'orientated towards the discursive and permanent analysis of the thought,' in which Foucault sees the 'epistemological temptation of Christianity' (*exagoreusis*).

According to Foucault (2000a, 249), the models of examologesis, and especially of exagoreusis, have -- with developments and transformations of course -- persisted in Western culture 'from the beginning of Christianity to the 17th century'. Due to the changing times and social conditions⁴⁴ from the 6th century onwards, the development of these models was mostly connected with a mitigation of penitential discipline, which also started to include less demanding works such as prayers, alms and fasts. In addition, around the 10th century, the Christian realm was witnessing a large increase of pilgrimages to holy places both in Europe and the Middle East. A pilgrimage to a sacred place

⁴⁴ For more on this matter, see Taylor (2009).

(like Rome or Jerusalem) was considered an especially meritorious work, so milder penances were imposed on a pilgrim who went to such a place.

Another important development was the introduction and development of belief in Purgatory, 45 conceived of as a physical place rather than a state, which occurred towards the end of the 12th century (Le Goff, 1990). Behind the belief in Purgatory, there was 'a system of modulated, provisional punishment' orchestrated by the Catholic Church through the system of indulgences, which brought the possibility 'of attenuating penalties to some extent on certain, basically financial, conditions' (Foucault 2007, 270). As Taylor (2009, 51) depicts the general trend, by the late Middle Ages 'permanent forms of punishment such as lifelong abstinence found in canonical penance had long since been transformed into the long-term asceticism of penitentiales and finally into light and repetitive penances such as prayers and monetary offerings'.

While on one side the later Middle Ages witnessed a mitigation of penitential discipline, on the other the Church authorities started paying 'increasing attention to lay conduct' that was connected 'to several important developments in the legal theology' (McDougal 2008, 692). Beginning with the Pope Alexander III and especially Innocent III, 'we can see an increase in efforts on the part of papal and other religious authorities to find ways to regulate the behavior of all members of the Christian community,' which included areas such as blasphemy, sexual conduct, heresy and failure to confess or receive the Eucharist (McDougal 2008, 692). The crucial step in this direction was 'the development of the practice of confession in the eleventh and twelfth centuries and it becoming obligatory in 1215' by the 4th Lateran Council presided over by Innocent III (Foucault 2007, 269). While before 'only the gravest of sins required entering into the order of penitents, and for centuries many Christians, however devoted, would at most have sought penance once in their lifetime' (Taylor 2009, 53), now the Church 'instituted the obligation to confess regularly' on the pain of excommunication, 'at least once a year, at Easter, for the laity, and each month, or even each week, for the clergy' (Foucault 2007, 269). In this sense, the gradual process of mitigation of

⁴⁵ For an extensive study of the *Birth of Purgatory* see Le Goff (1990)

penitential discipline should also be seen as 'one in which forgiveness became easy so that confession could become mandatory' (Taylor 2009, 59).

9.2.3 Christian renouncement of the self, mortification and the glorification of suffering

In sum, with the introduction of the practices of *exomologesis* and *exagoreusis* and their development,⁴⁶ we can -- 'throughout Christianity' -- observe 'a correlation between disclosure of the self, dramatic or verbalized, and the renunciation of the self' (Foucault 2000a, 249). Eventually, Foucault explains (1999, 180), after a lot of conflicts and fluctuation it is 'the second one, verbalization, that becomes the more important' (Foucault 2000a, 249). The crucial step in this direction was the development of the practice of confession in the eleventh and twelfth centuries and it becoming obligatory in 1215' by the 4th Lateran Council.

From the analysis above, it follows that in Christianity the practices of the self always refer 'to a certain renunciation of the self and of reality because most of the time the self is a part of that reality that must be renounced in order to gain access to another level of reality' (Foucault 2000a, 238). As Foucault (2002, 310) explains further,

all those Christian techniques of examination, confession, guidance, obedience, have an aim: to get individuals to work at their own "mortification" in this world. Mortification is not death, of course, but it is a renunciation of this world and of oneself, a kind of everyday death -- a death that is supposed to provide life (in bliss op. LZ) in another world. Christian mortification is a kind of relation of oneself to oneself. It is a part, a constitutive part of Christian self-identity.

In somewhat less severe versions, renunciation and mortification entailed 'abstinence and self-denial, symbolized each year by Lent and its obligation to fast; by the example of Christ ("take that thou hast and give to the poor"), by

16th century and which brought significant transformations of the experience of sin.

⁴⁶ As we shall see in the following chapter, these developments of penitential discipline (especially the system of indulgences and obligatory confession) were one of the main reasons and points of struggle for the Reformation movement, which emerged in the beginning of the

apostolic poverty and the monastic vows (poverty, chastity, obedience)' (Porter 1996, 3). An even less severe (but certainly more dramatic) form of renunciation was the so-called 'bonfires of vanities,' where 'at the summons of a famous preacher, men and women would hasten to bring cards, dice, finery, ornaments, and burn them with great pomp' (Huizinga 1987, 13).

An important consequence of the combination of renunciation/mortification of the self and the idea of earning of merit was the privileged status of earthly suffering in the Christian tradition, which 'was perceived as a kind of spiritual capital' for all social classes (Lindberg 2003 171). A good example of the glorification of suffering (besides the model of martyrdom already described above) was the role of poverty in medieval society. Within the Christian experience of sin, 'riches had always been regarded as an impediment to salvation. They were despised by all truly pious persons. Treasure was to be sought in heaven not earth' (Thomas 2009, 111). In this sense, poverty was promoted both by 'economy of salvation as well as the economy of the marketplace' (Lindberg 2003, 171). On one hand, 'God's preferential option for the poor gave them a decided edge in the pilgrimage to salvation and 'on the other hand, the church had long emphasized that almsgiving atones for sin'. In this sense, 'Almsgiving provided the poor with some charity, enabled the rich to atone for their sins, and blessed the rich with the intercessions of the poor'. As a result, the 'poor were not only a large and inexpensive labor pool, they were also the object for the good works of the wealthy' (Lindberg 2003, 171).

Another revealing symptom of the medieval glorification of suffering was torture, which was -- conducted in various ways -- used to obtain a confession and/or to (publicly -- many times with great spectacle) inflict punishment or death. The designs of torture instruments and the suffering they inflicted was monstrous. Careful study and manufacturing skills were invested in order to achieve desirable effects. The craftsman even competed in who could build the most ingenious instrument of torture, many of which were often also given "catchy" names such as Iron Maiden or The Street Sweeper's Daughter (Kerrigan 2001).

In this chapter, we have argued with the help of Foucault that the Christian relationship to the self was fundamentally marked by 'a link between total obedience, knowledge of oneself, and confession to someone else' (Foucault 2002, 310), which resulted in the Christian renunciation of the self and the glorification of suffering. Within the Christian experience of sin, this self-renunciation and the glorification of suffering constituted 'the condition for salvation' (Foucault 2000a, 228).

According to Foucault (2005, 364), the process in which 'the task and obligation of truth-telling about oneself is inserted within the procedure indispensable for salvation, within techniques of the development and transformation of the subject by himself, and within pastoral institutions' described above, represents 'an absolutely crucial moment in the history of subjectivity in the West'. And following from this -- as we shall argue -- it is also decisive for the understanding of the modern experience and subject of happiness that supersedes it.

9.3 The axis of (pastoral) power and experience of sin

9.3.1 Relations of power behind the defense of free will

Above, we have seen that on the axis of truth, at least a partial defense of free will in the process of salvation was first connected to concerns raised by an elite of spiritual practitioners (like Pelagius, Cassian or Eriugena and their followers) and later to "progressive" theology (like the one flourishing in the time of Carolingian Renaissance and the Aristotelian revival). On the axis of the relationship to the self, we have also seen that the majority of ordinary people found it difficult to accept the tragic consequences of original sin and wanted to at least partly contribute to their salvation by their own efforts. In

⁴⁷ We shall analyze the way in which the Christian relationship to the self is linked to medieval relations of power organized around the pastoral institution, in the following chapter.

⁴⁸ Of course this also makes is decisive for the genealogy of the modern self.

this section, we shall, focusing on the axis of power, argue that the arguments that were laid behind the defense of (at least partial) free will were to a large extent also connected to the relations of power in medieval society. Namely, already in the 9th century, there were important figures in the Church (like archbishop Hincmar, for example, an influential figure in the court of Charles the Bald) who were concerned about what the dangers of complete refusal of free will (culminating in the doctrine of double predestination) could pose for the established order of things in the Christian realm. In their view, the notion of (double) predestination and the refusal of free will 'not only presented a terrible picture of the true loving God, but also threatened to subvert all efforts at moral and spiritual reform' (McMahon 2006, 111). Eliminating the role of human agency (both mediated and unmediated) in the process of salvation and claiming that not everybody can be saved would, thus, also undermine the Church's position as the exclusive mediator of God and erode its role in performing the main spiritual guidance towards salvation. In addition, this would also undermine the hierarchy of the sacred according to which certain individuals or groups of individuals were deemed closer to God and, thus, exclusively capable of divine mediation. For as long as at least partial affirmation of human agency in the process of salvation was maintained, it was possible to condition salvation with the guidelines prescribed by the ecclesial authority. On the other hand, if the notion of double predestination were to be allowed, it would have been harder to maintain the developing Church mechanisms and strategies of discipline and control. After all, while the promise of salvation indeed represented 'a powerful force, giving man and women the strength to carry on,' it could just as easily also be employed 'as a justification for suffering that might otherwise be avoided, an excuse for needless inequality, oppression, and pain' (McMahon 2006, 138).

Such modality of power is closely connected both to the axis of truth about sin and salvation and to the axis of Christian relationship to the self as we have described them above and -- in addition to them -- represents the third axis of the medieval experience of sin.

9.3.2 Pastoral power

In Foucault's (2002, 310) view, the Christian 'organization of a link between total obedience, knowledge of oneself, and confession to someone else,' which we have described above as the central part of the Christian relationship to the self, has resulted in a special technology of power, which he calls 'pastoral power'. Why pastoral? This is because, Foucault explains (2002, 333), 'Christianity is the only religion that has organized itself as a Church,' and as such 'it postulates that certain individuals can, by their religious quality, serve others not as princes, magistrates, prophets, fortune-tellers, benefactors, educationalists, and so on, but as pastors'. In this sense, the Church and its pastors compose a religion that 'lays claim to the daily government of men in their real life on the grounds of their salvation' (Foucault 2007, 199) in 'the next world' (Foucault 2002, 333). As we shall see, in so doing, it 'looks after not just the whole community, but each individual in particular, during his entire life' (Foucault 2002, 333).

9.3.2.1 Origins of the pastoral theme

According to Foucault (2007), in general (apart from certain less important exceptions), the main motive of the pastoral modality of power, i.e. the idea of the deity, or the king, or the leader, as a shepherd followed by a flock of sheep, wasn't familiar to the Greeks and Romans. Rather, he thinks, that we have to seek for the origin of the idea of pastoral power (and with it also for the idea of the government of men) in the Mediterranean East: 'Egypt, Assyria, Mesopotamia and above all, of course, in the Hebrews' (Foucault 2007, 169).

So what are the main characteristics of the pastoral modality of power present in these ancient Oriental cultures? First, Foucault explains (2007, 171), 'The shepherd's power is not exercised over a territory but, by definition, over a flock, and more exactly, over the flock in its movement from one place to another'. The second is that pastoral power is 'entirely defined by its beneficence; its only raison d'être is doing good, and in order to do good' (Foucault 2007, 172). More specifically, this means that 'the essential objective of pastoral power is the salvation of the flock,' which has a specific meaning (Foucault 2007, 172). That is, salvation predominantly refers to providing subsistence by guiding the flock to a good pasture and looking after them so

that they do not suffer or get injured. In this sense, the shepherd's power is not so much a matter of supremacy and strength, but rather the 'power of care,' always seeing to it that 'things are best for each of the animals of his flock' (Foucault 2007, 172-173). Finally, the last characteristic is the idea that pastoral power is 'an individualizing power,' meaning that the shepherd 'does everything for the totality of his flock, but he does everything also for each sheep of the flock' -- Omnes et singulatim as Foucault (2007, 173) summarizes his point with the help of Latin expression.

9.3.2.2 The institutionalization of pastoral power in the Christian Church

According to Foucault (2007, 198-199), however, it wasn't until the institutionalization of Christianity that the pastorship theme spread throughout the society and began to be used 'as the source of a specific type of power over men, as a model and matrix of procedures for the government of men':

The Christian Church coagulated all these themes of pastoral power into precise mechanisms and definite institutions, it organized a pastoral power that was both specific and autonomous, it implanted its apparatuses within the Roman Empire, and at the heart of the Empire it organized a type of power that I think was unknown to any other civilization (Foucault 2007, 174).

In the process of the development and institutionalization of pastorate into the Christian Church, the pastoral theme taken over from the Mediterranean East (especially through Judaism) was significantly 'enriched, transformed, and complicated' (Foucault 2007, 222). As Foucault (2007, 222) explains, the pastorate was transformed insofar as the pastoral theme 'gave rise to an immense institutional network that we find nowhere else and was certainly not present in Hebraic civilization'. While the Hebrew God indeed is a pastor-God, there in fact were no pastors within the political and social regime of the Hebrews. The pastorate in Christianity, on the other hand, 'gave rise to a dense, complicated, and closely woven institutional network that claimed to be, and was in fact, coextensive with the entire Church, and so with Christianity, with the entire Christian community' (Foucault 2007, 222). And insofar as the whole organization of the Church, from Christ to the abbots and bishops, is guided by the principles of a pastoral organization (meaning that it is based on the model

of a shepherd's power in relation to the flock), religious power is essentially pastoral power⁴⁹.

Foucault's central point is that the combination of pastoral apparatuses of power and the Christian promise of salvation in the afterlife⁵⁰ ultimately 'gave rise to an art of conducting, directing, leading, guiding, taking in hand, and manipulating men, an art of monitoring them and urging them on step by step, an art with the function of taking charge of men collectively and individually throughout their life and at every moment of their existence' (Foucault 2007, 222). In this sense, the pastorate maintains the 'power of jurisdiction' over its subjects that, taken to its extreme, allows the bishop as a pastor 'to expel from the flock those sheep that by disease or scandal are liable to contaminate the whole flock' (Foucault 2007, 205).

It is important to recall the argument we have made above with the help of the analysis of the axis of the relationship to the self, namely that 'this form of power cannot be exercised without knowing the inside of people's minds, without exploring their souls, without making them reveal their innermost secrets. It implies a knowledge of the conscience and an ability to direct it' (Foucault 2002, 333). This deciphering of the self manifests as a specific form of obedience, which Foucault (2007, 230) calls 'pure obedience' and which corresponds to 'obedience as a unitary, highly valued type of conduct in which the essence of its raison d'être is in itself'⁵¹. Pastoral power is, therefore, inevitably tied to a particular relationship to the self that is characterized by Christian practices of deciphering of the self and total individual submission to the pastoral authority. In this sense, pastoral power is a form of individualizing power, which means that it represents 'a mode of individualization by subjection (assujettissement)' (Foucault 2007, 239). This individualization is

⁴⁹ In this sense baptism corresponded to the 'calling the sheep into the flock', communion to providing 'spiritual nourishment' and penance to 'the power of reintegrating those sheep that have left the flock' (Foucault 2007, 205).

⁵⁰ The Christian truth about (original) sin and the promise of salvation in the afterlife had been analyzed in the chapter about the axis of truth.

⁵¹ In this sense obedience is perceived as a virtue, an end in itself that can contribute to salvation.

'coextensive and continuous with life' and at the same time 'linked with the production of truth – the truth of the individual himself' (Foucault 2002, 333).

Here, we have to add that even though between the pastoral power of the Church and political power of the sovereign there were 'a series of conjunctions, supports, relays, and conflicts,' Foucault (2007, 206) thinks that the 'form, type of functioning, and internal technology' of pastoral power 'remains absolutely specific and different from political power'. In other words, 'the pastor remained a figure exercising power over the mystical world; the king remained someone who exercised power over the imperial world' (Foucault 2007, 207). As we shall see in the following chapters, this distinction was immanent to the Western culture until the 17th and 18th centuries when the pastoral power imploded into the political realm, thus producing the modern state and, with it, the modern experience of happiness.

9.3.3 The government of man through the promise of salvation

According to Foucault (2007, 199), the Christian pastorate 'begins with a process that is absolutely unique in history and no other example of which is found in the history of any other civilization'. Namely, 'the process by which a religion, a religious community, constitutes itself as a Church, that is to say, as an institution that claims to govern men in their daily life on the grounds of leading them to eternal life in the other world' (Foucault 2007, 199). Such pastoral modality of power 'was constantly developed and refined over fifteen centuries, from the second and third century after Jesus Christ up to the eighteenth century' (Foucault 2007, 199). During this time, it 'no doubt underwent considerable transformations' by being 'shifted, broken up, transformed, and integrated in various forms' (Foucault 2007, 199). And in fact, it is possible to claim that 'the importance, vigor, and depth of implantation of this pastoral power can be measured by the intensity and multiplicity of agitations, revolts, discontent, struggles, battles, and bloody wars that have been conducted around, for, and against it' (Foucault 2007, 199).

We have seen that the pastoral modality of power is concerned with the instruments for conducting men in two modes: by the direction of men and by providing the way in which they conduct/govern themselves (through their relationship to the self). In this sense, the struggles within the pastorate, according to Foucault (2007, 259), can be seen as

movements whose objective is a different form of conduct, that is to say: wanting to be conducted differently, by other leaders (conducteurs) and other shepherds, towards other objectives and forms of salvation, and through other procedures and methods. They are movements that also seek, possibly at any rate, to escape direction by others and to define the way for each to conduct himself.

What is crucial to emphasize here is that 'the immense dispute over the gnosis that divided Christianity for centuries,' including the issues of original sin and the role of human agency in the process of salvation -- which we have tracked in the previous chapters -- should be seen as closely connected to 'a dispute over the mode of exercising pastoral power' (Foucault 2007, 199). In this sense, the Christian truth about salvation and the relation to the self connected to it should also be considered as a means through which pastoral power was exercised.

To conclude, the pastoral art of government (and the struggles around it) decisively constituting the medieval experience of sin represent 'an absolutely new form of power' characteristic only to the Christian West that 'marks the appearance of specific modes of individualization' and totalization that are important for the understanding 'the entire history of procedures of human individualization in the West' (Foucault 2007, 239). As such, Foucault argues (2007, 239), they are crucial for the understanding of 'the history of the subject' in the West, and hence also for the understanding of (Christian) experience of sin and its transformation into the (modern) experience of happiness.

By illuminating what we have called the Christian problematization of salvation and the experience of sin as they were manifested on the axis of truth, the axis of relationship to the self and the axis of power, the cardinal aim in this

chapter is to show that in the period from 5th to the 14th centuries, we cannot yet talk about (the experience) of happiness strictly speaking. In our view, the reason for this is primarily connected with the fact that because of the idea of original sin (which was also closely related to the predominating social practices, technologies and institutions), the ideal of human existence within the dominant experience was widely considered as both not achievable in this world and not (entirely) achievable with human efforts. In the next chapter, we shall cover certain developments that have -- still within the Christian experience of sin, though -- slowly started paving the way towards the experience of happiness.

10 THE BEGINNINGS OF NEW PROBLEMATIZATIONS WITHIN THE EXPERIENCE OF SIN

10.1 (The transformations of) truth about salvation in the late Middle Ages

While the late medieval period (from the 14th to the 16th centuries) -- the topic of this chapter -- was still largely characterized by the Christian problematization of salvation and intensive struggles around it, this turbulent period is nevertheless very important for the birth of happiness because it started opening up certain new problematizations that will be later connected to the (birth of the) modern experience of happiness.

10.1.1 Doctrinal diversity and the problematization of salvation on the eve of reformation

As a result of various interconnected catalysts, an 'astonishing doctrinal diversity' on the axis of truth about sin and salvation began to take shape from the 14th century onwards (McGrath 2004, 15). One such catalyst was the crisis of authority within the Church that intensified after the Great Schism of 1378-1417 between rival papal claimants, which resulted in a somewhat less repressive regime of truth. Weakened from within, the Church and its ecclesiastical authorities failed to maintain 'the normal methods of validation of theological opinions' and – as a consequence – were unable to 'take decisive

action against heterodox views as and when they arose (McGrath 2004, 16). Such opening up of the regime of truth was even more dynamic given that at the same time new educational movements and rising professional groups in the cities throughout Europe were in rapid development 'steadily eroding the advantage the clergy once enjoyed over the laity (McGrath 2004, 12). 'An additional threat to the authority of the church understood at both the political and theological levels,' McGrath explains (2004, 12), 'arose from the rapid expansion of printing,' which 'permitted the transmission of ideas from one locality to another with unprecedented ease, and posed a formidable challenge to those wishing to ensure conformity to existing ecclesiastical beliefs and practices'.

In addition to the crises of the Church authority, 'the doctrinal diversity so characteristic of the later medieval period' was also related to several other developments' (McGrath 2004, 18). Namely, McGrath writes (2004, 18), 'It is clear that a number of quite distinct theological schools emerged during the thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries, with differing philosophical presuppositions and methods. These schools tended to be based upon, or associated with, specific religious orders'. The Dominicans, for example, 'followed the teachings of Thomas Aquinas, the Franciscans those of Bonaventure, and the Augustinians those of Giles of Rome or Gregory of Rimini'. In addition, McGrath argues (2004, 19), 'local universities' were also influential 'in molding distinctive intellectual identities'.

Following from all this, 'There was considerable disagreement on the nature of the sources of Christian theology, and their relative priority' (McGrath 2004, 18), which included 'the absence of general agreement concerning the status and method of interpretation of both Scripture and the writings of Augustine of Hippo'. On top of this, a 'considerable confusion' reigned 'concerning the specifics of the official teaching of the church, with the result that doctrinal diversity arose through uncertainty over whether a given opinion corresponded to the teaching of the church or not' (McGrath 2004, 18).

Out of such a rich and diverse theological and social context, two important currents emerged, which can be seen as representing important steps towards the modern experience of happiness: humanism and renaissance and the Reformation movement. In the following, we shall argue that these developments began to problematize (good) feeling on earth and the affirmation of everyday life that will later (in the 17th and 18th centuries) constitute the modern experience of happiness.

10.1.2 Humanism and Renaissance

The rich development of scholarship in the growing mediaeval cities and universities and the increasing number of lay scholars in the 15th and 16th centuries produced a social and intellectual movement called the Renaissance. Given that the Renaissance is characterized by its revival of the interest in what the Romans called the 'studia humanities' – grammar, rhetoric, poetry, ethics and history -- that intensified the interest in 'man,' it has long been perceived as in stark contrast to what was believed to be the dark Middle Ages⁵². According to recent studies of the medieval period, there are sound reasons to believe that the change occurred 'in subtle modulations and tones' (McMahon 2006, 142). It is, hence, not surprising that the Renaissance hadn't produced any radically new ideal visions of human existence. That is, Renaissance philosophers were mostly consonant with the established Christian doctrine that perfect bliss is not attainable in this life, but only in the life to come, when man's immortal soul would enjoy the 'perpetual vision, contemplation and fruition of God' (Kraye 2007, 317). Even when drawing heavily on 'ancient philosophical sources in order 'to establish a system of ethics, which was appropriate for laymen living in the secular world of the present life,' they 'never forgot that these laymen were Christians, whose immortal souls were destined for a far higher goal in the next life' (Kraye 2007, 319). In this sense, Renaissance philosophers openly accepted and further elaborated the two-fold Thomist formula of perfect and imperfect beatitude. Emphasizing the dignity of man (like Pico dela Mirandola in his famous De Dignitate Hominis (1496)), they reinforced the role of human agency in the process of salvation and the consequent mitigation of the tragic effects of original sin underway since the 9th

⁵² This view has been promoted by the influential 19th century scholar of the Renaissance Jacob Burckhardt (see Burckhardt 1945).

century (see, for example, (Desiderius) Erasmus of Rotterdam and his *Praise of Folly* (2008) and *On Free Will* (1969)).

10.1.2.1 The beginning of problematization of (good) feeling

Even though the Renaissance didn't produce any radically new visions of salvation, it certainly increased and intensified the interest in man. As Trinkhaus (1965, 42) observes, Renaissance philosophers produced 'an extraordinary large number of treatises' on themes such as human beatitude, misery and the greatest good. For our analysis, the most important consequence of such intensification of the interest in man was the beginning of the problematization of the realm of feeling -- which will later constitute a vital component of the modern experience of happiness.

Already in 1431, Lorenzo Valla was quite surprisingly associating purely sensual pleasure with heavenly bliss:

With the others, individual parts of the body are given pleasure as the palate by food, the nostrils by the rose and the violet; but with this kind, the whole body is partner to the pleasure. In this kind of joy, also, that is felt by not one but many senses; let it be touched upon only most briefly here because it relates to formerly mentioned matters, like your banquets, dances, and games ... In the state of eternal felicity that kind of pleasure will be much richer and more plentiful (Valla 1977).

It is important to emphasize that these new conceptions of heaven did not imply that human life in this world can become more heavenly like Aquinas's idea of double beatitude but vice versa: the visions of heaven were becoming modeled more and more according to positive feeling experienced on earth, which testifies to the start of a problematization of (positive) feeling during the Renaissance period.

An intensification of the problematization of positive feeling in the present life can also be observed in Renaissance painting. Although smiles already existed in Western painting and sculpture 'since the advent of Christianity,' McMahon explains (2006, 156), 'they were used only sparingly to brighten the faces of those known to enjoy certain beatitude: the blessed Virgin, Adam and Eve before the Fall, the angels, and the saints'. In the 15th and 16th centuries,

however, Renaissance artists began do extend depictions of smiles and positive feeling to secular subjects. Leonardo da Vinci's famous Mona Lisa is just one example amongst many.

Valla's (1977) image of heaven (later accompanied also by other similar Renaissance descriptions and depictions of the afterlife⁵³) was, therefore, at least 'in part a reflection of the greater acceptance of pleasure in the here and now' (McMahon 2006, 163). These, however, were only marginal developments limited to certain individuals or groups of people. The nascent problematization of positive feeling was still almost completely overshadowed by the dominant problematization of salvation and the experience of sin. When, for example, 'the aesthetic and libertine tendencies stimulated by the Renaissance' erupted in England 'in the aesthetic court of Charles I and the bawdy court of Charles II,' they 'were fiercely denounced by moralists and preachers as ungodly examples of aristocratic debauchery' (Porter 1996, 3).

The beginning of problematization of human feeling was not only becoming evident through a certain affirmation of good feeling and pleasure, but also through their antipode: melancholy. Melancholy derives from the Greek melan (black) + chole (bile) and was first described by Hippocrates in the 5th century BCE and later elaborated by Galen in the 2nd century. 'According to late Medieval and Renaissance commentators who continued to regard Hippocrates and Galen as authorities on such matters,' McMahon explains (2006, 159), 'melancholy was one of the four principal humors that governed human physiology and mood'. In the famous *Anatomy of Melancholy* (1621), Burton collected and synthesized virtually all accessible knowledge from ancient times to his own, resulting in the following definition:

Melancholy, the subject of our present discourse, is either in disposition or in habit. In disposition, is that transitory Melancholy which goes and comes upon every small occasion of sorrow, need, sickness, trouble, fear, grief, passion, or perturbation of the mind, any manner of care, discontent, or thought, which causes anguish, dullness, heaviness and vexation of spirit, any ways opposite to pleasure, mirth, joy, delight,

⁵³ See also Celso Maffei's Pleasing Explanation of the Sensuous Pleasures of Paradise (1504).

causing forwardness in us, or a dislike. In which equivocal and improper sense, we call him melancholy, that is dull, sad, sour, lumpish, ill-disposed, solitary, any way moved, or displeased. And from these melancholy dispositions no man living is free, no Stoick, none so wise, none so happy, none so patient, so generous, so godly, so divine, that can vindicate himself; so well-composed, but more or less, sometime or other, he feels the smart of it. Melancholy in this sense is the character of Mortality. . . . This Melancholy of which we are to treat, is a habit, a serious ailment, a settled humour, as Aurelianus and others call it, not errant, but fixed: and as it was long increasing, so, now being (pleasant or painful) grown to a habit, it will hardly be removed (Burton 1621).

Central to our argument is the fact that by extensively reanimating classical sources, Renaissance humanists started perceiving melancholy not only as a natural and inescapable consequence of (original) sin, but also as a condition that can be cured or at least amended by human intervention. Moreover, many authors (including Burton) saw melancholy as a widespread social problem⁵⁴. While it is impossible to assess to what extent their diagnosis was correct, it is clear that 'the diagnostic significance of the disease expanded in the sixteenth century, not in terms of its intrinsic medical-theoretical content, but in the extent to which it was deemed useful in a range of intellectual and cultural contexts' (Gowland 2006, 16). In this sense, the problematization of melancholy as a disease and the problematization of 'widespread melancholy in the population at large' can be seen as reflecting 'a growth of interest in psychology, especially in the passions of the soul' and, consequently, also the intensification of problematization of the domain of human feeling (Gowland 2006, 17). It is certainly worth noting that this new problematization was mostly not directly linked to the soteriological issues of salvation and the afterlife, but more with the betterment of the present life in the mundane realm.

As we shall see, these developments were 'further shaped by the Protestant and Catholic reform movements, which ensured that this increased attentiveness to

⁵⁴ It is interesting that this Renaissance diagnosis of widespread melancholy resemble the diagnosis of widespread depression in contemporary western societies.

psychological health became confessionalised, politicised, and visible in the public domain' (Gowland 2006, 17).

10.1.3 The Reformation movement

While since Augustine and the Council of Carthage, which formally interdicted the Pelagian doctrine, Christian doctrine clearly refused the possibility of true salvation on earth, certain themes from the Pelagian polemic endured. In particular, we have already seen that the issue of free will and the question of the role of human agency in the process of salvation drove many central medieval theological discussions about salvation. Insofar as after the Pelagian polemic the issue of Christian (im)-perfection had mostly been resolved, the main polemic around the issue of human (and church) agency in the process of salvation was centered around the issue of justification. Namely, while all theologians agreed that with the coming of Christ, the door to 'salvation shut in the Garden of Eden, was potentially open once more,' Marshall explains (2009, 42), 'contention raged' over the questions about 'how individual Christians might actually proceed through that door, the role of the Church in preparing them to do so, and whether the door was open for all or just for a few'.

The whole situation was further complicated by the fact that the doctrinal diversity and uncertainty in relation to the official teaching of the Church in the late Middle Ages was 'particularly evident in relation to the doctrine of justification' (McGrath 2004, 27):

Such was the confusion concerning what constituted the official teaching of the magisterium and what was merely theological opinion that an astonishing diversity of views on the justification of humanity before God were in circulation at the opening of the sixteenth century. Those within the via moderna espoused a theology of justification that approached, although cannot actually be said to constitute, Pelagianism, while their counterparts within the schola Augustiniana moderna developed strongly – occasionally ferociously – anti-Pelagian theologies of justification (McGarth 2004, 27).

In sum, 'an astonishingly broad spectrum of theologies of justification existed in the later medieval period, encompassing practically every option that had not been specifically condemned as heretical by the Council of Carthage' (McGarth 2004, 27). And it was precisely the doctrinal issue of justification and 'the rules and mechanisms of salvation' related to it (Marshall 2009, 42) over which the Lutheran Reformation began in the early 16th century.

10.1.3.1 Reformation and justification through faith

Above, we have seen that since the 9th century and even more so after Aquinas, the ecclesiastical authorities were clearly endorsing the idea and practice that Christians can contribute (at least to a certain extent) to their salvation by performing good works and sacral rituals and by living virtuous lives. We have also seen that closely associated with such a vision of justification was the hierarchy of the sacred⁵⁵ and the belief that earthly suffering has a privileged position in the gradual ascent up the ladder to salvation in heaven. As a consequence, the centuries after Aquinas (especially 15th and 16th) were characterized by 'intense piety' (Greyerz 2008, 27) or even – as one theory suggests -- by 'widespread and morbid "salvation anxiety⁵⁶" ... manifested in an intense, hyperactive, performance of piety' (Marshall 2009, 43). In this context, many people were keenly preoccupied with salvation and Martin Luther, an Augustinian monk and a professor of theology at Wittenberg, was one of them.

'The central term, to which Luther's deep spiritual trials can be pinned down,' Wriedt explains (2003, 89), 'is the "justice of God" that Luther understood as an active pursuit: the just God pursues the lawbreaker with wrath and punishment. The tested monk becomes more and more tangled in a vicious circle of exaggerated fear of sin and of works of repentance, which become perceived of as futile'. Although –by his own account – Luther was 'blameless, performing tremendous ascetic feats of fasting, self-flagellation, prayer and penance, he could never set his mind at rest'; for 'how could we be certain, he wondered, that we had performed enough good works to merit salvation' (McMahon 2006, 167). From a young age, Luther had suffered 'what he called tristia (melancholy or excessive despair)' (McMahon 2006, 165). Full of

⁵⁵ This encompassed both places (certain places were holier than others), objects, and people (and their vocations).

⁵⁶ We could perhaps link this anxiety to the widespread melancholy diagnosed by Burton.

personal despair, he was questioning himself whether 'salvation was at all possible' and if he 'had not already been forgotten by God's grace, being condemned for all eternity' (Wriedt 2003, 89). Finally, while ardently contemplating book 1, verse 17, of Paul's Letter to the Romans, Luther experienced a personal revelation very akin to that of Augustine:

Meditating day and night on those words, I at last, by the mercy of God, paid attention to their context: "In it, the justice of God is revealed, as it is written: The just person lives by faith". I began to understand that in this verse the justice of God is that by which the just person lives by a gift of God, namely by faith. And this is the meaning: the justice of God is revealed by the Gospel, but it is a passive justice, i.e. that by which the merciful God justifies us by faith, as it is written: "The just person lives by faith." Suddenly I felt that I was born again and had entered into paradise itself through open gates (Luther 1545 in Mcmahon 2006, 168).

In his illumination (significantly inspired also by his fatherly friend and vicar general of the order, Johannes von Staupitz), Luther realized that the possibility of contributing to one's own salvation by ardent penitential practices and self-torture was a source of suffering rather than the prospect of improving human condition. 'In view of God's free and necessarily given gift of grace,' Wriedt observes (2003, 90), 'Luther's striving for perfection, for pure love to God, for justification and holiness, proves to be absolutely wrong, even blasphemous. It appeared that he had rejected the caring love of the merciful God in favor of overconfidence in his own power to find happiness, that is, to acquire eternal salvation'. It, thus, becomes quite clear why 'in retrospect Luther accused his monastic teachers and ecclesiastical theologians of the way they spoke of Christ exclusively as the judge to whom account had to be given and good works had to be shown. Christ was not shown to his advantage as a comforter, savior, and redeemer but as a tyrant' (Wriedt 2003, 89).

Like Augustine centuries before him, Luther was unable to find peace by his own efforts. It is hardly surprising, then, that he was also in agreement with Augustine on account of the tragic consequences of original sin. Humans, for Luther (and also other reformers), are inherently sinful creatures unable to liberate themselves by their own efforts, and true salvation can only be

bestowed by God's mercy in the life to come. In his view of justification, he, thus, returned to Augustine's logic and refused any possibility that human beings could be justified before God through their own merits. According to Luther, Greyerz explains (2008, 27), 'The only thing that justified the believer was faith in the exclusive efficacy of divine grace' and 'the sole means to that end was the understanding of faith on the basis of the Bible'. In the center of Luther's theology, we, therefore,

have the absolute sovereignty and freedom of God – expressed in such terms as grace, mercy, and righteousness – and across from him humans who are caught in their sin, completely incapable of taking any saving action. Sin hereby takes the expression of humans' perpetual attempt to place themselves in God's position and the desire to create and fulfill their lives out of their own power and responsibility (Wriedt 2003, 92).

According to Luther, 'This human overconfidence becomes most manifest in relationships with authorities from outside the Bible such as Aristotle and a Scripture interpretation led astray by church traditions lacking true theological back-up' (Wriedt 2003, 92). Following from this, Luther argued, 'The entire church of his day had fallen into Pelagianism⁵⁷, and thus required doctrinal reformation as a matter of urgency' (McGrath 2004, 25), hence the famous Protestant return to scripture.

On the basis of his doctrinal reformation guided by the idea of justification by faith that was posed directly against the idea of treasury of merit⁵⁸ endorsed by the official Church⁵⁹, Luther, and later the whole Reformation movement, opposed the majority of existent devotional practices and any form of indulgence issued by the Church (which included obligatory confessional

⁵⁷ Here, it is worth mentioning that given the vast doctrinal diversity and the confusion, according to McGarth (2004, 25), 'It could be argued that Luther's comprehensive theological protest against the church of his day was the consequence of an improper identification of the theological opinions of the via concerning the justification of humanity before God (opinions which he came to regard as Pelagian) with the official teaching of the church'.

⁵⁸ The idea of treasury of merits was already described above in 9.2.1.

⁵⁹ We shall analyze the effects of this development for the constellation of power relations bellow in the section about power.

practices). Following Augustine, Luther also adopted the notion of predestination, which was later even further radicalized by Jean Calvin, the second central authority of the Reformation movement.

Another important consequence of the doctrine of justification by faith was, Beutel explains (2003, 11), that insofar as faith would 'set humans free from the compulsion for self-justification,' it would also 'render them free to serve their neighbors'. While before good works have served personal sanctification, now they should serve the common good, as this was the only right way to serve and glorify God. Everyone, Luther preached, 'must benefit and serve every other by means of his own work or office so that in this way many kinds of work may be done for the bodily and spiritual welfare of the community . . . ' (Luther in Lindberg 2003, 170). This aspect was even more pronounced in the Calvinist idea of the calling according to which 'in addition to the general calling to be a believing Christian, everyone had a particular calling, the specific form of labour to which God summoned him or her' (Taylor 2001, 223). Compared to the Catholic concept of vocation that was mostly related to priesthood and monastic life and implied the "hierarchy of the sacred," the idea of the calling maintained that 'all callings were equal, whatever their place in the social hierarchy, as long as they were of benefit to fellow humans (Taylor 2001, 223).

10.1.3.2 The spread of reformation

Initially, the church reform triggered by Luther 'took hold in the urban areas—at first among humanists as the representatives of the comparatively small urban educated class' (von Greyerz 2008, 28). But, 'what made the reform of the church into a true Reformation, into a socioreligious mass movement,' von Greyerz explains (2008, 28), 'was the fact that clerics, as preachers, began to adopt the Wittenberg reformer's ideas, in some cases perhaps merely his call for resistance to the existing conditions within the church' Spreading with the help of print-like fire throughout Europe, the Reformation movement soon diversified into regional variations 'carried by local reformist currents that had

⁶⁰ As we shall see in the chapter about power, according to Foucault (2007), these existing conditions mostly correspond to the existing modality of pastoral power institutionalized in the Church.

deep roots in the urban artisanal class, and in which the zeal for religious reform not infrequently merged with anticlericalism and political resentment of the governing class of councilors' (von Greyerz 2008, 28).

According to Greyerz (2008, 30), after 1525, we already have to 'distinguish between the radical Reformation, which would become a catch-basin for Anabaptists, Spiritualists, and Antitrinitarians, and the "established" Reformation, with the latter divided once again into a Lutheran and a Zwinglian movement. The main two currents were joined in the 1540s by Calvinism, 'which radiated outward from Geneva, and which, needless to say, had much in common with Zwinglianism' (Greyerz 2008, 30). Given the diversity of reformed churches and doctrines, we shall not go into the details of each of them. Rather, we shall mostly focus on Lutheranism and Calvinism, which represent the two main reformed churches and examine their contribution towards the birth of the modern experience of happiness.

10.1.3.3 The return to Augustine and the radical refusal of free will in the process of salvation

Trying to counter Pelagianism, which they attributed to the official Catholic Church and to neutralize salvation anxiety catalyzed by the Church through the idea of earning of merit, the Reformation theologians have -- resembling Augustine's vigor in fighting the Pelagian doctrine -- also swayed far to the other extreme. They emphasized the tragic consequences of the original sin due to which humanity has lost free will and has become totally dependent on the merciful attention of God:

For if we believe it to be true, that God fore-knows and fore-ordains all things; that He can be neither deceived nor hindered in His Prescience and Predestination; and that nothing can take place but according to His Will, (which reason herself is compelled to confess;) then, even according to the testimony of reason herself, there can be no "Free-will" - in man, - in angel, - or in any creature (Luther 1969, sect. CLXVII).

In this sense, reformation was aimed directly against the prevailing current of gradual reinforcement of free will and human agency in the process of salvation under way since the 9th century, intensified by Aquinas and

culminating in the Renaissance movement⁶¹. Insofar as this current can be seen as a slow erosion of the tragic consequences of original sin and consequently as a certain rehabilitation of the standing of life in this world (like Aquinas's double beatitude or renaissance problematization of positive feeling), reformation could hence be regarded as a regression in the possibilities to improve the human condition in the present life. A closer inspection, however, reveals that this was not the case. First, the radical position on free will only pertains to man's relation to the divine and salvation in the afterlife, but not to his dealings with worldly things. Second, rather than connecting it to fatalism, the Reformers saw the lack of free will more like a neutralization of the existent salvation anxiety or like a certain catharsis in knowing that salvation does not depend on free will:

I frankly confess that, for myself, even if it could be, I should not want free-will to be given to me, nor anything to be left in my own hands to enable me to endeavor after salvation; not merely because in the face of so many dangers, and adversities, and assaults of devils, I could not stand my ground and hold fast my free-will (for one devil is stronger than all men, and on these terms no man could be saved); but because, even were there no dangers, adversities, or devils, I should still be forced to labor with no guarantee of success, and to beat my fists at the air. If I lived and worked to all eternity, my conscience would never reach comfortable certainty as to how much it must do to satisfy God. Whatever work I had done, there would still be a nagging doubt as to whether it pleases God, or whether He required something more. The experience of all who seek righteousness by works proves that; and I learned it well enough myself over a period of many years, to my own great hurt. But now that God has taken my salvation out of the control of my own will, and put it under the control of His, and promised to save me, not according to my working or running, but according to His own grace and mercy, I have the comfortable certainty that He is faithful and will not lie to me, and that He

⁶¹ The best example of this is a written polemic on free will between Erasmus of Rotterdam (probably one of the most famous Renaissance thinkers) and Luther (see Luther and Erasmus 1969).

is also great and powerful, so that no devils or opposition can break Him or pluck me from Him (Luther 1969, sect. XVIII).

Following from this, the Protestant radical refusal of free will along with the doctrine of justification by faith has resulted in the Protestant affirmation of everyday life, which, in our view, represents the second major current (besides the current of reinforcement of free will) that has eventually resulted in the birth of the modern experience of happiness.

10.1.3.4 The rejection of the (hierarchy of) the sacred and the affirmation of everyday life

Above, we have seen that already in the 9th century, the Church elites feared that the complete refusal of human agency in the process of salvation would erode the role of the Church as the exclusive mediator between God and the people, thus fundamentally transforming the established outlook of pastoral power. The Protestant return to Augustine and their rejection of free will has proved that their fears indeed had been justified.

Maintaining the notion of free will in relation to the idea of treasury of merits, medieval Catholicism managed to firmly establish the idea that 'the church is the locus and vehicle of the sacred' and that 'we are brought closer to God by the very fact of belonging and participating in its sacramental life' (Taylor, 2001 216). Grace can only 'come to us mediately through the church, and we can mediate grace to each other, as the lives of the saints enrich the common life on which we all draw' (Taylor 2001, 216).

Insofar as the Reformers claimed that grace cannot be earned, on the other hand, but is freely given by the merciful God, they have rejected such mediation and the sacramental life connected with it. In their view, 'each person stands alone in relation to God: his or her fate – salvation or damnation – is separately decided' (Taylor 2001, 216). Along with the sacramental life, then, 'went the whole notion of the sacred in mediaeval Catholicism, the notion that there are special places or times or actions where the power of God is more intensely present and can be approached by humans' (Taylor 2001, 216). Following from this, 'Protestant (particularly Calvinist) churches swept away pilgrimages, veneration of relics, visits to holy places, and a vast panorama of traditional Catholic rituals and pieties,' that in their view 'impeded direct

confrontation with the divine' (McMahon 2006, 170). 'And along with the sacred,' Taylor argues (2001, 216), also 'went the mediaeval Catholic understanding of the church as the locus and vehicle of the sacred'.

This transformation was closely connected to the Protestant refusal of special ecclesial vocations, which had represented an important part of mediaeval Catholicism. The celibate life in particular had been seen 'as part of the economy of the sacred' (Taylor 2001, 217). Namely, 'the medieval Catholic church viewed the celibate life as a meritorious work for salvation, and perpetuated patristic suspicions of sexuality as the font of original sin' (Lindberg, 2003 168). Taylor (2001, 217) believes 'this was partly because of the connection between priesthood and celibacy, and partly because of the role of religion in an economy of mutual mediation: monks and nuns prayed for everyone, just as the laity worked, fought, and governed for the whole'. It was, hence, commonly accepted that the ecclesial vocations 'supposed a hierarchy of nearness to the sacred, with the religious life being higher/closer than the secular,' the result of which 'was a lesser spiritual status for lay life, particularly that of productive labor and the family' (Taylor 2001, 217). On the basis of hierarchy of the sacred, Foucault argues (2007, 268), medieval Catholicism was characterized by the existence of 'two clearly distinguished categories of individuals, clergy and laity, who do not have the same civil rights, obligations, or privileges, of course, but who do not even have the same spiritual privileges'. 62

By rejecting the sacred and the idea of ecclesial mediation, the Reformers also rejected this hierarchy; spiritual privileges of the clergy and mandatory clerical celibacy, which, understood in this sense, 'was not just a matter of breaking church law,' but also encompassed the new evangelical understanding of the relationship to God and the world' (Lindberg 2003, 168). As Taylor (2001, 221) explains, 'The crucial potentiality here was that of conceiving the hallowing of life not as something which takes place only at the limits, as it

_

⁶² Here, we should add that, according to Foucault (2007, 268), the hierarchy of the sacred and the consequent hierarchical distinction between the laity and the clerics was actually a result of the institutionalization of pastoral power. As such, it should also be seen as one of the central points and outcomes of pastoral struggles in the context of the Reformation movement.

were, but as a change which can penetrate the full extent of mundane life'. In other words, 'The rejection of the sacred and of mediation together led to an enhanced status for (what had formerly been described as) profane life' (Taylor 2001, 216). And once this potentiality for the affirmation of everyday life was realized, Taylor observes (2001, 221),

it took on a life of its own. Its influence, in other words, was felt beyond the boundaries of Protestant Europe and not necessarily most strongly within these boundaries. It was felt in Catholic countries, and then later also in secularized variants. Its impact was the greater in that it dovetailed nicely with the anti-hierarchical side of the gospel message. The integral sanctification of ordinary life couldn't consist with the notion of hierarchy, at first of vocation and later even of social caste. The gospel notion that the orders of this world, the spiritual as much as the temporal, are reversed in the kingdom of God, that the foolishness of the children of God is stronger that the wisdom of the wise, had its effect in discrediting earlier notions of superiority and accrediting the new spiritual status of the everyday.

10.1.3.5 Affirmation of everyday life and Baconian scientific revolution

The Protestant affirmation of ordinary life and their emphasis on the service for the common good also went hand in hand with the emerging scientific revolution pioneered by Francis Bacon. The reasons for such an alliance were mostly related to the fact that both movements 'saw themselves as rebelling against a traditional authority which was merely feeding on its own errors and as returning to the neglected sources: the Scriptures on one hand, experimental reality on the other' (Taylor 2001, 230). As a consequence, they 'both appealed to what they saw as living experience against dead received doctrine – the experience of personal conversion and commitment, or that of direct observation of nature's workings' (Taylor 2001, 230). As Lowe (2002, 18) explains, 'Bacon, in his *Novum organum* (1620), had recommended that we discover Nature's secrets by interrogating her systematically—essentially, by applying an inductive method of discovery through controlled experiment and observation'.

Within the framework of (Puritan) Protestant movement, Baconian science and its 'instrumental stance towards the world' gains a pious purpose not only in the obvious way – that it contributes to the right service in our use of God's creation (that is, to the general welfare of mankind), but also 'to his greater glory, as we come to understand his purposes and can render him knowledgeable and fitting praise for the marvels of his design' (Taylor 2001, 232). Making such an instrumental stance towards the world central, Taylor explains, 'could not but transform the understanding of the cosmos from an order of signs or Forms, whose unity lies in their relation to a meaningful whole, into an order of things producing reciprocal effects in each other, whose unity in God's plan must be that of interlocking purposes'.

According to Taylor (2001, 14), 'this affirmation of ordinary life, although not uncontested and frequently appearing in secularized form, has become one of the most powerful ideas in modern civilization' and as such a constitutive part of what was later established as the modern experience of happiness. This connection becomes even more evident when we consider that the affirmation of everyday life is also closely associated with the Protestant problematization and affirmation of the mundane good feeling, with which we shall deal in the next chapter concerned with the late medieval relationship to the self. Based on somewhat different foundations than the Renaissance, 63 reformation, thus, also contributed to the reinforcement of the general trend towards the intensification of the problematization of feeling in the present life. Let us now turn to the analysis on the axis of ethics and examine the affirmation of everyday life and the problematization of good feeling in the context of the late medieval relationship to the self.

⁶³ Of course, there are also certain connections between renaissance and reformation (see McGrath 2004).

10.2 The late medieval relationship to the self

10.2.1 Attack on the privileged position of suffering in the Catholic tradition

Based on the affirmation of everyday life, the Reformation didn't have much difficulty in joining the trend of the problematization of (good) feeling in the present life already initiated by the Renaissance. Realizing that striving for eternal salvation through one's own efforts is a source of suffering rather that a path to eternal bliss, Luther entirely surrenders to God's mercy. Following from this, he believes, is not only a theological illumination, but also an opening up of the possibility of a good feeling in the present life:

Faith is a work of God in us which changes and brings us to birth anew from God [cf. John 1]. It kills the old Adam, makes us completely different people in heart, mind senses, and all our powers, and brings the holy spirit with it. What a living, creative, active, powerful thing is faith! ... [It] is a living, unshakeable confidence in God's grace; it is so certain, that someone would die a thousand times for it. This kind of trust in and knowledge of God's grace makes a person joyful [frohlich], confident, and gay [lustig] with regard to God and all creatures. This is what the Holy Spirit does by faith (Luther 1545).

Arguing that salvation is received rather than achieved, Luther and other reformers, thus, also radically questioned the privileged position of suffering in the Christian tradition. While the reformers did not deny earthly suffering (after all, they believed in the tragic consequences of original sin), they didn't see it as a path to salvation either⁶⁴. Insofar as salvation is God's free gift, and not

185

⁶⁴ Following from this the reformed tradition appreciated the created order and did not directly condemn the realm of sensual pleasures: 'on the one hand, through cross-bearing we are crucified to the world and the world to us. On the other hand, devout Christians enjoy this present life, albeit with due restraint and moderation, for they are taught to use things in this world for the purpose that God intended them' (Beeke 2004, 143). The reformers therefore

something earned by human effort, suffering was no longer perceived as a path to salvation. As a consequence, 'Luther and Protestants more generally dismissed with contempt the heroic ascetic embrace: no more hair shirts, no more fasting, no more ecstasies of pain' (Mcmahon 2006, 172).

In the world full of suffering, we poor sinners, rather, have to cherish all the joy we can find. While we cannot strive for our ultimate salvation in heaven, we indeed – in spite of our sinful nature — can to a certain extent hope for moments of personal joy in our earthly existence. In other words, it is precisely the abandoning of the pretentious effort to reach salvation that opens up the possibility to experience something that has hitherto been deemed a sin and an obstacle to salvation: joy and good feeling in the present life coming from our deep faith in the mercy of God. While before earthly suffering was understood as a means towards perfect bliss on earth, now the unconditional faith in God's mercy and the hope of the life to come gives purpose to and a certain degree of enjoyment in our present life. This aspect of the Protestant transformative message is most evident in Luther's letter to the young Prince Joachim von Anhalt suffering from melancholy and despair at a young age like he did:

Serene Prince, gracious Lord! [A mutual friend] has told me that your Grace has been a little unwell, but are now, thank God, again in good condition. It often occurs to me that, as your Grace leads a quiet life, melancholy and sad thoughts may be the cause of such indisposition; wherefore I advise your Grace, as a young man, to be merry [frolich], to ride, hunt, and keep good company, who can cheer your Grace in a godly and honorable way. For loneliness and sadness are simple poison and death, especially in a young man ... No one knows how it hurts a young man to avoid joy [Freude] and cultivate solitude and melancholy ... Joy and good humor, in honor and seemliness, is the best medicine for a young man, yea for all man. I, who have hitherto spent my life in mourning and sadness, now seek and accept joy whenever I can find it. We now know, thank God, that we can be merry with a good conscience,

opted for the middle way and advised their followers to avoid two opposite extremes: 'they must spurn the monkish error of renouncing the things of this world' (Taylor 2001, 222) and at the same time be careful not to become too absorbed in things of this world.

and can use God's gifts with thankfulness, inasmuch as he has made them for us and is pleased to have us enjoy them. If I have not hit the cause of your Grace's indisposition and have thereby done you a wrong, your grace will kindly forgive my mistake. For truly I thought your Grace might be so foolish as to think it is a sin to be merry, as I have often done and still do at times ... Your Grace should be joyful [frohlich] in all things, inwardly in Christ and outwardly in God's gifts; for he gives them to us that we may have pleasure in them and thank him for them (Luther 1534 in Mcmahon 2006, 165).

It is certainly true that for Luther (and also other reformers), perfect salvation is not achievable by our human efforts. However, we can see from his letter to the young prince that this does not hold for the earthly experience of joy and happiness (gluck), which according to Luther can or even should be pursued (by our own efforts) in this world. Calvin (2002, 503) preached in a very similar way to Luther: 'if the praise of the Lord and thanksgiving can emanate only from a cheerful and gladdened breasts and there is nothing which ought to interrupt these feelings in us, it is clear how necessary it is to temper the bitterness of the cross with spiritual joy'.

Compared to Aquinas's imperfect beatitude, the Protestant joy is, therefore, much more profane/secular than the Catholic imperfect beatitude. In the Thomist gradualist perspective towards salvation, imperfect beatitude refers to the partial ascent up the ladder of being and in this sense – as the name suggests -- to a kind of partial/imperfect salvation on earth directly connected to the perfect bliss in heaven. For Aquinas, achieving a certain level of heavenly purity and virtue already in earthly life makes the present life more heavenly and gradually brings us closer to heaven. 'In contrast to all pieties of achievement, then and now,' the reformers, on the other hand, 'affirmed God's descent in Jesus to us rather than our striving to ascend to God' (Lindberg 2003, 165). As a consequence, 'the fullness of Christian existence was to be found within the activities of this life, in one's calling and in marriage and the family' (Taylor 2001, 18). This also meant that the reformed tradition appreciated the created order and did not directly condemn the realm of sensual pleasures. As Beeke (2004, 143) explains, 'On the one hand, through cross-

bearing, we are crucified to the world and the world to us. On the other hand, devout Christians enjoy this present life, albeit with due restraint and moderation, for they are taught to use things in this world for the purpose that God intended them'. The reformers, therefore, opted for the middle way and advised their followers to avoid two opposite extremes: 'they must spurn the monkish error of renouncing the things of this world' (Taylor 2001, 222) and, at the same time, be careful not to become too absorbed in things of this world⁶⁵.

In this sense, when referring to joy and happiness coming from our faith in God, the reformed tradition (Luther in particular) is mostly not using these terms in a direct connection to salvation in the afterlife, but is positioning them in the registry of mundane earthly experience. While true salvation and bliss are still seen as pertaining to the afterlife, personal relief from the anxiety of salvation opens up and affirms a positive mode of earthly experience, which comes from 'living unshakable confidence in God's grace' (Luther 1545).

Like the Renaissance, but along a completely different path, the Reformation movement, therefore, also contributed to the problematization of (good) human feeling in the present life. While in the case of the Renaissance, this development was mostly driven by an increased interest in man, the reengagement of ancient philosophers and the further affirmation of rationality and free will, the Reformation reinforced the problematization of human feeling mostly in relation to the doctrine of justification by faith and the consequent affirmation of everyday life.

_

In relation to the sensual (pleasures), it is possible to observe an interesting, somewhat paradoxical difference between the Catholic and the Protestant tradition. In the Catholic tradition (in theory at least), the desire for the sensual has to be completely neutralized. Given that this imperative is obviously impossible to put into practice, there is always a certain leeway for occasional (either individual or collective) transgression. While the idea of Vice and various penitential practices in this sense serve as an absolution for such transgressions, in turn, the possibility of an absolution in practice also opens up a wider space for occasional sensual transgressions. On the other hand, the Protestant tradition in theory does not entirely condemn the sensual, provided that life is enjoyed with due restraint and moderation. In practice, however, this leads to a kind of tyranny of moderation in the context of which a good Protestant (in theory) indeed can enjoy life, but is (in practice) never moderate enough.

10.2.2 Small but important leaps towards happiness

While indeed the Reformation, in general, stopped regarding good feeling on earth as a sin (and refused the privileged status of suffering inherent in the Catholic tradition), we have to emphasize that good feeling on earth was still far from being attributed a major role in the ideal of human existence. In other words, even though reformation and its affirmation of everyday life (like the renaissance before it) to a certain extent began to affirm good human feeling in the present life, salvation in the afterlife firmly remained its primary ideal of human existence. In this sense, happiness and joy coming from faith in God were mainly seen more as a joy of returning back to the right path to salvation and (hence) as an improvement over the salvation anxiety caused by the "deluded" Catholic idea of earning of merit. Even though these were certainly important initial leaps towards what will eventually become the modern experience of happiness, the Reformation (and counter-Reformation as its response), therefore, didn't bring fundamental transformations to the basic Christian formula of the relationship to the self.

Indeed, Foucault argues (1978, 116), the Reformation and counter-Reformation 'mark an important mutation and a schism in what might he called the traditional technology of the flesh⁶⁶. However, 'this did not rule out a certain parallelism in the Catholic and Protestant methods of examination of conscience and pastoral direction: procedures for analyzing "concupiscence" and transforming it into discourse'. The 'main features of both' the Protestant and Catholic churches, Foucault further explains (2000a, 243), are still 'an ensemble of truth obligations dealing with faith, books, dogma, and one dealing with truth, heart, and soul,' where 'access to truth cannot be conceived of without purity of the soul'.

Insofar as in the Protestant churches the refusal of the self and Christian self-deciphering in their essence remained, one form of anxiety was just replaced by another. Trying to amend the Catholic salvation anxiety through the doctrines of justification by faith and predestination, 'many Protestants' were now 'cast into deep despair at the thought that they were damned' (Thomas 2009, 232).

⁶⁶ Which includes the refusal of (obligatory) confession by majority of the protestant churches.

An example of what could be called predestination anxiety⁶⁷ is the astrological doctor Richard Napier, who practiced in the early 17th century in England and who 'had over ninety patients who came to him because they doubted their prospects of salvation' (Thomas 2009, 232).

Next, we shall turn to the axis of power and analyze this turbulent period of Western history in light of power relations and struggles.

10.3 The culmination of struggles around the pastoral power and the reinforcement of the pastorate

As Von Greyerz (2008, 28) observes, 'the Reformation was an exclusively religious event in the beginning, but not so as it unfolded'. By looking 'at the carriers of the reformist movements in the 1520s,' he explains, 'it is not possible, in retrospect, to distinguish clearly between motives that were genuinely religious and those that were socioeconomic and political; that is true for both the cities and the countryside' (Von Greyerz 2008, 28). Or -- informed by the more in-depth Foucauldian analysis of power relations in the medieval period -- we should rather say that the Reformation movement was no doubt a struggle initiated by a doctrinal dispute, which, however, had rapidly grown to a series of struggles over the pastoral power that were

fundamentally struggles over who would actually have the right to govern men, and to govern them in their daily life and in the details and materiality of their existence; they were struggles over who has this power, from whom it derives, how it is exercised, the margin of autonomy for each, the qualification of those who exercise it, the limits of their jurisdiction, what recourse is possible against them, and what control is exercised over each other (Foucault 2007, 200).

⁶⁷ For more on Protestant 'religious despair,' see Stachniewski (1991).

Indeed, the period between the 13th and the 16th centuries in which we are focusing in this chapter was characterized by a particularly large intensity of struggles around the pastorate culminating in the spread of the Reformation movement and the Wars of Religion. The Reformation was, therefore, 'undoubtedly much more a great pastoral battle than a great doctrinal battle' (Foucault 2007, 200). In this sense, the main transformations of experience of sin induced by the Reformation movement described above (such as the return to scripture and to Augustine's refusal of free will; refusal of indulgences and obligatory confession and the refusal of hierarchy of the sacred) should be largely seen as the outcomes of pastoral struggles.

The culmination of pastoral struggles and the consequent transformations of the pastorate during the Reformation and counter-Reformation, however, did not bring the pastoral modality of power to an end because

threatened by all these movements of counter-conduct, the Church tries to take them up and adapt them for its own ends, until the great separation takes place, the great division between the Protestant churches, which basically opt for a certain mode of re-implantation of these counter-conducts, and the Catholic Church, which tries to re-utilize them and re-insert them in its own system through the Counter Reformation (Foucault 2007, 282).

It, hence, follows 'that the two worlds or series of worlds that issue from the Reformation, that is to say, a Protestant world, or a world of Protestant churches and the counter-Reformation, were not worlds without a pastorate'. On the contrary, Foucault explains (2007, 200), 'What resulted from the Reformation was a formidable reinforcement of the pastorate in two different types'. On the one side, there was the 'Protestant type, or the type developed by different Protestant sects, with a meticulous pastorate, but one that was all the more meticulous as it was hierarchically supple,' and, on the other side, there was the 'counter-Reformation with a pastorate entirely brought back under control, a hierarchized pyramid, within a strongly centralized Catholic church'.

10.4 The first steps towards the birth of happiness

Above, we have seen that the Christian problematization of salvation, which lasted from the 5th to the 16th century, was fundamentally marked by original sin, which did not allow humans to find true bliss on earth. In our view, this experience of sin cannot be simply equated with the experience of happiness, which only emerged in the 17th and 18th centuries, when the ideal of human existence increasingly started to be pursued in the present life. In other words, we do not believe that the birth of happiness can be simply seen as a process of happiness descending down from heaven to earth because it was never up there in the first place. As we have seen in the discussion above, throughout the medieval period, heaven was associated with the concept of bliss [beatitudo] and not with the concept of happiness. Happiness was born in this world and primarily pertains to this world.

In the next chapter, we shall try to show that the birth of experience of happiness is largely connected with the intensification of the problematization of (good) feeling on earth, and the affirmation of everyday life, which emerged in the 14th and 15th centuries, for some time existed parallel to the problematization of salvation and eventually (since the beginning of the 17th century) started to slowly overshadow it. Let us explain this more thoroughly starting with semantics.

In the original Christian canon (and later also in medieval theological and scholastic writing), the word designating the ultimate ideal of human existence was the Latin expression *beati/beatitude*, which is a Vulgate translation of the Greek term *makarios*, which at least in the Christian tradition carried an exalted religious connotation.

In virtually all European languages (except Welsh), the words happy and happiness, on the other hand, have their roots in the word for luck, which was always a more mundane expression. Following from such etymology, the word happy initially designated some type of (good) fortune or chance in the earthly realm. It was only around the 16th and 17th centuries that in the major

European languages the word happiness also started to signify a pleasant and contented mental state (see Harper 2011).

Even though since the 18th century beati(tudo) started to be increasingly translated as happy(iness) in the official Christian canon⁶⁸, we agree with Kreeft (1992), who is extremely critical towards such translations, arguing that the two expressions are both etymologically and theologically different. And, in fact, in the late Middle Ages, still characterized by the experience of sin and the problematization of salvation, neither the word happy nor happiness were originally intended to directly replace the Latin expressions for beati or beatitudo. Rather, the word happiness emerged as a part of a new kind of problematization -- the problematization of (good) feeling on earth. This can be most clearly seen in Luther (1545), who, when referring to joy and happiness (Glück) coming from our faith in God, is not using these terms in a direct connection to salvation in the afterlife, but is positioning them in the registry of mundane earthly experience. While for Luther true salvation (beatitudo) is still seen as pertaining to the afterlife, personal relief from the anxiety of salvation coming from deep faith in God opens up and affirms a certain degree of positive feeling on earth, which is not explicitly sacralized.

In this chapter, we have argued that not only the Reformation movement, but also the Renaissance before it, each in their own specific ways contributed to the start of the problematization of (good) human feeling in the present life. While in the case of the Renaissance, this development was mostly driven by an increased interest in man, the reengagement of ancient philosophers and further affirmation of rationality and free will, the Reformation reinforced the problematization of feeling mostly in connection with the rejection of the sacred and the affirmation of everyday life.

The emergence and increased use of the expressions happy and happiness can be certainly linked to this new problematization. However, in our view, neither the emergence of problematization of (good) feeling nor the verbal designations for happiness connected to it simply coincided with the birth of

_

⁶⁸ In the following chapter we shall see that this way of translating beatitude is related to Christianity operating in the new context of the modern experience of happiness.

experience of happiness. Rather, the problematization of (good) feeling on earth for some time only coexisted with the preceding and still dominating problematization of salvation, until in the 17th century the former started to slowly but surely dominate over the latter. We believe that it is precisely this transformation (in which good feeling on earth in connection with the affirmation of everyday life starts becoming the primary ideal of human existence) that represents the first major development, which marks the birth of the modern experience of happiness. The second such major development, besides the ideal of human existence becoming increasingly positioned in this life, is that the ideal of human existence also becomes perceived as entirely achievable with human efforts.

These two major developments not only mark the birth of happiness, but also represent the two major characteristics or parameters of the modern experience of happiness, which at the same time also fundamentally distinguish it from the preceding experience of sin. In order for this decisive transformation to occur, however, first the idea of (original) sin had to be refused. Namely, being the constitutive part of the medieval Christian experience, the idea of (original) sin represented the main inhibition precluding the ideal of human existence to be positioned in this life. Furthermore, in spite of the gradual trend of reinforcement of free will underway since the 9th century due to the idea of original sin, the ideal of human existence was still not entirely achievable by human efforts alone.

The next chapter shall attempt to trace this decisive transformation of experience.

11 THE BIRTH OF HAPPINESS

In this chapter, we shall argue that the experience of happiness is a specifically modern occurrence that has -- starting from the end of the 16th century -- gradually transformed and eventually replaced the medieval experience of sin. While – as we shall see – there certainly are some connections and even certain continuity between the two, we believe that the transformations during the period from the 16th to the 18th centuries have been intensive enough that we have to start speaking of the birth of a fundamentally new mode of experience, which we shall call the (modern) experience of happiness.

11.1 The truth about happiness

In the previous chapter, we have described two major currents of thought that have -- still within the dominant problematization of salvation and each from a different angle -- from the 14th to the 16th century started problematizing (good) human feeling in the present life. The crucial step towards the birth of modern happiness on the axis of truth was the fusion of these two currents of thought: a bringing together of Protestant affirmation of ordinary life with the ideas of human freedom and rationality intensified from the 9th century, reinforced by Aquinas and the Renaissance and culminating in the beginning of empiricism of Francis Bacon and Galileo Galilei. On the axis of truth, this fusion caused the problematization of (good) feeling on earth in connection with the affirmation of everyday life to start dominating over the problematization of salvation, resulting in a gradual transformation of experience of sin into the experience of happiness.

The early form of the convergence between the rationalist current and (the Protestant) current of affirmation of everyday life took shape in what is usually called Deism. 'Retaining something of the original theological outlook surrounding the affirmation of ordinary life' and combining it with the emphasis on rationality, Deism can be best understood as a kind of 'rationalist Christianity' (Taylor 2001, 234). One of its cardinal figures was John Locke,

whose teachings had an immense influence on the whole development of the fusion between the affirmation of everyday life and rational employment of free will. By way of the atheist and naturalist turn in the 18th century, this fusion eventually led to the Enlightenment movement and, consequently, to the birth of the modern secular experience of happiness on the axis of truth (which will be described in the next chapter).

If it was crucial for the emergence of experience of happiness on the axis of truth that the ideal of human existence become increasingly connected to life on earth, an important aspect of the birth of happiness has to be associated with the erosion of original sin -- the main hindrance, which, in the Christian experience of sin, didn't allow envisioning of such an ideal in the present life.

11.1.1 Rationalized Christianity and the birth of modern religious experience of happiness

The 17th century was characterized by a sparkling discussion in the intellectual circles regarding the question of innate ideas in the human mind. Ancient philosophers, medieval theologians and the majority of influential thinkers of the time (including Descartes and leading Anglican divines) maintained that either nature or 'God, in his infinite goodness and wisdom, has inscribed in human minds innate principles that constitute the foundation of knowledge, both in practical and in theoretical matters' (Rickless 2007, 33). Locke's famous Essay Concerning Human Understanding was written as a frontal attack on such doctrines of innate ideas conceived by Locke as a position maintaining that 'there are in the Understanding certain innate Principles; some primary Notions, Koimai mmoiai [common notions], Characters, as it were stamped upon the Mind of Man, which the Soul receives in its very first Being; and brings into the World with it' (Locke 1979, 1.2.1). Following from such a doctrine, according to Locke, Rickless explains (2007, 44), is 'that God (or Nature) is the author of innate principles' and that 'innate practical principles serve as a guide to human action'. In relation to happiness, this means that the main point of God having imprinted innate ideas on human minds 'is that humans might thereby come to know what can be known and recognize what needs to be done in order to achieve happiness' (Rickless 2007, 44).

Refusing the notion of innate ideas, Locke gives an altogether different answer to the question, 'What is it that determines the Will in regard to our Actions' (Locke 1979, 2.21). Inspired by a 17th-century French mathematician and priest, Pierre Gassendi, who aimed to develop a Christian system based on Epicurean philosophy, Locke 'adopts a hedonist theory' (Taylor 2001, 169). Rather than seeing humans as tending by nature towards the good, Locke argues that things 'are good or evil only in reference to pleasure or pain' (Locke 1979 2.20.1). More specifically: 'Good and evil, present and absent, it is true, work upon the mind. But that which immediately determines the will, from time to time, to every voluntary action, is the uneasiness of desire' (Locke 1979, 2.21.33). Locke's (1979, 2.21.43) answer to what moves this uneasiness of desire is central to his understanding of happiness:

If it be further asked, what tis moves desire? I answer happiness and that alone. Happiness and Misery are the names of two extremes, the utmost bound whereof we know not; tis what Eye hath not seen, Ear hath not heard, nor hath it entered into the Heart of Man to conceive [1 Cor. 2:9]. But of some degrees of both, we have very lively impressions, made by several instances of Delight and Joy on the one side and Torment and Sorrow on the other; which, for shortness sake, I shall comprehend under the names of Pleasure and Pain, there being pleasure and pain of the Mind, as well as the body... Happiness then in its full extent is the utmost Pleasure we are capable of, and Misery, the utmost Pain.

We can clearly see that the problematization of (good) feeling on earth that now takes the form of pleasure is central in Locke's understanding of the ideal of human existence that now becomes happiness. If one wants to achieve happiness, the cardinal ethical question to tackle, then, is how to achieve the utmost pleasure and avoid the utmost pain.

Counting on reason and the power of free will, Locke believes that the mind has 'a power to suspend the execution of any of its desires; and so all, one after another, is at liberty to consider the objects in them, examine them on all sides, and weigh them with others' (Locke 1979, 2.21.53). That is, based on empirical evidence, we can determine what is the greatest good and discover the way to seek it: 'A man may suspend the act of his choice from being determined for or

against the thing proposed, till he has examined whether it be really of a nature, in itself and its consequences, to make him happy or not' (Locke 1979, 2.21.57). With his hedonist theory, Locke is, therefore, not simply arguing that there 'might be as many paths to happiness as there are pleasures of men' (McMahon 2006, 184). On the contrary, he believes that 'fashion and the common opinion have settled wrong notions, and education and custom ill habits, the just values of things misplaced, and palates of men corrupted' (Locke 1979, 2.21.71). However, given that there are no innate ideas in the mind, we have the possibility to 'remake ourselves in a more rational and advantageous fashion' (Taylor 2001, 170). In other words, 'Since we have a powerful drive toward happiness,' Wilson explains (2007, 401), moral steering for Locke 'often requires only the correction of false beliefs concerning what will make us happy'.

With his Protestant (Puritan) background, Locke saw the rational goals of such remaking in following the law laid down by God, which at times he also calls the Natural Law. God's or Natural Law in this sense is, therefore, 'not only what we ought to do morally, but it is also what conduces to our greatest happiness' (Taylor 2001, 171). The particular way in which Locke associates divine commands and human reason points to the fact that while being a hedonist, he was also a theological voluntarist:

Moral good and evil ... is only the conformity or disagreement of our voluntary action to some law, whereby good or evil is drawn on us, from the will and power of the law-maker, which good or evil, pleasure or pain, attending our observance or breach of the law by the decree of the lawmaker, is that we call reward and punishment (Locke 1979, 2.28.5).

Following from the logic of this hedonism, 'God's law is the law normative for us not because he is our creator or infinitely good, but because he proffers a totally credible threat of overwhelming retribution to the disobedient' (Taylor 2001, 235). In other words, Our pursuits of happiness 'are constrained only by what God (the Law of Nature) explicitly prohibits' (Wilson 2007, 401).

As Taylor (2001, 236) explains, Locke's 'amalgam of voluntarism and hedonism' enables him 'to see the Law of Nature both as Divine command and

as the dictate of reason: The reason in question is instrumental. Once we see that we are creatures of an omnipotent lawgiver, the rational thing is to obey'. Locke drives his 'rationalized Christianity' even further by arguing that 'not only that obeying God is the (instrumentally) rational thing to do but even that (theoretical) reason can discern the content of God's will' (Taylor 2001, 236). This means that 'although we in fact learn of God's law through revelation, we could in principle reach similar conclusions by reason alone' (Taylor 2001, 236): 'God, like a super-player in a game of rational choice, instrumentalizes our instrumental reason by giving us a law which brings us into line with his purpose of general conservation' and well-being (Taylor 2001, 236). While in the Protestant vision of affirmation of everyday life 'it was a matter of living worshipfully for God, now it is becoming a question of living rationally' (Taylor 2001, 242).

In the Deist linking of reason and religion, 'God's purposes fully respect humans' autonomous reason' (Taylor 2001, 245), and 'the exercise of rationality is the way we take part in God's plan' (Taylor 2001, 242). With the rational logic driving 'towards rational transparency,' there are no more places for mystery in such rationalized religion (Taylor 2001, 245). The book written by Toland (who was Locke's contemporary) entitled *Christianity Not Mysterious* (1702) is a very revealing example of this general trend.

11.1.1.1 The refusal of original sin

According to Lowe (2002, 17), Locke's position on innate ideas has been predominantly motivated by two reasons. The first was connected with the fact that 'in Britain, as opposed to the continent of Europe, the new science of the seventeenth century had already been given a more empiricist cast by the writings of Francis Bacon (1561–1626) on the one hand, and by the scientific work of such experimentalists as Hooke, Boyle and Newton on the other'. Locke's hostility towards the doctrine of innate ideas, however, was not only related to the danger he saw in it to the freedom of thought and inquiry in the field of science, but also in matters of ethics, religion and politics. 'By contrast to the quietest Descartes,' Lowe observes (2002, 18), 'Locke was a champion of individual liberty and rights at a time when these were, in Britain at least, enjoying a precarious flowering'. In this sense, he saw the doctrine of innate

ideas also as 'inherently prone to exploitation by conservative and reactionary forces, because it is only too easy to appeal to supposedly God-given principles of morality and religion to attempt to silence challenges to prevailing authority and interests' (Lowe 2002, 18).

One such principle was also the notion of original sin, which Locke's refusal of the doctrine of innate ideas ultimately helped to erase ⁶⁹. According to the traditional Christian perspective of salvation, original sin resulted in humanity losing the capacities for achieving true bliss on earth and stained humans with lust and concupiscence. While in this sense desire was a consequence of original sin and had to be neutralized, Locke saw the human desire for pleasure and the seeking to avoid pain (i.e. the problematization of (good) feeling) not as 'a failing but an unalterable feature' of human make-up. For Locke and also other Deists, Taylor explains (2001, 242), 'Our fear of endless pain and our desire for unspeakable joys, is not evil. It is made by God and therefore good'. What English empiricism, therefore, 'introduces -- let's say, roughly, with Locke --, and doubtless for the first time in Western philosophy,' Foucault explains, 'is a subject who is not so much defined by his freedom, or by the opposition of soul and body, or by the presence of a source or core of concupiscence marked to a greater or lesser degree by the Fall or sin, but who appears in the form of a subject of individual choices' (Foucault 2008, 376). Along with original sin, the idea of grace and divine intervention also loses its meaning: 'If the good of man that God calls to becomes more and more available to human rational scrutiny, it also becomes more and more encompassable with human powers' (Taylor 2001, 245). In Locke's words, this simply means that 'men's happiness or misery is most part of their own making' (Locke 1996, 10).

Following from this, the Deist convergence (especially Locke) can be seen as the final defeat of the radical Augustinian current of the refusal of free will,

_

⁶⁹ A more indirect refusal of original sin could also be found in the ideas of the so-called natural theologians writing in roughly the same time as Locke (such as John Ray (1691) and William Derham (1711) who argued that God as the Devine Architect created a providential order designed for the harmonious benefit and well-being of its inhabitants, a notion that was as we shall see- also adopted by Locke and other Deists.

which we had traced since its birth in the time of the Pelagian polemic to its revival in the Reformation movement. Somewhat paradoxically, Deism, therefore, subverted the Protestant current of refusal of free will, out of which the affirmation of everyday life, one of its central components, had emerged. Namely, above, we have seen that one of the central Protestant theological points emphasized behind the affirmation of everyday life was the affirmative and cathartic embracing of human nature and its limitations. Refusing the Catholic ascent up the ladder of being, 'The Reformers stressed the ungodly motivation of pride that led people to try to transcend the ordinary lay condition' (Taylor 2001, 242). Instead, they argued, we should humbly accept the nature God has given us. According to Taylor (2001, 242), the Deist acceptance of hedonism, 'the fact that we are impelled by nature to maximize pleasure,' can be seen in a similar light: 'Rather than aspire to a self-abnegating altruism for which we are not made, we should accept our nature and fulfill God's purpose in it'.

Insofar as Locke and other Deists and natural theologians doubt that either nature or God has inscribed certain innate ideas (such as original sin) on human minds, it, hence, also follows that there cannot be anything inherent in the human nature that would inhibit the pursuit of happiness both in this world and in the life to come. While within the Christian experience of sin it was impossible for humans to achieve the ultimate ideal of existence on earth, now every human being has the potential to achieve happiness with his own efforts already in the present life.

In this sense, Deism and natural theology along the line of affirmation of everyday life transposed the universalizing message of Christianity from the universal sinfulness to the idea of a universal providential order created by the merciful God for the common benefit and happiness of all of its inhabitants both in heaven and on earth. That is, rather than in grace and divine intervention, in their view, the goodness of God 'manifests itself in the beneficence of the regular order of things' (Taylor 2001, 272). In this sense, 'It is not the fallenness of the world but its perfection of design which now becomes crucial. People need not be saved from a reigning disorder, but rather to learn to conform properly to the design of things' (Taylor 2001, 272).

Following from this, Deists also did not see the individual pursuit of happiness as an egoistic and self-centered activity. On the contrary, they believed that living in line with the divine providential order can be 'industrious and rational in meeting our own needs and hence, through the improvements which result help to meet the needs of others' (Taylor 2001, 239). Due to such a combination of self-service and beneficence based on divine providential order, Deism (especially Hutcheson) prepared the ground for the Enlightenment ideal of harmony of interests, which culminated in a utilitarian philosophy.

11.1.1.1 A wider happiness trend in the 17th century

By refusing original sin and by emphasizing rationality and earthly pleasure, the Deist convergence and the natural theology constituted an important part of the process that caused the problematization of good feeling on earth (now understood as pleasure and happiness) to start replacing the problematization of salvation. The birth of happiness in the 17th century was not, however, only limited to intellectual circles of Deist philosophers. While Deism certainly helped to articulate the emerging modern (religious) experience of happiness on the axis of truth, it was basically a part of a much larger trend.

As McMahon notes (2006, 190), 'The final two decades of the seventeenth century witnessed an explosion of works on happiness'. In London bookstores, one could find books like A Persuasive to a Holy Life from the Happiness that Attends it Both in this World, and in the World to Come; The Way to Health, Long Life and Happiness; England's Happiness Improved; An Infallible way to get Riches, Encrease Plenty, and Promote Pleasure, etc. (Mcmahon 2006, 191).

The happiness trend could also be increasingly observed in art. An illuminating example is Tate's adaptation of Shakespeare's tragedy King Lear in 1681, 'which sought to improve upon the original by, among other things, giving the play a happy ending' (McMahon 2006, 192). Even more than the idea itself, it was revealing that the 'adaptation proved tremendously appealing to contemporary audiences, holding the stage in preference to the original well into the nineteenth century' (McMahon 2006, 192). Theatre was not alone in following the happiness trend, as in poetry of this period one can also observe

'the consolidation of a more general image of the happy man, who succeeds in living his days happily until the end' (Mcmahon 2006, 192).

By far, the most convincing sign of a wider shift away from experience of sin to the modern experience of happiness emerging in the 17th century can be found in the official Church, which still maintained a major influence on the common folk. According to Thomas (2009, 226), 'In the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries, much was said by Anglican divines about the "pleasantness" of religion and the daily happiness it could bring to those who practiced it'. In 1675, for example (15 years before Locke's Essay Concerning Human Understanding), Richard Allestree who was a leading English Royalist divine published his Arts of Contentment, 'a work that went through over twenty editions, remaining in print until the nineteenth centuries' (McMahon 2006, 189), which, in simple words, captured the tenor of his age. While Allestree (1677) acknowledged that 'every man would have happiness,' he was also quick to remark that most of the people lose themselves in 'blind pursuits'. Being a man of the Church, he naturally saw a solution in following God who is 'happy in himself' and who can show us 'a more certain, a more compendious way to acquire what we grasp after'. According to Allestree (1677), in the Gospel everybody can find 'a plain, a safe, nay a pleasant path, as much superior both in the ease of the way, and in the end to which it leads, as heaven is to Canaan'. In contrast to the Israelites, however, Allestree argues (1677), we need not wander in 'wild pursuits' to find happiness in the promised land; 'we may form it within our own breasts'. For Allestree (1677), the potentiality for happiness already in the present life, therefore, lies within us all and Christianity is the only true beacon that shows the right way and as such represents 'certainly the most excellent, the most compendious art of happy living' in which 'all the lines of wordly happiness are concentrated'.

In the widely read works of the official Church figures such as Allestree, it is therefore possible to identify a crucial development slowly taking its root even within the official Christian religion -- one that not only promises ultimate bliss in the afterlife, but clearly also starts employing the Gospel to improve the human condition already in the present life⁷⁰. In the context of the modern experience of happiness, (Christian) religion eventually comes down to mainly performing this role.

As McMahon (2006, 195) observes, the general forces that had worked to create a space for the birth of happiness in England were at work abroad, too:

in Scotland and Ireland, in the American colonies, and on the European continent, influential voices were beginning to draw similar conclusions from the combined precedents of Renaissance Humanism and innovative Christian theology, imagining a place for pleasure and felicity on earth. As increasing numbers began to think beyond the boundaries of sin, the scope for Western happiness widened considerably.

11.1.1.3 God as the foundation for happiness on Earth

In the 17th century, the problematization of good feeling/pleasure in connection with the affirmation of everyday life (or in short the problematization of happiness⁷¹) slowly but surely started to dominate over the problematization of salvation, producing a wider shift from the ideal of existence focused on eternal bliss in heaven and afterlife to the ideal of pursuing happiness (through pleasure) in the present life. This development can already be seen as the beginning of a purely modern experience of happiness on the axis of truth, which differs from the preceding experience of sin in almost all major aspects except in retaining certain elements of Christian divinity. While salvation in the afterlife is still regarded as the final goal, there is a clear trend (among the clergymen, laymen and (Deist) philosophers alike) of religion being increasingly understood primarily as a foundation for happiness on earth. This trend will become even more obvious in the 18th century when even 'otherwise orthodox members of the church were penning treatises with popular titles like *I want to Be Happy, The School of Happiness*, and *The Theory of Happiness*, or

vigorously emphasized the old Christian vision of salvation.

_

⁷⁰ Here we should note that this innovation was did not go completely unquestioned. There were some conservative and reactionary churchmen such as Edmund Calamy (1662), who still

⁷¹ From the point when the problematization of good feeling/pleasure and the affirmation of everyday life become firmly consolidated and dominant, also a shorter (but wider) expression can also be used: the problematization of happiness.

the Art of Rendering Oneself So' (McMahon 2006, 204). It is revealing that in line with this trend in numerous religious books and even in the Christian canon, the word beatitude (blessedness) characterizing the ideal of human existence within the Christian problematization of salvation eventually started being translated as happiness, de facto implying that the modern form of Christianity is actually closer to the modern experience of happiness rather than to the medieval experience of sin. And, in fact, according to Thomas (2009, 267), although the church influence on society was still considerable

in practice, most of the population implicitly took a more secular view: they cherished life for its own sake, not merely as a preliminary to some future state. Highly aware of the satisfactions which they could hope to find in their work and their possessions, the affection of their friends and families, and the respect of their peers, they increasingly sought fulfillment in their daily existence.

Insofar as this early form of happiness is still retaining certain religious elements, we shall call it the religious experience of happiness. In the broadest sense, it could be seen as a basic model for the majority of all future religious experiences of happiness in Western culture that range from the various expressions of Christian religiosity to the so-called new-age spirituality emerging in the second half of the 20th century⁷².

In addition to the religious experience of happiness in development since the 17th century, in the 18th century a secular experience of happiness also emerged as part of the continuation of the process of the birth of happiness in Western culture. Its introduction is largely connected to the secularization processes catalyzed by the Enlightenment movement.

present life.

⁷² We are not implying that so-called new-age spirituality also worships Christian God, which in fact most of the numerous new-age approaches don't. Rather we would like to suggest that many new-age approaches share this basic model of accepting a certain divine, higher principle or force, which a person has to take into account or follow in order to pursue happiness in the

11.1.2 Enlightenment and the birth of modern secular happiness

In 1705, the Dutch preacher Johannes Aalstius argued in his general introduction to Christian ethics that the new radicalism, and especially Spinozism, overturns the entire structure of divinely ordained morality (Aalstius 1705 in Israel 2001, 5). Were such developments to gain wide acceptance, he further warned, 'mankind would in the future concern itself only with individual happiness in this life' (Aalstius 1705 in Israel 2001, 5). As it turned out, his predictions (at least regarding the pursuit of happiness exclusively in this life) were right.

Sweeping across Europe since the second half of the 17th century, the Enlightenment movement started to 'challenge everything inherited from the past -- not just commonly received assumptions about mankind, society, politics, and the cosmos, but also the veracity of the Bible and the Christian faith or indeed any faith' (Israel 2001, 4). Whereas before 1650 confessional differences and conflicts were at the centre of concern, by the 1680s an increasing number of French, Dutch, German and English writers began to note that 'the main issue now was the escalating contest between faith and incredulity' (Israel 2001, 4). The rationalization and secularization process 'rapidly overthrew theology's age-old hegemony in the world of study and 'slowly but surely eradicated magic and belief in the supernatural from Europe's intellectual culture' (Israel 2001, 4). In practice, many ordinary people also followed the trend of intellectual revolution. According to Israel (2001, 6), proofs that 'new ideas were rapidly transforming attitudes and beliefs throughout society' were 'abundantly evident on every side and in every part of Europe'. As Seckedorff, for example, observed in as early as 1685 (in Israel 2001, 6), this growing trend among ordinary folk included mocking the holy scripture, rejecting heaven and hell, doubting the immortality of the soul and questioning the existence of Satan, demons and spirits.

-

⁷³ We are on the same page with Israel (2001: 159) that Spinoza indeed had no rival as the chief progenitor and author of the main radical enlightenment ideas of 'eliminating divine Providence and governance of the world' that have culminated in 'the Naturalistic, materialist, one-substance' system of thought characteristic of the Enlightenment.

Eighteenth-century Europe was, hence, increasingly witnessing 'the regression of belief in God, and even more, the decline in the practice of religion, to the point where from being central to the whole life of Western societies, public and private, this has become sub-central, one of many private forms of involvement which some people indulge in' (Taylor 2001, 309). Logically, such processes had important consequences for the experience of happiness, which slowly but surely became a central goal of human existence from the second half of the 17th century onwards.

Although the current Deist and the accompanying wider social and religious developments have already quite firmly re-orientated the focus of the ideal of human existence to gravitate more to the earthly realm, the religious experience of happiness that these developments had produced still included the ideas of heaven, divine providence and governance of the world. Enlightenment, on the other hand, has stripped happiness completely clear of its religious outlook, producing the secular modern experience of happiness, which is -- as we shall see -- manifested in two main modes.

Holbach's *Christianity Unveiled* (1761) is perhaps one of the most directs attacks on the old Christian tradition and, at the same time, a clear paving of the way towards the modern secular vision of happiness, which, in its basic formula -- with certain developments of course -- still persists today. In the typical Enlightenment spirit, Holbach's critical reflection of Christianity is set up as an examination of whether it (along with Judaism and also other religions) can contribute to individual and communal happiness. Holbach (1761, ch. XI) puts all the major aspects of Christian religion, from its mysteries, dogmas, rites, and ceremonies to priesthood, morality and politics, to the test of discerning reason and vigorously concludes that Christianity in all its facets contributes only to the 'destruction of human happiness'. In his view, Christian religion 'can be advantageous only to ignorant and vicious princes, who are desirous to reign over slaves, and who, in order to strip and tyrannize over them with impunity, form a league with the priesthood, whose function it has ever been to deceive in the name of heaven' (Holbach 1761, ch. XVI).

For the radical Enlightenment thinkers like Holbach, Voltaire, Diderot and La Metrrie, Christianity and along with it its illusory ideal of human existence envisaged as salvation in heaven stand as obstacles to the potential of true improvement of the human condition only achievable in the form of happiness on Earth. 'Hell is no more; tis Heaven now on earth ...,' observed another Enlightenment philosopher Claude-Adrien Helvetius (in McMahon 2006, 199) in his poem *Happiness*. In the Christian perspective, true bliss was only accessible in the afterlife. The Enlightenment perspective, on the contrary, refuses the possibilities of life beyond this world and sees the potential for true happiness as something only pertaining to life on Earth. Before, Holbach argues (1761, ch. XVI), people were led to expect 'happiness from chimeras' merely because they were 'forbidden to seek for it from realities'. While due to original sin it was held before that humans were not able to achieve true bliss in the present life, now human beings are perceived as intended by nature to pursue and achieve happiness exclusively in this world.

The Enlightenment philosophers agreed with the Deist perspective in considering the pursuit of happiness as a universal possibility (which is entirely achievable by human effort), but they diverged in their understanding of the foundations of this universal possibility. In this sense, the Deist understanding of God as the source and the bestower of happiness through the creation of the divine providential order is replaced by nature herself who -- personified in Holbach's (1966) *Systeme de la nature* -- is calling to us humans: 'O you, says she, who, according to the inclination that I give you, tend towards happiness in every instant of your existence, do not resist my sovereign law. Work towards your happiness; Enjoy without fear, be happy' (Holbach 1966, 3). As for those still clinging to the divine, the voice of nature exclaims,

In vain, o superstitious one! do you seek your well-being beyond the limits of the universe where my hand has placed you. In vain do you ask it of these inexorable fantoms which your imagination wishes to establish on my eternal throne ... in vain do you trust in these capricious deities whose beneficence sends you into ecstasy; while they fill your sojourn with dread, with wailing, with illusions. Therefore dare to free yourself from the yoke of this religion, my proud rival, that does not recognize my laws. In my dominion reigns liberty ... Come back then, child, deserter, come back to nature! She will console you, she will chase from your heart these

fears which overwhelm you, these worries which tear at you, these outbursts which agitate you, these hatreds which separate you from man whom you should love (Holbach 1966, 3).

No wonder, then, McMahon observes (2006, 200) with the help of Mauzi (1994) and Hazard (1969), that 'no previous age wrote so much on the subject or so often. In France, Britain, and the Low Countries, in Germany, Italy, and the United States, disquisitions on happiness poured from the presses: reflections on happiness, treatises on happiness, systems of happiness, discourses, essays, sketches, and epistles'. And as Hazard (1969) notes further, in all major European cities, the College of Nobles even organized a lecture series on the theme 'Man's Happiness Here Below'. The Enlightenment period, hence, further intensified the problematization of (good) feeling and happiness already initiated by the Deist convergence of the affirmation of everyday life and the rational employment of free will. Following from its secular perspective, the pursuit of happiness for the first time became completely independent from the divine and exclusively limited to the earthly realm.

11.1.2.1 From providentialism to utilitarianism

Similar to the Deist view that had preceded it, the Enlightenment perspective is also starting from the problematization of good feeling/pleasure on earth, which implies that people desire happiness and pleasure and strive to avoid pain. From their secular views, however, it follows that in order to maximize happiness, we cannot rely on a divine providential order inherently designed for the common good and happiness of its inhabitants⁷⁴. Instead, as Enlightenment thinkers argued, we have to look at the world and at our own natures, 'as a neutral domain, which we have to understand in order to master it, and whose causal relations we have to make use of in order to produce the greatest amount of happiness' (Taylor 2001, 321). The crucial judgment for any action, then, cannot be based on the rational understanding of a pre-existing law (like Locke's Law of God), but on the rational understanding of the consequences of this action. Following from this enlightenment, ethics were

-

⁷⁴ The idea of the divine providential order was not only questioned theoretically, but also satirized in works such as Voltaire's Candide (2006) and Samuel Johnson's Rasselas (1805), which were symptomatically both published in 1759 after the catastrophic Lisbon earthquake.

purely based on utility, where the principle of utility corresponded to 'that principle which approves or disapproves of every action whatsoever, according to the tendency which it appears to have to augment or diminish the happiness of the party whose interest is in question: or, what is the same thing in other words, to promote or to oppose that happiness⁷⁵ (Bentham 2000, ch. 1). In this sense, the inherent human inclination to maximize pleasure and avoid pain is not understood solely in terms of the motives for human action, but also constitutes the principal moral standard of right and wrong.

Even though such utilitarian understanding of happiness is usually associated with the English philosophical school of utilitarianism (headed by Jeremy Bentham and John Stuart Mill), it was in fact -- at least implicitly -- common to almost all Enlightenment thinkers⁷⁶.

11.1.2.2 Harmony of interest vs. egoistic immoral hedonism

For the majority of early Enlightenment thinkers, the central part of the doctrine about human happiness was also the view 'that there was a potential harmony of interests between human beings' (Taylor 2001, 330), which was – as we have seen above – already anticipated by Deism (most prominently by Hutcheson). Contrary to Deism, however, the secularist Enlightenment thinkers didn't see the basis for such harmony of interests in the already existent divine providential order created by God for the well-being of its inhabitants. Instead, they believed that men should efficiently use natural resources and properly (e. i. rationally) organize society so that 'the felicity of each would consist with and even conduce to the felicity of all' (Taylor 2001, 330). In doing so -- of

⁷⁵ Bentham even goes so far as to argue that pleasure and pain in fact constitute the root of all psychological entities: 'Among all the several species of psychological entities . . . the two which are as it were the roots, the main pillars or foundations of all the rest, the matter of which all the rest are composed—or the receptacles of that matter, which so ever may be the physical image, employed to give aid, if not existence to conception, will be, it is believed . . . seen to be, Pleasures and Pains. Of these, the existence is matter of universal and constant experience. Without any of the rest, these are susceptible of,—and as often as they come unlooked for, do actually come into, existence: without these, no one of all those others ever had, or ever could have had, existence' (Bentham in Schofield 2006, 30).

⁷⁶ In Das Kapital Marx (1982, 758) for example regarded English utilitarian philosophy only as a dull reproduction of the preceding French enlightenment philosophers.

course -- they would have to take into account the principle of utility and the natural causalities that govern the play of pleasure and pain. 'No longer was,' Porter explains (1996, 11), 'the Universe a pious mystery, pervaded by occult powers and spiritual destinies; it was a machine that could be taken to bits, put together again, mended, altered and improved'.

Above, we have seen that for the Enlightenment philosophers, the principle of maximizing pleasure and minimizing pain constitutes the main moral standard of right and wrong. Taking also the idea of harmony of interests into account, it then follows that this principle of utility holds not only for the individual subject, but also for the collective subject. Hence, the famous Bentham's declaration in Fragment of Government: 'It is the greatest happiness⁷⁷ of the greatest number that is the measure of right and wrong' (Bentham 1969, 45). Following from the connection between happiness and the idea of harmony of interests, Enlightenment thinkers frequently problematized the dimension of collective happiness, which was often referred to as public happiness (see, e.g., Chastellux 1774).

But how did the Enlightenment thinkers conceive of harmony of interest without the foundation of morality in the divine providential order? First, they connected benevolence with (scientific) reason, which resulted in the idea that 'disengaged rationality seems to separate us from our own narrow, egoistic standpoint and make us capable of grasping the whole picture' (Taylor 2001, 331). Insofar as we are, thus, 'no longer imprisoned in the self, we are free to pursue the universal good' (Taylor 2001, 331). And second, 'in giving central significance to sensual pleasure and pain, and in challenging all the different conceptions of order, the utilitarians made it possible for the first time to put the relief of suffering, human but also animal, at the centre of the social agenda' (Taylor 2001, 331). This is possible, they maintained, because in the perfect situation, by using the power of reason, 'everyone would understand

⁷⁷ While this famous phrase is commonly associated with Bentham, McMahon explains (2006, 212), 'He was merely reiterating what was already a widespread eighteenth-century conviction'. In fact, the "proto-variations" of the phrase were already employed by thinkers such as Hutchenson, Leibnitz, Beccaria and Helvetius (McMahon 2006, 212).

and act in full cognizance of this harmony, that each would seek happiness in what made for general happiness' (Taylor 2001, 330).

The importance attributed by the majority of Enlightenment thinkers to the moral dimension of happiness that manifested as the idea of harmony of interest becomes obvious when one considers that secular views can also serve as a basis for quite a different moral outlook. Namely, if pleasure and happiness are seen as the ultimate goals of human existence that is not founded on any divine order created for the beneficence of all its inhabitants, but purely on natural causal relations, then materialism and naturalism can also lead to a position of purely amoral egoistic hedonism. Even in the progressive spirit of the 18th century, few people dared to publicly employ the notions of materialism and naturalism so radically. Arousing great controversy amongst their contemporaries and suspicion by the authorities, Julien Offray de La Mettrie and later Marquis de Sade were the most famous of the lot.

La Mettrie studied medicine under Boerhaave, the most famous medical man of the time in Europe, 'which shaped the initial phase of his career as a writer and philosophe' (Israel 2001, 704). Following from his medical background, his first philosophical work was a scientific study of the soul with a suggestive title L'Historie naturelle de l'ame, in which he radicalized the materialism of his medical teacher and combined it with elements of Spinozist monism, dangerously hinting that 'what is called the soul is simply the sum total of its bodily parts, the final product of the interaction of matter' (McMahon 2006, 224). Threatening to erode the centuries-old Western dualist conception of body and soul, the book caused turbulent outcry in France. The police seized all copies from the bookshops and La Mettrie had to flee to the Netherlands.

In exile, he produced his greatest work, L'Homme machine, in which he 'attempts to explain man's nature and his behavior in purely materialist terms, claiming that medical experience proves the different states of the soul are always linked to those of the body' (Israel 2001, 705). In this sense, La Mettrie understands human beings as nothing other than a natural machine, 'a self-winding machine, a living representation of perpetual motion' (La Mettrie 1994, 32). L'Homme machine was excessive even for the Dutch, known for their long tradition of tolerance. La Mattrie had to flee again. This time, he

found refuge at the court of the freethinking Prussian king, Frederick the Great, where he spent the remaining three years of his short but intensive life further glorifying sensualism both in words and even more so in his actions.

Already from the naturalist system in L'Homme machine, it follows that happiness 'must begin by acknowledging frankly what we are -- material beings, sophisticated animals, complex machines' (McMahon 2006, 226), unstoppably driven by the natural imperative for pleasure. Based on this assumption, McMahon explains (2006, 228), all of La Mettrie's subsequent works (*The System of Epicurus, The art of Enjoying oneself, The school of sensual pleasure, The Anti Seneca, The discourse on Happiness*) basically employed the same happiness formula; namely, that happiness lays 'in pleasure, in pleasure alone, and all who suggested otherwise were enemies of humanity, charlatans, or both'. For La Mettrie, 'purely and simply, pleasure was an affair of the organs -- a matter of the senses, the sensation of matter. We should seek it any way we can' (McMahon 2006, 228).

While the majority of other Enlightenment thinkers also advocated pleasure and happiness as the cardinal human goal, they still maintained that the individual human tendency to maximize pleasure has to be synchronized with the common good (i.e. greatest happiness for the greatest numbers). Insofar as this also implies that our individual pursuit of happiness is not, as the Deist thinker Adam Smith (2002, 255) puts it, 'disturbing in any respect the happiness of our neighbor,' the rational idea of harmony of interests also dictates that either rational individuals themselves or -- in case they are not capable of doing so -- the government has to bound the manifestation of the innate and possibly egoistic drive for pleasure.

Refusing all such rational internal or external inhibitions to the unstoppable human drive for pleasure, La Mettrie and later also de Sade, on the contrary, demonstrated both in writing end even more so with their lives an entirely different mode of the modern secular experience of happiness. From the radical hedonist perspective, the idea of harmonious public happiness is far too idealistic and repressive, ignoring the empirical evidence of humans as instinctive pleasure machines. As a consequence, the utilitarian ideal of the

greatest happiness for the greatest numbers is an illusion only conceivable in theory.

While for the dominant enlightenment current advocating the idea of harmony of interest, individuals have to rationally steer their drive for pleasure (i.e. rational hedonism), La Mettrie (in McMahon 2006, 229) sees reason, rather, as something that 'freezes the imagination and chases pleasure away'. Here, we have to note that La Mettrie is not completely abandoning reason -- after all, he was writing scientific books. According to his study of the human machine driven by pleasure, however, it follows that reason has to be subordinated to the 'despotism of pleasure' (La Mettrie in Mcmahon s 229).

La Mettrie (in Mcmahon 2006, 228), hence, radicalized the enlightenment hedonism and materialism to the extreme point of completely refusing morality and the common good on account of individual pleasure and happiness: 'It is thus very clear that with respect to happiness, good and evil are in themselves indifferent. The one who receives more satisfaction from doing evil will be happier than whoever receives less from doing good ... Happiness is individual and particular, and may be found in the absence of virtue and even in crime'. That is, our egoistic pursuit for sensual gratification cannot be bound by any external or internal inhibition like law or morality. In addition, according to La Mettrie, happiness being individual and particular also means that happiness is not a priori bound to any specific range of experience (i.e. what is commonly perceived as agreeable), but can encompass the whole spectrum of human experience. He writes in *L'Anti-Seneque*, ou *Discours sur le bonheur* (La Mattrie in McMahon 2006, 228),

May profane enjoyment and sensual indulgence, those two lubricious rivals, succeed each other in turn, melting you in pleasures, while making your soul as sticky and lascivious as your body. When you are spent, drink, eat, sleep, dream. If you insist on thinking on occasion, at least do so amidst two vines, sipping the pleasure of the present moment, or savoring the desire in store for you during the hour to come. Finally, if not content to outdo yourself in the great art of sensual pleasures, and if debauchery and dissolution are to your taste, perhaps filth and infamy

will be more to your liking. Wallow in slime like a pig, and you will be happy in their fashion.

Apart from his written works, La Mettrie's radical hedonistic position also poured from his existence. He was supposedly a sensualist and bon vivant who openly and without reservation indulged in myriad sensual pleasures. La Mettrie, therefore, demonstrated both in theory and practice that the modern secular experience of happiness is marked by this irrational/Dionysian/instinctive drive for egoistic pleasure, which according to him cannot and/or should not be rationally curtailed.

Believing in the power of disengaged reason that in their view enables humans to act beyond their narrow selfish interest, it is not surprising, then, that even the most radical Enlightenment figures such as Voltaire, Diderot and Holbach vigorously condemned both his excessive theories and life. 'Dissolute, impudent, a flatterer, a buffoon, ... died as he ought to have lived ... killed by the ignorance that he professed,' Diderot observed (in McMahon 2006, 222), years after La Mettrie's death allegedly⁷⁸ caused by overeating and indigestion of pate de faisan aux truffes (pheasant paste). Even more so than his existential decadence, his Enlightenment contemporaries were appalled by his philosophy of purely egoistic hedonism: 'We are assured that there have been philosophers and atheists who have denied the distinction between virtue and vice, and who have preached debauchery and licence in their morals. The author who has recently published L'Homme Machine has argued concerning morals like a frenzied madman' (Holbach in Taylor 2001, 334).

The reasons for the vigorous criticism of La Mettrie by his contemporaries were not only related to the fact that his vision of happiness was in direct conflict with their idea of harmony of interest, but also because his egoistic and immoral hedonism was based on the same naturalism and materialism that they themselves so eagerly professed. After all, even the advocates of the Enlightenment idea of harmony of interest readily recognized the drive for pleasure as an integral part of the modern secular experience of happiness. The

_

⁷⁸ The reasons for La Mettrie's death still haven't been completely disclosed as various theories and reports exist.

fundamental disagreement between the proponents of the two modes of secular happiness concerned the understanding of what role this immanent human drive ought to play in their respective visions of human happiness. The harsh theoretical and moral attacks on La Metrrie alone point to the fact that the utilitarian enlightenment thinkers believed that the instinctive drive for egoistic pleasure is something that stands in the way of the public happiness based on the harmony of interest and, hence, has to be directed and restrained.

11.1.2.3 The two aspects of the modern secular experience of happiness

In addition to the modern religious experience of happiness that emerged in the 17th century, the process of the birth of happiness that continued well into the 18th century has also produced a secular experience of happiness, which conjoins two conflicting aspects. Spawned by the Enlightenment movement, both modes of the secular experience of happiness are based on materialistic and naturalistic views.

On the one hand, we have the dominant rationalistic-utilitarian mode that promotes public happiness, which, through the idea of harmony of interest, encompasses individual and communal happiness based on the principle of utility. On the other hand, we have the amoral mode of egoistic hedonism that advocates unrestrained expression of the individual's instinctive drive for pleasure.

There is no doubt that on the axis of truth the rationalistic-utilitarian mode was vastly dominant in terms of the sheer number of Enlightenment thinkers and their influence on the development of Western societies. The notorious marquise de Sade, who, towards the end of the 18th century and in the beginning of the 19th, in many respects drew from, lived by and further developed La Metrrie's vision of radical hedonism (and also d'Holbach's naturalism and materialism) was only an exception within this general trend.

The utilitarian vision of happiness advocating a certain restraint of the human drive for pleasure dominated not only theoretically, but also morally, politically and institutionally. This does not mean, however, that in practice the egoistic/irrational drive for pleasure diagnosed and pursued by La Metrrie and de Sade ceased to lurk in the depths of the Western subject of happiness. On the contrary, we believe that to a large extent it is precisely through the tension

between the rationalistic-utilitarian mode and the amoral hedonist mode that the modern secular happiness is constituted on all axes of experience.

So let us now examine how, based on the dynamic between the two aspects of the secular experience of happiness, the dominant enlightenment current envisaged the path that, in their view, humanity should take in order to achieve (public) happiness and the improvement of the human condition on earth.

11.1.3 The (infinite) progress towards individual and public happiness

Insofar as they believed that both individual and public happiness cannot rely on a pre-existing providential order and, thus, ought to be pursued entirely by human effort, the mainstream enlightenment current intrinsically connected their utilitarian ideal of human happiness with scientific, technological, individual, social, political and economic progress. As Porter (1996, 12) explains, eighteenth-century thinkers 'developed from such assumption a fierce championing of individualism, a vindication of independence, the right of self-determination, self-improvement and happiness'.

11.1.3.1 (Natural) science, technology and the material conditions for happiness

As Kant (1784) proclaimed later in the century in his answer to the question 'What is enlightenment?' the motto of Enlightenment was *Sapere aude* -- dare to know. Glorifying the power of reason, Enlightenment thinkers were confident that only better understanding and the development of knowledge about the world, the natural laws, man and human laws can truly improve the human condition and bring the greatest happiness for the greatest numbers. In addition, science and technology, philosophy, political theory and (moral) education were perceived as the cornerstones of progress towards the improvement of the human condition on earth.

The rapidly developing science and technology based on empirical observation pioneered by Bacon and Galilei and further developed by experimentalists and innovators such as Hooke, Boyle and Newton gradually started improving material conditions in Europe. Advances in agricultural productivity and improvements in livestock breeding meant that Europeans ate more and better

than before. With superior nutrition and advances in medicine and hygiene, people were also less susceptible to disease. This resulted in declining mortality rates and longer life spans. After centuries of fluctuations due to war, disease and famine, the total population of Europe started to increase beginning in 1750 (see McMahon 2006, 205).

The improvement of material conditions catalyzed by scientific advances was certainly an important factor contributing to the consolidation of the problematization of happiness in Western culture. After all, 'Only when individuals are free from the vicious daily pursuit of staying alive can they afford to undertake the pursuit of more exalted goals' in the present life (McMahon 2006, 205). Moreover, the evident material progress also further fueled the production of truth about pursuing the greatest amount of happiness for the greatest numbers.

Namely, inspired by the empirical investigations of natural laws and the concomitant technological progress, the Enlightenment thinkers also hoped to examine man and human laws with the same scientific precision.⁷⁹ Given the broad interest in happiness in the 18th century, it is not surprising that the new scientific approach based on mathematical gauges was quickly employed to examine and supposedly facilitate (public) happiness. If happiness has become the central goal of humanity, the Enlightenment thinkers believed, we should also attempt to measure the progress towards it. The Italian theorist Cesare Beccaria, for example, proposed a 'political arithmetic' on which public policies towards 'greatest happiness shared among the greatest number' would be based and assessed (Beccaria 1986, 5). With the so-called Felicific calculus, Bentham (2000, ch. IV) devised a more general approach with the help of which he hoped to be able to measure the degree or amount of pleasure that a specific action is likely to cause on both the individual and collective level. In another text, Bentham (1817) even tried to capture the play of pleasure and pain into a series of complex typologies that were supposed to define 'the springs of action' behind the principle of utility, which ranged from thirst and hunger to love and intoxication.

_

⁷⁹ Therefore, the Enlightenment thinkers are often considered to have made the first attempts of modern scientific analysis of man and society.

Perhaps the most notable attempt in this direction was Chastellux's historical comparative approach that begins in the typical Enlightenment spirit: 'are there any more beautiful, more worthy of our attention than those which have for their object the happiness of humanity? Many authors have examined with care, whether one people was more religious, more sober, or more warlike than another: none has yet attempted to find the happiest people' (Chastellux 1772) in Mcmahon 2006, 214). Aiming to fill these lacunae with what he called indices de bonheur (indicators of happiness), Chastellux's approach can be seen as one of the first empirical attempts to (comparatively) measure happiness. According to Chastellux, ideally this would require comparing variables such as daily and annual totals of working hours needed to acquire basic 'necessities and ease'; amount of available leisure time for the workers; levels of taxation, etc. Since such precise data was not available to him, he was, however, forced to adopt a more basic scale. Being well aware of the harsh material conditions of survival that plagued Europe for centuries (and which were now evidently improving), he saw the levels of population and the productivity of agriculture as the main positive indicators of public happiness. As for the negative ones, he regarded war and slavery as the main hindrances to public happiness, followed closely by religious superstition.

The next logical step of the emphasis on the advancement of knowledge about man and society was that rationally acquired knowledge should be employed for (moral) education and for determining the role the state and its government should play in the progress towards happiness.

11.1.3.2 Happiness, education and the state

For the Deists, happiness was ultimately a matter of conforming properly to the divine providential order intrinsically designed for the harmonic well-being of its inhabitants, but they were also less inclined to governmental and legislative intervention directly concerned with happiness. Of the many paths pursued by man, Locke (1993, 407) argued,

There is only one of these which is the true way to eternal happiness. But in this great variety of ways that men follow, it is still doubted which is the right one. Now neither the care of the commonwealth, nor the right of enacting laws, does discover this way that leads to heaven more certainly

to the magistrate, than every private man's search and study discovers it unto himself.

As a consequence, according to Locke, the matter of government was to enable individual liberty that would create the context in which citizens could pursue happiness on their own accord (by understanding the laws of the divine providential order): 'The great and chief end, therefore, of men's uniting into commonwealths and putting themselves under government,' Locke argues (2008, 76), 'is the preservation of their property' (where property for Locke corresponds both to material possessions and personal autonomy).

On the other hand, the Enlightenment philosophers refused the existence of divine providential order, and it followed that humans on their own ought to create a harmonic order that would -- taking the natural causalities governing the play of pleasure and pain into account of course -- enable the greatest happiness for the greatest number of people. A logical consequence of such rationale was that the Enlightenment philosophers were also more inclined to support a stronger role of government in ensuring happiness of its people.

Strongly believing in the idea of harmony of interests, the mainstream Enlightenment thinkers advocated progress towards individual and collective (public) happiness on the level of the state in both a positive sense -- promoting happiness and eliminating suffering through education and the improvement of material conditions; and also in the negative sense of restraining the individual egoistic drive for pleasure through the laws and apparatuses of the state. In this sense, they saw important means for improvement of the human condition by way of education in relation to the government that would collectively provide the moral and political conditions for the happiness of society. Holbach, for example, argued that

In fact, it is certain, that man is a social being, who in all things seeks his own happiness, that he does good when he finds it his interest; that he is not commonly bad, because that would be contrary to his welfare. This being premised let education teach men to know the relations which exist among themselves, and the arising from those relations; let governments calling to their aid laws, rewards and punishments, confirm the lessons

given by education; let happiness accompany useful and virtuous actions, let shame, contempt, and chastisement be the rewards of vice. Then would mankind have a true morality, founded in their own nature upon their mutual and the interest of nations at large (Holbach 1761, Introduction).

Education, on the one hand, ought to cast away religious fanaticism and superstitions that, according to Enlightenment philosophers, prevented people pursuing earthly happiness as their true natural end. On the other hand, it should foster morality, wisdom and virtues in accordance with the idea of harmony of interest. 'Men,' in a typical paternalistic Enlightenment manor, Holbach emphasized (1995, 145), 'are only unhappy because they are ignorant'.

When referring to the state and government in relation to progress towards happiness, the majority of Enlightenment philosophers strongly emphasized that the state legislation and intervention should always follow the maxim of greatest happiness of its people: 'Every authority that is not exercised for the happiness of all can only be founded on imposture and force,' Chastellux insisted (in McMahon 2006, 217). In Benthams's (2000, ch. 1) words, this implies that the principle of utility has to constitute the main principle 'not only of every action of a private individual,' but also of 'every measure of government':

'A measure of government which is but a particular kind of action, performed by a particular person or persons) may be said to be conformable to or dictated by the principle of utility, when in like manner the tendency which it has to augment the happiness of the community is greater than any which it has to diminish it' (Bentham 2000, ch.1).

In a similar vein, Adam Smith (2002, 216) also maintained that 'all constitutions of government ... are valued only in proportion as they tend to promote the happiness of those who live under them. This is their sole use and end'.

According to the Enlightenment philosophers, the understanding of the state as serving and promoting the happiness of its inhabitants does not only mean that every state and its government has to always act in accordance with the

maximization of happiness of its inhabitants, but also that such governance is in turn also serving the interest of the state itself. 'It is easy to convince every enlightened government,' Holbach argues (1761, Introduction),

that it is their true interest to govern a happy people; that upon the happiness it procures the nation, depends the stability and safety of the government; in one word, that a nation composed of wise and virtuous citizens, are much more powerful than a troop of ignorant and corrupted slaves, whom the government is forced to deceive in order to satisfy, and to deluge with impositions that it may succeed in any enterprise.

Following from this, Holbach argues (1761, ch. XVI), let the rulers 'be careful to reward talents and virtue, to discourage inutility and punish vice, and their states will soon he filled with worthy and sensible citizens, who will feel it their own interest to serve and defend their country, and support the government which is the instrument of their felicity'. Interestingly enough, even though the majority of treatises concerning the role of the state come from European Enlightenment philosophers, happiness was institutionalized for the first time across the Atlantic with the famous lines of the American Declaration of Independence drafted by Thomas Jefferson in June, 1776: 'We hold these truths to be self-evident: that all men are created equal; that they are endowed by their creator with unalienable rights; that among these are life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness⁸⁰.

In regard to happiness in relation to the state, it is important to note that the treatises of Enlightenment philosophers concerning the role of the state and its government for the promotion of public happiness were mostly idealistic visions that were never entirely put into practice. As we shall see in the chapter analyzing the power axis constituting the modern experience of happiness, the actual political reality drawn out by political theoreticians was quite different. Above we have argued that within the preceding experience of sin the vision of salvation was employed for the exercise of pastoral power. Similarly also

development, which would require a particular examination that won't be pursued here.

-

⁸⁰ Even though Jefferson's idea about the pursuit of happiness was largely inspired by European philosophers such as Locke and Hutcheson and although the early American settlers were mostly emigrants from Europe, the American experience of happiness had a specific

within the modern experience of happiness the ideal of human existence was used for the exercise of (state) power. Namely, in practice, the idea of (public) happiness was strategically employed to primarily ensure, as Chemnitz (in Foucault 2007, 357) argued in as early as 1647, 'the state's preservation, expansion, and felicity' rather than the other way around as theoretically envisioned by the Enlightenment philosophers.

11.1.3.3 Economic progress and the birth of consumer culture

In the beginning of the 18th century, *The Spectator*, one of the first influential daily publications in England, satirically portrayed two old-fashioned depictions of what could be called different strategies of human happiness: on the one hand, the overzealous puritanism and, on the other, aristocratic libertinism. While the former were ridiculed as reactionary killjoys who still haven't grasped the open horizon of human progress promised by the Enlightenment, the latter were mocked for their excessive immoral debauchery. The progressive, pro-Enlightenment-oriented *The Spectator*, in contrast, advocated a middle path between the extremes, 'in which moderate pursuit of sober and rational pleasures would produce lasting enjoyment' (Porter 1996, 18). To that end, *The Spectator* 'stressed the importance of urbanity, politeness, rationality, moderation and the heeding of conventions, and gave fashionable sanction to the new sorts of pursuits -- light reading, tea-table conversation, the pleasures of the town -- expected to be personally gratifying while socially harmonious,' a view that was later imitated, recapitulated and further developed by numerous other writers and essayists.

The remaining reactionary forces, fearing that 'possessive individualism (pursuit of private gain) would prove to be disruptive' for society, were losing their momentum especially in the realm of the economy (Porter 1996, 17). The most explicit and most famous theoretical expression of the idea of harmony of interest in the economical field was Adam Smith's Wealth of Nations (1776/2007), which is widely considered to be the first modern economic theory. Amongst other things, Smith (1776/2007) argued that the selfish behavior of individuals as producers and consumers would result in the

common good (provided that it is pursued in accordance with the competitive principles of the free market):

Man has almost constant occasion for the help of his brethren, and it is in vain for him to expect it from their benevolence only. /.../ It is not from the benevolence of the butcher, the brewer, or the baker, that we expect our dinner, but from their regard to their own interest. We address ourselves, not to their humanity but to their self-love, and never talk to them of our own necessities but of their advantages. Nobody but a beggar chooses to depend chiefly upon the benevolence of his fellow-citizens (Smith 2007, 9).

In practice, liberal economic doctrine pioneered by Smith (1776/2007) was starting to be increasingly employed only in the 19th century. The actual economic growth, however, was well under way already under the reign of mercantilism, the preceding economic doctrine dominating Europe from the 16th to the 18th century. In accordance with the political rationality of the time (which will be examined in more detail in the section about power), mercantilism can be seen as an early form of capitalism that advocated the economic growth of the state through state-oriented protectionism.

Nascent industrialization and increasing economic growth, international trade and the expansion of urban centers on the one side produced new concentrated markets and an increased supply and variety of consumer goods. On the other, they resulted in 'a more commercial, money-driven capitalist economy, which left more people with spare money in their pockets to be spent or squandered on a growing range of amusements and commodities' (Porter 1996, 19). These processes catalyzed what historians call the birth of consumer culture/society (McKendrick et al. 1985; Roche 2000), which enabled new and increasing forms of sensual enjoyments hitherto reserved for aristocratic elites to start becoming accessible to a wider array of people and eventually to the masses⁸¹. In turn, 'enlightened economists and progressive social commentators began to view culture, sport and leisure as productive and valuable sectors of the economy, as forces of civilization and social cohesion, and as indices of

_

⁸¹ In spite of the general growth of affluence resulting in a more inclusive consumer culture, there were still considerable class class-related differences in consumption patterns.

improvement' (Porter 1996, 23). In this context, besides the industry producing commodities, a new kind of industry also arose, devoted exclusively to satisfying the popular thirst for pleasures' (Porter 1996, 23). For the first time, Porter further explains (1996, 23), 'There emerged sizable bodies of professional actors, theatre managers, painters, sportsmen, art dealers, journalists, hack writers, and other people whose business was to provide entertainment for the public at large'.

The birth of a consumer culture that enables and facilitates the Enlightenment pursuit of sensual pleasure should, therefore, be seen as closely connected to the birth of happiness. Or, as the French economist and statesman Jaques Turgot, known for making the first explicit statement on progress (1750), vividly observed, the people of his time 'as it were, bought and sold happiness' (Turgot in Rothschild 2001, 242).

11.1.3.4 The paradox of progress towards happiness

Idealizing the idea of progress at all levels of human society, the prospects for improving the human condition on earth for many Enlightenment philosophers seemed virtually endless. Bentham, for example (1983, I.4), observed that 'in civilized nations, and therefore in the whole of mankind, the sum of well-being is perpetually on the increase'. In this sense, he (and also Voltaire, 1764) regarded the scholastic and classical belief in the highest good (Summum Bonum) as a final place of rest merely as a misguided search for a 'philosopher's stone' that was 'meaningless and absurd'. 'The desire for bettering our condition,' the 18th-century social commentator Frederick Eden insisted (in Porter 1996, 12), 'is the predominant principle that animates the world'. And, according to the principle of utility, pleasure could always be further increased and suffering could always be further reduced.

Even though the Enlightenment vision of happiness through progress is explicitly constituted in direct contrast to the preceding Christian experience of sin, it paradoxically retained certain latent sediments of its logic. Akin to the idea of salvation, the vision of progress towards happiness is also based on firm and clear foundations. The certainty of God's wisdom, laws and mercy is replaced by deep faith in the power of reason believed to enable insight into the ultimate truth about achieving happiness in the present life.

In contrast to the Christian ideal of existence understood as a possible future prospect in the life to come, the Enlightenment promised that happiness could be rightly pursued and is attainable already (and only) in this life. However -- and this is the paradox -- the promise of happiness through progress only exists as an ideal in the horizon of the future, a condition indeed achievable on Earth, but still not quite yet achieved. In this sense, 'the promised land in the future,' envisioned by the Enlightenment idea of progress towards happiness, Bruckner argues (2010, 32),

'recedes before us and strangely resembles the Christian beyond. It evaporates every time we try to seize it, disappoints us as soon as we approach it. Whence the ambiguities of the idea of progress: it is a call for effort, courage, and the hope of succeeding where earlier generations failed, but it is also a defense of present suffering in the name of an improvement postponed to an enchanting but distant future. "Tomorrow" once again becomes the eternal category of sacrifice, and historical optimism takes on the appearance of an endless purgation. Eden will always come later on.

In addition, the traces of Christian logic in the Enlightenment vision of happiness can be also found in the idea of harmony of interest and public happiness. The mainstream Enlightenment movement indeed clearly connects happiness to the pursuit of sensual pleasures. However, the idea of harmony of interest behind the ideal of public happiness still implies a certain restraint of the inherent human desire for maximizing pleasure and minimizing pain. While within the Christian experience of sin the desire had to be restrained in the name of God and salvation, now it has to be restrained (to a much lesser extent, though) in the name of reason and for public happiness.

In order to further explore the process of birth of happiness, let us now turn to the axis of ethics and look more closely to the relationship to the self constituting the experience of happiness.

11.2 The subject of happiness and the (early) modern relationship to the self

11.2.1 Pleasure and happiness as the modern telos

Above, we have argued that in the Christian experience of salvation, *the telos* was about achieving purity (of desire), which was supposed to lead to salvation and true bliss in heaven. Already in the 17th century, we can see that the telos started to transform and change its focus. According to the more rational Christianity developing at the time culminating in the Deist philosophy, it would be unkind in the extreme for God to create humans that would suffer through no fault of their own and without giving them the capacities to determine how to act rightly to merit happiness both in this world and in the life to come. Questioning original sin, emphasizing rationality and reaffirming pleasure, Deism and the accompanying wider social and religious developments, thus, restored the capacities of human beings to achieve the ideal of human existence in this world.

While within the Christian problematization of salvation human desire for pleasure had to be neutralized because it leads to sin and uncleanliness, now earthly pleasure and happiness are put to the fore. Although the prospect of afterlife is still there, the cardinal telos towards the end of the 17th century increasingly became happiness and pleasure on earth. The reference to God and heaven is, therefore, not 'wholly absent, but it seems to be subordinate to a conception of happiness which is defined purely in creaturely terms' (Taylor 2001, 267). Already in his early years, Locke wrote the following lines in his journal: 'The business of man . . . [is] to be happy in this world by enjoyment of the things of nature subservient to life health ease and pleasure and the comfortable hopes of another life when this is ended' (Locke in Wilson 2007, 401). According to the Deist view, this is possible because 'God is kind enough to make our acting for our present happiness the way of securing our future goods; which is to say that the rewards and punishments of a future life endorse the path which produces the most mutual happiness in this' (Tindal in Taylor

2001, 245). In this sense, 'happiness is the attaining of the things we by nature desire, or pleasure in the absence of pain' and 'the rewards of the next life seem to be considered just as more intense and longer-lasting versions of the pleasures and pains of this' (Taylor 2001, 267).

Telos in the secular experience of happiness brought by the Enlightenment is a logical derivate of the Deist telos. Based on the intensification of problematization of positive feeling/pleasure and the affirmation of everyday life, the Enlightenment vision of happiness is characterized by 'the modern naturalist-utilitarian hostility to "higher" goods and defense of ordinary, sensuous happiness' (Taylor 2001, 104). It, hence, further emphasizes happiness, pleasure and sensual fulfillment as the ultimate human goal, but understands it exclusively in earthly terms: 'Let man cease to search outside of the world he lives in, for beings that provide him with a happiness which nature refuses him' (Holbach 1966, 3). Following from this, du Chatelet argues (in McMahon 2006, 210), 'there is nothing more to do in this life than to procure for ourselves agreeable sentiments and sensations'. For some Enlightenment writers, happiness was not only considered a universal human possibility, but almost an imperative. In 1738, for example, the young Mirabeau wrote a letter to his friend Vauvenargues criticizing him for not having an explicit strategy of happiness: 'See here, my friend, you think all the time, you study, and nothing is beyond the scope of your ideas; and yet you never think for a moment about making a clear plan leading to what should be our only goal: happiness' (Mirabeau in Bruckner 2010, 1). In sum, Porter explains (1996, 3), what therefore

marks the innovativeness of the eighteenth century is its new accent upon the legitimacy of pleasure - not as occasional release, aristocratic paganism or heavenly bliss, but as the routine entitlement of people at large to seek fulfillment in this world rather than only in heavenly salvation, to achieve the gratification of the senses not just the purification of the soul (Porter 1996, 3).

11.2.2 Nature as the sovereign master of pleasure and pain

Still partly adhering to the Christian tradition, the mode of subjection in the religious experience of happiness is the Law of God also designated by some authors as the law of nature, law of reason or natural justice. Regardless of the differences in nomenclature, Deists agreed that this universal principle is based on divine providential order inherently designed by the creator for the common good and happiness of its inhabitants. According to Adam Smith, for example (2002, 279),

the administration of the great system of the universe, however, the care of the universal happiness of all rational and sensible beings, is the business of God and not of man. To man is allotted a much humbler department, but one much more suitable to the weakness of his powers, and to the narrowness of his comprehension; the care of his own happiness, of that of his family, his friends, his country.

Compared to the medieval Christian notion of a hierarchical universe manifested in the ladder of being, or to the Protestant idea of predestination according to which only the few chosen ones can be saved, the Deist notion of providential order and God's law is much less severe and more inclusive. Namely, according to this new rational Christianity, God is kind enough to make a law according to which human pursuit for the present happiness and pleasure is at the same time also the best way of securing future well-being. As for the details of God's law for us, Tindal explains, a Deist philosopher who pushed Locke's arguments to their logical conclusion, 'We only have to look into the "Book of Nature" to see what relations we stand in, and what they require. Only a tyrant would impose commands which do not flow from these relations' (Tindal in Taylor 2001, 245).

Above, we have argued that the religious experience of happiness differs from the Christian experience of sin in almost all major facets. The only aspect in which it maintains a certain continuity with the Christian experience of sin is its mode of subjection, which is still founded on divine law. As a consequence, this is also the aspect most fundamentally transformed by the Enlightenment process of secularization, which has replaced the law of God based on God's

providential design with nature and its contingent causal relations. After abandoning God as the foundation of happiness, Holbach argues (1966, 2), let man 'study nature, that he learn its laws, that he contemplate its energy and the immutable way it acts; let him apply his discoveries to his own felicity, and submit in silence to laws from whose binding force nothing can remove him'.

Holbach's (1966) *Systeme de la nature* was one of the first systematic and uncompromising expressions of the shift from rational Christianity to naturalism and materialism. According to this view, human individuals, like everything else in the universe, are entirely physical. Undercutting the divine foundation of human morality and happiness, materialism sees the moral dimension in man simply in terms of his physical existence considered 'from a certain point of view, that is relative to some of his ways of acting' (Holbach 1966, 3). Inspired by the growing natural sciences and Spinozist monism, (Holbach's) materialism also means that physics can offer us an understanding of human existence by revealing analogies between the natural processes on all levels of existence:

Self-preservation is thus the common goal towards which all energies, forces, and human faculties seem continuously directed. Scientists have named this tendency or direction gravitation to a centre. Newton calls it force of inertia, moralists have called it in man self-love, which is but the tendency to preserve oneself, the desire for happiness, the love of well-being and pleasure ... This gravitation is thus a necessary disposition in man and all beings, who, by diverse means, tend to persevere in the existence they have received, as long as nothing disturbs the order of their machine or its primitive tendency (Holbach 1966, 58).

The Enlightenment vision of man driven by the necessity to self-preservation and the inclination to maximize pleasure is understood 'not just as the correct conclusion of observing reason but also as the deliverance of ultimately undistorted moral insight' (Taylor 2001, 326). The Enlightenment, therefore, 'embraced materialism and atheism not just as the ultimate deliverance of self-responsible reason but also as the way of being integrally true to the demand of nature' (Taylor 2001, 325). This, along with the understanding of nature as the mode of subjection, is clearly exposed in Bentham, who argued that 'nature has

placed mankind under the governance of two sovereign masters, pain and pleasure. It is for them alone to point out what we ought to do, as well as to determine what we shall do. On the one hand, the standard of right and wrong, on the other the chain of causes and effects, are fastened to their throne' (Bentham 2000, ch. 1).

11.2.3 The reign of the sensual

The ethical substance within the Christian experience of sin was desire and concupiscence for the pleasures of the flesh, which had to be neutralized in order to reach the telos – purity. Refusing such demands for the transcendence of nature by endorsing the fulfillments of ordinary life, already Deism and the accompanying wider social developments have initiated a fundamental transformation of ethical substance. The Enlightenment has taken this transformation towards the problematization of (good) feeling and sentiment another step further. First, Taylor explains (2001, 327), 'if Deism had defended the innocence of ordinary human desire from the hyper-Augustinian charge of thoroughgoing perversion through sin, this could be done all the more effectively in completely rejecting the religion within which the notion of sin took its sense'. And second, 'if Deism had defended the value of ordinary life against the supposedly higher goals of traditional ethics, naturalism could do this all the more uncompromisingly by stressing the centrality of physical pleasure and fulfillment' (Taylor 2001, 327).

In this sense, both the religious and the secular experiences of happiness radically overturned the preceding Christian formula of neutralizing desire for the pleasures of the flesh, already eroded to a certain extent by humanism and reformation through the problematization of (good) feeling. Now -- on the contrary -- desire has to be fulfilled because it alone can lead to achieving telos, which has now become earthly pleasure in the form of happiness. On account of this, Diderot, the famous father of the encyclopedia, remarked, 'I don't know what this thing is you call religion, but I can only think badly of it, since it prevents you from tasting an innocent pleasure, to which nature, the sovereign mistress, invites us all' (Diderot in Taylor 2001, 329). It is revealing that

Bentham (in Taylor 2001, 328) also saw the 'principle of asceticism' as the cardinal antipode of the principle of utility.

Following from this in the Enlightenment period, 'the promotion of ordinary life, already transposed by Deists into an affirmation of the pursuit of happiness begins to turn into an exaltation of the sensual' (Taylor 2001, 328). Ethical substance, therefore, becomes constituted by feeling and the sensual.

11.2.4 Practices of pleasure and happiness

In line with the aspects of the relationship to the self and the transformations of the other axis of experience, the birth of happiness affirmed and gave rise to a plethora of practices of pleasure, which are -- according to the principle of utility -- supposed to bring happiness to individuals: 'as uncertainty grew about the prospect of a heavenly reward,' Thomas explains (2009, 266), 'most people, without explicitly declaring any religious skepticism, chose in practice to devote their main energies to the business of making this life as fulfilling as possible'.

11.2.4.1 Consumer practices

In direct contrast to the preceding Christian asceticism and the glorification of suffering, people of the Enlightenment sought pleasures in a variety of new forms, many of which were invented and provided in the context of the developing consumer culture. As we have argued above, this developing consumer culture also enabled a much wider array of people to participate in buying commodities. On the one side, we, therefore, have an increased demand for various practices of pleasure, and on the other, 'the market -- or in other words commercial opportunism -- that led the way in providing new forms of entertainment for the paying crowd⁸², (Porter 1996, 32).

-

⁸² Within the preceding experience of sin, a lot of attention and ingenuity was dedicated to designing objects that produced suffering (as we have seen above, there was a strong competition between the craftsmen of torture instruments, which even had "catchy" names that, to a certain extent, resemble consumer brands). Within the modern experience of happiness, the competing efforts in the context of emerging capitalism are now directed to produce various objects of pleasure.

The developing consumer practices were 'accompanied and facilitated by new marketing and advertising techniques' (Thomas 2009, 119). The increased variety, quality and quantity of the stock coming from rapidly developing industrialization and international trade were followed by 'improvements in methods of sale and distribution, reflected in the increasing separation of retailing from production, a rise in the number of shops, chapmen, and other outlets' (Thomas 2009, 119). While these developments could more or less be observed across Europe, England with its large empire and the most rapidly developing level of industrialization was leading the way in consumer revolution. 'It is almost impossible to express how well everything is organized in London,' the German novelist, Sophie von La Roche (1933), admired in 1786:

Every article is made more attractive to the eye than in Paris or any other town. We especially noticed a cunning device for showing women's materials Whether they are silks, chintzes or muslins, they hang down in folds behind the fine high windows so that the effect of this or that material, as it would be in the ordinary folds of a woman's dress can be studied. Amongst the muslins all colors are on view, and so one can judge how the frock would like in company with its fellows. Now large shoe and slipper shops for anything from adults down to dolls can be seen - now fashion articles or silver or brass shops - boots, guns, glasses - the confectioner's goodies, the pewterer's wares - fans, etc. Behind great glass windows absolutely everything one can think of is neatly, attractively displayed, and in such abundance of choice as almost to make one greedy.

Besides buying happiness by refining their personal style, early modern consumers also sought pleasure in improving the appearance and comfort of their homes that were 'increasingly stocked with comforts and "decencies," which were shop-bought rather than home-made' even in ordinary people's homes: from 'curtains to carpets, tableware to tea-sets, plate to prints' (Porter 1996, 23).

Shopping as the cardinal consumer practice, therefore, started acquiring new functions: from a practice of procuring basic needs of survival, it developed

into a leisure activity⁸³. In this sense, Thomas explains (2009, 121), 'many of the goods purchased in the early modern period were acquired, not for convenience or to satisfy a physical need, but to allay what many commentators were learning to call "imaginary," "artificial," or "phantastic" wants'.

The consumer culture also included a variety of new (such as leisure reading of books, essays, novels, light reading and magazines) and the intensification of old kinds of amusements such as food and drink. As Porter (1996, 33) observes, 'enormous delight was taken in food -- partly as a result of low prices, partly thanks to the increasing importation of new and exotic foodstuffs such as pineapples'. Culinary indulgences were then washed down by those of the bottle. The 18th century especially 'was notorious for heavy alcohol consumption, indeed for public and often unashamed drunkenness' (Porter 1996, 33), which was becoming all the more intensive as it was precisely in this time that the much stronger distilled spirits 'became available' and gained 'widespread popularity throughout Europe' (Martin 2001, 18).

What we therefore see 'during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries,' Thomas explains (2009, 140)

is the gradual emergence of a new ideology, accepting the pursuit of consummer goods as a valid object of human endeavor, and recognizing that no limit could, or should, be put to it. Consumption was justified in terms of the opportunities it brought for human fulfillment. The growth of a consumer market, unrestricted by the requirements of social hierarchy, offered increasing possibilities for comfort, enjoyment, and self-realization. Poverty was no longer to be regarded as a holy state; and there was no need to feel guilt about envying the rich; one should try to emulate them.

_

While the increase in consumerism as a pleasurable practice or as a leisure activity was no longer only reserved for the elites, it remained an 'expression to the social hierarchy' (Thomas 2009, 118). In this sense, Thomas explains (2009, 118), 'possessions were used to signify power, wealth, ancestry, mental cultivation, and nobility of character. As a result, most commodities acquired a distinctive set of symbolic meanings and associations, full of social resonance. To possess them was inevitably an act of self-definition'.

11.2.4.2 Sport and sex

Sport was also influenced and transformed by the Enlightenment call for pleasure. While hitherto it was mostly practiced as 'part of ritual activity,' in the 18th century sport was 'developed on professional and commercial lines encouraging the emergence of the paying spectator' (Porter 1996, 30); and, of course, people also exercised in their beds. Indulgence in sexual activities --considered in the preceding Christian experience of sin as the source of the gravest sins -- was becoming more accepted as the legitimate practice of pleasure. According to Porter (1996, 34), recent scholarship has shown evidence indicating that in the 18th century (in England at least) 'sex was publicly flaunted' in a 'manor that bears comparison with the second half of the 20th century' ⁸⁴. Judging this trend by the rate of prostitution, it is revealing that at the time in London alone, 'there were anything up to 30.000 public streetwalkers' (Porter 1996, 34).

11.2.4.3 The spatial dimension of pleasure practices: the new places of fun

Publicly, new consumer and amusement practices were most intensively pursued in the cities. In this sense, the city was increasingly becoming 'a social and cultural centre, designed for the spending of surplus money on enjoyments and entertainments' (Porter 1996, 25). Besides the already mentioned shops in many cities, special venues and institutions 'devoted to pleasure-taking' were springing up: 'assembly rooms, theaters and halls for meetings and performances, with space set aside for clubs, lectures, spectacles, displays and other events' (Porter 1996, 26). Probably the best example of a locus reserved for practices of pleasure are the so-called pleasures gardens such as Vauxhall and Ranelagh Gardens in England and in Paris at the Palais Royal. Pleasure gardens were a kind of proto-amusement park established for the purpose of pleasure and enjoyment, 'offering games and recreation, spectacles and refreshments, music, and sanctuaries in which lovers could stroll' (McMahon 2006, 199).

⁸⁴ For a more thorough reflection of this theme one should also consider Foucault's analysis of the modern sexuality in the History of Sexuality Vol. 1 (1978) that attempts to illuminate how sex towards the end of the 18th and in the 19th century has been 'put into discourse' (Foucault 1978, 11).

Certain towns (such as Bath, Buxton and Scarborough in England) were even chiefly devoted to offering a variety of practices of pleasure that were often also accompanied with the facilities for recovery and health. These "pleasure resort towns" 'specialized in pump rooms and assembly rooms where tea could be taken, balls held, and gambling indulged -- to say nothing of amorous assignations,' Porter explains (1996, 27). It is certainly revealing that the notorious conservative theologian Charles Wesley, who was one of the founders of Methodism,⁸⁵ described Bath as 'hell on earth' (Wesley in Porter 1996, 27).

11.2.4.4 The victory of pleasure

Insofar as the emphasis on pleasure constitutes the central element of the modern experience of happiness, Porter's (1996, 1) observation 'that pleasure came into its own in the eighteenth century' supports our thesis about the birth of happiness in the 17th and especially 18th century. After centuries of Christian suppression of the sensual, the goal of an increasing number of people became to enjoy themselves, to pursue happiness through pleasure and to have fun. It is revealing (and at the same time also supportive of our thesis about the birth of happiness in the 17th and the 18th centuries) that semantically the word fun 'was a relative novelty, introduced in English only in the late seventeenth century as a variation of the Middle English *fon*, meaning jester or fool' (McMahon 2006, 199).

Last but not least, it is important to add that even though the developing consumer culture enabled a much wider array of people to participate in different practices of pleasure described above, economic circumstances still 'limited the ability of many to take advantage of the new freedom' (Thomas 2009, 140). Towards the end of the 17th century, for example, Thomas observes (2009, 140), 'a quarter of the population endured some form of poverty and a seventh were in or near destitution'.

In the next chapter that will focus on the relation between happiness and the state in the context of relations of power, we shall see that not all the practices

⁸⁵ Methodism was an evangelical movement that emerged in the 18th century in the United Kingdom.

and techniques constituting the early modern experience of happiness served the pursuit of individual pleasures.

11.3 The axis of power constituting the modern experience of happiness

Above, we have seen that with pastoral power constituting an important part of the Christian experience of sin in the Middle Ages, the Christian Church introduced a new unique form of power to Western culture that was individualizing, totalizing and salvation-oriented. In spite of the fact that this pastoral power -- as we have also argued -- was even further reinforced by the outcomes of pastoral struggles during the Reformation and counter-Reformation, one might suppose that the secularization processes and the replacement of the problematization of salvation with the problematization of happiness induced in the Enlightenment period resulted in its disappearance or at least in the loss of the main part of its efficacy. Foucault (2002, 333) warns, however, that one has to be careful with such a simple generalization because 'we should distinguish two aspects of pastoral power -- between the ecclesiastical institutionalization that has created or at least lost its vitality since the eighteenth century, and its function, which has spread and multiplied outside the ecclesiastical institution'.

We shall argue that the spread and the multiplication of pastoral modality of power outside the Church institution that eventually resulted in 'the state as a modern matrix of individualization' (Foucault 2002, 334) is largely also connected to the process of the birth of the modern experience of happiness in the 17th and the 18th centuries. More precisely, in this chapter, we shall examine the new political rationality called raison d'etat (reason of state) and its political technology, the police⁸⁶, which, in the 17th and 18th centuries, sprouted on the substrate of pastoral power and which constituted the power axis of the early modern experience of happiness. Similarly, as within the

⁸⁶ As we shall see, the understanding of police in the early modern period was quite different and much broader than it is now.

preceding experience of sin, where the vision of salvation was primarily employed to reinforce the mechanisms of pastoral power, also within the modern experience of happiness the idea of (public) happiness -- the successor of the idea of salvation -- was strategically employed to guide political technologies used to increase the strength or happiness of the state.

11.3.1 Raison of the state and the birth of modern experience of happiness

Above, we have seen how the rationalism represented one of the currents resulting in the birth of happiness on the axis of truth. Starting with the natural theologians and the Deists, and then culminating in the Enlightenment movement, reason became the cardinal foundation of human progress towards happiness. In this sense, rationality was perceived as something inherently good and unproblematic that is in direct contrast to the irrational (which, for the Enlightenment thinkers, was mostly embodied in the preceding Christian experience).

Firstly, because he thinks 'it's senseless to refer to "reason" as the contrary entity to non-reason⁸⁷, and, secondly, because every rationalization is always linked to relations of power, Foucault (2002, 299) is extremely critical towards such an unreflexive glorification of rationality, which in his view should rather be perceived as a potentially 'dangerous' concept. Following from this, Foucault (2002, 299) further argues, 'the main problem when people try to rationalize something is not to investigate whether or not they conform to principles of rationality but to discover which kind of rationality they are using'. What we therefore have to do 'is analyze specific rationalities rather than always invoking the progress of rationalization in general' (Foucault 2002, 329).

In this spirit, we shall investigate the political reason called reason of state (raison d'etat) and its main political technology, the police, which constituted the power axis of the (early) modern experience of happiness in the 17th and

_

⁸⁷ Foucault (2002, 299) further explains that 'such trail would trap us into playing the arbitrary and boring part of either the rationalist or the irrationalist'.

18th centuries. According to Foucault (2002, 417), political rationality is always

linked with other forms of rationality. Its development in large part is dependent upon economical, social, cultural, and technical processes. It is always embodied in institutions' strategies and has its own specificity. Since political rationality is the root of a great number of postulates, commonplaces of all sorts, institutions and ideas we take for granted, it is both theoretically and practically important to go on with this historical criticism, this historical analysis of our political rationality, which is something different from the discussion about political theories and which is different also from divergences between different political choices.

First, let us look more closely at the main development that brought about the transition from the pastoral government of souls based on the problematization of salvation to the political government of men and populations based on the problematization of happiness. In order to understand how the pastoral individualizing form of government transformed and spread outside of the Church institution, we first have to return to Aquinas who explains the nature of the royal power characteristic of the medieval experience of sin.

According to Foucault (2007, 309), in Aquinas's understanding of the king, 'there is no discontinuity, no specificity, and no division between the two functions of being sovereign and governing'. Namely, Aquinas defines the type of the government ensured by the monarch, the sovereign with the help of three models.

As Foucault explains, for Aquinas, 'the king's art will be excellent insofar as it imitates nature, that is to say insofar as it operates like God. And just as God created nature, the king will be the founder of the state or city, and just as God governs nature, the king will govern his state, city, or province'. The first model is hence based on the analogy with God. The second analogy is with nature itself. According to Aquinas, 'the body of a man and of any other animal would fall apart if there were not some general ruling force to sustain the body and secure the common good of all its parts' (Aquinas in Foucault 2007, 310). Insofar as Aquinas's logic applies to the kingdom, Foucault explains (2007,

310), 'there must be something in the kingdom that corresponds to the vital, guiding force in the organism, and this is the king, who turns each individual's tendency back from his own good towards the common good'. And the third analogy is with the pastor and the *pater familias*. Above, we have seen that for Aquinas the ultimate goal of man is eternal bliss found in the enjoyment of God and following from this is also the royal function: 'because the end of our living well at this present time is the blessedness of heaven,' Aquinas argues, 'the king's duty is therefore to secure the good life for the community [*multitudo*] in such a way as to ensure that it is led to the blessedness of heaven' (Aquinas in Foucault 2007, 310).

Governing in accordance with these three models ensures that there is no break in the great continuum of sovereignty extending from God to the monarch (and then further down to the father of the family). Through this continuum, God governs the world in a pastoral sense, which, according to Foucault (2007, 312), means that

the things of the world were made for man and that man was not made to live in this world, at any rate not definitively, but only in order to pass into another world. The world governed in a pastoral fashion according to a system of salvation was [therefore] a world of final causes that culminated in man who had to earn his salvation in this world. Final causes and anthropocentrism was one of the forms, one of the manifestations, one of the signs of God's pastoral government of the world.

The second characteristic of pastoral government of the world was 'that the world was subject to a system of obedience,' which effectively meant that God actively intervened in the world and 'forced beings to show his will through signs, prodigies, marvels, and monstrosities that were so many threats of chastisement, promises of salvation, or marks of election' (Foucault 2007, 311). Finally, the world subject to the pastoral government of God 'was a world in which there was an entire system of truth: truth taught, on the one hand, and truth hidden and extracted on the other' (Foucault 2007, 311).

Towards the end of the 16th and in the beginning of the 17th century, the concept of pastoral governance of the world was challenged by developing scientific practices, which we have already mentioned above on the truth axis and which included empirical approaches such as natural theology (John Ray), physics (Galileo), astronomy (Copernicus, Kepler), Port Royal Grammar, etc.⁸⁸ Namely, the new empiricist perspective implied that God does not govern the world in the pastoral sense, but 'in a sovereign manner through principles' (Foucault 2007, 311); that is, 'through general, immutable, and universal laws, through simple and intelligible laws that are accessible either in the form of measurement and mathematical analysis, or in the form of classificatory analysis in the case of natural history⁸⁹ (Foucault 2007, 311). The conception of nature based on the new scientific approach 'no longer tolerates government' and 'only allows the reign of a reason that is ultimately the common reason of God and men' (Foucault 2007, 313). While before nature was marked by constant divine governance and intervention, now 'nature only allows a reason that has fixed once and for all' general laws or principles of nature [principia naturae] (Foucault 2007, 313).

The erosion of God's pastoral governance of the world (or as Foucault also calls this process -- the 'de-governmentalization of the cosmos') towards the end of the 16th century resulted in breaking the uninterrupted continuum of sovereignty 'which justifies the king's government of men' (Foucault 2007, 311). Of course, this does not mean that 'the relationship of the sovereign, or of a person who governs, to God, to nature, to the father of a family, and to the religious pastor is broken' (Foucault 2007, 311). Rather, it corresponds to a need for a new kind of problematization of sovereignty marked by 'the pursuit and definition of a specific form of government with respect to the exercise of sovereignty' (Foucault 2007, 311).

⁸⁸ These developments of knowledge coincide with the foundation of 'the classical episteme,' which Foucault describes in The Order of Things (2005).

⁸⁹ These developments have eventually resulted in the understanding of the world as the divine providential order designed by God for the well-being of its inhabitants adopted by the Deists (see above).

Insofar, according to the new conception of God's governance of the world, as 'the sovereign's exercise of sovereignty over his subjects is not distinguished simply by his extension of divine sovereignty over Earth that would somehow be reflected in the continuum of nature,' the sovereign has to perform a specific task of governing, the model for which is 'found neither in God nor in nature' (Foucault 2007, 313). 'In relation to his sovereignty, and in relation to the pastorate,' Foucault explains (2007, 313), 'something more is demanded from him, something different, something else. This is government'.

On the one hand, we therefore have the universal principle governing the natural world and, on the other, we have a 'sovereignty over men that is required to take upon itself something specific that is not directly contained in it, which conforms to another model and another type of rationality'90 (Foucault 2007, 313). And insofar as this new kind of problematization cannot rely on existing models, it has to find a new model, a new political rationality 'in accordance with which we will be able to carry out this operation' (Foucault 2007, 313). This new model of art of government that emerged towards the end of the 16th century is ratio status -- raison d'Etat -- reason of state⁹¹.

11.3.1.1 The basic characteristics of reason of state

The first definitions of reason of state were provided by Botero, Palazzo (Discourse on Government and True Reason of State 1606) and Chemnitz (De Ratione status 1647). According to Foucault (2002, 314), all these definitions share the following characterizations of reason of state. First, 'reason of state is regarded as an "art," that is, a technique conforming to certain rules,' which 'do not simply pertain to customs or traditions,' but (in line with the emphasis on rational enquiry in this period) 'to knowledge -- rational knowledge' (Foucault 2002, 314).

-

⁹⁰ According to Foucault (2007, 314), 'with principia naturae and ratio status, principles of nature and raison d'État, nature and state, the two great references of the knowledge (savoirs) and techniques given to modern Western man are finally constituted, or finally separated'.

⁹¹ Being based on the refusal of the old Christian understanding of the cosmos it is hardly surprising that some orthodox Christian thinkers assimilated the political theory of reason of state to atheism.

Second, reason of state is positioned in stark contrast to the Machiavellian tradition, which was an important and controversial issue in the literature on government in this period. In "The Prince," Foucault explains (2002, 407), 'Machiavelli's problem is to decide how a province or a territory acquired through inheritance or conquest can be held against internal and external rivals'. As a consequence, 'Machiavelli's entire analysis is aimed at defining what keeps up or reinforces the link between prince and the state' (Foucault 2002, 407). The theoreticians of reason of state, on the other hand, are interested in 'the very existence and nature of this new entity which is the state itself' (Foucault 2002, 407). The theoreticians of reason of state, therefore, refused Machiavelli not only because in this period he had a very bad reputation, but primarily because 'they couldn't recognize their own problem in his problem' (Foucault 2002, 407). According to Foucault (2002, 407), reason of state, therefore, introduced an innovation in political rationality that was fundamentally different from that of Machiavelli: 'the aim of this new art of governing is precisely not to reinforce the power of the prince. Its aim is to reinforce state itself' (Foucault 2002, 407).

An important consequence of this new political rationality was that the project of reconstituting the Roman Empire, which was based on the widely accepted medieval idea 'that all the kingdoms of the earth would be one day unified in one last empire just before Christ's return to earth,' completely disappears from the political thought (Foucault 2002, 408). Insofar as 'the state only exists through and for itself, and it only exists in the plural' (Foucault 2008, 5), 'politics has now to deal with an irreducible multiplicity of states struggling and competing' between each other (Foucault 2002, 409).

Finally, insofar as reason of state is perceived as rational government aimed at increasing the strength of the state in comparison to other competing states, it also presupposes the need for knowledge about the state's capacities, the means to enlarge it and the capacities of other states (Foucault 2002, 316). Such specialized knowledge not only entails 'implementing general principles of reason, wisdom, and prudence,' but 'concrete, precise, and measured knowledge as to the state's strength' (Foucault 2002, 316). Following from this political rationality of reason of state was 'intimately bound up with the

development of what was then called either political "statistics" or "arithmetic"; that is, the knowledge of different states' respective forces' (Foucault 2002, 317)⁹².

In sum, the new political rationality called reason of state that emerged towards the end of the 16th and in the beginning of the 17th century 'defined the state and separated it out as both a specific and an autonomous, or relatively autonomous, reality' (Foucault 2008, 4). The government of the state must still 'respect divine, moral, and natural laws as laws which are not homogeneous with or intrinsic to the state' (Foucault 2008, 4). However, while 'in the Middle Ages the sovereign was commonly defined as someone who must help his subjects gain their salvation in the next world,' the government now 'has to do something other than ensure the salvation of its subjects in the hereafter' (Foucault 2008, 4). In line with the transformations induced in the process of the birth of happiness on the axis of truth and relation to the self, the goal of government according to reason of the state now becomes ensuring happiness.

11.3.1.2 Reason and happiness of the state

Above, we have seen that, even though royal government 'did indeed fall under a particular terrestrial art,' its final objective within the experience of sin was to 'ensure that on leaving their terrestrial status, and freed from this human republic, men can arrive at eternal bliss and the enjoyment of God' (Foucault 2007, 340). The reason of state fundamentally changed the end around which this -- also called *res publica* -- had to be organized. According to reason of state, 'there is no prior, external purpose, or even a purpose subsequent to the state itself' (Foucault 2007, 340). The new end, the new problematization of res publica was now 'the state itself and if there is something like perfection, happiness, or felicity, it will only ever be the perfection, happiness, or felicity of the state itself' (Foucault 2007, 340). Chemnitz (1647 in Foucault 2007, 357), for example, defines the reason of state as 'a certain political consideration required for all public matters, councils and projects, whose only aim is the state's preservation, expansion, and felicity; to which end, the easiest and promptest means are to be employed'.

_

⁹² Above in the section about progress towards happiness we have already mentioned several examples of such knowledge.

Chimnitz's definition points to the fact that the early conceptions of reason of state explicitly referred to happiness of the state and not to happiness of individuals or the population of this state. In this sense, Foucault explains (2007, 357), 'it is not men who must be happy or prosperous, and ultimately it is not men who must be rich; it is the state itself⁹³.

11.3.2 Police and the happiness of the population

The inability of the early theoreticians of reason of state to conceive of happiness in terms of the state's population was connected to the fact that 'population had not yet entered into the reflexive prism' (Foucault 2007, 357). From the beginning of the 17th to the middle of the 18th century, the problematization of population that enabled happiness to be connected with the population was eventually made possible by 'a series of transformations thanks to which and through which this notion of population, which will be a kind of central element in all political life, political reflection, and political science from the eighteenth century, is elaborated' (Foucault 2007, 358).

The reflection of population on the basis of which the aim of reason of state in the 17th and 18th centuries became to ensure the happiness of its population was elaborated through a political technology/apparatus of police. According to Foucault (2007, 358) the apparatus of police 'was installed in order to make *raison d'État* function' (Foucault 2007, 358). Namely, in order to understand the role of the state in early modern society and its experience of happiness, we should not only focus on institutions and on the people who rule them, nor should we only analyze 'the theories or ideologies developed in order to justify or to legitimate the existence of the state' (Foucault 2002, 410). What is crucial to understand are the actual techniques, the practices, 'by which the individual could be integrated into the social entity' and which, thus, 'give a concrete form' to the political rationality of reason of state that constitutes the power axis of the early modern experience of happiness (Foucault 2002, 410).

Before we proceed, we have to note that since the 19th century, the concept of police has denoted a very specific institution that doesn't have much in common with the understanding of police in the early modern period when it

_

⁹³ This was also clearly expressed through the mercantilist politics in this period.

had 'a very broad and, at the same time also a very precise meaning' (Foucault 2002, 410). Namely, in the 17th and 18th centuries, police corresponded to 'specific techniques by which a government in the framework of the state was able to govern people as individuals significantly useful for the world' (Foucault 2002, 410). In order to explain the police as a political technology of reason of state, Foucault (2002) depicts its manifestations in three major forms. The police started as a dream or utopia that eventually manifested in concrete political technologies and practices. Ultimately, it was even taught as an academic discipline.

In 1611, Luis Turquet de Mayerne published his utopian vision of an ideal universal technique of government that was highly representative of what this period deemed a well-governed state. According to Turquet, the task of the police 'was to foster civil respect and public morality' (Foucault 2002, 411), which should be carried out through four boards. The first board of police, Foucault explains (2002, 411), was 'to look after the positive, active, productive aspects of life'. Mainly, this board was 'concerned with education and with 'determining very precisely each individual's aptitudes and tastes,' which included a strict official categorization according to each person's aptitudes and occupation (Foucault 2002, 411). The second board, on the other hand, 'was to see to the negative aspects of life, that is, the poor, widows, orphans, the aged, who required help' (Foucault 2002, 411). In addition, it also had 'to take care of public health, diseases, epidemics, and accidents such as fire and floods, and it had to manage a kind of insurance for people to be protected against all such accidents'. The third board, Foucault further explains (2002, 411), was responsible for 'commodities and manufacturers' goods: it indicated what was to be produced and how. It also controlled markets and trading, which was a very traditional function of police'. And last but not least, the fourth board was concerned with 'territory, space, private property, legacies, donations, sales, and also to manorial rights, roads, rivers, public buildings, and so on' (Foucault 2002, 411).

According to Foucault (2002, 411), Turquet's text demonstrates that while 'the police appears as an administration heading the state together with the judiciary, the army, and the exchequer,' it in fact 'embraces all those other

administrations'. The police, Turquet argues (in Foucault 2002, 411), 'branches out into all of the people's conditions, everything they do or undertake. Its fields comprise justice, finance, and the army' (Turquet 1611 in Foucault 2002, 412). In sum, Foucault explains (2002, 412), the police according to Turquet is concerned with 'live, active and productive man'; or, in Turquet's (in Foucault 2002, 412) own words: 'the police's true object is man'.

While Turquet's utopia did not explicitly posit happiness as the goal of police, the tasks of police that he proposed were concerned with the areas of human existence that were later clearly associated with happiness. Less than a century later, we can already find happiness clearly defined as the central object of police in Lamare's text on police (Traite de la police 1705). In addition, De Lamare's text is composed as a 'manual or systematic encyclopedia for the use of civil servants,' which testifies that the police were no longer only a political utopia, but a concrete political technology.

Covering roughly the same areas as Turquet's utopia, De Lamare understands police as basically seeing to everything. He organizes his encyclopedia of police under eleven chapters that correspond to eleven things that police have to ensure within the state: '(1) religion; (2) morals; (3) health; (4) supplies; (5) roads, highways, town buildings; (6) public safety; (7) the liberal arts (roughly speaking, arts and science); (8) trade; (9) factories; (10) manservants and laborers; (11) the poor' (De Lamare in Foucault 2002, 320). Similarly to Turquet, De Lamare also sees police as 'taking care of living' (Foucault 2002, 413).

Concerning the eleven areas of police intervention, Foucault explains (2002, 413), De Lamare makes the following remarks. The police are concerned with religion not from the standpoint of religious dogma or salvation in the afterlife, but more pragmatically from the viewpoint of 'the moral quality of life' (Foucault 2002, 321). Moreover, 'in seeing to health and supplies, it deals with the preservation of life; concerning trade, factories, workers, the poor, and public order -- it deals with the conveniences of life' (Foucualt 2002, 321). And last but not least, the police also has to take care of the practices of pleasure such as theatre, literature and entertainment, which we have already described above. Taking care of living beings, the police, therefore, has to ensure both

'the indispensable, the useful, and the superfluous' (Foucault 2002, 413). In other words, the police has to see 'that people survive, that people live' and 'that people do even better than just survive or live' (Foucault 2002, 413). So what, then, is the sum total of the eleven objects of police, the cardinal goal of police? It is precisely happiness: 'The sole purpose of the police is to lead man to the utmost happiness to be enjoyed in this life,' De Lamare argues (in Foucault 2002, 321).

Within the political rationality of the reason of state, the connection between happiness and the state now acquires a new dimension. While 'from the beginnings of political philosophy in Western countries everybody knew and said that the happiness of people had to be the permanent goal of governments,' Foucault argues (2002, 413), happiness was conceived merely 'as the result or the effect of a really good government'. Due to the systematization of the French administrative practice prescribed by De Lamare, on the other hand, 'happiness is not only a simple effect. Happiness of individuals is a requirement for the survival and development of the state. It is a condition; it is an instrument and not simply a consequence'. Even more, people's happiness even 'becomes an element of state strength' (Foucault 2002, 414). Following from this, it is not surprising that the main thesis in De Lamare's book is 'that what is superfluous for individuals can be indispensable for the state, and vice versa' (Foucault 2002, 413).

11.3.2.1 The biopolitics of happiness

An even further development of the political technology of police can be observed in Germany, where police even became a discipline in the academic sense taught under the name of Polizeiwissenshaft. The most important written legacy of Polizeiwissenshaft is von Justi's Elements of Police, which is a kind of a manual for students of Polizeiwissenshaft. While, according to Foucault (2002, 414-415), and similar to De Lamare, Von Justi also defines police 'as taking care of individuals in society,' he takes the political technology of police another step further by making 'an important distinction between what he calls police (die Polizei) and politics (die Politik)'. For Von Justi, politics is 'the negative task of the state' that involves 'the state's fighting against its internal and external enemies, using the law against the internal enemies and the army

against the external ones' (Foucault 2002, 415). The police, on the other hand, has a positive task with the aim of 'permanently increasing production of something new, which is supposed to foster the citizens' life and the state's strength' (Foucault 2002, 415). As opposed to politics, the police 'govern not by law but by a specific, a permanent, and a positive intervention in the behavior of individuals⁹⁴, (Foucault 2002, 415).

An illustrative example of typical police intervention and how it differs from justice governed by law can be found in Adam Smith's *Theory of Moral Sentiments*. 'If a person, Smith argues (2002, 120), 'should throw a large stone over a wall into a public street without giving warning to those who might be passing by, and without regarding where it was likely to fall, he would undoubtedly deserve some chastisement'. Considering that this person did not de facto break the law and 'had done no mischief' (Smith 2002, 120), of course he cannot be subject to legal punishment. This is where the police steps in. Namely, Smith (2002, 120) insists that 'a very accurate police' should 'punish so absurd an action' simply because 'the person who has been guilty of it shows an insolent contempt of the happiness and safety of others'.

Another crucial element of Von Justi's conception of police is his reflection of population 'that has been very influential with all the political and administrative personnel of the European countries at the end of the eighteenth century and the beginning of the nineteenth' (Foucault 2002, 415). Von Justi certainly did not invent the concept of population, but he was definitely the first who, under the name population, took 'what demographers were discovering at the same moment' and put it into the reflexive prism of political rationality of reason of state (Foucault 2002, 415). In this sense, Von Justi sees 'all the physical or economic elements of the state as constituting an environment on

-

⁹⁴ 'Even if the semantic distinction between Politik endorsing negative tasks and Polizei endorsing positive tasks,' explains Foucault (2002, 415), 'soon disappeared from political discourse and from the political vocabulary, the problem of a permanent intervention of the state in social processes,' is still 'characteristic of our modern politics and political problematics'. Namely the discussions from the end of the 18th century till now about issues such as liberalism and welfare state actually originate 'in this problem of the positive and negative tasks of the state, in the possibility that the state may have only negative tasks and not positive ones and may have no power of intervention in the behavior of people'.

which population depends and which, conversely, depends on population' (Foucault 2002, 415). Insofar, according to Von Justi, 'the population and environment are in a perpetual living interrelation,' the state 'has to manage those living interrelations between those two types of living beings' (Foucault 2002, 415). Following from this, Foucault concludes (2002, 415), 'the true object of the police becomes, at the end of the eighteenth century, the population; or, in other words, the state has essentially to take care of men as a population. It wields its power over living beings, and its politics, therefore, has to be biopolitics' (Foucault 2002, 416). We could, therefore, say, that the power axis constituting the experience of happiness is essentially marked by biopolitics and that the modern experiences of happiness is, thus, always also a biopolitics of happiness.

While the cardinal aim of reason of state and police was initially the happiness of the state itself (Chemnitz), which then followed the happiness of man (De Lamare), towards the end of the 18th century, the cardinal aim of reason of state became the happiness of the population for Von Justi. This extension of the reflexive prism from the state to the population, however, is ultimately always folded back into the state, or better in favor of the state. Namely, the political rationality of reason of state begins taking the happiness first of man and then of the population into account only insofar as they are also starting to be perceived as a means that reinforce the state itself. Since in this sense 'the population is nothing more than what the state takes care of for its own sake,' the biopolitics of happiness can quickly also turn into what Foucault (2002, 416) calls 'thanatopolitics,' meaning that ultimately the state is even 'entitled to slaughter' its population, if it finds that necessary for its strength and preservation.

11.3.3 The totalizing and individualizing power of the modern state in the name of happiness

In this last section of the last chapter covering the power axis of the modern experience of happiness, we have tried to analyze how 'the modern Western state has integrated into a new political shape an old power technique that originated in pastoral institutions' (Foucault 2002, 332) and how this process was connected to the (birth of) experience of happiness.

Concomitant with the processes of secularization, the Church institution (through which pastoral power was exercised as part of the medieval experience of sin) was not eliminated, but replaced by state apparatuses and political technologies that began to constitute the power axis of the experience of happiness. As we have seen, in the 17th and 18th centuries, the power axis of the experience of happiness was characterized by political rationality of raison of state (and its political technology police) that were closely related to 'a new distribution, a new organization of this kind of individualizing power,' which was no longer exercised through the Church institution but through the modern state (Foucault 2002, 334). In line with the transformations introduced in the process of birth of happiness on the axes of truth and the relationship to the self, we can observe a clear change in the objective of this new form of pastoral power that now suddenly 'spread out into the whole social body' (Foucault 2002, 335):

It was a question no longer of leading people to their salvation in the next world but, rather, ensuring it in this world. And in this context, the word "salvation" taken on different meanings: health, well-being (that is, sufficient wealth, standard of living), security, protection against accidents. A series of "worldly" aims took the place of the religious aims of the traditional pastorate, all the more easily because the latter, for various reasons, had followed in an accessory way a certain number of these aims; we only have to think of the role of medicine and its welfare function assured for a long time by the Catholic and Protestant churches (Foucault 2002, 334).

Similarly, as the pastoral power guided by the principle Omnes et Singulatim⁹⁵, on the substrate of which it sprouted, this new form of power is also both individualizing and totalizing.

_

⁹⁵ Above in the section about pastoral power we have argued that the principle Omnes et Singulatim implies that the pastor/shepherd does everything for the totality of his flock, but he does everything also for each sheep of the flock.

Within the medieval experience of sin, the secular sovereign power only 'consisted in relations between juridical subjects insofar as they were engaged in juridical relations by birth, status, or personal engagement' (Foucault 2002, 413). With the new problematization of sovereignty manifested as the reason of state and police, the state begins adopting totalizing and individualizing functions exercised before exclusively by the pastoral institution. We first have the state government that in the 17th century 'begins to deal with individuals, not only according to their juridical status but as men, as working, trading, living beings' (Foucault 2002, 412). In the 18th century, we can then observe an evolution of political rationality, which starts governing men also as a population:

From the idea that the state has its own nature and its own finality to the idea of man as living individual or man as a population in relation to an environment, we can see the increasing intervention of the state in the life of individuals, the increasing importance of life problems for political power, and the development of possible fields for social and human sciences insofar as they take into account those problems of individual behavior inside the population and the relations between a living population and its environment (Foucault 2002, 416).

On account of this, Foucault argues (2002, 417), the main characteristic of our modern political rationality 'is neither the constitution of the state,' nor 'the rise of bourgeois individualism'. Rather, the cardinal characteristic of modern political rationality 'is the fact that this integration of individuals in a community or in a totality results from a constant correlation between an increasing individualization and the reinforcement of this totality' (Foucault 2002, 417). Based on this political rationality is a form of power

that applies itself to immediate everyday life categorizes the individual, marks him by his own individuality. Attaches him to his own identity, imposes a law of truth on him that he must recognize and others have to recognize in him. It is a form of power that makes individuals subjects. There are two meanings of the word "subject": subject to someone else by control and dependence, and tied to his own identity by a conscience or

self-knowledge. Both meanings suggest a form of power that subjugates and makes subject to (Foucault 2002, 331).

Insofar as the modern state represents 'a new form of pastoral power,' we should not simply consider it 'as an entity that was developed above individuals, ignoring what they are and even their very existence,' but, on the contrary, Foucault argues (2002, 334), 'as a very sophisticated structure in which individuals can be integrated, under one condition: that this individuality would be shaped in a new form, and submitted to a set of very specific patterns'. And these patterns are largely connected to the experience of happiness.

From this, it follows not only that the state as the new matrix of individualization is important for the understanding of experience of happiness, but also vice versa. Namely, happiness is also important for understanding of the (birth of) the modern state and its exercise of power, through which 'we have been led to recognize ourselves as a society, as a part of a social entity, as a part of a nation or of a state' (Foucault 2002, 404). A good example of this in the context of our discussion is the welfare state problem, which, according to Foucault (2002, 307), 'does not only bring the needs or the new governmental techniques of today's world to light,' but it must also 'be recognized for what it is: one of the extremely numerous reappearances of the tricky adjustment between political power wielded over legal subjects and pastoral power wielded over live individuals'.

And last but not least, it is important to note that the rise of this new political rationality and this new political technology should be also seen as closely connected to the emergence of social sciences (some of them were mentioned above). 'If man -- if we, as living, speaking, working beings -- became an object for several different sciences,' Foucault argues (2002, 417), 'the reason has to be sought not in an ideology, but in the existence of this political technology which we have formed in our own societies'. We believe that empirical quantitative happiness research that explicitly rests on the Enlightenment pursuit of (public) happiness should also be critically reflected in this light. After all, it takes the individualizing hermeneutical aspect of subjective well-being assessment and conjoins it with the collective aspect of

national SWB comparisons in which the happiness of individuals and populations are recognized primarily in terms of the (national) state.

12 CONCLUSION

Trying to illuminate the birth of happiness in Western culture occurring in the 17th and the 18th centuries, the genealogical analysis began way back in the period of the early institutionalization of Christianity. The main reason for such a wide chronological focus was that in order to understand the birth of happiness as one of the decisive breaks in the history of Western thought, it is first necessary to understand the experience that preceded it. Above, we have seen not only in many respects that the experience of happiness was constituted in relation to the preceding experience of sin, but also that there are certain important continuities between the two modes of experience. In short, the modern experience of happiness in Western culture would not have had emerged as it did and would certainly not have the same specifics if it hadn't been for the Christian experience of sin from which it tried to break away.

In line with the Foucauldian-inspired approach to the study of happiness that was developed in the second part of the dissertation, the genealogical analysis was conducted along the three axes that, according to Foucault, constitute the historical a priori of experience in a particular area of human existence: the axis of truth, the axis of relationship to the self and the axis of power.

Analysis of the axis of truth first explored how Christianity established the truth about salvation as the cardinal ideal of human existence and why such an ideal wasn't achievable in the present life. According to the official Christian doctrine established by the Council of Carthage in 418 (presided by St. Augustine), the main inhibition not allowing humans to experience true bliss (or Christian perfection) already in this life was Adam's original sin. The Church professed that Original sin stained all humanity, rendering humans incapable of controlling their will, which resulted in mortality and in inevitable breaching of God's commandments. Through the problematization of salvation, the ideal of human existence was connected to heaven in the afterlife where the chosen ones would be immersed in eternal bliss (lat. beatitudo).

While throughout the Middle Ages there indeed were certain disagreements in the Christian realm about what heaven as the ideal of human existence will be like, this dispute 'never occupied center stage in Christian polemics' (Walls 2002, 34). What, however, has been 'seriously contested,' Walls explains (2002, 34), 'is how to get to heaven'. Following from this, the analysis of the axis of truth constituting what we have called the Christian experience of sin was mainly focused on the tension between the tragic consequences of original sin and the capacity of free will, which is essentially concerned with the degree to which humans can contribute to the ideal of human existence by their own efforts. At one extreme, there was the Augustinian radical refusal of free will according to which salvation can only be bestowed by the mercy of God, and on the other there was the Pelagian total acceptance of free will perceived as the gift from God, which held that it is possible to achieve Christian perfection entirely by human efforts.

While in the first two centuries after the Pelagian polemic the Augustinian version (at least officially) prevailed, we have seen that from its very beginning it was never completely accepted in the Christian realm. In fact, (especially) after the Carolingian renaissance in the 9th century, there was a clear trend of gradual reinforcement of the idea of free will that was later further elaborated by Aquinas and the Renaissance movement. In light of this trend (which never actually went all the way to the Pelagian extreme, though), Christianity from the 9th to the 16th centuries officially and practically endorsed the idea of free will according to which humans can/should to a certain degree contribute to their salvation by their own efforts. This resulted in the ideas and practices of treasury of merit, the hierarchy of the sacred and the glorification of suffering, which significantly marked Christian life within the experience of sin and which were eventually challenged by the Reformation movement in the 16th century.

The focus on the tension between the tragic consequences of original sin and the capacity of free will has proved relevant because the theme directly or indirectly fueled the majority of central theological polemics in the Christian realm, culminating in the Reformation movement. With the help of the idea of original sin, it was also possible to explain why the ideal of Christian existence

was not achievable already in this life. At the same time, this also helped to reveal the main aspect that later had to be refused if the ideal of human existence was to be positioned in the present life and if it was to become entirely achievable by human efforts.

In addition, such focus has illuminated the gradual trend of reinforcement of free will that represented an important process later contributing to the birth of happiness in two ways. In a more direct way, it first -- at least partly -- contributed to the start of the problematization of (good) feeling in the present life within the Renaissance movement and later in the 17th century constituted one of the aspects (besides the affirmation of everyday life) in the Deist convergence, which explicitly refused original sin and proclaimed the ideal of human existence as being entirely achievable by human efforts already in the present life. More indirectly, the current of reinforcement of free will contributed to the birth of happiness by producing theological views on justification, concrete practices and social patterns that represented the main points of controversy, kindling the Reformation movement, which -- amongst other things -- caused the reformation of everyday life that eventually constituted the second main aspect of the Deist convergence.

And last but not least, analyzing the question of how to reach heaven rather than what heaven will be like has enabled us to explore more thoroughly how the ideal of existence envisioned in the afterlife has practically influenced Christian life in this world. Namely, the analysis of the other two axes constituting the Christian experience of sin has shown that the Christian problematization of salvation was fundamentally marked by what Foucault calls Christian hermeneutics of the self, which implies the refusal and the sacrifice of the self. This "negative constitution of the subject" produced two major effects for the Christian experience of sin.

At the level of the relationship to the self and practices of the self, the Christian subject constituted through practices of self-deciphering (such as confession), publication of the self and self-mortification had to neutralize the desire for sensual pleasures that in a more general sense resulted in the privileged status of earthly suffering in the Christian tradition. On the axis of power, the Christian hermeneutics of the self and self-deciphering connected to the vision

of salvation was employed to institutionalize a new form/technology of power that was totalizing and individualizing. This 'pastoral power' governed 'men in their daily life on the grounds of leading them to eternal life in the other world' and operated through 'a mode of individualization by subjection (assujettissement)' (Foucault 2007, 199; 239).

We have concluded the analysis of the Christian problematization of salvation and the concomitant experience of sin by arguing that they cannot be simply equated with the (modern) problematization and experience of happiness, which only emerged in the 17th and 18th centuries, when the ideal of human existence increasingly started to be pursued in the present life.

The first steps towards the birth of happiness can be traced back to the Renaissance and the Reformation movement, which were still, however, mainly characterized by the problematization of salvation and the Christian experience of sin. In addition to the existent and still prevalent problematization of salvation, the Renaissance movement (starting in the 15th and 16th centuries) and the Reformation movement (starting in the 16th century) introduced what we have called the problematization of (good) feeling and the affirmation of everyday life, which later resulted in the problematization and experience of happiness. The problematization of (good) feeling on earth and the affirmation of everyday life for some time, therefore, coexisted with the preceding and still dominant problematization of salvation, until in the 17th century the former started to slowly but surely dominate the latter. We have argued that it was precisely this transformation (in which good feeling on earth in connection with the affirmation of everyday life started becoming the primary ideal of human existence) that represented the first major development, which marked the birth of the modern experience of happiness. The second such major development was that the ideal of human existence not only became possible already in this world, but also that it became perceived as entirely achievable with human efforts. It is crucial to note that these two major developments not only mark the birth of happiness, but also represent the two major characteristics or parameters of modern experience of happiness that at the same time also fundamentally distinguish it from the preceding experience of sin.

The processes of the birth of happiness produced two main modes of the modern experience of happiness. Still retaining certain elements of (Christian) divinity, we have called the first manifestation of happiness the religious experience of happiness. The cardinal development that enabled the problematization of (good) feeling in connection with the affirmation of everyday life to become dominant was the refusal of original sin, which hitherto represented the main inhibition not allowing human to achieve the ideal of human existence already in the present life. On the axis of truth, the idea of original sin was questioned by natural theology and Deist philosophy, which represent a convergence of the rationalist current of affirmation of free will, the Protestant affirmation of everyday life and the problematization of (good) feeling/pleasure. The refusal of (original) sin was closely connected to two decisive developments, which marked the birth of happiness and can be at the same time considered as the main parameters of the modern experience of happiness: a) via the reinforcement of the problematization of (good) feeling the ideal of human existence started to be positioned primarily in this life and b) the ideal of human existence started to be perceived as entirely achievable with human efforts.

Completely neutralizing the tragic consequences of original sin, the rationalized Christianity promoted the idea of divine providential order created by God for the harmonious well-being and happiness of its inhabitants both in this world and in the world to come (provided that they lived in accordance with God's laws and commandments). The transposition of the universalizing Christian logic of sin to the universalizing idea of (the possibility) of happiness inherent in the idea of divine providential order virtually enabled for the first time in the history of Western thought the preparation of the ground for the understanding of the ideal of human existence on earth (i.e. happiness) also in collective terms, which later culminated in the Enlightenment idea of public happiness. The Deist convergence, also closely accompanied by wider social developments, slowly but surely transformed the common religious outlook to increasingly understand God primarily as a foundation for happiness on earth.

In addition to the religious experience of happiness less than a century later, a secular experience of happiness also emerged as part of the continuation of the

process of the birth of happiness in Western culture. Being largely connected to secularization catalyzed by the Enlightenment movement, it represents a logical evolution of the initial religious experience of happiness except that it completely eliminates the explicit residue of (Christian) divinity hitherto still serving as the foundation for happiness. Following from this, the divine providential order intrinsically created for the harmonious well-being of its inhabitants is replaced by the neutral natural causalities that have to be rationally deciphered and used accordingly for the maximization of pleasure and the minimization of pain. Using the idea of harmony of interest now based on the glorification and idealization of rationality rather than on the preceding idea of divine providential order, the principle of utility is then also widened to guide not only the individual, but also the collective pursuit of happiness. Believing that both individual and public happiness cannot rely on a preexisting providential order and even further radicalizing the idea that the ideal of human existence (i.e. happiness) is achievable entirely by human efforts, the mainstream Enlightenment current intrinsically connected the utilitarian ideal of human happiness with scientific, technological, individual, social, political and economic progress⁹⁶.

-

⁹⁶ Even though the dissertation focuses on the period ranging from the 4th to the 18th centuries, in light of future research it is worth noting that in the 19th century it is possible to observe certain (mostly intellectual) movements that questioned particular aspects of the Enlightenment project of progress towards (public) happiness. In direct contrast to the medieval material scarcity, low overall quality of life and Christian refusal of sensual pleasures, initially the dominant strategies of happiness were predominantly tied to emphasizing material welfare, economic progress and physical sensual gratification. Marxism was the first influential intellectual movement that criticized the exploitation of large segments of the population in the context of the industrial revolution and the unequal distribution of the fruits of material progress for which the Enlightenment movement believed that is supposed to unquestionably contribute to public happiness. On the other hand, romanticism at roughly the same time questioned the widespread Enlightenment assumption that material welfare, rationalism and physical gratification alone can bring happiness (this is at least partly related to the fact that the romantics were mostly wealthy aristocrats well acquainted with the abundance of sensual pleasures); hence the romantic emphasis on intimacy, emotions and "weltschmerz". Another important intellectual movement in the 19th century that can be considered as a sort of questioning of the Enlightenment vision of happiness was psychoanalysis. While for the romantics physical gratification alone is not enough to bring true happiness, for Freud physical

In regard to the understanding of the inherent human drive for pleasure and its role in the relation between individual and collective/public happiness, the secular experience of happiness conjoins two conflicting aspects. On the one hand, we have the dominant rationalistic-utilitarian aspect that promotes public happiness, which through the idea of harmony of interest encompasses individual and communal happiness based on the principle of utility and, on the other hand, we have the amoral mode of egoistic hedonism that advocates unrestrained expression of the individual instinctive drive for pleasure. We have argued that the tension between these two aspects significantly influences the constitution of experience of happiness on all three axes of experience.

In sum, the historical a priori of a possible experience of happiness constituted on the axes of truth, power and relationship to the self is therefore manifested in the form of two main modes of experience of happiness: the religious experience of happiness and the secular experience of happiness. This a priori of experience, then, sets the shared basic parameters of experience of happiness within which the majority of strategies of happiness and individual experiences of happiness emerged and still continue to emerge in Western culture.

Indeed, our central argument was that the intensity of the transformations on all three axes of experience since the 17th and 18th centuries implies that we have to start speaking of a fundamentally new mode of experience that corresponds to the birth of happiness. However, our analysis has also revealed that in the experience of happiness there is an implicit residue of the preceding Christian experience. In other words, there are certain important continuities between the

gratification cannot be simply equated with happiness because it is ultimately impossible. We have argued that for the mainstream Enlightenment vision of the pursuit of (public) happiness, an individual on his own or society (if he is not capable of doing so) ought to rationally restrain the inherent individual drive for pleasure (what Freud (1961) calls 'the pleasure principle'). On the contrary for Freud in *Civilization and Its Discontents* (1961), it is precisely this "civilized restraining" of desire that is the main source of unhappiness (in Freudian terms, pleasure principle vs. reality principle). It is true that Freud (1961) sees the origins of this tension as emerging much earlier than in the 18th century. Nevertheless, we believe that the early experience of happiness and its vision of public happiness can be seen as a development in Western thought that can help us understand -- to a certain extant at least -- the context in which Freud started to problematize this tension.

two modes of experience. The most obvious continuity can be found in the Enlightenment idea of infinite progress (towards happiness) that to a certain extent resembles the Christian logic of postponed gratification on the horizon of the future.

In addition, a subtler -- but a perhaps even more profound -- continuity can also be observed. We have argued that the Christian experience of sin marked by the Christian hermeneutics of the self and the refusal/sacrifice of the self can be seen as a period in the history of Western thought characterized by what could be called a "negative constitution of the subject." Insofar as the birth of happiness was in large part constituted as a break away from the Christian experience of sin, the pursuit of happiness represents a refusal of this negative constitution of the subject. Instead, the experience of happiness can be seen as closely connected to the positive constitution of the subject. Happiness understood in terms of a positive constitution of the subject, however, did not occur without retaining certain elements from the preceding experience of sin that are mostly related with the implicit sediments of the Christian hermeneutics of the self and the individualizing form of power closely related to it. Following from this, one of the great problems of Western culture largely connected to the birth of happiness 'has been to find the possibility of founding the hermeneutics of the self not, as it was the case in early Christianity, on the sacrifice of the self but, on the contrary, on a positive, on the theoretical and practical, emergence of the self' (Foucault 1999, 180). The main consequence of this development is that 'a hermeneutics of the self has been diffused across Western culture through numerous channels and integrated with various types of attitudes and experience, so that it is difficult to isolate and separate it from our own spontaneous experiences' (Foucault 2000a, 224).

The aim of constituting a positive self can be observed on the axis of relationship to the self constituting the modern experience of happiness. In contrast to the negative Christian subject that had to neutralize desire for the sensual and "clean" the self through the hermeneutics of the self, the subject of happiness has to liberate and fulfill the desire in order to achieve happiness. The traces of Christian hermeneutics, however, remained. Namely, the desire is important in both modes of experience, which both put the individual in a

position in which he never fulfills his moral obligations enough; he never surrenders enough. The Christian is never clean enough because -- as we have seen earlier -- there is always 'the possibility that Satan can get inside your soul and give you thoughts you cannot recognize as satanic' (Foucault 2000a, 270). Such circumstances require constant hermeneutical work. Similarly, the modern subject of happiness follows an external imperative to enjoy and to be happy, but never succeeds in being happy enough. The individual within the experience of happiness is -in contrast to his medieval ancestor -- free to desire, but the model of the hermeneutics of the self and the internal tension remain. If the hermeneutic work imposed upon the Christian self aims to discover the root of desire in order to eradicate it, the hermeneutic work performed by the subject of happiness is used to discover the truth of desire in order to liberate it. This is necessary because akin to the Christian subject also in the subject of happiness, there is a constant internal uncertainty in which 'the very abstraction of happiness explains its seductive power and the anguish it produces' (Bruckner 2010, 4). 'Not only are we wary of prefabricated paradises,' Bruckner further explains (2010, 4), 'but we are never sure that we are truly happy. When we wonder whether we are happy, we are already no longer happy'.

While in the medieval period the wider effect of the Christian refusal and hermeneutics of the self was the glorification of suffering, the wider effect of the problematization of happiness and the remains of hermeneutics of the self in the modern experience of happiness ultimately resulted in what Bruckner (2010, 5) calls 'the duty to be happy'. According to Bruckner (2010, 5), the duty to be happy refers to the 'ideology' that 'urges us to evaluate everything in terms of pleasure and displeasure, a summons to a euphoria that makes those who do not respond to it ashamed or uneasy. A dual postulate: on the one hand, we have to make the most of our lives; on the other, we have to be sorry and punish ourselves if we don't succeed in doing so'.

Analyzing the axis of truth and the axis of power constituting the experience of happiness, we have seen that the "refusal of the negative Christian subject" was also the aim of the early modern (political) theory and practice, which aimed 'to constitute, positively, a new self' (Foucault 2000a, 249) (of happiness) 'in

order to make of the individual a significant element of the state' (Foucault 2002, 409). In this sense the modern state represents a continuation of the individualizing and totalizing form of power connected to the hermeneutics of the self that was hitherto characteristic of the pastoral institution.

This means that the 'power of a pastoral type, which over centuries -- for more than a millennium -- had been linked to a defined religious institution, suddenly spread out into the whole social body' and 'found support in a multitude of institutions' (Foucault 2002, 335). Such an individualizing tactic, then, 'characterized a series of powers: those of the family, medicine, psychiatry, education, and employers' (Foucault 2002, 335).

The new form of pastoral power exercised through the state as a 'modern matrix of individualization' (Foucault 2002, 334) was closely connected to the emergence of a positive self in 'the so-called human sciences' focused on the 'the development of knowledge of man around two roles: one, globalizing and quantitative, concerning the population; the other, analytical, concerning the individual' (Foucault 2002, 335). This resulted in reinserting the remains of the Christian hermeneutics (especially the techniques of verbalization) and the individualizing and totalizing form of power 'in a different context' (Foucault 2000a, 249) dominated on the one side by the judicial and political institutions and technologies and, on the other, by medical, psychiatric and educational institutions and practices.

A more detailed analysis of the developments towards a positive constitution of the subject (including the duty to be happy, the modern hermeneutics of happiness and the movements questioning the Enlightenment project of progress towards (public) happiness) that were to a large extent initiated by and connected to the birth of the experience of happiness is, however, another story that would require an additional study focusing on the 19th and 20th centuries. Given that our main focus is on the process of the birth of happiness and on the experience that preceded it (i.e. period from the 5th century to the 19th century), we have only managed to conduct a more thorough analysis of the beginnings of the positive constitution of subject in the West and its connection to the experience of happiness. The reason for briefly sketching the further development of these processes and experience that occurred after the 18th

century in the conclusion was primarily to provide openings for future research. Here, it is worth mentioning that another interesting direction for future research would also be to examine which individuals and groups of individuals were/are excluded from the dominant experience of happiness in the West on account of what Foucault calls dividing practices, which categorize individuals on the basis of their race, class, sex/gender, psychological condition, origin (colonized peoples/emigrants from what is now called developing countries), etc.

In light of future research, we would also like to point out certain aspects of the experience in the period, which we tried to examine, that were somewhat less thoroughly covered by our analysis. Unlike Foucault, who had the conditions and capacities to perform his genealogies mainly by analyzing vast amounts of primary historical sources, our reach in this regard was somewhat limited. We wish that we could have examined more thoroughly the everyday practices (for example by focusing on confessional manuals and happiness literature of the 17th and the 18th century), but the wide chronological focus did not allow it. We also wish we could have focused more on certain sociological and economical dimensions of the modernization processes connected to the idea of progress towards happiness. While we have covered the processes in which sensual pleasure became a vital component of modern experience of happiness quite extensively, more work could still be done to examine the specifics of the relationship between pleasure and happiness. In this sense, the psychoanalytical perspective -- which, however, was not covered in the dissertation -- could provide valuable insights.

In spite of the above-mentioned lacunae and limitations, we believe that the genealogy of the birth of happiness provides certain relevant new contributions for the study of happiness. First and foremost, it helps us to understand the process of the cultural and historical constitution of the experience of happiness in Western culture and its basic parameters. In turn, this also supports the theoretical argument from the first part of the dissertation according to which happiness should not be understood in a universal sense, but as a culturally and historically specific/singular notion and experience in Western culture that is tightly connected with the relations of power in society. Insofar as the birth of

happiness constituted a basic structure for all the later forms of experience of happiness in Western culture, we think that the next important contribution of our analysis is that it represents a valuable point of departure for any further inquiries into manifestations of happiness (including its research) in our culture. And last but not least, we believe that the examination of the birth of happiness is also valuable in a wider sense by indicating that happiness has represented one of the central themes guiding the modernization processes that fundamentally determine what we experience today. Following from this, the understanding of (the birth of) happiness is essential in terms of representing a broader context in which, or as a part of which, important aspects of individual and social life such as consumer culture, the modern state, economic system, science and technology, influential intellectual movements, etc. have emerged in the West. The Enlightenment idea of progress and the modernization processes connected to it can, therefore, be effectively seen in the context of the pursuit of happiness and, as such, as integral parts of the experience of happiness in the West. Ever since the birth of the secular experience of happiness in the 18th century, progress in Western culture has essentially been tantamount to progress towards happiness.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

faq. Positive Psychology Center 2010. 2010]. Available from http://www.ppc.sas.upenn.edu/faqs.htm. Ahmed, Sara. 2007/2008. The Happiness Turn. New Formations (63):1-14. —. 2010. *The Promise of Happiness*. Durham: Duke University Press. Richard. 1677. The Art of Contentment. Oxford. Allestree, http://books.google.com/books?id=4SI3AAAAMAAJ&dq=allestree+richard+t he+art+of+contentment&source=gbs navlinks s (accessed 2011). Aquinas, Thomas. 2006. Summa Theologica: Project Guttenberg. Augustine, of Hippo. 1994. The Works of Saint Augustine. Hyde Park: New City Press. 2006. The Confessions of Saint Augustine. Fairfield: 1stworldlibrary.com. ——. 2007. Beata Vita, edited by S. M. Cahn and C. Vitrano. Oxford: Oxford University Press. —. 2009. City of God: Digireads.com Publishing. Bagchi, David. 2000. Luther's Catholic opponents. In *The Reformation World*, edited by A. Pettegree. London & New York: Routledge. Barker, Chris. 2000. Cultural Studies: Theory and Practice. London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi: Sage. ———. 2002. Making Sense of Cultural Studies: Central Problems and Critical Debates. London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi: Sage. —. 2004. The SAGE Dictionary of Cultural Studies. London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi: Sage Barret, Stanley. 1996. Anthropology: A Sudent's Guide to Theory and Method. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

267

Beccaria, Cesare. 1986. On Crimes and Punishment. Indianapolis: Hackett.

Baumeister, Roy F. 1991. *Meanings of Life*. New York: Guilford.

Beeke, Joel R. 2004. Calvin on piety. In *The Cambridge Companion to John Calvin*, edited by D. K. McKirn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bentham, Jeremy. 1817. A table of the springs of action: Hunter. http://books.google.com/books?id=XmVBAAAAcAAJ&dq=a+table+of+the+s prings+of+action&source=gbs_navlinks_s (accessed 2011).

——. 1969. A Fragment on Government. In *A Bentham Reader*, edited by P. M. Mack. New York Pagasus.

——. 1983. Deontology Together with a Table of the Springs of Action and the Article on Utilitarianism. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

———. 2000. An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation. Kitchener: Batoche Books.

Beutel, Albrecht. 2003. Luther's life. In *The Cambridge Companion to Martin Luther*, edited by D. K. McKirn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Binkley, Sam. 2007. Governmentality and Lifestyle Studies. *Sociology Compass* 1:111-126.

Binkley, Sam, and Jorge Capetillo-Ponce, eds. 2009. Foucault for the 21st Century: Governmentality, Biopolitics and Discipline in the New Millennium. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.

Bruckner, Pascal. 2001. L'euphorie perpétuelle: Essai sur le devoir de bonheur. Paris: B. Grasset.

——. 2010. *Perpetual Euphoria: On the Duty to Be Happy*. Princeton and Oxford: Princeton University Press.

Bruni, Luigino, and Pier Luigi Porta, eds. 2007. *Handbook on the Economics of Happiness*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.

Burchell, Graham, Colin Gordon, and Peter Miller, eds. 1991. *The Foucault Effect: Studies in Governmentality*. Chicago: Chicago University Press.

Burckhardt, Jacob. 1945. The Civilization of the Renaissance in Italy. Oxford: Phaidon.

Burton, Robert. 1621. The Anatomy of Melancholy: Project guttemberg. http://www.gutenberg.org/ebooks/10800 (accessed 2011).

Cacioppo, J. T, L. C. Hawkley, A. Kalil, M. E Hughes, L. Waite, and Thisted. R. A. 2008. Happiness and the invisible threads of social connection: The Chicago health, aging, and social relations study. In *The science of subjective well-being*, edited by M. Eid and R. J. Larsen. New York: Guilford Press.

Cahn, Steven M, and Christine Vitrano. 2008. Happiness: Classic and Contemporary Readings in Philosophy. New York: Oxford University Press, USA.

Calamy, Edmund. 1662. The happinesse of those who sleep in Jesus, or, The benefit that comes to the dead bodies of the saints even while they are in the grave, sleeping in Jesus. Westminster: N. Webb.

Calvin, John. 1975. John Calvin: Selection from his Writings: Scholars Press.

——. 2002. *The Institutes of the Christian Religion*. Grand Rapids: Christian Classics Ethereal Library.

Cantril, H. 1965. *The pattern of human concern*. New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press.

Christopher, John C. 1999. Situating Psychological Well-Being: Exploring the Cultural Roots of Its Theory and Research. *Journal of Counseling & Development* 77:141-152.

Classen, Albrecht, and Marilyn Sandidge, eds. 2008. Sexuality in the Middle Ages and Early Modern Times: New Approaches to a Fundamental Cultural-Hisotrical and Literary-Anthropological Theme. Berlin, New York: Walter de Gruyter.

Clifford, James. 1986. On Ethnographic Allegory. In *Writing Culture:The Poetics and Politics of Ethnography*, edited by J. Clifford and G. E. Marcus. Berkley: University of California Press.

Clifford, James, and George E Marcus, eds. 1986. Writing Culture: The Poetics and Politics of Ethnography. Berkley: University of California Press.

Cottingham, John. 1998. Philosophy and the good life. Reason and the passions in Greek, Cartesian and psychoanalytic ethics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Couzens Hoy, David, ed. 1986. *Foucault: a Critical Reader*. Oxford: Blackwell.

Cowburn, John. 2008. Free Will, Predestination and Determinism. Milwaukee: Marquete University Press.

Davidson, Arnold. 1986. Archeology, Genealogy, Ethics. In *Foucault, a Critical Reader*, edited by D. Couzens Hoy. Oxford: Blackwell.

Davidson, Richard J., Urry L. Heather, Jack B. Nitschke, Isa Dolski, Daren C. Jackson, Kim M. Dalton, Corrina J. Mueller, Melissa A. Rosenkranz, Carol D. Ryff, and Singer H. Burton. 2004. Making a Life Worth Living Neural Correlates of Well-Being. *American Psychological Society* 15 (6).

Davies, Brian. 1992. The Thought of Thomas Aquinas. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

De Mirandola, Pico. 1496. De Hominis Dignitate: Progetto Pico. Bologna: Universita degli Studi di Bologna & Brown University. http://www.brown.edu/Departments/Italian_Studies/pico/index.html (accessed 2011).

Derham, William. 1711. Physico-theology: or, A demonstration of the being and attributes of God. London. http://books.google.com/books?id=jp8 PAAAAIAAJ&printsec=frontcover&dq=William+Derham&hl=en&ei=_ORYT YD8EtS64ganhs2lBw&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=1&ved=0C CYQ6AEwAA#v=onepage&q&f=false (accessed 2011).

Diener, Ed. 1984. Subjective well-being. Psychological Bulletin 95:542-575.

——. 2007. Culture and Subjective Well-Being. In *Handbook of Cultural Psychology*, edited by S. Kitayama and D. Cohen. New York, London: The Guilford Press.

Diener, Ed, and Robert Biswas-Diener. 2008. Happiness: Unlocking the Mysteries of Psychological Wealth. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.

Diener, Ed, and Shigehiro Oishi. 2000. Money and Happiness: Income and Subjective Well-being across Nations. In *Culture and Subjective Well-being*, edited by E. Diener and E. M. Suh. Boston: The MIT Press.

Diener, Ed, and Eunkook M Suh, eds. 2000. *Culture and Subjective Well-being*. Boston: The MIT Press.

Diener, Ed, Eunkook M Suh, and Shigehiro Oishi. 1997. Recent findings on subjective well-being. *Indian Journal of Clinical Psychology* 24 (1):25-41.

Dilenberger, John. 1975. An Introduction to John Calvin. In *John Calvin: Selection from his Writings*, edited by J. Dilenberger: Scholars Press.

Dohmen, Joep. 2003. Philosophers in the "art-of-living". *Journal of Happiness Studies* (4):351-371.

Eid, Michael, and Randy J. Larsen, eds. 2008. *The science of subjective well-being*. New York, London: The Guilford Press.

Erasmus, Desiderius. 1969. De Libero Arbitri. In *Luther and Erasmus: Free Will and Salvation*, edited by G. Rupp, A. N. Marlow, P. S. Watson and B. Drewery. Philadelphia: Westminster Press.

Drewery. Philadelphia: Westminster Press.

———. 2008. The Praise of Folly. Rockville: Arc Manor.

Esterlin, Richard A. 1974. Does Economic Growth Improve the Human Lot?

Some Empirical Evidence. In Nations and households in economic growth: essays in honor of Moses Abramovitz: Academic Press.

Foucault, Michel. 1978. The History of Sexuality: Volume I: An Introduction. New York: Pantheon Books.

———. 1979. Discipline and Punish: The Birth of the Prison. New York: Vintage.

———. 1980. Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings.

New York: Pantheon

——. 1988. Politics Philosophy Culture: Interviews and Other Writings 1977-1984. New York: Routledge.

——. 1990. The Use of Pleasure: Volume 2 of The History of Sexuality. New York: Vintage Books.

——. 1994. The Order of Things: An Archeology of Human Sciences. Vintage Books.

——. 1999. Religion and Culture: Michel Foucault. New York: Routledge.
——. 2000 a. Essential works of Foucault Vol. 1: Ethics. London: Penguin.
——. 2000 b. Essential works of Foucault Vol. 2: Aesthetics. London:
Penguin.
——. 2001. Fearless Speech. Los Angeles: Semiotext(e).
——. 2002. Essential works of Foucault Vol. 3: Power. London: Penguin.
——. 2004. The Archeology of Knowledge. London: Routledge.
2005. The Hermeneutics of the Subject. New York: Picador.
——. 2006. History of Madness. Oxon: Routledge.
——. 2007. Security, Territory, Population: Lectures at the College de France, 1977-78. Hants: Palgrave Macmillan.
——. 2008. The Birth of Biopolitics: Lectures at the College de France. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
Freud, Sigmund. 1961. <i>Civilization and Its Discontents</i> . New York: Norton & Company Inc.
Fromm, Erich. 1981. Primary and secondary process in waking and in altered states of consciousness. <i>Acad. Psychol. Bull.</i> 3:29-45.
Geertz, Clifford. 1973. The interpretation of cultures. New York: Basic Books.
Gowland, Angus. 2006. The Worlds of Renaissance Melancholy: Robert Burton in Context. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
Greyerz, Kaspar von. 2008. Religion and Culture in Early Modern Europe. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
Gros Frederic 2005 Course Context In The Hermonoutics of the Subject

Hadot, Pierre. 1995. *Philosophy as a Way of Life*. Oxford: Blackwell Publising. Haidt, Jonathan. 2006. The Happiness Hypothesis: Putting Ancient Wisdom and Philosophy to the Test of Modern Science. Random House: Arrow Books.

edited by A. Davidson. New York: Picador.

Hall, Stuart, ed. 1999. Representation: cultural representations and signifying
practice. London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi: Sage.
——. 1999. The Work of Representation. In Hall, Stuart, ed. 1999. Representation: cultural representations and signifying practice, edited by S. Hall. London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi: Sage.
Harper, Douglas. 2011. <i>Online Etymology Dictionary</i> 2011]. Available from http://www.etymonline.com/. Holbach, P. H. 1761. Christianity Unveiled: Being An Examination Of The
Principles And Effects Of The Christian Religion.
——. 1966. Le Systeme de la Nature. Hildesheim: Georg Olms.
——. 1995. Common Sense, or Natural Ideas Opposed to Supernatural. In <i>The Portable Enlightenment</i> , edited by I. Kramnick. New York: Penguin.
Huizinga, Johan. 1987. The Waning of the Middle Ages. London: Penguin Books.
Israel, Jonathan I. 2001. Radical Enlightenment: Philosophy and the Making of Modernity 1650-1750. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
Jacobs, Alan. 2008. Original Sin, A Cultural History: Harper Collins e-books.
Johnson, Samuel. 1805. Rasselas. London: William Miller. http://books.google.com/books?id=r8tBAAAAYAAJ&printsec=frontcover &dq=rasselas&hl=en&ei=hPhYTal_xIHkBoudgKcH&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=2&ved=0CCsQ6AEwAQ#v=onepage&q&f=false (accessed 2011).
Kahneman, Daniel, Ed Deiner, and Norbert Schwartz, eds. 1999. <i>The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology</i> . New York: Russel Sage Found.
Kant, Imanuel. 2011. <i>An Answer to the Question: What is Enlightenment?</i> 17842011]. Available from http://www.english.upenn.edu/~mgamer/Etexts/kant.html.
——. 2009. An Answer to the Question: What Is Enlightenment? London: Penguin.

Kekes, John. 1995. *Moral Wisdom and Good Lives*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

——. 2002. *The Art of Life*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Kent, Bonnie. 2006. Augustine's ethics. In *The Cambridge Companion to Augustine*, edited by E. Stump and N. Kretzmann. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kent, W. 1910. Indulgences. In *The Catholic Encyclopedia*. New York: Robert Appleton Company.

Kerrigan, Michael. 2001. *The Instruments of Torture*. New York: The Lyons Press.

Kitayama, Shinobu, and Dov Cohen, eds. 2007. *Handbook of Cultural Psychology*. New York, London: The Guilford Press.

Kitayama, Shinobu, and Hazel R Markus. 2000. The Pursuit of Happiness and the Realization of Sympathy: Cultural Patterns of Self, Social Relations, and Well-being. In *Culture and Subjective Well-being*, edited by E. Diener and E. M. Suh. Boston: The MIT Press.

Kraye, Jill. 2007. Moral philosophy. In *The Cambridge History of Renaissance Philosophy*, edited by Q. Skinner and E. Kessler. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kreeft, Peter. 1992. Back to Virtue. San Francisco: Ignatius Press.

Kretzmann, Norman, Anthony Kenny, and Pinbork Jan, eds. 2008. *The Cambridge History of Later Medieval Philosophy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

La Mettrie, J. 1994. Man A Machine and Man A Plant. Indianapolis: Hackett.

La Roche, Sophie V. 1933. Sophie in London 1786, Being the Diary of Sophie v. La Roche. London: Jonthan Cape.

Layard, Richard. 2006. Happiness: Lessons from a New Science. London: Penguin.

Le Goff, Jacques. 1990. *The Birth of Purgatory*. Hants: Scolar Press.

LeVine, Robert A. 2007. Anthropological Foundations of Cultural Psychology. In *Handbook of Cultural Psychology*, edited by S. Kitayama and D. Cohen. New York, London: The Guilford Press.

Lindberg, Carter. 2003. Luther's struggle with social-ethical issues. In *The Cambridge Companion to Martin Luther*, edited by D. K. McKirn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Locke, John. 1979. An Essay Concerning Human Understanding. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

——. 1993. A Letter Concerning Toleration. In *Political Writtings of John Locke*, edited by Wootton. New York: Mentor Books.

. 1996. Some Thoughts Concerning Education. Indianapolis: Hackett.

———. 2008. Of Civil Government: The Second Treatise. Rockville: Wildside Press.

Lohr, C. H. 2008. The Medieval Interpretation of Aristotle. In *The Cambridge History of Later Medieval Philosophy*, edited by N. Kretzmann, A. Kenny and P. Jan. Cambridge: Cambridge university Press.

Lowe, E J. 2002. Routledge Philosophy GuideBook to Locke in Human Understanding. New York: Routledge.

Lu, Luo, and Robin Gilmour. 2004. Culture and Conceptions of Happiness: Individual Oriented and Social oriented SWB. *Journal of Happiness Studies* 5:269-291.

Luther, Martin. *Vorrede auff die Epistel s. Paul: an die Romer*, 2011 1545. Available from www.iclnet.org/ pub/resources/text/ wittenberg/german.bible/rom-eng.txt.

——. 1969. De Servo Arbitrio. In *Luther and Erasmus: Free Will and Salvation*, edited by G. Rupp, A. N. Marlow, P. S. Watson and B. Drewery. Philadelphia: Westminster Press.

Lyotard, Jean-Francois. 1984. The Postmodern Condition: A Report on Knowledge. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Machiavelli, Niccolo. 2005. The Prince. New York: Oxford University Press.

Marcus, George E, and Michael M J Fischer. 1986. Anthrpology as Cultural Critique: an Experimental moment in the human sciences. Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press.

Marshall, Peter. 2009. *The Reformation*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Martin, Lynn A. 2001. Alcohol, Sex, and Gender in Late Medieval and Early Modern Europe. Hampshire, New York: Palgrave.

Marx, Karl. 1982. Capital: A Critique of Political Economy: Vol. I. Middlesex: Penguin.

Mathews, Gordon, and Carolina Izquierdo, eds. 2009. The Pursuits of Happiness Well-being in Anthropological Perspective: Berghahn Books.

McDougall, Sara. 2008. The Prosecution of Sex in Late Medieval Troyes. In Sexuality in the Middle Ages and Early Modern Times: New Approaches to a Fundamental Cultural-Hisotrical and Literary-Anthropological Theme, edited by A. Classen and M. Sandidge. Berlin, New York: Walter de Gruyter.

McGrath, Alister E. 2003. *A Brief History of Heaven*. Malden: Blackwell Publising.

——. 2004. *Intelectual Origins of the European Reformation*. Malden. Oxford, Carlton: Blackwell Publising.

McKendrick, Neil, John Brewer, and J H Plumb. 1985. The Birth of a Consumer Society: The Commercialization of 18th-Century England Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

McKirn, Donald K, ed. 2003. *The Cambridge Companion to Martin Luther*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

———, ed. 2004. *The Cambridge Companion to John Calvin*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

McMahon, Darrin M. 2006. Happiness: A History. New York: Grove Press.

Mourant, John A, and Collinge William J. 1992. *Saint Augustine: Four Anti-Pelagian Writings*. Washington D.C.: The Catholic University of America Press.

Nehamas, Alexander. 1998. The Art of Living: Socratic Reflections from Plato to Foucault. Berkley: Univ of California Pr. Nettle, Daniel. 2006. Happiness: The Science Behind Your Smile. Oxford: Oxford University Press. —. 2008. Introduction. In *Happiness: Classic and Contemporary* Readings in Philosophy, edited by S. M. Cahn and C. Vitrano. New York: Oxford University Press, USA. Newman, Lex, ed. 2007. The Cambridge Companion to Locke's "Essay concerning human Understanding". Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Nietzsche, Friedrich. 1873. Schopenhauer as Educator. ——. 1968. The Will to Power: Attempt at a Revaluation of All Values. New York: Vintage. ——. 1989. On the Genealogy of Morals and Ecce Homo. New York: Vintage. —. 1997. Untimely Meditations Cambridge Texts in the History of Philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. ——. 2002. Beyond Good and Evil: Prelude to a Philosophy of the Future. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Nussbaum, Martha. 1994. Therapy of Desire. Theory and Practics in Hellenistic Ethics. Princeton: Princeton University Press. O'Leary, Timothy. 2002. Foucault: The Art of Ethics. New York: Continuum. ——. 2008. Foucault, Experience, Literature. *Foucault Studies* (5):5-25.

——. 2010. Rethinking Experience with Foucault. In *Foucault and Philosophy*, edited by T. O'Leary and C. Falzon. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

O'Leary, Timothy, and Christopher Falzon, eds. 2010. *Foucault and Philosophy*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Oishi, Shigehiro. 2000. Goals as Cornerstones of Subjective Well-being: Linking Individuals and Cultures. In *Culture and Subjective Well-being*, edited by E. Diener and E. M. Suh. Boston: The MIT Press.

Ostroot, Nathalie, Doh Shin, and Wayne Snyder. 1982. Quality of Life perceptions in Two Cultures. *Social Indicators Research* 11:113-138.

Ouweneel, Piet, and Ruut Veenhoven. 1991. Cross-national Differences in Happiness: Cultural Bias or Societal Quality. In *Contemporary issues in cross-cultural psychology*, edited by N. Bleichrodt and P. J. Drenth. Amsterdam: Swets & Zeitlinger.

Pavot, William, and Ed Diener. 1993. Review of the Satisfaction With Life Scale. *Psychological Assessment* 5:164-172.

Pettegree, Andrew, ed. 2000. *The Reformation World*. London & New York: Routledge.

Pflug, Jan. 2009. Folk Theories of Happiness: A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Conceptions of Happiness in Germany and South Africa. *Soc Indic Res* 92:551-563.

Plato. 2003. The Republic, Cambridge Texts in the History of Political Thought Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Porter, Roy. 1996. Enlightenment and Pleasure. In *Pleasure in the Eighteenth Century*, edited by R. Porter and M. Mulvey Roberts. Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire and London: Macmillan Press.

——. 1996. Material Pleasures in the Consumer Society. In *Pleasure in the Eighteenth Century*, edited by R. Porter and M. Mulvey Roberts. Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire and London: Macmillan Press.

Porter, Roy, and Marie Mulvey Roberts, eds. 1996. *Pleasure in the Eighteenth Century*. Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire and London: Macmillan Press.

Rabinow, Paul. 1986. Representations are Social Facts: Modernity and Post-Modernity in Anthropology. In *Writing Culture:The Poetics and Politics of Ethnography*, edited by J. Clifford and G. E. Marcus. Berkley: University of California Press.

Ray, John. 1691. The Wisdom of God manifested in the Works of Creation. http://www.jri.org.uk/ray/wisdom/ (accessed 2011). Rickless, Samuel C. 2007. Locke's Polemic against Nativism. In The Cambridge Companion to Locke's "Essay concerning human Understanding", edited by L. Newman. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Roche, Daniel. 2000. A History of Everyday Things: The Birth of Consumption in France 1600-1800. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Rorty, Richard. 1979. *Philosophy and the mirror of nature*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Rothschild, Emma. 2001. Economic Sentiments: Adam Smith, Condorcet and the Enlightenment. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Rupp, Gordon, A N Marlow, Philip S Watson, and B Drewery, eds. 1969. Luther and Erasmus: Free Will and Salvation. Philadelphia: Westminster Press

Ruut, Veenhoven. 1997. Advances in Understanding Happiness. *Revue Québécoise de Psychologie* 18:29-74.

Ryan, Richard M., and Edward L. Deci. 2000. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic moti- vation, social development, and well-being. *Am. Psychol.* 55:68-78.

——. 2001. On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* (52):141-166.

Ryff, CD, and CLM Keyes. 1995. The structure of psychological well-being revisited. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 69:719-727.

Ryff, Carol D. 1995. Psychological well-being in adult life *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 4:99-104.

Schaff, Philip. 1899. The Seven Ecumenical Councils: Christian Classics Ethereal Library. http://www.ccel.org/ccel/schaff/npnf214.html (accessed 2010).

Schofield, Philip. 2006. Utility and Democracy: The Political Thought of Jeremy Bentham. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Selingman, Martin E. P. 2003. Authentic happiness: using the new positive psychology to realize your potential for lasting fulfillment. London: Nicholas Brealey Publishing.

Skinner, Quentin, and Eckhard Kessler, eds. 2007. *The Cambridge History of Renaissance Philosophy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Smith, Adam. 2002. *The Theory of Moral Sentiments*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

——. 2007. An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of The Wealth of Nations. Hampshire: Harriman House.

Stachniewski, John. 1991. The Persecutory Imagination: English Puritanism and the Literature of Religious Dispair. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Stump, Eleonore, and Norman Kretzmann, eds. 2006. *The Cambridge Companion to Augustine*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Taylor, Charles. 2001. Sources of the Self: The Making of the Modern Identity. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Taylor, Chloe. 2009. The Culture of Confession from Augustine to Foucault: A Genealogy of the 'Confessing Animal'. New York, London: Routledge.

Thomas, Keith. 2009. The Ends of Life: Roads to Fulfulment in Early Modern England. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Tiberius, Valerie. 2004. Cultural Differences and Philosophical Accounts of Well-being *Journal of Happiness Studies* 5:293-314.

Toland, John. 1702. Christianity Not Mysterious. London. http://books.google.com/books?id=m5YCAAAAQAAJ&printsec=frontcover&dq=Christianity+Not +Mysterious&hl=en&ei=f2JVTZbYDsHM4gaOi4TXBg&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=2&ved=0CDIQ6AEwAQ#v=onepage&q&f=f alse (accessed 2011).

Triandis, Harry C. 2000. Cultural Syndromes in Subjective Well-being. In *Culture and Subjective Well-being*, edited by E. Diener and E. M. Suh. Boston: The MIT Press.

Trinkaus, Charles E. 1965. Adversity's Noblemen: The Italian Humanists on Happiness. New York: Octagon Books.

Tyler, Stephen A. 1986. Post-Modern Ethnography: From Document of the Occult to Occult Document. In Writing Culture: The Poetics and Politics of

Ethnography, edited by J. Clifford and G. E. Marcus. Berkley: University of California Press.

Uchida, Yukiko, Vinai Norasakkunkit, and Shinobu Kitayama. 2004. Cultural Constructions of Happiness: Theory and Empirical Evidence. *Journal of Happiness Studies* 5:233-239.

Valla, Lorenzo. 1977. De Voluptate. New York: Abaris.

Veenhoven, Ruut. 2006. Sociology's blind eye for happiness. In *16th World Congress of Sociology 2006*. Durban, South Africa.

Voltaire. 1764. Bien, Souverain bien. In Dictionnaire de Philosophie.

Walls, Jerry L. 2002. *Heaven: The Logic of Eternal Joy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Waterman, AS. 1993. Two conceptions of happiness: contrasts of personal expressiveness (eudaimonia) and hedonic enjoyment. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 64:678-691.

Wetzel, James. 2006. Predestination, Pelagianism, and foreknowledge. In *The Cambridge Companion to Augustine*, edited by E. Stump and N. Kretzmann. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

White, Nicholas. 2006. *A Brief History of Happiness*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.

Wieland, Georg. 2008. Happiness: the perfection of man. In *The Cambridge History of Later Medieval Philosophy*, edited by N. Kretzmann, A. Kenny and P. Jan. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Williams, Raymond. 1983. Keywords: A Vocabulary of Culture and Soceity. New York: Oxford University Press.

Wilson, Catherine. 2007. The Moral Epistemology of Locke's Essay. In The Cambridge Companion to Locke's "Essay concerning human Understanding", edited by L. Newman. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Wriedt, Markus. 2003. Luther's Theology. In *The Cambridge Companion to Martin Luther*, edited by D. K. McKirn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Zevnik, Luka. 2009. The Consumer Hermeneutics of the Self and Modern Compulsory Happiness. In *Foucault for the 21st Century: Governmentality, Biopolitics and Discipline in the New Millennium*, edited by S. Binkley and J. Capetillo-Ponce. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publising.

——. 2010. Towards a New Perspective in Cultural Studies: Emotional and spiritual problems and happiness in contemporary Western societies. *International Journal of Cultural Studies* 13 (4).

INDEX

active subject, 99 Double Beatitude, 142 affirmation of everyday life, 181, double predestination, 136 183 economy of happiness, 27 Ahmed, 56 education, 219 anthropology of well-being, 38 empirical happiness research, 22 anti-foundationalism, 50 Enlightenment, 206 anti-representationalism, 50 Eriugena, 137 Aquinas, 138, 141, 143, 187 Esterlin, 27 archaeology, 105 ethnocentrism, 36, 37 art-of-living, 16 eudaimonic approach, 26 Augustine, 124, 127, 128, 130, 133, exagoreusis, 156 exomologesis, 151 axes of experience, 84 experience, 78, 82, 104, 108 beatitude, 140 experience book, 116 biopolitics, 248, 250 field of strategic possibilities, 91 Foucault, 68 - 119 care of the self, 110 cartesian moment, 112 free will, 136, 160 freedom, 91, 101 Cassian, 134, 135 cognitive science, 25 genealogy, 105 concupiscence, 128, 148 glorification of suffering, 158 confession, 153, 157 Gottschalk, 136, 138 consumer culture, 223 happiness paradox, 27 cross-cultural comparison, 30 happiness studies, 21 cultural perspective in happiness harmony of interest, 210 studies, 33 hedonic approach, 22 cultural relativism, 39, 40, 46, 55 hedonism, 210 cultural studies, 55 historical a priori of a possible Deism, 201 experience, 118 Diener, 22, 23, 30 History of Happiness, 58 domination, 95, 99 History of ideas, 58

history of thought, 58 postmodern anthropology, 48, 53 Humanism and Renaissance, 170 power, 85 justification through faith, 175 predestination, 132 ladder of being, 145 problematization, 59 Lateran Council, 157 progress, 217, 225 liberation, 103 providentialism, 209 Locke, 197 publication of one's sins, 151 Luther, 175, 177, 181, 185 Rabinow, 49, 50 Machiavelli, 243 rationalized Christianity, 196 martyrdom, 152 reason of state, 237, 242 melancholy, 173 Reformation, 174, 178 Mettrie, 212, 214 relationship to oneself, 100 natural theology, 201 renouncement of the self, 158 Nietzsche, 17, 51, 60, 75 - 77, 87, resistance, 91, 97 88, 94, 105 - 107, 113, 116 Rorty, 49 O'Leary, 82, 104, 108 salvation, 124, 136, 165 ontology of ourselves, 75 sex, 235 original sin, 125, 127, 128, 199 Smith, 223 passive subject, 95 sport, 235 pastoral power, 162, 190, 251 subject, 75, 78 Pelagianism, 126, 146 suprahistorical perspective, 60 Pelagius, 126 technology of the self, 101 pleasure, 227, 232, 236 truth, 93

population, 245

positive psychology, 19

utilitarianism, 209

Veenhoven, 25

DALJŠI POVZETEK V SLOVENSKEM JEZIKU

Prvi del: Povezava med srečo in kulturo

Osrednji namen doktorske disertacije je kritično reflektirati koncept in izkušnjo sreče v zahodni kulturi ter proučiti kako je sreča povezana s kulturo in razmerji moči v družbi. Disertacija obsega tri glavne dele. Prvi del se osredotoča na pregled najpomembnejših obstoječih teorij in pristopov za proučevanje sreče. Drugi del ponudi novo metodološko perspektivo za proučevanje sreče, ki temelji na kritiki obstoječih pristopov ter v pretežni meri črpa iz foucaultjevskega imaginarija. Tretji - glavni del - na podlagi metodologije razvite v drugem delu izvede genealoško analizo rojstva izkušnje sreče v zahodni kulturi ter njene predhodnice krščanske izkušnje greha.

Kritična refleksija obstoječih pristopov za proučevanje sreče (v povezavi s kulturo)

Znotraj raziskovalnega in teoretskega polja za proučevanje sreče, ki sega vse od filozofije in psihologije pa do ekonomije, avtor najprej umesti svoje raziskovalno izhodišče, ki srečo primarno pojmuje ne kot etični problem, temveč kot objekt raziskovanja. Disertacija se nadaljuje s poglobljeno kritično refleksijo obstoječih teorij in pristopov, pri čemer je poudarek namenjen predvsem razmerju med srečo in kulturo. Z osvetljevanjem kavzalnih, metodoloških, epistemoloških in ontoloških vidikov tega razmerja torišče prvega dela disertacije skuša identificirati aspekte, v katerih bi bilo mogoče obstoječe teoretske okvire in pristope za proučevanje sreče v povezavi s kulturo nadgraditi ter dopolniti.

Kritična analiza skuša pokazati, da obstoječe teorije in pristopi za proučevanje sreče ne omogočajo zadovoljivo kritično reflektirati povezave med srečo in kulturo. Z vidika t.i. antropologije sreče in t.i. kulturne perspektive v empiričnem proučevanju sreče normativna filozofija in na njej osnovane empirične kvantitativne primerjalne raziskave sreče v različnih kulturah namreč artikulirajo in/ali predpostavljajo univerzalne kriterije in koncepte sreče, ki so problematični zaradi inherentnega etnocentrizma. Poleg tega je za omenjena pristopa kvantitativna (primerjalna) analiza sreče med kulturami metodološko dokaj omejena in nepopolna.

Problematični momenti antropologije sreče in kulturne perspektive v

empiričnem proučevanju sreče

Antropologija sreče in kulturna perspektiva v empiričnem proučevanju sreče se tako zdita kot razmeroma prepričljivi kritiki in dopolnitvi kvantitativnim pristopom za raziskovanje sreče. Sreče ne obravnavata v univerzalnih kategorijah temveč kot kulturno in historično specifični/singularni družbeni konstrukt. Poleg tega sta nova pristopa vpeljala tudi vrsto novih (večinoma kvalitativnih) raziskovalnih metod, ki so precej izčrpnejše pri razkrivanju kontur kulturnih izrazov sreče. Kljub temu pa tudi nova bolj kvalitativno usmerjena pristopa nista povsem neproblematična. S pomočjo postmoderne antropologije in kulturnih študij disertacija namreč izpostavlja tudi nekatere zagate in pomanjkljivosti antropologije sreče in kulturne perspektive, ki so večinoma teoretske narave. Natančneje, v kolikor si omenjena pristopa prizadevata analizirati razlike v kulturni konstrukciji sreče, morata eksplicitno ali implicitno artikulirati določene univerzalne kriterije, ki določajo kaj naj bi kulturna konstrukcija sreče sploh vsebovala, kar pa se strogo gledano prav tako spogleduje z etnocentrizmom. Na tem mestu disertacija ugotavlja, da je omenjena zagata del širšega problema, saj oba pristopa popolnoma ne upoštevata vseh konsekvenc konstruktivistične pozicije ter jih ne uspeta zadovoljivo aplicirati tudi na raziskovanje sreče samo.

Disertacija se s tem problemom spoprime z vidika postmoderne antropologije in kulturnih študij, ki s pomočjo filozofov kot sta Rorty in Foucault tezo o kulturni konstrukciji ne razumeta samo na metodološki ravni ampak tudi na epistemološki, ontološki, etični ter na ravni razmerij moči v družbi. Zavrnitev moderne epistemologije in znanstvene metode, ki iz tega izhaja, implicira pod vprašaj postaviti vsakršno univerzalno in objektivno vednost o svetu (in sreči) in posvojitev pozicije t.i. anti-esencializma. S tega vidika disertacija zagovarja radikalno branje teze o kulturni in historični specifičnosti/singularnosti sreče, po kateri ni dovolj zgolj trditi, da se sreča v posameznih kulturah izraža na različne kulturno specifične načine temveč, da je strogo gledano o sreči mogoče govoriti le kot o izkušnji značilni izključno za določeno obdobje v zahodni kulturi. Disertacija opozarja tudi na pomembnost reflektiranja razmerij moči v družbi, ki jih ne glede na to, da so zaradi vpliva na konstitucijo dominantnega

režima sreče v zahodni kulturi bistvena za kritično razumevanje te izkušnje, obstoječi pristopi v veliki večini ne obravnavajo.

Z obstoječimi pristopi za proučevanje sreče se disertacija sicer strinja o pomembnosti zgodovinske perspektive za razumevanje kulturnih izrazov sreče, vendar pa s pomočjo Nietzscheja in Foucaulta ugotavlja, da so dosedanji poskusi v tej smeri precej pomanjkljivi in problematični. Na eni strani se namreč osredotočajo zgolj na intelektualno zgodovino in pozabljajo na širši zgodovinski aspekt, ki ga Foucault označuje z besedo zgodovina misli, na drugi pa srečo obravnavajo v t.i. "suprahistorični" zgodovinski perspektivi. V primeru raziskovanja sreče zadnje pomeni nevarnost retrogradnega projiciranja sodobnega pojmovanja izkušnje sreče v pretekla obdobja v zgodovini zahodne kulture, v katerih le-ta dejansko sploh ni obstajala.

Ker kritična analiza razkriva precejšnje pomanjkljivosti in nekatere problematične momente obstoječih pristopov za proučevanje sreče, se drugi del disertacije osredotoča na artikulacijo novega pristopa, ki bi omogočal srečo v Z kulturi analizirati z vidika vseh aspektov, ki so se v teoretski razpravi v prvem delu izkazali kot bistveni za kritično razumevanje sreče. Pri tem črpa iz postmoderne antropologije, kulturnih študij, zlasti pa je navdahnjen s foucaultjevsko nominalistično perspektivo, katera, čeprav igra pomembno vlogo tako v postmoderni antropologiji kot v kulturnih študijah, še ni bila sistematično uporabljena za kritično refleksijo sreče.

Drugi del: Zasnova foucaultjevskega pristopa za kritično proučevanje sreče

V drugem delu se disertacija prevesi v poizkus celovitega branja vseh glavnih momentov Foucaultjevega opusa, na osnovi katerega potem izdela kritični foucaultjevski pristop za proučevanje sreče. Osnovno foucaultjevsko izhodišče je vsakokratna kritična refleksija naše aktualnosti, naše vsakdanjosti, našega zgodovinskega trenutka. Za (poznega) Foucaulta je glavno območje naše aktualnosti, ki zahteva kritično refleksijo subjekt oziroma natančneje njegova zgodovinska konstitucija. Čeprav je Foucault že od vsega začetka vnet nasprotnik pojmovanja subjekta, proti koncu svojega življenja - na prvi pogled nekoliko paradoksalno - namen svojega celotnega opusa opredeli kot osvetlitev

načinov, kako se v naši kulturi posamezniki pretvorijo v subjekte. Z natančnejšim branjem lahko vidimo, da Foucault dejansko ne nasprotuje konceptu subjekta kot takemu, temveč metafizičnemu pojmovanju subjekta kot nespremenljive ahistorične substance. Prav iz tega razloga v bistvu vseskozi zanima subjekt. Če le-ta namreč nima substance in ga ne moremo obravnavati kot glavni izvor smisla in pomena, je naloga filozofa, ki ga zanima kritična osvetlitev naše aktualnosti, potemtakem osvetlitev procesov v katerih se subjekt sploh vzpostavi. Pri tem pa se mora zavedati pomena zgodovine, saj je za Foucaulta kot dediča Nietzscheja, za razumevanje naše sedanjosti bistvena genealoška razgrnitev preteklosti, ki se zliva v našo trenutno aktualnost.

Da pa bi lahko celoten Foucaultjev opus razumeli v smislu osvetlitve procesov zgodovinske konstitucije subjektov, moramo foucaultjevsko pojmovanje subjekta postaviti v kontekst njegovega pojmovanja izkušnje. V nasprotju z metafizičnim pojmovanjem subjekta izkušnja ne izvira iz subjekta temveč se subjekt preko izkušnje šele vzpostavi.

Sreča kot historični a priori možne izkušnje

Izhajajoč iz teze o kulturni in historični specifičnosti/singularnosti izkušnje sreče ter njene tesne povezave z razmerji moči v družbi, ki jo disertacija razvije v prvem delu, mora takšen pristop omogočati osvetliti historične procese njene konstitucije. Disertacija s pomočjo foucaultjevskega genealoškega pristopa srečo zato v tretjem delu analizira kot kulturno in historično singularno izkušnjo v zahodni kulturi, pri čemer pa je pomembno poudariti, da za razliko od obstoječih pristopov za proučevanje sreče, ki srečo vidijo predvsem kot interno subjektivno izkušnjo, foucaultjevska perspektiva omogoča srečo analizirati v širšem smislu kot historični a priori možne izkušnje. Historični a priori možne izkušnje pomeni, da so naše individualne izkušnje sreče vedno določene s širšimi kulturnimi, družbenimi, političnimi in etičnimi strukturami, ki imajo svojo lastno zgodovino in ki določajo osnovne parametre znotraj katerih se v določeni dobi vzpostavljajo individualne vsakdanje izkušnje ljudi. Po Foucaultu se historični a priori izkušnje vzpostavlja vzdolž treh med seboj prepletenih osi: osi resnice, osi (razmerij) moči in osi odnosa do sebe. Posledično tretji del disertacije s pomočjo genealoške metode analizira vzpostavitev izkušnje sreče v zahodni kulturi na vseh treh omenjenih oseh izkušnje.

Tretji del: Genealoška analiza rojstva sreče

Glavna teza tretjega dela je, da se izkušnja sreče vzpostavi v 17. in 18. stoletju v zahodni kulturi ter, da je v tej obliki z določenimi transformacijami prisotna še danes. Ker je za boljše razumevanje tega, kar dizertacija imenuje tudi rojstvo sreče, potrebno razumeti tudi izkušnjo, ki je sreči predhodila, kronološki fokus obsega obdobje od 4. stoletja, ko se začne predhodna krščanska izkušnja, pa vse do 18. stol., ko se iz preloma z njo rodi izkušnja sreče.

Krščanska problematizacija odrešenja in izkušnja greha

Analiza na osi resnice najprej razišče kako Krščanstvo odrešitev vzpostavi kot glavni ideal človekove eksistence ter zakaj ta ideal ni dosegljiv v tem življenju. Uradna cerkvena doktrina, ki jo leta 418 sprejme Kartaginski koncil namreč kot glavno oviro za doseganje popolne blaženosti (oziroma krščanske popolnosti) na Zemlji, postavi Adamov izvirni greh, ki naj bi zaznamoval celotno človeštvo. Zaradi izvirnega greha ljudje niso zmožni v celoti nadzorovati svoje volje, kar vodi v neobhodno kršenje božjih zapovedi. Preko problematizacije odrešenja uradna krščanska doktrina ideal človekove eksistence poveže z nebesi v onostranstvu, kjer naj bi bili izbranci potopljeni v neskončno blaženost (lat. beatitudo).

Kljub temu, da je v srednjem veku sicer prišlo do določenih nestrinjanj glede predstav o nebesih, pa to vprašanje nikoli ni bilo v ospredju. Polemike so se namreč veliko bolj gostile okrog vprašanja kako sploh priti v nebesa. Posledično se je analiza na osi resnice osredotočala predvsem na napetost med tragičnimi posledicami izvirnega greha in človekovo zmožnostjo svobodne volje, ki se v svojem bistvu nanaša na vprašanje do katere mere je ideal eksistence dosegljiv s človekovimi lastnimi prizadevanji. Na en ekstrem omenjene teološko-mistične polemike je moč postaviti Avguštinovo radikalno zavrnitev svobodne volje, po kateri je odrešitev zgolj stvar božje milosti; na drug ekstrem pa Pelagusovo popolno sprejemanje svobodne volje, s pomočjo katere je krščansko popolnost mogoče doseči izključno s človekovimi lastnimi prizadevanji.

Čeprav v prvih stoletjih po omenjeni polemiki Avguštinova verzija (vsaj) uradno prevlada, pa v krščanskem občestvu nikoli ni bila popolnoma sprejeta. Po t.i. karolinški renesansi v 9. stoletju je celo moč opaziti jasen trend postopnega ojačanja ideje svobodne volje, ki jo kasneje še dodatno podkrepita Tomaž Akvinski in renesančno gibanje. V luči omenjenega trenda (ki pa sicer nikoli povsem ne doseže Pelagusovega ekstrema) Krščanstvo od 9. pa vse do 16. stoletja tako v teoriji kot v praksi zagovarja idejo svobodne volje, po kateri vsaj do določene mere človek lahko sam prispeva k svojem odrešenju. To rezultira v idejah in praksah t. i. zakladnice zaslug, hierarhije svetega in glorifikacije trpljenja, ki pomembno zaznamujejo življenje ljudi v kontekstu izkušnje greha. To so hkrati tudi glavne ideje in prakse, ki jih kasneje (v 16. stoletju) pod vprašaj postavi reformacijsko gibanje.

Analiza krščanske izkušnje od 4. do 16. stol. pokaže, da krščanska problematizacija odrešenja, ki je usodno zaznamovana z izvirnim grehom, ne omogoča pozicionirati ideala človekove eksistence v tuzemsko življenje temveč zgolj v onostranstvo ter da ideal človekove eksistence ni popolnoma dosegljiv z lastnim človekovim prizadevanjem. Iz tega izhaja, da izkušnja greha, ki jo takšna problematizacija producira, ne more biti enostavno izenačena z izkušnjo sreče, ki se pojavi šele, ko ljudje ideal eksistence bolj intenzivno začnejo projicirati v tostranstvo ter ko se uveljavi prepričanje, da je le-ta popolnoma dosegljiv s človeškim prizadevanjem. Povedano drugače, nemogoče je trditi, da se je rojstvo sreče zgodilo s spustom sreče iz nebes na zemljo, ker sreče tam gori dejansko nikoli ni bilo. Srednjeveški ideal človekove eksistence je bil namreč na vseh nivojih (vključno s semantičnim) povezan s konceptom odrešenja in blaženosti in nikoli s konceptom sreče. Sreča se je rodila na tem svetu in se primarno nanaša na ta svet.

Rojstvo izkušnje sreče v 17. in 18. stoletju

Disertacija rojstvo sreče povezuje z intenzifikacijo dveh novih problematizacij: problematizacijo (pozitivnega) občutenja in afirmacijo vsakdanjega življenja, ki sta se v času od 14. do 16. artikulirali zlasti v kontekstu reformacije ter humanizma in renesanse. Ti dve novi problematizaciji najprej nekaj časa obstajata paralelno s še vedno dominantno problematizacijo odrešenja, potem pa jo proti koncu 16. in v 17. stoletju počasi in vztrajno začneta nadomeščati.

Ključen moment za rojstvo izkušnje sreče je torej obdobje v katerem problematizacija pozitivnega občutenja na zemlji v povezavi z afirmacijo vsakdanjega življenja začne intenzivneje konstituirati primarni ideal človekove eksistence ter ko hkrati ta ideal po splošnem prepričanju postane popolnoma dosegljiv s človekovimi lastnimi prizadevanji.

Glavni premik, ki je omogočil, da problematizacija pozitivnega občutenja v povezavi z afirmacijo vsakdanjega življenja postane dominantna, je bila zavrnitev izvirnega greha, ki dotlej predstavlja glavno zapreko za zasledovanje ideala človekove eksistence že na tem svetu. Za zavrnitev izvirnega greha na osi resnice sta najbolj zaslužni Deistična filozofija in naravna teologija, ki se pojavita v 16. stol. in ju je moč označiti kot obliko racionalnega krščanstva. Pri deističnih filozofih kot je John Locke se problematizacija pozitivnega občutenja izraža v povezovanju sreče s človekovo inherentno nagnjenostjo k maksimiranju užitka in izogibanju trpljenja, ki ni več obravnavana kot nekaj grešnega. Kot drugo plat nevtralizacije izvirnega greha pripadniki te miselne smeri promovirajo idejo o božanskem harmoničnem redu stvari, ki ga je Bog ustvaril za vzajemno srečo in dobrobit vseh njegovih prebivalcev tako na zemlji kot v nebesih. V kontekstu božjega reda stvari je najboljše tisto delovanje, ki sledi božjim zakonitostim in navodilom, saj to posamezniku prinaša največji užitek in srečo. Transpozicija univerzalne krščanske logike greha v idejo o univerzalni možnosti za doseganje sreče, ki je vsebovana v ideji božanskega harmoničnega reda stvari, prvič v zgodovini zahodne misli odpre polje za razumevanje ideala človekove eksistence tudi v kolektivnem smislu, ki kasneje kulminira v razsvetljenski ideji javne sreče. Omenjenim premikom na osi resnice so tesno sledile širše družbene spremembe, kar je povzročilo, da je splošni religiozni pogled vero in boga bolj kot v kategorijah odrešenja začel obravnavati kot temelj za srečo na zemlji. Dominantna izkušnja v 17. stol. se torej od predhodne izkušnje greha razlikuje v praktično vseh glavnih vidikih razen v tem, da na načelni ravni še vedno ostaja v polju (sicer dodobra transformiranega) krščanstva. Glede na dejstvo, da deloma še vedno ostaja v območju religije dizertacija prvo obliko sreče označuje kot religiozno izkušnjo sreče.

Manj kot stoletje kasneje se v procesu rojevanja sreče poleg religiozne izkušnje vzpostavi še druga glavna oblika sreče, ki jo disertacija imenuje sekularna izkušnja sreče. Ker je v kontekstu razsvetljenstva v veliki meri povezana s procesi sekularizacije predstavlja logično evolucijo prve, religiozne izkušnje sreče, pri čemer pa popolnoma izloči eksplicitne krščanske poudarke, ki v religiozni obliki predstavljajo temelje za doseganje sreče na zemlji. Posledično idejo o božanskem harmoničnem redu stvari, ki je v naprej ustvarjen za dobrobit in srečo svojih prebivalcev, nadomesti naturalistično-materialistična ideja o naravnem kavzalnem redu stvari. Ker je za razsvetljence naraven red stvari nevtralen, so prepričani, da ga je za doseganje sreče treba racionalno razumeti in si ga podvreči v skladu z utilitarističnim principom maksimiranja užitka in izogibanja trpljenja. Če je v religiozni izkušnji sreče ideja harmonije interesov utemeljena na božanskem redu stvari, v sekularni izkušnji temelji na racionalnosti, ki naj bi posamezniku omogočala preseči individualni interes in zagotovila zasledovanje skupne sreče. Utilitaristični princip je tako razširjen tudi na kolektivno raven in se najbolj jasno izraža v slavnem razsvetljenskem motu - najboljše je tisto delovanje, ki prinaša največjo srečo največjemu številu ljudi. V kolikor individualna in kolektivna sreča torej ne moreta temeljiti na božanskem redu stvari, ki je v naprej ustvarjen za vzajemno srečo njegovih prebivalcev, glavni razsvetljenski tok ideal (kolektivne) sreče neposredno poveže s človekovim utilitarističnim odnosom do sveta, ki se izraža v ideji znanstvenega, tehnološkega, individualnega, družbenega, političnega in ekonomskega napredka proti sreči na zemlji.

Glede na razumevanje inherentne človekove nagnjenosti k maksimiranju užitka in njene vloge pri razumevanju razmerja med individualno in skupno/kolektivno srečo, sekularna izkušnja sreče združuje dva konfliktna aspekta. Na eni strani imamo dominantni racionalistično-utilitaristični aspekt, ki preko ideje o harmoniji interesov promovira javno srečo, ki združuje tako individualno kot javno srečo osnovano na utilitarističnem principu. Na drugi pa amoralni egoistični hedonizem, ki poudarja nebrzdano izražanje individualne instinktivne sle po uživanju. Sekularna izkušnja sreče se na vseh oseh izkušnje konstituira prav preko napetosti med tema dvema aspektoma.

Povedano zgoščeno, historični a priori možne izkušnje sreče, ki se, kot smo videli, konstituira vzdolž osi resnice, osi moči ter osi odnosa do sebe, se torej manifestira v obliki dveh glavnih modusov izkušnje sreče: religiozne izkušnje sreče in sekularne izkušnje sreče. Omenjeni historični a priori določa osnovne skupne parametre izkušnje sreče, znotraj katerih potem vznika glavnina strategij sreče ter individualnih izkušenj sreče v zahodni kulturi.

V izkušnji sreče prisotni sedimenti predhodne izkušnje

Čeprav so transformacije na vseh treh oseh izkušnje v 17. in 18. stol., ki se nanašajo na proces rojstva sreče dovolj intenzivne, da moramo govoriti o fundamentalno novi izkušnji, pa dizertacija opozarja tudi na prisotnost določenih kontinuitet in implicitnih ostankov predhodne krščanske izkušnje. Najbolj eksplicitno kontinuiteto je mogoče zaslediti v razsvetljenski ideji neskončnega napredka (proti sreči), ki do določene mere spominja na krščansko logiko odložene gratifikacije v prihodnosti.

Poleg tega pa analiza pokaže tudi bolj subtilne, a zato morda še pomembnejše kontinuitete. Krščansko izkušnjo greha, ki je predhodila izkušnji sreče in ki je bila zaznamovana krščansko hermeneutiko subjekta odpovedovanjem/zavračanjem sebstva, je mogoče označiti za obdobje negativne konstitucije subjekta v zgodovini zahodne kulture. Ker se rojstvo izkušnje sreče v veliki meri vzpostavi kot odmik od krščanske izkušnje greha, je izkušnjo sreče mogoče razumeti kot zavrnitev negativne konstitucije subjekta ter torej kot poizkus pozitivne konstitucije subjekta. Vendar pa je treba opozoriti, da se izkušnja sreče razumljena kot poizkus pozitivne konstitucije subjekta ni zgodila brez določenih sedimentov predhodne izkušnje greha, ki so krščanske hermenevtike predvsem povezani z ostanki sebstva individualizirajoče oblike moči tesno povezane z njo. Iz tega izhaja, da je eden glavnih problemov Zahodne kulture, ki je tesno povezan z rojstvom sreče, iskanje možnosti, da bi hermenevtiko subjekta utemeljili ne na odpovedovanju sebstvu, kot je bilo to značilno za zgodnje krščanstvo, ampak na pozitivnemu tako teoretičnemu kot praktičnemu vzniku sebstva. Poglavitna posledica takšnega razvoja je, da se je vzorec krščanske hermenevtike sebstva v zahodni kulturi preko številnih kanalov razširil po celotnem družbenem tkivu, zaradi česar jo je težko ločiti od naše vsakdanje spontane izkušnje.

Poizkus konstitucije pozitivnega subjekta je mogoče opaziti na osi odnosa do sebe, ki konstituira moderno izkušnjo sreče. V nasprotju z negativnim krščanskim subjektom, ki je bil napeljan k nevtralizaciji želje ter je moral zavrniti svoje sebstvo s pomočjo hermenevtike sebstva, je subjekt sreče, da bi lahko le-to dosegel, napeljan k osvoboditvi in izpolnitvi želje. Kljub temu pa določeni ostanki krščanske hermenevtike ostanejo. Želja je namreč bistvena v obeh oblikah izkušnje, kateri obe posameznika postavita v položaj, ko svojih moralnih dolžnosti nikoli ne izpolni dovolj. Kristjan ni nikoli dovolj čist, ker vedno obstaja možnost, da se je hudič prikradel v njegovo dušo in serviral misli, ki jih je nemogoče prepoznati kot hudičeve. Takšna situacija pa zahteva nenehno hermenevtično delo. Podobno tudi subjekt sreče sledi zapovedi uživanja in sreče, vendar pa nikoli ne uspe biti dovolj srečen. Posamezniku znotraj izkušnje sreče je za razliko od njegovega srednjeveškega krščanskega predhodnika sicer dovoljeno želeti, vendar pa napetost hermenevtike ostaja. Če si krščanska hermenevtika prizadeva najti koren želje, da bi jo lahko izkoreninila, je hermenevtično delo, ki ga na sebi vrši subjekt sreče namenjeno odkritju resnice želje, da bi jo lahko izpolnil in osvobodil. To je potrebno, ker je podobno kot pri krščanskemu subjektu tudi pri subjektu sreče prisotna stalna notranja negotovost: je kdaj sploh dovolj srečen?

Medtem ko je bil v srednjem veku učinek krščanske hermenevtike in odpovedovanja sebstvu glorifikacija trpljenja, problematizacija sreče z ostanki krščanske hermenevtike rezultira v pojavu, ki ga Bruckner (2010) imenuje prisilna sreča. Natančneje je za Brucknerja (2010, 5) je prisilna sreča pojav, ki je značilnen zlasti za drugo polovico 20. stoletja, 'ki vse presoja na podlagi tega, ali nekaj ustvarja ugodje ali neugodje, kot ukaz, da je treba biti vzhičen, vse tiste, ki se mu ne uklonijo, pa osramotiti in jim vzbuditi občutek nelagodja'.

Analiza osi resnice in osi moči, ki konstituirata izkušnjo sreče, je pokazala, da je bila zavrnitev negativnega krščanskega subjekta prav tako cilj moderne politične teorije in prakse, ki si je prizadevala vzpostaviti nov, pozitivni subjekt, ki bi predstavljal pomemben element moderne države. V tem smislu moderna država predstavlja nadaljevanje individualizirajoče in totalizirajoče oblike oblasti z drugimi sredstvi. To pomeni, da se je oblast pastoralnega tipa, ki je bila stoletja povezana z religiozno inštitucijo, razširila v celotno družbeno

tkivo ter kot taka našla mesto v mnoštvu sodobnih institucij in družbenih praks. Nova oblika pastoralne oblasti, ki se izvaja preko države kot nove matrice individualizacije je tesno povezana tudi z vznikom pozitivnega subjekta v humanistiki in družboslovju, ki se ukvarjata s produkcijo vednosti o človeku z dveh zornih kotov: kvalitativnega, ki zadeva populacijo ter analitičnega, ki zadeva posameznika.

Bolj poglobljena analiza razvoja v smeri pozitivne konstitucije subjekta (vključno z že omenjenimi pojavi prisilne sreče in moderne hermenevtike sreče), ki je v veliki meri sprožena in povezana z rojstvom izkušnje sreče pa je že popolnoma druga zgodba, ki bi zahtevala dodatno obravnavo osredotočeno tudi na 19. in 20 stoletje.

Izhodišča za nadaljnje raziskovanje

Glede na dejstvo, da disertacija zajema predvsem analizo procesa rojstva sreče ter izkušnje, ki je sreči predhodila (se pravi od 5. do 19. stoletja), zadovoljivo razkrije samo začetke pozitivne konstitucije subjekta v zahodni kulturi ter njeno povezavo z izkušnjo sreče. Glavni razlog, da se disertacija v sklepnem delu nanaša tudi na nekatere momente pozitivne konstitucije subjekta, ki so se zgodili po 18. stoletju, je, da s tem želi odpreti polje za nadaljnjo raziskovanje. Na tem mestu velja omeniti, da bi se prihodnje analize lahko osredotočile tudi na posameznike oziroma skupine posameznikov, ki so (bili) izključeni iz dominantne izkušnje sreče v zahodni kulturi. Pri tem bi bilo mogoče uporabiti Foucaultov koncept praks razločevanja, ki kategorizirajo posameznike na osnovi rase, razreda, spola, psihološkega stanja, izvora (kolonizirana ljudstva, migranti), ipd.

V luči prihodnjih raziskav je v povzetku treba opozoriti tudi na nekatere aspekte izkušnje greha in sreče v obdobju od 5. do 19. stoletja, ki jih je analiza obdelala nekoliko manj podrobno. Za razliko od Foucaulta, ki je imel pogoje in (z)možnosti svoje genealogije zasnovati s pomočjo analize ogromnih količin primarnih virov, je bila pričujoča disertacija v tem smislu nekoliko omejena. Zaradi širokega kronološkega razpona, na primer ni bilo dovolj prostora, da bi disertacija lahko bolj temeljito reflektirala vsakdanje prakse (recimo preko spovedniških priročnikov in priročnikov za iskanje sreče v 17. in 18. stoletju). Disertacija bi se denimo lahko bolj poglobila tudi v določene sociološke in

ekonomske dimenzije modernizacijskih procesov povezanih z idejo napredka proti sreči. Res je, da je dizertacija precej intenzivno ukvarjala z analizo procesa, v katerem je čutni užitek postal vitalna komponenta moderne izkušnje sreče. Kljub temu, je treba priznati, da bi lahko bolj natančno obdelala razmerje med srečo in užitkom. V tem obziru bi predvsem psihoanalitična perspektiva, ki jo disertacija sicer ni eksplicitno obravnavala, lahko doprinesla pomembne uvide.

Navkljub zgoraj omenjenim omejitvam in pomanjkljivostim disertacija s svojo genealogijo izkušnje sreče v zahodni kulturi prinaša pomemben doprinos proučevanju sreče. Kar je najpomembnejše pomaga razumeti proces kulturne in historične konstitucije izkušnje sreče v zahodni kulturi ter njene osnovne parametre. Hkrati pa to podkrepi tudi teoretsko argumentacijo iz prvega dela disertacije po kateri sreče ne moremo razumeti v univerzalnem smislu, temveč kot kulturno in historično specifični/singularen pojem in izkušnjo v zahodni kulturi, ki je tesno povezana z razmerji moči v družbi.

Ker obe obliki izkušnje sreče, ki sta se pojavile v 17. in 18. stoletju vzpostavljata osnovno strukturo in parametre tudi za kasnejše izraze izkušnje sreče, analiza rojstva sreče predstavlja pomembno izhodišče za vse nadaljnje analize kulturnih manifestacij sreče v zahodni kulturi. Nenazadnje pa je kritična refleksija rojstva sreča pomembna tudi v širšem smislu, saj sreča zagotovo predstavlja eno od osrednjih tem, ki so vodile modernizacijske procese, ki v veliki meri določajo našo sodobno izkušnjo (sreče). V tem smislu je razumevanje izkušnje sreče relevantno tudi zato, ker predstavlja kontekst v katerem so v zahodni kulturi vzniknili pomembna področja individualnega in družbenega življenja kot so znanost in tehnologija, ekonomski sistem, potrošna kultura, moderna država itd. Z drugimi besedami razsvetljensko idejo napredka in modernizacijske procese povezane z njo lahko v osnovi vidimo kot del zgodbe (kolektivnega) iskanja sreče v zahodni kulturi.